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Four of the six articles that appear in 
this issue come from the highly successful 
Leon Silverman lectures sponsored by the 
Society each year. Those members who live 
in the metropolitan Washington area are 
familiar with the events, which take place in 
the Courtroom of the Marble Palace. They 
include an introduction of the speaker by one 
of the Justices, a talk by a well-known scholar, 
and then a reception in the Conference rooms. 
I am sure that I speak not only for myself, but 
for others who have given these lectures, that 
it is a wonderful experience. So those of you 
who live outside of Washington, next time 
you have to travel to the nation’s capital, 
please check if one of the Silverman Lectures 
is scheduled that week.

The theme for this series involves the 
plaintiffs in some very important civil rights 
cases, and this reflects a trend among many 
constitutional scholars to look not just at what 
the Justices say about a case, but about the 
people involved and the factual background.

Philippa Strum, a former professor at 
Brooklyn College and then director of U.S. 
Studies at the Wilson Center, ran across a

relatively unknown case involving the segre­
gation of Mexican-American children in 
California. She decided to explore it, and 
discovered that while it is unknown to the 
general—and even to much of the scholarly— 
community, Thurgood Marshall and his staff 
at the NAACP Legal Defense Fund knew it 
well. It is one of the first cases in federal court 
that tackled racial discrimination head on, and 
she here tells the stoiy of the Mendez family 
and their ultimately successful fight.

Shelley v. Kraemer (1948) is considered 
a landmark case in many ways, although it 
is overshadowed by the more famous cases 
of the following decade attacking state- 
sponsored segregation. Jeffrey Gonda, a 
history professor at Syracuse University, 
goes into a relatively unknown area of how 
houses could be bought and sold by African- 
American families, and the restrictions—both 
legal and customary—that restricted those 
sales in post-war America.

One of the most fascinating, and at 
the same time somewhat confusing, aspects 
of Warren Court jurisprudence is how the 
Justices dealt with the arrests following sit-ins
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by civil rights protestors prior to the enact­
ment of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 
Professor Kenneth Mack of the Harvard 
Law School explores these cases, but espe­
cially that of a young man, Robert Bell, who 
would go on to attend law school and 
eventually become chief judge of the Mary­
land’s highest court, the Court of Appeals.

The case of Tinker v. Des Moines (1969) 
is still studied in courses on constitutional law, 
the First Amendment, and education law. Two 
students, Mary Beth and John Tinker, were 
expelled from school for wearing black 
armbands to protest the Vietnam War. They 
and their family fought the case all the way to 
the Supreme Court, where they won a 7-2 
decision. As Justice Abe Fortas put it, students 
do not abandon their rights as Americans 
when they walk through the schoolhouse 
door. Professor Kelly Shackelford, president 
and CEO of the Liberty Institute, spoke 
about the Tinker family, the courage of their 
convictions, and the ultimate meaning of their 
victory.

What made the lectures come alive even 
more for the audiences was the presence of 
some of the participants—Mary Beth and 
John Tinker and members of their families, 
Judge Robert Bell, and David Duran, a 
Mendez grandson of the plaintiffs.

A number of years ago scholars discov­
ered John Knox’s diary of the year he served 
as law clerk to Justice James Clark McRey­
nolds. It was not a happy tale, but it led

Professor Barry Cushman of the Notre Dame 
Law School to wonder what happened to 
the other clerks of the Four Horsemen— 
McReynolds, Pierce Butler, George Suther­
land, and Willis Van Devanter. He has 
discovered that, unlike poor Knox, who had 
a hard time remaining employed, they went on 
to respectable and sometimes even stellar 
careers. Naturally, to cover the clerks of four 
men whose combined tenure on the High 
Court surpassed eight decades led to a long 
article—a very long article. It was interesting 
enough, however, that we decided to run it in 
two installments. In this issue we look the 
clerks of Justice Van Devanter and McRey­
nolds; in a future issue the focus will be on 
those of Butler and Sutherland.

A very important civil rights case is 
Griggs v. Duke Power Company (1971), and 
one of the young lawyers working for the 
NAACP Legal Defense Fund was Robert 
Belton. Many years later, Belton, who had 
become a law professor at Vanderbilt, wrote 
down his memories of the case and how it had 
unfolded, but died before it could be 
published. Stephen Wasby, who is now 
retired from the University at Albany, edited 
the manuscript for publication, and at our 
request excerpted a piece. It is fascinating 
reading.

Finally, we get Grier Stephenson’s sharp 
eye looking over some of the lastest books 
to appear on the Supreme Court and its 
members. As always, enjoy!
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So le dad Vidaurri walked up to the 
schoolhouse door, five little children in her 
wake. It was a warm September 1943 day in 
Westminster, California, thirty-five miles 

south of Los Angeles in the heart of citrus­

growing country, home to some 2,500 

residents. American soldiers were still fight­
ing overseas—there were almost two more 

years of battles ahead before World War II  
would end—but Orange County was peace­
ful, and bustling economically because of the 

wartime demand for agricultural products and 

war factory materiel. Mrs. Vidaurri had gone 
to the Westminster Main School to enroll her 
two daughters, Alice and Virginia Vidaurri, 
and her niece and two nephews—Sylvia 

Mendez, Gonzalo Mendez, Jr., and Geronimo 
(Jerome) Mendez—in the neighborhood pub­

lic school.
Mrs. Vidaurri was welcomed to the 

school and told that her daughters could be

registered. Their father had a French ancestor 
and their last name sounded acceptably 
French or Belgian to the teacher in charge 

of admissions. Besides, the Vidaurri girls 
were light-skinned. The Mendez children, 

however, were visibly darker and, to the 
teacher, their last name was all too clearly 
Mexican. They would have to be taken to the 

“Mexican” school a few blocks away. Little 
Gonzalo Jr. would remember the teacher 
telling his aunt, while indicating the two 

Vidaurri girls, ‘“We’ ll take those . . . but we 
won’t take those three,” ’ because “We were 
too dark.” 1

“No way,” an outraged Mrs. Vidaurri 

replied, and marched all the children 
home. Her equally outraged brother, Gonzalo 
Mendez, simply refused to send his children 

to the “Mexican” school. Two years later 
the Mendezes would lead a group of 
Mexican-American parents into federal court,



308JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

challenging the segregation of their children, 

and legal history would be made. Their case 

became the first in which a federal court 

declared “separate but equal”  schooling to be 
unequal. ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM endez v . W estm inster was the 1946 

predecessor to B row n v. B oard o f E duca tion , 
and can in fact be seen as the Latino/a version 
of that better-known decision.2

There had been Mexican-Americans in 
California since the United States annexed 
California in 1848, although their numbers 
were relatively few. The combination of 
political turmoil in Mexico in the first decades 

of the twentieth century and job opportunities 
in the United States, however, led to large- 
scale immigration. Official census figures 

indicated that 661,538 Mexicans entered the 
United States between 1910 and 1930. 
Scholars of Latino history put the number 

as closer to one million, suggesting that 1/8 to 
1/10 of the entire Mexican population moved 
north.3

Many of them found work in agricultural 

fields. In the decades after the end of the 
American Civil War, railroads had expanded 
into the West. Simultaneously, advances in 
irrigation enabled Western growers to pro­
duce large quantities of fruits and vegetables, 

which could be transported in the newly 

invented refrigerator cars on the railroads that 
now crisscrossed the United States. That 
became the pull for Mexican immigrants, as 

the need of both growers and the railroads for 
cheap farm workers increased exponentially.4 

In 1930, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce 

stated that Mexicans picked more than eighty 
percent of the Southwest’s crops. By 1940 
Mexican immigrants and their American 
descendants were almost 100 percent of the 
picking force in southern California.5

Many of them lived in what amounted to 

ghetto neighborhoods—co lon ias—next to 
citrus groves or vegetable fields, on the 

outskirts of cities such as Santa Ana, 
California. Santa Ana is the county seat of 
Orange County, where the Mendez story takes 
place. The Mexican farm laborers in Orange

County in the 1930s found themselves in 

neighborhoods that for the most part lacked 

sewers, gas for cooking and heating, paved 
streets, or sidewalks. Many families built their 
own two-room wooden houses and could 

afford very little furniture. There were no 
refrigerators; heat came from wood-burning 

kitchen stoves. Clothes were made on pedal- 
powered sewing machines and cleaned in 

washtubs. The families might have small food 
gardens and raise chickens, goats or ducks. 
With dirt streets, a lack of flush toilets, and 
inadequate plumbing and heating, it was 

difficult to maintain good sanitation. Tuber­

culosis was a constant threat, and affected the 
Mexican-American community at a rate three 
to five times that of the Anglo community.6

Half the men in the co lon ias surveyed in 
1927 had been unemployed for 100 or more 
working days; seventy-three percent were 

unemployed for sixty or more working days. 
In 1935, the average U.S. family income was 

$1,784; for Mexican families in California, 
$289. The California State Relief Administra­
tion reported that year that families required a 

minimum of $780 for food, utilities, and 
housing.7 The wages, in other words, could 

not provide adequate food, shelter, and 

clothing. There was no sick pay, no payment 
for injuries sustained on the job, no guarantee 

that even an underpaid job would be waiting 

for anyone who had to stop working 
temporarily.8 One scholar has described the 

existence of a largely disenfranchised labor­
ing class as “citrus society,” similar to the 
exploitative “cotton society”  that flourished in 
the South in the late nineteenth century.9 In 

both instances, the land was owned by Anglos 

and worked by discriminated-against minori­
ty group members. Unlike the workers in the 
South, however, the Mexican-Americans 

were officially “white.” That was the way 

they were classified by the Census Bureau, 
and the classification was an important 
element in M endez v . W estm inster .10

Like many other immigrants to the United 
States, Mexican immigrants understood that
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the best hope for upward mobility for their 
children lay in education. Local California 
school officials, however, made that difficult. 

An 1885 California law, amended slightly in 

1935, specifically gave school districts the 
authority to create separate schools for “ Indian 
children, excepting children of Indians who 
are wards of the United States government and 

children of all other Indians who are descend­

ants of the original American Indians of the 
United States, and for children of Chinese, 
Japanese or Mongolian parentage.” 11 Mexican 

children were not mentioned, and in 1929 the 
California attorney general issued an advisory 
opinion stating that such children were not 

covered by the law and so separate schools 
should not be organized for them.1

That ruling was implicitly challenged as, 
with immigration, Mexican-American chil­
dren became a larger part of the school 

population. By 1927 such children, 64,427 of 
them, constituted nearly ten percent of all 

children enrolled in California’s public 
schools, and the 2,869 who were enrolled in 
Orange County made up seventeen percent of 
the county’s public school population. In 

nearby Imperial County they were more than 

twenty-six percent. By the mid-1920s El 
Modena, which was one of the four towns 
involved in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM endez v . W estm inster , had 1,000 
Mexican and Mexican-American residents, 

who made up a majority of the town’s 
population.13

School districts all over southern Cal­
ifornia reacted by creating segregated school 
systems. Pasadena began requiring “Mexi­

can” children to go to the new “Mexican”  
school in 1913. La Habra opened a similar 

school in 1920; Ontario, one “Mexican”  
school in 1921 and another in 1928. Orange 
County joined the trend. According to one 
survey, by 1931 more than eighty percent of 

all California school districts with a signifi­
cant number of Mexican and Mexican- 
American students were segregated, usually 
through the careful drawing of school zone 
boundaries by school boards that had been

pressured by Anglo residents.14 By 1934, 

over 4,000 pupils in Orange County—twenty- 
five percent of the county’s total student 
enrollment—were Mexican or Mexican- 

American. Seventy percent of the county’s 
students with Spanish surnames were regis­
tered in the fifteen Orange County elementary 

schools that had 100 percent Mexican enroll­
ment. Six of the fifteen schools were in the 

four districts at issue in the M endez case: three 

in Santa Ana and one each in Westminster, El 
Modena, and Garden Grove. Forty percent of 
the county’s Mexican students in fact lived in 
these four districts.15 The ostensible rationale 

for the separate schools was the children’s 
lack of proficiency in English.

The children in the “Mexican” schools 
were taught a curriculum quite different from 
the one offered in other schools. The boys 
studied gardening, boot-making, blacksmith- 

ing, and carpentry, to prepare them for the 

low-paying trades that the schools assumed 
would be the only ones such boys could or 
should enter. The girls studied sewing and 
homemaking.16

In 1928, two University of Southern 
California professors were asked by the Santa 

Ana school district to conduct a survey of all 
its schools. The professors found that Delhi, 
one of the “Mexican”  schools, was a wooden 
fire hazard. Another, the Artesia barrio school, 

according to the report to the board, “has a low 
single roof with no air space, which makes the 
temperature in many of the rooms almost 
unbearable. Since no artificial light is provid­

ed in the building, it is impossible to do 
satisfactory reading without serious eye strain 
on many days of the year.” 17

The hazardous Delhi school was not 
atypical for Orange County’s “Mexican”  
schools, which were usually built of wood 
while “white”  schools were made out of brick 
or block masonry. Shower stalls were com­
mon in the “Mexican” schools, and children 
whom the teachers considered to be dirty were 
required to take showers and, if  necessary, 
borrow clean clothing from a cupboard kept
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for that purpose.18 Books and other equip­

ment were castoffs from the “white”  
schools.19 Many of the schools opened at 

7:30 in the morning and ended the day at 
12:30, so that the children could go to work in 
the citrus or walnut groves.20 In El Modena, 

one of the school districts at issue in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM endez, 

students were permitted to miss the first two 
weeks of school each year so they could help 
harvest the walnut crops.21

The segregation and the differential 
education were justified by educators on the 
basis of biological determinism. California 

educator Grace Stanley asserted in an influ­

ential 1920 article that Mexican children had 
“different mental characteristics”  from Anglo 
children, “showed a stronger sense of 
rhythm,” and “are primarily interested in 

action and emotion but grow listless under

purely mental effort.” 22 Others echoed this 

assessment. B. F. Haught did a study in 1931 
that convinced him that the “average Spanish 
child has an intelligence quotient of .79 

compared with 1.00 for the average Anglo 
child.” 23 William Sheldon, who gave IQ tests 

to Mexican and Anglo students in Texas, 
concluded that Mexicans had only eighty-five 
percent of the IQ of Anglos.24 A professor in 

Denver declared that the children’s median IQ 
was a low 78.1.25 The academic pundits 

agreed that students should be encouraged to 
give up Spanish and develop their talents in 
industrial and vocational subjects.26

The segregation did not go unchallenged. 
In 1931, the previously integrated San Diego 

school district of Lemon Grove created a 
new school for Mexican-American grammar 
school students. An idea of the wooden
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M exican  schoo ls ,  such  as  the  H oover  Schoo l  the  M endez  ch ild ren  attended  (p ic tu red  here  in  1944), 
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structure’s amenities can be gathered from the 
nickname, “La Caballeriza” (the bam or 

stable), that it was soon given by the 

community. Built squarely in the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAba rr io , the 
school was furnished with second-hand books 
and supplies. Directed to their new school, the 
children simply returned home instead and, 

with the exception of only one family, their 
working class parents refused to send them to 
it. Instead, they sued in the San Diego 
Superior Court (the local state trial court). 

The San Diego district attorney told the court 
that the new school was needed because most 

of the students at issue began the school year 
late and could not speak English well, and 

added that the school had a really nice 
playground. The families’ lawyers responded 
by calling a number of the children, most of 
whom were bom in the United States, to 
demonstrate their proficiency in English. One 
of the students in fact spoke no Spanish 
whatsoever. The judge ordered the school 

board to permit the children back in their 

original school, and the board decided not to 
appeal.27 The decision of course had no legal

weight in any other district, and there is no 
indication that any other school district 

followed it.

The League of United Latin American 
Citizens (LULAC)  had filed a similar suit one 
year earlier, in the Rio Grande border town of 
Del Rio, Texas. In that case, too, Del Rio’s 
superintendent testified that the Mexican- 

American children lacked sufficient language 
skills, and added:

I have noticed that the Spanish 
speaking children are unusually 
gifted in music, above the American 
children, and I believe that phase of 

their talents ought to be developed... 
and in art, on an average, I find they 
are superior to the American child in 
this talent, and I believe their work 

should include art and a good deal of 
handicraft work at the first grade. By 
nature I feel they are endowed with 
special facilities for this work.28

He added, “ I have been told that it is true 
that a Mexican child will  reach the puberty
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stage sooner than an American child, and that 
people originating in torrid climates will  
mature earlier; it ’s owing to the climatic 
conditions.”29

The trial court ordered the schools to be 
integrated, but the Texas Court of Civil  
Appeals overturned that decision, and the U.S. 
Supreme Court declined to review the case.30 

That was the situation when Gonzalo and 

Felicitas Mendez decided to challenge their 

children’s segregation.
Gonzalo Mendez was bom in the Mexi­

can state of Chihuahua in 1913. One of 
Mendez’s uncles, under threat from the 
regime of Pancho Villa, fled to the United 

States in 1919, and was soon followed by 
Mendez’s mother and her five children. They 
landed in Westminster, California, where 

Mendez was sent to the Westminster Main 
School along with other Mexican and Anglo 

children in his school district. When he was in 
the fifth  grade, however, his mother ran out of 
funds and he had to go to work to help support 
the family.31

The search for a livelihood took him to 
the fields, where he became known as a 

champion orange picker. One of his fellow 
field hands was Felipe Gomez, who had 
brought his family to the mainland from 
Puerto Rico in 1926.32 Gomez invited the 

young Mendez to his home, where Mendez 

met Gomez’s daughter Felicitas. They were 
married in 1935 and, after working together in 
the fields for three years, opened the Arizona 

Cafe in the Mexican ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAba rr io of Santa Ana. 
They prospered during the early years of 
World War II, accumulating sufficient funds 

to purchase three houses. Mendez said 
repeatedly that he wanted to try his hand at 
running a farm, however, and, in 1943, their 
banker, aware of that, told them about the 
Munemitsus. The Japanese-American family 
had been “ relocated”  to an internment camp. 
The Munemitsus feared that untenanted 

Japanese-American farms were likely to 
pass out of the possession of their owners, 

who would then find it difficult if not

impossible to reclaim them, and they were 
worried about their family farm in West­

minster. Might the Mendezes be interested in 
leasing the farm until the Munemitsus were 

able to return? Gonzalo and Felicitas traveled 
to Arizona, where the Munemitsus were 
interned, and the two families signed an 
agreement.33

The Mendezes closed the cafe, rented out 

the Santa Ana house they had been living in, 

and moved to Westminster. They took Frank 
Vidaurri and his family with them. Vidaurri, 
married to Mendez’s sister Soledad, had 
experience in operating a farm and Mendez 

thought that Vidaurri would make a good 
foreman. The two families began running the 

forty-acre Munemitsu asparagus farm that had 
fifteen workers for most of the year and as 
many as thirty—including “ b raceros”  brought 
in from Mexico for just a short time—during 

the peak season. In addition, Gonzalo worked 

as the foreman of a second farm that grew 
asparagus on twenty-two acres and chili 
peppers on another 100, along with avocados 
and oranges in a nursery. There, he supervised 

ten workers in the asparagus fields, with 
perhaps twenty-five to forty others who came 

and went depending upon the season. Gonzalo 
was in charge of marketing all the asparagus as 
well as keeping many of the farm’s books.34

When his children—then nine, eight, and 
seven—were told they could not attend 

Westminster Main, which was now West­

minster’s “white” school, Mendez tried 
speaking with the principal, then with the 

district’s school superintendent, then with the 
school superintendent of all of Orange 

County. At one point Mendez was told that 
his children could be admitted to Westminster 

but the policy of separating “Mexican”  
students would not be changed. Incensed, 
he rejected that solution, and kept his children 
home.35 The district school superintendent 

went to Mendez’s home to ask about that, and 

explained the school district’s policy by 
telling him that a major reason was that 
Mexicans lived in unsanitary and unhygienic



MENDEZ v. WESTMINSTERJIHGFEDCBA (1946) A N D  SEG R EG A TED  SC H O O LS 313zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

shacks.36 As Mendez recounted the incident, 

“ I told him . . . that I lived on a ranch where 
Japanese people lived, and houses, we all 

know they compared to the houses where we 
live, were equal, and they were admitted to go 

to the Westminster School. When I came to 
the part of the Japanese people ... he said that 

that was an entirely different story, about the 
Japanese people, that the Mexican people 
from Westminster could not, in other words, 

compete in cleanliness with the Americans or 
the Anglo-Saxon people.” 37

Felicitas Mendez was as infuriated as her 
husband, outraged as she already was by 
segregation in public parks, swimming pools, 

and movie houses. “ I was a citizen, bom a 
citizen in Puerto Rico,” she would tell an 
interviewer years later. “ I could not even go to 
a theater and sit with the other people.”38 

During the trial, she stated what could have 
been the Mendezes’ creed. “We always tell

our childrens [sic] they are Americans ... and 
we thought that they shouldn’t be segregated 
like that, they shouldn’ t be treated the way 
they are.”39 The Mendezes decided to sue, and 

went to see a lawyer who had recently won a 

case allowing Mexican-Americans to use the 
public swimming pool in nearby San 
Bernardino.40

The lawyer was David Marcus, who 
specialized in immigration and criminal law. 

Marcus was himself the son of immigrants 

from Tbilisi, Georgia, and had experienced 
anti-Semitism from the time he was a child 
right through his graduation from the Univer­

sity of Southern California Law School in 
1927. His wife was an immigrant from 

Mexico, so his children were also Mexican- 
Americans.41

When Mendez approached him, Marcus 
told Mendez about the California education 
law that permitted segregation of other

M any  of  the  M exican  schoo ls  opened  at  7:30  in  the  m orn ing  and  ended  the  day  at  12:30,  so  that  the  ch ild ren  cou ld  go  

to  w ork  in  the  c itrus  or  w alnu t  groves.  In  som e  schoo l  d is tric ts ,  students  w ere  perm itted  to  m iss  the  firs t  tw o  w eeks  of  

schoo l  each  year  so  they  cou ld  help  harvest  crops.



314JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

children but did not mention Mexican- 

Americans. Marcus suggested that Mendez’s 

case would be stronger if  he was able to prove 
that it was not only Westminster but other 
school districts in Orange County as well that 
segregated Mexican-American students.42 

Was there evidence of that?

The farmer and the man who was now his 
lawyer determined to find out. The way to do it 
was to begin contacting Mexican-American 
communities throughout the county. With 

Mendez driving, the two men roamed the 

county, interviewing parents and pulling 
evidence together. Many parents were afraid 
of repercussions if they became involved. 

Some were content to have their children in the 
segregated schools, because their location in 

the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAco lon ias meant the children went to school 
right near home. Other parents sponsored 
meetings to talk about the case. Mendez, an 
outgoing man, was well known in the co lon ias 
and had been made godfather to a number of 
children.43 He drew on his networks, and 

eventually families in three other school 
districts—El Modena, Garden Grove, and 

Santa Ana—-joined the lawsuit. Mendez and 
Marcus had quickly uncovered the endemic 
nature of the segregation, as well as the fact 

that the parents who agreed to become 

plaintiffs had also protested to their local 
school officials and had gotten nowhere.44

Mendez threw himself into the case, 
leaving Felicitas to administer the farm for 

what turned out to be more than a year. It 
prospered under her management, but Felic- 
itas did more. As the case progressed, 
Felicitas organized in the community. She 

initiated 151 meetings with parents and 
eventually helped turn their enthusiasm into 

a group, the A soc iac ion de P adres de N inos 

M exico -A m er icanos, which both provided 
moral support for the effort and signaled to 
school officials that the Mexican community 
was behind the fight.45 She eventually 

followed the law by taking her children to 

the “Mexican” school, where they were 
enrolled without being given a language

test. Sylvia Mendez remembered eating lunch 

at the school, which had no cafeteria, and 

where the children were sent to the tables 

outside. The school abutted a cow pasture 
with an electrified wire fence, which worried 
her father. Worse, as far as she was concerned, 
were the flies from the pasture that were 
attracted by the children’s food and came to 
settle on them and their lunches.46

Once Mendez and Marcus were satisfied 
that they had a viable case, Marcus could have 
gone into state court and challenged the 

segregation on the basis of the California law. 

That would have been unsatisfactory for two 
reasons. The first was that the California 

legislature could have undone whatever 
victory Marcus might have won by adding 
“Mexicans”  to the education law. The second 
reason, more important to him, was that he— 
and the Mendezes—wanted to challenge 
segregation itself. Marcus decided he would 
go into federal court, arguing that educational 
segregation violated the Fourteenth Amend­
ment’s Equal Protection clause.47

The problem with that, of course, was 

that, in 1898, the U.S. Supreme Court had 
held in P lessy v . F erguson that the Fourteenth 

Amendment permitted a state to require 

railroads to segregate their passengers by 
race as long as the accommodations offered to 
black riders were equal to those offered to 
whites.48 While P lessy did not mention other 

public venues such as restaurants, hotels, 
parks, or schools, the assumption of Southern 
states was that they had been given a license to 

separate the two populations in all of those 
places, and subsequent cases did nothing to 

challenge that view. In C um m ings v . B oard o f 
E duca tion , decided in 1899, the Court 
declared that school boards could use public 
funds to establish white high schools even 

when no schools were provided for black 
children.49 B erea C o llege v . C om m onw ea lth 

o f K en tucky (1908) held that the Fourteenth 
Amendment was not violated by a state statute 
prohibiting schools and colleges incorporated 

in the state from educating “white” students
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alongside “negro” students.50 Other groups 

could also be segregated. The Court’s deci­
sion in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG ong L um v . R ice, handed down in 

1927, declared that a Chinese-American child 
was not deprived of the equal protection of the 

laws by being forced to attend a school for 
“colored” students.51

At the same time, two recent opinions the 

Court had handed down in K orem a tsu v . U .S . 
and H irabayash i v . U .S . held some reason for 
hope.52 Justice Hugo Black declared in the 

1944 K orem a tsu case “ that all legal restric­
tions which curtail the civil rights of a single 
racial group are immediately suspect. That is 
not to say that all such restrictions are 

unconstitutional. It is to say that courts must 
subject them to the most rigid scrutiny. 
Pressing public necessity may sometimes 
justify the existence of such restrictions; 
racial antagonism never can.” 53

There was somewhat similar language in 

H irabayash i, decided in 1943. “Distinctions 
between citizens solely because of their 
ancestry are by their very nature odious to a 
free people whose institutions are founded 
upon the doctrine of equality,” Chief Justice 
Harlan Fiske Stone stated. “Classification or 
discrimination based on race alone has often 
been held to be a denial of equal protection,”  

and Justice Stone cited the 1886 case of Y ick 
W o v. H opk ins.  ̂There, effectively striking 

down a San Francisco law designed to drive 
out Chinese-owned laundries, the Court 

declared, “Though the law itself be fair on 
its face, and impartial in appearance, yet, if  it 
is applied and administered by public authori­

ty with an evil eye and an unequal hand, so as 
practically to make unjust and illegal dis­
criminations between persons in similar 
circumstances, material to their rights, the 
denial of equal justice is still within the 
prohibition of the constitution.” 55

Marcus could argue that the practice of 
segregating Mexican-American students 

seemed to be fair, because it was purportedly 
based on language abilities, but that in fact it 
was “applied and administered by public

authority with an evil eye.” In addition, the 
court had written in Y ick W o that, if  there was 
no good reason for the law, “ the conclusion 

cannot be resisted that no reason for it exists 

except hostility to the race and nationality 
to which the petitioners belong, and which, in 
the eye of the law, is not justified. The 

discrimination is therefore illegal, and the 
public administration which enforces it is a 
denial of the equal protection of the laws, and 

a violation of the fourteenth amendment of 

the constitution.” Justice Stone drew on that 
reasoning to state, “We may assume that these 
considerations would be controlling here were 
it not for the fact that the danger of espionage 

and sabotage, in time of war and of threatened 
invasion, calls upon the military authorities to 
scrutinize every relevant fact bearing on the 
loyalty of populations in the danger areas . . . 

racial discriminations are in most circum­
stances irrelevant and therefore prohibited.” 56

Note that Justice Stone did not use the 
word “segregation.” He referred instead to 
“discrimination.”  Back in 1945, there was no 
indication whatsoever that the Supreme Court 

was willing  to undo “separate but equal,”  or to 
lend a sympathetic ear to the argument that 
segregating schoolchildren discriminated 
against them and did them harm. Segregation 
on the basis of race was officially  legal, and it 

was a longstanding part of American history. 

Would a judicial system that saw no Four­
teenth Amendment impediment to the whole­
sale imprisonment of Japanese-Americans, on 
the basis of their race, not to mention the 

segregation of and discrimination against 
African-Americans, be prepared to strike 

down what it might well see as the lesser 
evil of segregating Mexican-American stu­
dents? The answer seemed obvious. Thur- 
good Marshall, the head of the NAACP, was 

still telling colleagues that the time was not 
yet ripe to attack segregated schools head 
on.57 What, however, if  Marcus argued that 

M endez had nothing to do with race?
The petition that David Marcus filed on 

March 2, 1945 with the District Court for the
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Southern District of California, located in Los 
Angeles, carried the names of the five fathers 

and their school-age children. As the docu­
ment said, all the petitioners were citizens and 

resident in their respective school districts, 
“and each and all petitioners are of Mexican or 
Latin descent or extraction.” The action was 

brought not only for them but, as well, on 
behalf of “some 5,000 other persons of 
Mexican and Latin descent,” all of them 
citizens and residents of the four districts.58

The respondents were the four school 

districts, their superintendents, and all the 
members of the four school boards. The basis 
for the suit, Marcus wrote, was that his clients 

had been deprived of their civil  rights and the 
privileges and immunities of American 
citizens that were guaranteed to each of 

them by the Constitution and laws of the 
United States. In carrying out a “common 
plan, design and purpose”  to keep the children 
from specific schools solely because of their 
“Mexican or Latin descent or extraction,”  the 
districts had violated the petitioners’ right to 
the equal protection of the laws and had 

caused them “great and irreparable damage.”  
The petitioners asked the court to declare the 

practice to be unconstitutional and to issue an 
injunction prohibiting it.59

The question at issue, Marcus would 
insist throughout the litigation, was not 
whether the four Orange County school 
districts segregated students on the basis of 
race. There was no ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBArac ia l segregation, he 
would tell the court, because Mexicans were 
members of the white race. The American 
government, in the form of the Census 

Bureau, had said so. The students were being 
artificially separated from others—most of 

them officially “white,” as there were rela­
tively few African-American and Asian- 
American students in those districts—on the 
basis of their ethnicity.60 P lessy v. F erguson 

and its off-shoots were therefore irrelevant.
The case was assigned to Judge Paul J. 

McCormick. A former deputy district attorney 
and judge on the California Superior Court in

Los Angeles, McCormick had been appointed 
to the United States District Court for the 
Southern District of California in Los Angeles 

in 1924 by President Calvin Coolidge, and he 

remained on that court on active service until 
1951.61 He was a fairly well-known jurist. 

While a member of President Herbert Ho­

over’s National Commission on Law En­

forcement and Observance, McCormick had 
advocated the continuance of Prohibition.62 

The Teapot Dome scandal that erupted in the 
early 1920s led to a number of lawsuits. One 

of them, against the Pan-American Petroleum 
and Transport Company, was filed in Cal­
ifornia, and McCormick found himself as­

signed to it. In 1925 he held that the contract 
giving the company access to the Elk Hills 
reserve was void.63

The attorney opposing David Marcus 

before Judge McCormick was George F. 
Holden, the Santa Ana County deputy 
counsel.64 Holden was a former litigator in 

private practice, Orange County district 

attorney, and president of the Orange County 
Bar Association. Forty-eight years old in 
1945, Holden had behind him years of 
experience in public office and in litigation 
as he prepared to face the forty-one-year-old 
Marcus.65

Holden acknowledged that the children 

in the case were constitutionally entitled to 
equal treatment, and maintained that they 
were getting it. The families “of Mexican or 
Latin descent”  in the district spoke Spanish at 
home, so that their children were “unfamiliar 

with and unable to speak the English 
language” when they began school. The 
districts therefore found it desirable and 
efficient to educate them separately, the 

separation being “ for the best interests of 

said pupils of Mexican descent and for the 

best interests of the English speaking pupils.”  
The Mexican-American students were kept in 
segregated schools “until they acquired 

some efficiency in the English language.”  
They were taught by teachers with the same 
qualifications and salary as the teachers in the
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other schools, and given “all of the facilities 
and all the instruction” available in them— 

both of which statements were patently 
untrue. The bottom line was that they were 

being taught separately, but equally, for sound 

educational reasons, and that they were never 
separated “solely” because of their ethnici­
ty.66 He inadvertently implied, however, that 

the real problem the children faced was that 
they had been bom to Mexican-American 
parents. As he told the trial court:

Sure, they can speak some English, 
you know. They have to be able to 

understand a certain amount of 
English before they can go from 
one grade to another, but they cannot 
grasp it. Where they have lived in the 
Spanish language, with Spanish 

customs, and they talk it at home, 

and as soon as they are out of school 

they go back to their homes and 
commence talking. So again, think­
ing in Spanish, they cannot compete 
with the other students and advance 
in the same grade at the same age.67

Holden was not the only person to feel 

that way. His star witness at trial, which took 
place in July 1945, was James L. Kent, the 

superintendent of the Garden Grove school 
district. In 1941, Kent had written a master’s 

thesis arguing that Mexican-Americans were 
“an alien race that should be segregated 

socially” and that, happily, segregation had 

been accomplished in Southern California “by 
designating certain sections where they might 
live and restricting these sections to them”— 
in other words, keeping them out of “white”  

neighborhoods. “Upon investigation of the 

mental ability and moral characteristics of the 
average Mexican school child it is evident that 
this [housing segregation] is a condition 

which is advantageous to both the white and 
Mexican child,”  he wrote. “Segregation also 

into separate schools seems to be the ideal 
situation for both parties concerned.” 68 

“Mexican” students—whom he repeatedly

In 2011, Pres iden t  O bam a  aw arded  Sylv ia  M endez  a  

Pres iden tia l  M edal  of  Freedom  in  honor  of  her  life -long  

battle  fo r  equal  education .

differentiated from “American” students— 

were of “a less sturdy stock than the white 
race” and suffered from health problems as a 
result of eating nothing but “ tortillas, a greasy 
mixture, or enchiladas and beans.” 69 The 

children suffered from a “ racial language 
handicap,”  and differences in IQs between the 

two “ races” made it clear that “a separate 
curriculum... based upon their abilities ... is 
advisable.” 70

Those were the views of the man charged 
with educating the children of Garden Grove, 

and he gladly repeated them during the trial. 
When Mexican-American children first en­
rolled in school, Kent told the court, “We 
usually find them retarded,” meaning unable 
to work at grade level. Admittedly, some 

children came to the school speaking English. 
Of those, “ the large percentage of them can 

speak the English language, or they can 
understand it, but that does not necessarily
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mean that they can progress in school ... by 
our tests we find that they are a year retarded in 
comparison with the white children . . . Your 
Mexican child is advanced, that is, he matures 

physically faster than your white child, and he 
is able to do more in games. Therefore, he goes 

more on physical prowess than he does on 
mental ability.” 71 Richard F. Harris, the 

Westminster superintendent of schools, added 
that Mexican-American children could not 
keep up with others because they had not been 
introduced at home to Mother Goose rhymes 

and “stories of our American heroes, stories of 
our American frontier, rhymes, rhythms.” 72 A 

“child of Mexican-speaking families... has no 
conception” of such stories and so had to be 
educated separately.73

One can only wonder what the plaintiffs 

and their families, sitting in the courtroom, 
thought of such testimony. Felicitas Mendez 
was in the courtroom every day of the two- 
week trial. So were other members of the 

Mexican-American community. Some of the 
laborers could not afford to give up the wages 
they would lose because of their absence from 
work. The Mendezes dug into their own 
pockets to reimburse them.74

Parents from each of the four districts 
testified about their repeated attempts to get 
their children into the “white”  schools, and the 
denigrating language that school officials 

used in denying their requests. The parents 
were frequently told that all Mexican-Ameri­

can children were dirty and spoke no English, 
which the officials somehow knew even 
though the children were given no language 
tests. Two such students were put on the 
stand, demonstrating that they did indeed 
speak proper English.75

Then Marcus anticipated the approach 
that would be used by the NAACP ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAin  B row n v. 
B oard o f E duca tion . He called two educators 
to the stand as expert witnesses.

Ralph L. Beals was a professor in and 

chairman of the Department of Anthropology 
at the University of California -Los Angeles. 

He had done research in Mexico for the

National Research Council and the Smithso­

nian Institution as well as for his university, 
and he had written roughly thirty books and 
articles.76 Marie H. Hughes had been a school 

principal and curriculum director in New 

Mexico for nineteen years and, in addition, 
had worked in Los Angeles County for the 

past five. She had specialized in research 

about Mexican-American children for twenty 
years.77 Both testified that separating children 

with limited English from more fluent 
children was a poor way to enhance the first 
group’s language proficiency. More impor­

tantly, they both argued that the psychological 
effects of segregation interfered with the 

segregated students’ ability to learn. “Judging 
by some studies that have been made under 
my direction,” Dr. Beals told the court, “a 

feeling of antagonism is built up in children, 
when they are segregated in this fashion. They 
actually become hostile to the whole culture 
of the surrounding majority group, as a result 

of the segregation, which appears to be, to 
them at least, discrimination . . . The 

disadvantage of segregation, it would seem 
to me, would come primarily from the 
reinforcing of stereotypes of inferiority- 
superiority, which exists in the population 
as a whole.” 78 Marie Hughes added:

Segregation, by its very nature, is a 
reminder constantly of inferiority, of 

not being wanted, of not being a part 
of the community ... I would say 

that any separation of children which 

prevents free communication among 
them, on an equal basis, that is, a 
peer basis, would be bad because of 
the very fact that segregation tends to 
give an aura of inferiority. In order to 
have the people of the United States 
understand one another, it is neces­
sary for them to live together, as it 

were, and the public school is the one 

mechanism where all the children of 
all the people go.79

* * *
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Judge McCormick handed down his 
decision on February 18, 1946, and it was a 

resounding victory for the plaintiffs. It was 

more than that, however; it was also a seminal 
moment in American law.

McCormick found the segregation ille­
gitimate as a matter of both California and 
federal constitutional law. California law 
required school districts to admit all children 
over age six, whether or not their parents were 
American citizens, and to maintain elementa­

ry schools “with equal rights and privileges as 
far as possible.”80 That, Judge McCormick 

declared, applied to all children “ regardless of 
their ancestry or extraction”  (with the notable 

exception of Indian and Asian children) and 
meant that segregation of “pupils of Mexican 
ancestry” was prohibited. “The common 
segregation and practices of the school 

authorities in the defendant school districts 
in Orange County,” however, “pertain solely 
to children of Mexican ancestry and parent­

age. They are singled out as a class for 
segregation.” Such segregation violated the 
state’s own laws.81

California wanted students to be integrat­
ed, according to Judge McCormick’s reading 
of its laws. He found it “noteworthy that the 

educational advantages of their commingling 

with other pupils is regarded as being so 
important to the school system of the State”  
that education was mandatory for both 
citizens and non-citizens. California law 
reflected “a clear purpose to avoid and forbid 
distinctions among pupils based upon race or 
ancestry.” 82 Further, the Supreme Court had 

declared in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH irabayash i that such distinctions 
were ‘“by their very nature odious to a free 

people whose institutions are founded upon 
the doctrine of equality’” and ‘“utterly 

inconsistent with American traditions and 
ideals.’” 83

Judge McCormick concluded his discus­
sion of “ the utter irreconcilability of the 
segregation practices”  with California law and 

went on to suggest a new interpretation of the 
federal equal protection clause. “ ‘The equal

protection of the laws’ pertaining to the public 

school system in California,”  he wrote, “ is not 
provided by furnishing in separate schools the 

same technical facilities, text books and 
courses of instruction to children of Mexican 
ancestry that are available to the other public 
school children regardless of their ances­
try.” 84 Then came the judge’s formulation, so 

radical for its day:

A paramount requisite in the Ameri­

can system of public education is 
social equality. It must be open to all 
children by unified school associa­
tion regardless of lineage.85

That, simply stated, was a declaration that 
“separate but equal” was not equal. The 
language must have made the parties to the 
litigation catch their breaths at its boldness. 
McCormick was implicitly denying the 
legitimacy of an entire body of equal 
protection law, and doing so in language 

that would soon have civil rights organiza­
tions all over the country rushing into the 
case.

The only permissible grounds for the 
Orange County segregation, McCormick 

continued, were the children’s language 

difficulties. “But even such situations do not 

justify the general and continuous segregation 
in separate schools of the children of Mexican 
ancestry from the rest of the elementary 
school population as has been shown to be the 

practice in the defendant school districts.”  
Instead, there must be “credible examination”  

of each child, “ regardless of his ethnic traits or 
ancestry.” 86 No such examination existed 

here. “ In some instances,” McCormick con­

tinued with indignation, placement was based 

on “ the Latinized or Mexican name of the 
child,” even though “such methods of 
evaluating language knowledge are illusory 
and are not conducive to the inculcation and 
enjoyment of civil  rights which are of primary 

importance in the public school system of 
education in the United States.” 87 That 

sentence effectively asserted that civil rights
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and knowledge about them were key goals of 
American public education. So was the 
avoidance of artificial distinctions among 
the students:

The evidence clearly shows that
Spanish-speaking children are re­

tarded in learning English by lack of 

exposure to its use because of 
segregation, and that commingling 

of the entire student body instills and 
develops a common cultural attitude 
among the school children which is 
imperative for the perpetuation of 
American institutions and ideals. It is 

also established by the record that 
the methods of segregation prevalent 
in the defendant school districts 

foster antagonisms in the children 
and suggest inferiority among them 
where none exists.88

What Judge McCormick did was suffi­
ciently revolutionary to deserve emphasis 

here. He not only restated the Supreme 

Court’s suggestion in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH irabayash i that dis­
crimination based on ancestry was usually 
suspect; he applied that doctrine in declaring 
a state’s actions to be illegal. He held that 
Mexican-Americans as a group could not 
legitimately be discriminated against—a 
holding that would not be echoed by the 
U. S. Supreme Court until 1954. He declared 
that school segregation impeded learning 

instead of enhancing it. He insisted, as the 

NAACP would argue in B row n v. B oard o f 
E duca tion , that segregated schools fostered 
unwarranted feelings of inferiority in the 

students who were segregated. Most impor­
tantly, of course, he declared that “separate 
but equal” education was a violation of the 
Fourteenth Amendment. There, again, he 
anticipated the Supreme Court by almost a 

decade.
In New York, NAACP Assistant Special 

Counsel Robert Carter, Thurgood Marshall’s 

second in command, expressed surprise that

the NAACP had known nothing about the 
case. Marshall was in the Virgin Islands, 

recuperating from an illness, so Carter was 
effectively in charge. The school districts had 
announced that they would appeal the deci­
sion and Carter immediately understood that, 

if  the case reached the Supreme Court, it could 
be the one to attack segregated education on 
its face. It might even, he thought, signal the 

beginning of the end for “separate but 
equal.” 89

Carter had come to believe that sociolog­

ical evidence, depicting the psychological and 
pedagogical effects of school segregation, 
could be a useful weapon in the litigation 

arsenal. Other lawyers who worked with the 
NAACP were less sanguine. The social 
sciences, they said, weren’ t pure science, 

and so their findings were too weak to use in 
cases. Carter knew, however, that, as long as 
he was prepared to stand up to the other 
attorneys, Marshall would support him. The 

M endez case was too good an opportunity to 
pass up, Carter thought, and he began drafting 
a brief that he would later call the NAACP’s 
trial brief for B row n v . B oard .90 The NAACP 

would enter the case as an am icus.

So would the American Jewish Congress, 
the Japanese-American Citizens League, the 
American Civil Liberties Union, and the Los 
Angeles chapter of the National Lawyers 

Guild. The NAACP brief took educational 

segregation head on. There was nothing, 
Carter wrote in its brief, to keep a federal court 
from declaring that segregation in a public 

school system was unconstitutional. P lessy 
dealt only with railroad cars, not with 

education, and a line of cases since indicated 
that the Court was moving toward a holding 
that “classifications and distinctions on the 
basis of race [are] contrary to our fundamental 
law.” The conclusion: “ It is clear, therefore, 
that segregation in our public schools must be 

invalidated as violative of the Constitution 
and laws of the United States.” 91

The brief of the American Jewish 
Congress (AJC) lambasted segregation in
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general and, in language that tracked that of 
the experts who had testified at trial, segrega­

tion in education in particular. “The value and 
the desirability of an educational institution is 

particularly dependent on intangible ele­

ments,” the AJC asserted. “The physical 
characteristics of the benches and desks of a 
school shrink into utter insignificance when 

compared with the social and psychological 
environment which the school offers to its 
children.” That “social and psychological 
environment”  could be devastating. Children 
who were “deemed superior are often, in 
manifesting their innocent pride, more cruel 

than normal adults usually are. On the other 

side, children who feel that they are treated as 
inferior are more bitterly humiliated by the 

social stigma that strikes them than adults can 
be.”92 They are likely to suffer the “deepest 

and most lasting social and psychological evil 
results.”  Segregation based on assumptions of 

inferiority “perpetuate[s] racial prejudice and 
contributes to the degradation and humiliation 
of the minority children.” 93

The state of California also weighed in, 

and it quickly became apparent that segrega­
tion of Mexican-American students did not 

have its support. In November, 1946, 
Robert W. Kenny, Governor Earl Warren’s 

attorney general, entered the case as an ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
am icus. Kenny argued that any segregation 
in California schools was unconstitutional, 

and Warren and the state legislature began the 
process of implementing that idea.94 In 

January, 1947, four members of the California 
Assembly introduced a bill to end segregated 
education in the state.95 It passed on April 10, 

which, as it turned out, was only four days 
before the M endez decision was handed down 

by a unanimous Court of Appeals on 
April 14.96

Writing for the court, Judge Albert Lee 
Stephens rejected the county’s argument that 

the Supreme Court’s segregation decisions 

were controlling. His reason was quite 
different from Marcus’s, however. Those 

decisions, Stephens wrote, were handed

down in cases where the state legislature 
had mandated segregation. That was not the 
situation here. “Nowhere in any California 

law is there a suggestion that any segregation 

can be made of children within one of the 
great races.” Mexican-Americans were nei­
ther American Indians nor Asians, and those 
were the only categories of children whom 

California law permitted to be segregated. 
Stephens was willing to concede that Cal­
ifornia could enact a law permitting the 
segregation of Mexican-Americans but it 
had not done so, and so the school boards 
had deprived the plaintiff children of liberty 

and property without due process of law and 
the equal protection of the laws.97

Stephens specifically declined to get into 
a discussion of whether racial segregation was 
no longer constitutional.98 The country’s legal 

elite, however—at least the part of it outside 
the South—was willing to go further. North­
ern and Western law reviews saw Judge 
McCormick’s decision as the writing on the 
wall. His opinion, the Y a le L aw Jou rna l said 
in June 1947, “has questioned the basic 

assumption of the P lessy case and may 
portend a complete reversal of the doctrine.”  
Drawing on statistics in the NAACP’s brief, 

the Jou rna l declared that the facts that 34.5 
percent of African-Americans had failed to 
meet the 1943 minimum educational stand­

ards for military service and that there were 

too few African-American physicians, den­
tists, and lawyers indicated that segregated 
education was counterproductive. “The only 
barrier to a flat holding that segregation is a 

denial of ‘equal protection of the laws’ is, in 
the last analysis, the P lessy case," the article 
continued. “However, the basic assumption of 
the Court in that case, that compulsory 

segregation does not imply social inferiority, 

has become untenable in the light of our 
knowledge of psychology and sociology... It 
is to be hoped”  that the Supreme Court would 
overrule P lessy  ̂The M ich igan L aw R ev iew 

called the M endez decision “a radical depar­

ture from the tacit assumption of the legality
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of racial segregation”  and predicted that it, in 
concert with the higher education cases that 
the NAACP had won in the Supreme Court, 

“may well force a reconsideration of the 
whole problem.” 100 The ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC o lum b ia L aw 

R ev iew urged the Supreme Court to overturn 
P lessy , agreeing that “modem sociological 
investigation would appear to have conclu­

sively demonstrated”  that segregation implied 
inferiority.101 The Sou thern C a lifo rn ia L aw 

R ev iew called segregated education “anoma­

lous” in “a nation priding itself on its solid 
foundation of basic tolerance and equality of

• ..ID?
opportunity.

The school districts involved in the case 

gave up, integrating their schools, and so the 
case did not make its way to the U.S. Supreme 
Court. The case nonetheless had ramifications 

beyond those districts. A few months after 
Judge McCormick handed down his decision, 
David Marcus filed suit on behalf of segre­
gated African-American and Mexican-Amer­

ican school children in Riverside County. The 
school district saw the handwriting on the wall 
and ended segregation.103 The handwriting 

was even more apparent after the Court of 

Appeals ruling. In Placentia, a town in 
northern Orange County, returning veteran 

Alfred V. Aguirre declared that his children 
should not have to go to a segregated school as 
he had been forced to do. In 1948 he and other 
parents petitioned the school board to end 
segregation. Unsuccessful, and knowing 
about the M endez case, Aguirre sought out 
an attorney about possible litigation. The 

lawyer responded that, while a lawsuit 
certainly would succeed, given the holding 

in M endez, it might be wise to petition the 
school board one more time before following 
the expensive litigation route. The board, now 
faced with the threat of a court case, opened 

the “Anglo” Bradford Elementary School to 
all children. A year later there were so few 
students in the “Mexican” school that it 
closed.104 In 1948 scholar Mary Peters 

reported on her survey of 100 non-urban 

school districts in southern and central

California. Seventy-eight percent of the 

districts that responded replied that they 
had segregated Mexican-American students; 
only eighteen percent said that they still 
did so.105

Ninth Circuit rulings do not control the 
law in Texas, which is part of the Fifth Circuit. 
Nonetheless, Gustavo (Gus) C. Garcia, an 
attorney and activist, asked Texas State 

Attorney General Price Daniel whether 

M endez meant that segregation on the basis 
of national origin was illegal. (We will 
encounter Mr. Garcia again later on.) Daniel 

replied that it did, but students could still be 
segregated on the basis of language defi­
ciency. That did nothing to change existing 

practices and, in June 1948, Garcia and 
LULAC filed suit against four south Texas 
school districts on behalf of Mexican- 
American children and their parents. Like 

Marcus, Garcia and his team brought expert 
witnesses to testify about the negative effects 

of segregation and asserted that “separate but 
equal”  could never be equal; as in M endez, the 
attorneys argued that the Supreme Court’s 

racial segregation decisions were irrelevant 
because Mexican-Americans were white. 

Judge Ben C. Rice of the federal district court 

in the Western District of Texas agreed that 
segregation of Mexican-Americans was un­
authorized by Texas law and violated the 
Equal Protection Clause. His decision in 

D elgado v. B astrop Independen t Schoo l 
D istr ic t, however, did permit separate classes 
in the first grade for language-deficient 

students who were identified as such on 
“scientifically standardized” tests.106

In the 1950s, as the NAACP was 

preparing B row n v. B oard o f E duca tion , 

Thurgood Marshall asked David Marcus to 
travel to New York and help the effort. 
Marcus, who disliked traveling and was 
reluctant to leave his single-practitioner law 

practice, declined—but he did send Marshall 
his briefs and case notes.107 Then, two weeks 

before the Supreme Court decided B row n , the 

connection between discrimination against
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Mexican-Americans and discrimination 
against African-Americans was made explicit 

by Chief Justice Earl Warren.
Pete Hernandez, a Mexican-American, 

had been convicted of murder by a Texas jury 
from which Mexican-Americans were ex­
cluded. His lawyers appealed to the Texas 
Court of Criminal Appeals, arguing that the 

all-Anglo jury violated Hernandez’s right as a 

member of a “class”  to the equal protection of 

the laws mandated by the Fourteenth Amend­
ment. The Texas court held that, because 
Mexicans were “white”  they did not constitute 
a separate class protected by the Fourteenth 
Amendment. As “whites,” had not been 
excluded from the jury, Hernandez had been 
properly tried by a jury of his peers.108

A unanimous Supreme Court, after 

hearing Gus Garcia and Carlos C. Cadena, 
the first Mexican-American lawyers ever to 
argue before the court, disagreed.109 Chief 

Justice Warren indicated his intense interest in 
the case of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ernandez v. T exas by taking the 
unusual step of allowing Garcia to continue 

his presentation in oral argument after the red 
light indicated that his time had expired. Then 
Warren wrote the opinion for a unanimous 

court. “The State of Texas would have us hold 
that there are only two classes—white and 
Negro—within the contemplation of the 
Fourteenth Amendment,”  he stated. He went 

on to hold, as David Marcus had argued in 
M endez, that the Fourteenth Amendment 
protected Mexican-Americans as well.110 In 

doing so, he offered a mini-lesson in the 

history of American racism:

Throughout our history differences 
in race and color have defined easily 
identifiable groups which have at 
times required the aid of the courts in 

securing equal treatment under the 

laws. But community prejudices are 
not static, and from time to time 
other differences from the commu­

nity norm may define other groups 
which need the same protection.

Whether such a group exists within 
a community is a question of fact. 

When the existence of a distinct class 

is demonstrated, and it is further 
shown that the laws, as written or as 
applied, single out that class for 
different treatment not based on 

some reasonable classification, the 
guarantees of the Constitution have 

been violated. The Fourteenth 

Amendment is not directed solely 
against discrimination due to a “ two- 
class theory”—that is, based upon 
differences between “white” and 

Negro . . . The exclusion of other­
wise eligible persons from jury 
service solely because of their 
ancestry or national origin is dis­
crimination prohibited by the Four­
teenth Amendment.111

The decision was handed down on 
May 3, 1954, two weeks before the Court 

decided B row n v . B oard o f E duca tion .

M endez had stimulated the Mexican- 
American community and, as was evident in 
the H ernandez case, gave it reason to believe 

that perhaps justice could be achieved in the 

United States, ft directly affected the strategy 
used by the NAACP in B row n v . B oard o f 
E duca tion . It helped delineate the outlines of 
the Fourteenth Amendment, with Judge Mc­
Cormick holding that the Constitution guaran­

teed Mexican-Americans the right to equality 

under the law. As did Earl Warren a decade 

later in H ernandez, McCormick’s decision 
interpreted the Fourteenth Amendment as 
being about more than the relationship of 
Anglos and African-Americans.

As this series of articles focuses on the 

personalities behind the cases, it seems 
appropriate to look at the main players after 

the case. The Munemitsu family was able to 

return to Westminster in 1946, when the war 

ended. They worked side by side on the farm 
with the Mendezes, so that the Mendezes
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could get the benefit of the crop they had 
already planted and use the money to buy 
another cafe. In September 1947, the three 

Mendez children began school in West­
minster Main, which now housed all the 

district’s children in grades one through four.

The Mendezes then reclaimed their Santa 
Ana home, moving there before the Ninth 
Circuit opinion was handed down. Santa Ana 
had not yet desegregated, but the Mendezes 
took their children to the local “white”  school, 
which of course knew about the litigation and 
quietly enrolled them. Sylvia went on to 

college and became a registered pediatric 
nurse. Jerome went into the armed forces, 
where he served his country as a Green Beret; 
Gonzalo Jr. became a master carpenter.112

David Marcus maintained his private 
practice almost until his death in 1982, 

continuing to handle a combination of civil  
liberties and other seemingly more glamorous 
matters. At one point he successfully fought a 
deportation order for one of actress Rita 
Hayworth’s husbands; at another, he was both 

the trial and California appeals court lawyer in 
a major search and seizure case ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA(R och in v. 
C a lifo rn ia , 1952).113 Tragically, he was less 

successful in his battle against alcoholism, 

and he was disbarred for inadequate represen­
tation of clients two years before he died.114

The Mendezes had two more children 
before Gonzalo, only fifty-one years old, died 
of heart failure in 1964. Felicitas lived until 

the age of eighty-one, long enough to know 
that the Santa Ana Unified School District had 
broken ground for the new Gonzalo and 

Felicitas Mendez Fundamental Intermediate 
School.115 The farm the Mendezes and 

Munemitsus worked was sold eventually 
and, somewhat ironically, became the 
grounds of Westminster’s Finley Elementary 
and Johnson Intermediate Schools.

In 1998, the Los Angeles Board of 

Education issued a resolution commemorat­
ing the entire family. It was only one of many 
such resolutions, including those from the 

California legislature. When the U.S. Con­

gress passed a 2004 concurrent resolution 
celebrating the fiftieth anniversary of B row n 
v . B oard , it included the M endez case in 

acknowledgement that the case “had success­

fully dismantled school segregation years 
before B row n ... in Orange County.” 116 In 

2007, the United States Postal Service issued 

a stamp entitled "M endez v. W estm inster 
1947: Toward Equality in Our Schools.” It 
was unveiled on the campus of Chapman 
University in Orange County, with members 

of the Mendez, Estrada, Guzman, Palomino, 

and Ramirez families—the five plaintiff 
families—in attendance.117 The highest pro­

file recognition of the importance of M endez 
came in 2010, when President Barack Obama 

bestowed the Presidential Medal of Freedom 
on Sylvia Mendez, for taking the lesson of 

M endez v . W estm inster to schoolchildren all 
over the United States.118 Two years later, the 

courthouse in which M endez was first heard 
was designated a National Historic 
Landmark.119

In 1998, when Felicitas Mendez was 
dying, she spoke with her daughter Sylvia 

about her unhappiness that Gonzalo had died 
before the M endez case became better known. 
Sylvia dedicated herself to educating the 

public about the case. M endez was an 

important moment in Mexican-American 

history, Sylvia Mendez was to tell audiences, 
but it was equally significant as a moment 

when Mexican-Americans, African-Ameri­
cans, Japanese-Americans, and Jewish Amer­
icans cooperated to undo what they saw as a 

great injustice. “ M endez is about everybody 
coming together,”  she commented in 2009.120 

And, for those optimistic post-war years when 

it appeared that justice was close at hand and 
all things were possible, they did.

EN D N O TES

1 Author’s interview with Sylvia Mendez, Feb. 26, 2010; 

Gilbert G. Gonzalez, C h icano E ducation in  the E ra  of 

Segregation (Blach Institute Press, 1990), p. 150; 

Frederick P. Aguirre, “M endez v. W estm inster Schoo l 

D istr ic t'. How It Affected B row n v . B oard o f E duca tion ,”



MENDEZ v. WESTMINSTERJIHGFEDCBA (1946) A N D  SEG R EG A TED  SC H O O LS 325zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

4 ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJou rna l o f H ispan ic H igher E duca tion 321,323 (2005); 

Jennifer McCormick and Cesar J. Ayala, “Fellcita ‘La 

Prieta’ Mendez (1916-1998) and the End of Latino 

School Segregation in California,” XIX C E N T R O 

Jou rna l 13 (Fall 2007), available at http://www.sscnet. 

ucla.edu/soc/faculty/ayala/ayalares/papers/ayalaC07.pdf, 

citing Gilbert Gonzalez interview with Felicita Mendez, 

1987, in Gilbert Gonzalez personal archive; Molly  Nance, 

“The Landmark Decision that Faded into Historical 

Obscurity,”  24 D iverse : Issues in  H igher E duca tion 28- 

31 (December 2007).

2 M endez v. W estm inster Schoo l D ist. o f O range C oun ty , 

64 F. Supp. 544 (C.D. Cal. 1946) (hereafter M endez v. 

W estm inster) ', W estm inster Schoo l D ist. o f O range 

C oun ty v. M endez, 161 F.2d 774 (9th Cir. 1947); B row n 

v . B oard o f E duca tion , 347 U.S. 483 (1954). The M endez 

trial transcript (hereafter trial transcript): Reporter’s 

transcript of proceedings, G onza lo M endez v. W est­

m inster Schoo l D istr ic t o f O range C oun ty , file folders 

4292-M, box #740, Civil Cases 4285^1292, RG 221, 

Records of the District Court of the United States for the 

Southern District of California, Central Division, Nation­

al Archives and Records Administration (Pacific Region), 

Laguna Niguel, California. The documents are also 

available at http://mendezetalvwestminster.com/court. 

html. M endez v. W estm inster is written here without an 

accent mark, as the court personnel who transcribed the 

trial proceedings and prepared the judicial opinions for 

publication omitted it. The briefs in W estm inster Schoo l 

D istr ic t v. M endez are in Case Files, Ninth Circuit Court 

of Appeals, Record Group 276, Box 4464, National 

Archives-Pacific Sierra Region, San Bruno, CA. No 

transcript was kept of the oral argument.

3 Vicki L. Ruiz, “Tapestries of Resistance: Episodes of 

School Segregation and Desegregation in the U.S. West,”  in 

Peter F. Lau, KJIHGFEDCBAF rom  G rassroo ts to the Sup rem e C ourt:  

E xp lora tion of B row n v . B oard of E ducation and 

A m erican D em ocracy (Duke University Press, 2004), p. 

56; Charles M. Wollenberg, A ll D elibera te Speed : 

Segregation and E xclusion in C alifo rn ia Schoo ls, 

1855-1975 (University of California Press, 1976), p. 

109; David G. Gutierrez, W alls and M irro rs:  M exican 

A m ericans, M exican Im m igran ts, and the P olit ics of 

E thn ic ity  (University of California Press, 1995), p. 40; 

George J. Sanchez, B ecom ing M exican A m erican : 

E thn ic ity ,  C u ltu re,  and Iden tity  in  C h icano L os A ngeles, 

1900-1945 (Oxford University Press, 1993), p. 18.

4 Gutierrez, W alls and M irro rs,  p. 41; Gilbert G. 

Gonzalez, L abor  and C om m un ity : M exican C itrus  

W orker  V illages in a Sou thern C alifo rn ia  C oun ty , 

1900-1950 (University of Illinois Press, 1994), pp. 19- 

20; Sanchez, B ecom ing M ex ican A m erican , p. 19.

5 Gonzalez, L abor  and C om m un ity , p. 7; c f. Juan 

Gomez-Quinones, M exican A m erican L abor, 1790- 

1990 (University of New Mexico Press, 1994).

6 Gonzalez, L abor  and C om m un ity , pp. 32, 59-69; 

Vicki L. Ruiz, “South by Southwest: Mexican Americans 

and Segregated Schooling, 1900-1950,”  O A H  M agazine 

o f H isto ry , Vol. 15, No. 2 (Winter, 2001), pp. 23-27, 

available at http://www.jstor.org/stable/25163422, at 23.

7 Camille Guerin-Gonzales, M exican W orkers and 

A m erican D ream s: Im m igra tion ,  R epatr ia tion , and 

C alifo rn ia  F arm  L abor,  1900-1939 (Rutgers University 

Press, 1994), pp. 120-121.

8 Gonzalez, L abor  and C om m un ity , p. 32.

9 Christopher J. Arriola, “Knocking on the Schoolhouse 

Door: M endez v. W estm inster , Equal Protection, Public 

Education, and Mexican Americans in the 1940s,” 8 L a 

R aza L aw  Jou rna l 166 (1995), at 167-169; Christopher J. 

Arriola, “A Landmark Little Noted—Until Today,”  L os 

A nge les T im es, April 13, 1997, available at http://articles. 

latimes.com/1997-04-14/local/me-48575_l_mexican- 

americans.

10 “Mexicans are to be returned as w h ite , unless definitely 

of Indian or other nonwhite race.” U.S. Department of 

Commerce, Bureau of the Census, “Abridged Instructions 

to Enumerators,” January 19, 1940, p. 7, available at 

http://1940census.archives.gov/downloads/instructions- 

to-enumerators.pdf. C f U.S. Department of Commerce, 

Bureau of the Census, 200 Y ears of  U S C ensus T ak ing :  

P opu la tion and H ousing Q uestions, 1790-1990 (1989), 

p. 60.

11 Act of March 12, 1885, Cal. Stat. ch. 117, §§ 1-2, 

Laws and Resolutions passed by the legislature of 1883- 

84 at its extra session, 99-100; Ca l . Ed u . Co d e § 1662 

(Deering 1886); Ca l . Ed u . Co d e §§ 8003-8004 (1945), 

at 194.

12 California, Department of Justice, “Opinions of the 

Attorney General,”  vol. 21, pp. 448—450, Sept. 27, 1929. 

C f. Wollenberg, A ll  D elibera te Speed , pp. 123-124.

13 Wollenberg, A ll  D elibera te Speed , pp. 110-111; 

Arriola, “Knocking,” p. 170; Gilbert G. Gonzalez, 

C h icano E ducation in the E ra of Segregation (The 

Blach Institute Press, 1990), pp. 137-8; Charles Wollen­

berg, ''M endez v. W estm inster : Race, Nationality and 

Segregation in California Schools,”  C a lifo rn ia H isto r ica l 

Q uarter ly , Vol. 53, No. 4 (Winter, 1974), pp. 317-332, at 

319.

14 Nicolas C. Vaca, T he P resum ed A lliance: T he 

U nspoken C on flic t  B etw een L atinos and B lacks and 

W hat  I t  M eans fo r  A m erica (Harper-Collins, 2003), p. 

64; Gonzalez, L abor  and C om m un ity , pp. 99-100; 

Irving G. Hendrick, T he E ducation of N on-W h ites in  

C alifo rn ia , 1849-1970 (R & D Research Associates, 

Inc., 1977), pp. 91-92.

15 Gilbert G. Gonzalez, “Segregation of Mexican Chil­

dren in a Southern California City: The Legacy of 

Expansionism and the American Southwest,” T he 

W estern H isto r ica l Q uarter ly , Vol. 16, No. 1 (Jan., 

1985), pp. 55, 57.



326JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

16 Gonzalez, C h icano E ducation , pp. 138, 142; Gonza­

lez, L abor  and C om m un ity , p. 102.

17 Osman R. Hull and Willard S. Ford, San ta A na  Schoo l 

H ousing Survey (University of Southern California, 

1928), pp. 35, 36, quoted in Gonzalez, C h icano 

E ducation , op. cit., pp. 142-143.

18 Gonzalez, L abor  and C om m un ity , pp. 104-107.

19 Arriola, “Knocking,” pp. 178-179.

20 Gonzalez, L abor and C om m un ity , pp. 109-110; 

Santa Ana Board of Education, Minutes, August 29, 

1933, quoted in Gonzalez, “Segregation of Mexican 

Children,”  p. 63 n29.

21 Arriola, “Knocking,” p. 181.

22 Grace Stanley, “Special School for Mexicans,” ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT he 

Survey , Sept. 15, 1920, p. 714.

23 B. F. Haught, “The Language Difficulty of Spanish- 

American Children,”  Jou rna l o f A pp lied P sycho logy 15 

(Feb. 1931), p. 92, quoted in Gonzalez, C h icano 

E ducation , p. 72.

24 William H. Sheldon, “The Intelligence of Mexican 

Children,” Schoo l and Soc ie ty (Feb. 2, 1924), cited in 

Wollenberg, A ll  D elibera te Speed , p . 115.

25 Thomas Garth, “The Intelligence of Mexican School 

Children,” Schoo l and Soc ie ty (June 28, 1928), cited in 

Wollenberg, op. cit.

26 Gonzalez, C h icano E ducation , eh. 4; Charles Wollen­

berg, “ M endez v . W estm inster ,”  p. 321. Cf. Simon L. 

Treff, T he E ducation of M exican C h ild ren  in  O range 

C oun ty , unpublished M. Ed. thesis, University of 

Southern California, 1934.

27 A lva rez v. L em on G rove Schoo l D istr ic t, Superior 

Court of the State of California, County of San Diego, 

Petition for Writ of Mandate No. 66625, February 13, 

1931; Robert R. Alvarez, Jr., “The Lemon Grove 

Incident: The Nation’s First Successful Desegregation 

Court Case,” T he Jou rna l o f San D iego H isto ry v. 32 

(Spring, 1986), available at http://www.sandiegohistory. 

org/joumal/86spring/lemongrove.htm; Vicki L. Ruiz, 

“ A lva rez v. L em on G rove,”  in Vicki L. Ruiz and Virginia 

Sanchez Korrol, eds., L atinas in  the U n ited Sta tes: A  

H isto r ica l E ncycloped ia (Indiana University Press, 

2006), pp. 45-46; Francisco E. Balderrama, In  D efense 

of  L a  R aza: T he L os A ngeles M exican C onsu la te and 

the M exican C om m un ity , 1929 to 1936 (University of 

Arizona Press, 1982), pp. 48, 58; San Diego Mexican and 

Chicano History, “La Luchea: What was the Lemon 

Grove School Desegregation Case all about?” http:// 

www-rohan.sdsu.edu/dept/mas/chicanohistory/chap- 

ter07/c07s02.html.
28 Sa lva tie rra v. D el R io Independen t Schoo l D istr ic t, 33 

S.W. 2d 790, 792 (Tex. Civ. App., 1930); cert, den ied , 

284 U.S. 580 (1931). C f. Guadalupe San Miguel Jr., “The 

Struggle Against Separate and Unequal Schools: Middle 

Class Mexican Americans and the Desegregation

Campaign in Texas, 1929-1957,” 23 H isto ry o f E duca­

tion Q uarter ly 343 (1983).

29 Sa lva tie rra v. D el R io Independen t Schoo l D istr ic t, at 

793.

30 Sa lva tie rra v . D el R io Independen t Schoo l D istr ic t, 

cert, denied, 284 U.S. 580 (1931).

31 Trial transcript, pp. 459, 461, 462; Frederick P. 

Aguirre, “ M endez v. W estm inster Schoo l D istr ic t'. How 

It Affected B row n v. B oard o f E duca tion ,”  4 Jou rna l o f 

H ispan ic H igher E duca tion 321, 323 (2005).

32 Gonzalez, C h icano E ducation , pp. 149-150; Jennifer 

McCormick and Cesar J. Ayala, "Felicita ‘La Prieta’ 

Mendez (1916-1998) and the End of Latino School 

Segregation in California,” XIX C E N T R O Jou rna l 13 

(Fall 2007), pp. 8-12, 18-19, 21, 26-28, available at 

http://www.sscnet.ucla.edu/soc/faculty/ayala/ayalares/ 

papers/ayalaC07.pdf; author’s interview, Sylvia Mendez. 

C f. Carey McWilliams, I I I  F ares the L and :  M igran ts  

and M igra to ry  L abor  in  the U n ited  Sta tes (Barnes and 

Noble, 1967), pp. 71, 80.

33 McCormick and Ayala, “Felicita,” p. 29; Gonzalez, 

C h icano E ducation , p. 149; author’s interview with 

Sylvia Mendez.

34 McCormick and Ayala, id .; Gonzalez, C h icano 

E ducation , id .; trial transcript, pp. 462—463.

35 Trial transcript, pp. 330, 369, 411-443.

36 Id . at 442.

37 Id . at. 442^143.

38 McCormick and Ayala, “Felicita,” p. 44, quoting 

Gilbert Gonzalez interview with Felicita Mendez, 1987, 

in Gonzalez personal files.

39 Trial transcript, p. 468.

40 L opez v. Seccom be, 71 F. Supp. 769 (S.D. Ca. 1944).

41 Author’s telephone interviews: Maria Dolores Lane 

(David Marcus daughter), Jan. 9, 2008; Stephen DeLapp 

(grandson) Jan. 6, 2009; Anne K. McIntyre (granddaugh­

ter), Jan. 8, 2008; author’s email interview with Melissa 

Marcus (granddaughter), Dec. 10, 2008. Marcus also had 

a non-Mexican child from a short first marriage.

42 Frederick P. Aguirre, “ M endez v. W estm inster ,”  

pp. 321, 324.

43 Philippa Strum, M endez v . W estm inster : Schoo l 

D eseg rega tion and M exican -A m er ican R igh ts (Universi­

ty Press ofKansas, 2010), pp. 41—42; Gonzalez, C h icano 

E duca tion , p. 151.

44 Trial transcript, pp. 79-80, 90-92, 102-103.

45 Gonzalez, C h icano E duca tion , pp. 151-152.

46 Author’s interview, Sylvia Mendez; c f. McCormick 

and Ayala, “Felicita,” p. 35.

47 Amendment XIV,  Section 1: “No state shall... deny to 

any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of 

the laws.”

48 P lessy V . F erguson , 163 U.S. 537 (1896).

49 C um m ing v. B oard o f  E duca tion , 175 U.S. 528 (1899).



MENDEZ v. WESTMINSTERJIHGFEDCBA (1946) A N D  SEG R EG A TED  SC H O O LS 327ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

50 B erea C o llege v . C om m onw ea lth o f K en tucky ,zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 211 U.S. 

45 (1908).

51 G ong L um v. R ice, 275 U.S. 78 (1927).

52 H irabayash i v. U n ited Sta tes, 320 U.S. 81 (1943); 

K orem a tsu v. U n ited Sta tes, 323 U.S. 214 (1944).

53 K orem a tsu v . U n ited Sta tes, at 216.

54 H irabayash i v. U n ited Sta tes, at 100; Y ick W o v . 

H opk ins, 118 U.S. 356 (1886).

55 Y ick W o v . H opk ins, at 373-374.

56 H irabayash i v . U n ited Sta tes, at 100.

57 Memo from Thurgood Marshall to Roy Wilkins, Nov. 

27, 1945, Library of Congress, National Association for 

the Advancement of Colored People Records, 1842- 

1999, Part 2 (hereafter NAACP records), Box 136 Folder 

11; Thurgood Marshall to Carl Murphy, President, T he 

A fro -A m er ican N ew spapers, Dec. 20, 1946, and Thur­

good Marshall speech, Association of Colleges and 

Secondary Schools for Negroes, Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 6, 

1945, NAACP records, Part 2, Box 136, Folder 3.

58 Petition, M endez et a l. v. W estm inster Schoo l D ist. o f 

O range C oun ty eta l., Civil  Action No. 4292, U.S. District 

Court for the Southern District of California, Central 

Division, Mar. 1, 1946, pp. 6-7, available at http:// 

mendezetalvwestminster.com/pdf/Petition.pdf.

59 Id ., at 2, 7-8.

60 Trial transcript, pp. 44, 109.

61 n.a., “Coolidge Picks M ’Cormick,”  L os A nge les T im es, 

Feb. 8,1924, p. A5;n.a., “Fellow Judges Praise Service of 

McCormick,”  L os A nge les T im es, Jul 29, 1951, p. B2.

62 n.a., “Commissioners Who Made Exhaustive Prohibi­

tion Study,”  L os A nge les T im es, Jan. 21, 1931, p. 4; n.a., 

“Crime Viewed by M ’Cormick: Wickersham Commis­

sioner Returns Home,”  L os A nge les T im es, Jul. 6, 1931, p. 

Al. "A R eport o f the N ationa l C om m ission on L aw 

O bservance and E n fo rcem en t R ela tive to the F acts as to 

the E n fo rcem en t, the B enefits , and the A buses U nder the 

P roh ib ition L aw s, B o th B efo re and S ince the A dop tion o f 

the E igh teen th A m endm en t to the C onstitu tion ,"  is printed 

in H ouse D ocum en t 722 (71st C ong ., 3d sess., G overn­

m en t P rin ting O ffice : 1931 ).

63 n.a., “Confirms Revoking of Doheny Leases,”  T he N ew 

Y ork T im es, Jul. 12, 1925, p. 6; U n ited Sta tes v. P an 

A m erican P etro leum and T ranspo rt C om pany, 6 F.2d 43 

(D. Cal. 1925).

64 Formally, the defendants were represented by Joel E. 

Ogle, the Santa Ana County Counsel. He effectively 

turned the case over to Holden, however, and played no 

more than a minimal role in it.

65 Email to author from Daniel W. Holden, Mar. 14,2009; 

email to author from Chris Jepsen, Assistant Archivist, 

Orange County Archives, Mar. 10, 2009; email to author 

from Jack Golden, Senior Assistant County Counsel, 

Orange County, Mar. 9,2009; n.a., “Mexican Students To 

Be Unchanged," O range D a ily  N ew s, Sept. 13, 1946,p. 1.

66 Trial transcript, p. 5.

67 Id . at 46-47.

68 James L. Kent, “Segregation of Mexican School 

Children in Southern California,” Ed. M. thesis, 

University of Oregon, June 1941, p. 3.

69 Id . at 23.

70 Id . at 67.

71 Id . at 101, 139.

72 Id . at 376.

73 Id . at 377. C f. Strum, M endez v. W estm inster , pp. 82- 

90.

74 Gonzalez, KJIHGFEDCBAC h icano E ducation , p. 152.

75 Trial transcript, pp. 258-270. C f. Strum, M endez v. 

W estm inster , pp. 79-80, 90-92, 102-103.

76 Trial transcript, pp. 660-661. C f. Walter Goldschmidt, 

Ralph H. Turner, and Robert B. Edgerton, “Ralph Leon 

Beals, Anthropology and Sociology: Los Angeles,’ ’http:// 

texts.cdlib.org/view?docld=hb767nb3z6&doc.view= 

frames&chunk.id=div00006&toc.depth= 1 &toc.id=.

77 Id . at 687-689.

78 Id . at 676.

79 Id . at 691, 699.

80 M endez v . W estm inster at 548, quoting California 

Education Code Sec. 8002.

81 M endez v. W estm inster , at 548.

82 Id .

83 Id ., quoting H irabayash i v. U .S . at 100, 110.

84 Id . at 549.

85 Id .

86 Id . at 549, 550.

87 Id . at 550.

88 Id . at 549.

89 Author’s interview with Robert L. Carter, Oct. 17, 

2008; Robert L. Carter to Claude G. Metzler, Dec. 26, 

1946, and Robert L. Carter, Memo to NAACP’s Public 

Relations Department, Apr. 24, 1947, NAACP records, 

Part 2, Box 136, Folder 3; Robert L. Carter, A  M atter  of 

L aw : A  M em oir  of Strugg le in the C ause of C iv il  

R igh ts (NY: The New Press, 2005), pp. 65-66; Richard 

Kluger, S im p le Justice: the H isto ry  of  Brown v . Board 

of Education and B lack A m erica ’ s Strugg le fo r  

E qua lity  (Knopf, 1975, 2004), p. 400; Mark V. Tushnet, 

T he N A A C P ’ s L ega l Stra tegy A ga inst Segregated 

E ducation , 1925-1950 (U. ofN. Carolina, 1987), p. 120.

90 Author’s interview, Robert L. Carter; Carter, A M atter  

of L aw , pp. 65-66; Kluger, S im p le Justice, p. 400.

91 Motion and Brief for the National Association for the 

Advancement of Colored People as A m icus C uriae , 

W estm inster v. M endez, 161 F.2d 774 (9th Cir. 1947) (No. 

11310), pp. i, 31.

92 Brief for the American Jewish Congress as A m icus 

C uriae , p. 13.

93 Id . at 14.

94 Brief of the Attorney General of the State of California 

as A m icus C uriae; Ed Cray, C h ief  Justice: a B iography  

of  E ar l  W arren  (Simon & Schuster, 1997), p. 167.



328JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

95 Wollenberg, A U  D elibera te Speed , p. 132. Governor 

Warren signed the bill on June 14. ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAId .

96 1947 Cal. Stat. ch. 737, Sept. 10, 1947.

97 W estm inster v . M endez, 161 F.2d 774,789 781 (1947).

98 Id. at 780

99 n.a., “Note, Segregation in Public Schools—A Viola­

tion of ‘Equal Protection of the Laws,’” 56 Y a le L aw 

Jou rna l 1059 (1947), at 1060, 1063-1064, 1066-1067.

100 Neal Seegert, “Comment,”  46 M ich igan L aw R ev iew 

639 (March 1948), at 641.

101 n.a., “Note: Is Racial Segregation Consistent with 

Equal Protection of the Laws? P lessy v . F erguson 

Reexamined,” 49 C o lum b ia L aw R ev iew 629 

(May 1949), at 634, 637.

102 Harry L. Gershon, “Comments: Restrictive Covenants 

and Equal Protection,” 21 Sou thern C a lifo rn ia L aw 

R ev iew 358 (1947-1948), at 370.

103 Lawrence E. Davies, “Segregation of Mexican 

American Students Stirs Court Fight,” N ew Y ork T im es 

M agazine , Dec. 22, 1946, p. 6.

104 Aguirre, “ M endez v. W estm inster ,”  p. 328.

105 Mary M. Peters, “The Segregation of Mexican 

American Children in the Elementary Schools of 

California—Its Legal and Administrative Aspects,”  

M. A. in Education thesis, UCLA, July 1948.

106 D elgado v . B astrop Independen t Schoo l D istr ic t, Civ. 

No. 388 (W.D. Tex. June 15, 1948).

107 Author’s interview, Anne K. McIntyre; Gonzalez, 

C h icano E ducation , p. 28.

108 H ernandez v. T exas, 251 S. W. 2d 531 (1952).

109 H ernandez v. T exas, 347 U.S. 475 (1954).

110 Id . at 477-^78.

1 ,1 Id . at 478.

112 Author’s interview, Sylvia Mendez.

113 R och in v. C a lifo rn ia , 342 U.S. 165 (1952).

114 D av id C . M arcus, P etitioner , v . T he Sta te B ar o f 

C a lifo rn ia , R esponden t, June 5, 1980,27 Cal. 3d 199,611 

P.2d 462, 165 Cal. Rptr. 121, 1980 Cal. LEXIS 173.

115 “Mendezes Honored for Groundbreaking Lawsuit,”  

Santa Ana Unified School District, T he Super in tenden t’s 

R eport, March 1998, p. 1; “Landmark decision finally 

receives recognition,” Mexican American Bar Associa­

tion of Los Angeles County, M A B A N ew s, February 1998, 

p. 1.

116 108th Congress, 2nd sess., H. Con. Res. 414 ENR, 

May 19, 2004, available at http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-bin/ 

query/D?c 108:5: ./temp/~c 108rRy YLs.

117 “Stamp Announcement 07-40: M endez v. W estm in­

ster ,”  United States Postal Service, Postal Bulletin (PB 

22213), August 16, 2007, p. 77; “Chapman Commem­

orates 60th Anniversary of M endez v . W estm inster Case 

on April 14,” Chapman University press release, 

March 26, 2007, available at http://www.chapman.edu/ 

_large-files/news-archive/442.pdf.

118 “2010 Presidential Medal of Freedom Recipient— 

Sylvia Mendez,” http://www.whitehouse.gov/photos- 

and-video/video/2011/02/16/2010-presidential-medal- 

freedom-recipient-sylvia-mendez.

119 National Park Service, Department of the Interior, 

“U.S. Court House & Post Office, Los Angeles, 

California,” http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/travel/ameri- 

can_latino_heritage/Los„Angeles_US_Court_Hou- 

se_and_Post_Office.html.
120 Author’s interview, Sylvia Mendez.



Litigating R acial Justice at 
the G rassroots: The Shelley  
Fam ily , B lack R ealtors, and  
Shelley v. Kraemer (1948)KJIHGFEDCBA

JE F F R E Y  D . G O N D A zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The night o f May 3rd, 1948 was a 

sleepless one in the modest brick home at 

4600 Labadie Avenue in St. Louis. For the 
blue-collar migrant family of eight ensconced 

on the property’s first floor, it was unlike 
anything they could have imagined when they 

first arrived in the city from their native 
Mississippi in 1940. Excitement and relief 

washed in waves over the home’s owners, 
J.D. and Ethel Lee Shelley, as congratulatory 
phone calls poured in from across the country 
and overseas. Their triumph in the United 
States Supreme Court earlier that day would 

soon appear in banner headlines atop the 
nation’s African-American weekly newspa­
pers, heralding—according to some—“ the 

beginning of the end of the Negro ghetto.”  
But for the Shelleys, the victory had a simpler 
significance. After all, it would be the first 

night in nearly three years and the only night 

since they had purchased the Labadie Avenue

home without the threat of a court-imposed 
eviction over their heads.1

The home itself was rather unremarkable. 
It barely fit  the large family and Ethel Shelley 
would remark that “ [o]f course it ain’t 
enough.” Yet it represented something much 

greater than any floor plan or lot size could 

quantify. The home on Labadie was both a 
symbol and a material embodiment of prog­
ress and security for the hard-working couple, 
one that millions of black Americans strove for 

but found maddeningly elusive in the wake of 
World War II. The strictures of residential 
segregation, enforced by a combination of 
custom, discriminatory business practices, 
federal incentives, legal mechanisms, and 

violence conspired to make access to decent 

homes a faint hope for the vast majority of the 

nation’s black urban communities. Indeed, the 
Shelleys had very nearly lost their claim to 
their own piece of postwar prosperity.2
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At the heart of the family’s troubles were 
discriminatory instruments known as racial 
restrictive covenants. Since the 1890s, white 

homebuilders and homeowners had used these 

agreements to prohibit African Americans and 
other minorities from occupying properties in 
designated neighborhoods. By the 1940s, civil  
rights advocates in the North and West had 

come to view covenants as one of the most 
pernicious obstacles to black social and 
economic progress and perhaps the founda­
tional building block of the modem American 
ghetto. The right to access decent homes 

became an especially pressing issue at the 

forefront of black activists’ sociopolitical 
agendas in the waning months of World War 

II and in the war’s immediate aftermath. The 
Shelleys’ case against the restriction covering 
their home would appear before the U.S. 

Supreme Court in January of 1948 as ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley v. 
K raem er and served as the culmination of the 
battle waged against covenants by the National 
Association for the Advancement of Colored 

People (NAACP) and local legal activists 
across the country.3

Despite the significance that contempo­
rary observers assigned to the unanimous 
victory, Shelley has lingered at the margins of 
Civil Rights Movement history. The case has 
drawn relatively sparing notice even from 

those historians whose work pushes the 
boundaries of the Movement outside of the 
Deep South and back into the pre-Rrown v . 
B oard o f E duca tion (1954) era. Much of the 
blame for Shelley 's place at the periphery falls 

on the largely undisturbed tenacity of housing 
segregation and the seemingly narrow utility  

of the Court’s ruling that only judicial 
enforcement of restrictive covenants, rather 

than covenants themselves, constituted dis­
criminatory state action prohibited by the 

Fourteenth Amendment. Also at issue, how­

ever, is a larger unease with incorporating 
legal history—and its tendency to privilege 
the actions of great litigators and jurists or 
ostensibly abstract principles of law—into the 
heart of a field that has spent much of the last

two decades emphasizing local grassroots 
activism and the everyday experiences of 

non-elite community members. Though the 
recent work of historians like Tomiko Brown- 

Nagin and her brilliant examination of civil  

rights lawyering in Atlanta have begun to 
bridge this gulf, many Movement historians 

still tend to eye legal history warily, seeing it 
perhaps as the last real bastion of “Great Man”  
narratives in Civil Rights Studies.4

Indeed, by contrast, legal scholars’ treat­
ment of Shelley affords some perspective on 
the distance between law and Movement 

history. Unlike Movement historians, the legal 

academy has spilled considerable ink prob- 
lematizing the Court’s decision. Rather than 

seeing Shelley as too narrow a ruling, 
however, legal historians have often cast the 
Court’s expansion of the “state action”  
concept as so untenably broad in its potential 
application that it, “seemed to leave little room 
for any private legal rights at all,” and thus 

failed to achieve its intended influence in civil  
rights law. This fascination with the decision’s 
overreaching and its subsequent shortcomings 

has largely excluded the Shelley family and 

their local supporters from the telling of the 
case. Looking only at what happened after 

Shelley reached the Supreme Court limits a 
more thoroughgoing understanding of how 
and why the case took shape in the first place, 
disembodying the law from the impact that it 
had in the daily lives of black Americans and 
discounting the impact that local communities 
had in shaping the course of legal change.5

A more comprehensive look at the 
origins and development of the Shelley 

campaign, then, offers a remarkable vehicle 

to examine the ways in which litigation and 
legal activism were intimately bound up with 

and influenced by actors and communities at 
the grassroots. Shelley took shape in a climate 
of intense demographic change and increas­
ingly severe challenges for urban black 

populations that drew the Shelley family 
into cooperation with local civil rights 
lawyers, an assortment of St. Louis’s black



SHELLEY v. KRAEMERJIHGFEDCBA (1948) A N D SEG R EG A TED H O U SIN G IN ST. LO U IS KJIHGFEDCBA331zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

middle-class leaders, and an influential cadre 
of African-American realtors. ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley 's un­
steady march from the local courtrooms of the 

Gateway City to the Supreme Court chambers 

ultimately reveals a variety of competing 
ideas and agendas that render a complex 
portrait of how black legal activism func­

tioned in the mid-twentieth century.

R eluctant Pioneers: The Shelley Fam ily and  

C ovenant-B reaking

J.D. and Ethel Lee Shelley made their way 

to St. Louis from rural Mississippi in the years 
leading up to the Second World War, chasing 
the lure of employment opportunities in the 
urban Midwest and fleeing the brutality of Jim 

Crow in the Magnolia State. J.D. Shelley 

resolved to leave his home near Starkville in 
1939 shortly after local police viciously beat a 

young domestic worker and a friend of the 
Shelley family. Mr. Shelley, a proud and 

protective husband and father, later admitted 
that he headed for St. Louis because he worried 

that “ if  they beat my kids like that, these white 

folks [would] have to lynch me down here.”  
Like many other southern migrants, he left on 
his own with a promise to send for his wife and 

children as quickly as he could. Some months 
later in 1940, the rapid blossoming of wartime 
industry reunited the devoted couple who had 

been apart for the first time since they were 
married at the age of sixteen.6

During the war, Mrs. Shelley found work 

in a childcare service while her husband 

secured a new job as a mechanic in the city’s 
Small Arms bullet factory. Together, they 

staked out a place for themselves on the 
margins of St. Louis’s blue collar black 
middle class. U.S. Cartridge’s Small Arms 
manufacturing plant marked a hotbed of 
protest and racial contention all its own. A 
sharply segregated facility, Small Arms 
became the target of hate strikes among white 
employees who objected to black mechanics 

like Mr. Shelley working on machinery that 

white women operated. Simultaneously it 

became a focal point of local civil rights

organizations who demanded access to jobs 
and better working conditions for the city’s 

black residents. The Shelley family’s links to 
the plant meant that they faced daily 

reminders of the hardships and indignities 

that confronted them in Jim Crow America— 
but were also aware of the capacity of resolve 
and community strength to foment change.7

Despite the relative financial comfort 

they enjoyed during the war years, however, 
urban living with such a large family proved 

decidedly uncomfortable. For nearly five 

years, the Shelleys, like so many others in 
their circumstances, made do with limited 
space in a series of small apartments that 
struggled to fit  them all. Still, the family saved 

diligently and, by the time the war began 
drawing to a close, the prospect of owning their 
own home seemed—at least financially— 

within reach. After debating and worrying 
for some time about whether or not they could 
truly afford the burden of a mortgage, Mrs. 

Shelley finally convinced her husband to move 

when their daughter, Leatha, narrowly escaped 
an assault on her way home to the family’s 
apartment one summer afternoon in 1945. This 
close brush with tragedy inspired a new 

urgency in Mrs. Shelley. As a woman of 
fierce pride, strength, and a desire to provide 
the best she could for her family, Mrs. Shelley 
summoned the full measure of the family’s 

finances and her own deep religious faith to 
push ahead in a dire housing market.8

For African Americans in St. Louis and 
other cities across the country, finding any 

home at all, let alone one suitable to raise a 
family in, was an endeavor that inspired a good 
deal of prayer. Under the weight of a 

staggering housing shortage and the strictures 
of residential segregation, conventional wis­
dom in the postwar years held that the only 
way for black home-seekers to obtain property 
“would be if  someone should die, leave the 

City, or be evicted.” Given these circum­

stances, it was perhaps unsurprising that in 
July of 1945 Ethel Shelley approached 
Robert Bishop, a part-time real estate dealer
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who also served as the family’s pastor at the 
Church of God in Christ, for help in their 
search.9

Bishop had lived in the Gateway City for 
more than four decades and worked for the 
prominent black realtor E.M. Bowers. He 

quickly ran through the limited potential 
options from Bowers’ listings with the 
Shelleys. After a month of unimpressive 

visits, Bishop eventually brought them to 
4600 Labadie Avenue. The Shelleys knew the 

living space would be cramped with only four 
rooms to share amongst the eight of them, yet 
it offered a considerable improvement over 
their current apartment’s space and security. 
Bishop informed them that the flat currently 
belonged to “a widow lady”  who was eager to 

sell. In fact, he had arranged for a white 
“straw-party” named Josephine Fitzgerald to

purchase the house on his behalf from the 
previous owners.10

Straw-party sales served as a common 
way to facilitate covenant-breaking by having 

a white purchaser acquire property from a 
willing  white seller and immediately resell or 

transfer the title to black buyers. Bishop 

himself admitted using the tactic in previous 
transactions and it remained one of the 

simplest methods of undermining covenants. 
Ultimately, the strategy of employing straw- 
buyers performed several key functions. 
Having a white purchasing party allowed 

realtors to circumvent discrimination by both 

sellers and financial institutions. White home- 
owners who avowedly upheld race restric­
tions were usually unable to know if the 

purchaser intended to resell. Indeed, in the 

case of the Labadie property, Bishop
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negotiated the sale with a white woman who 
stated “ that she preferred to sell it [the home] 
to a white.” Only when Bishop assured her 

that Ms. Fitzgerald was white could the sale 
proceed.11

Perhaps just as important, lenders also 
eased their restrictions when faced with white 
buyers. As Bishop put it, “using a white straw 
party has been an advantage to me in 

financing ... [it is] easier to finance through 
[a] white. That’s common knowledge.” The 

straw purchaser could “secure larger loans, 
better loans,”  leaving the person who received 

the subsequent transfer with a lower interest 
rate and more manageable repayments terms. 
Another broker with knowledge of the 

conditions in St. Louis claimed that interest 
rates for African-American borrowers were “a 
standard six per cent” while whites often 
obtained loans at as low as 4.5 percent.

Additionally, lenders tended to impose 

shorter repayment schedules for black 
home-buyers.12

The Shelley’s case would demonstrate, 

however, that the straw-party served an 
alternate purpose for black realtors. Bishop 
purchased the home on Labadie through 
Josephine Fitzgerald for $4,650. The follow­
ing day, he resold the property to the Shelleys 
for $5,760—a twenty-four percent profit. 

Straw-buyers, especially when acting on 
behalf of or in concert with realtors, allowed 

for outrageous price mark-ups and profit­
eering. Bishop’s actions in this case would 
ultimately land him in hot water before the 
Missouri Real Estate Commission.13

In the end, not only had Bishop forced 
the Shelleys to overpay for their home, he 
left them completely unaware that their 
purchase violated the neighborhood’s

The  Shelleys bought their house  at 4600  Labadie  A venue using  the in term ediary of a  w hite  straw  party  because  of its 

racia lly  restrictive covenant. Their realtor, R obert B ishop, w ho  w as  also  the  pastor at  their  church, pocketed  a  tw enty- 

four percent profit because of th is arrangem ent.



334JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

restrictive covenant. Though Bishop later 

protested that he had been ignorant of the 

restriction’s existence, it seemed far more 
likely that he willfully  chose to ignore the 

agreement in pursuit of profit. For their part, 
J.D. and Ethel Lee Shelley simply believed 
that the neighborhood would be receptive to 

their presence because the block on Labadie 
had actually been integrated for decades prior 
to their arrival. When they viewed the house 

for the first time, the couple saw black 
children playing in the street and perhaps 

noticed one of the four black-owned homes 

along the avenue, which included the house 
next door.'4

As Mrs. Shelley later testified, “ I [had] 
see[n] other colored people on the street, 
that’s why I bought it. If  I hadn’ t a-seen them I 

never would.” Her statement revealed two 
frequent themes from the process of covenant­
breaking. First, many black home seekers did 
not actively wish to violate covenants or enter 

into solidly white neighborhoods. The fact 
that the Shelleys saw other African Americans 

on the block likely assuaged concerns about 
the potential for legal action or violent 
physical reprisals against them. They had 
been in the city long enough to know that lone 

black entrants into all-white regions made 

easy targets for vandals, mobs, and vigilantes 
and presumably for that reason sought the 
relative safety of an already integrated block. 
As with many black Americans in search of 
wartime or postwar housing, it was access to 
quality and safety that were of primary 

importance, with integration as an after­
thought or even a discouraging factor in their 

decision-making. Moving in alongside whites 
ultimately had few benefits and even less 
appeal if  the neighborhood might terrorize or 
evict them.15

Secondly, Mrs. Shelley’s statement 
called attention to how confusing and uncer­

tain the process of changing neighborhoods 
and seeking adequate housing could be. The 

covenant that she violated covered a patch- 
work of parcels rather than the entire block

and left intact a multi-racial neighborhood 
whose first black residents had been in place 

since the 1880s. Restrictive agreements of this 
sort that sprang up in zones that had already 

experienced some degree of integration 

sought to protect white majorities rather 
than white exclusivity and hoped to minimize 

the potential impact and growth of an African- 

American presence. Restrictions like these 
were not the norm, but they highlighted how 
covenants could make the process of obtain­
ing decent housing particularly difficult. 

Contracts like the one on Labadie Avenue 
frustrated black homebuyers who attempted 

to avoid integrating all-white regions by 

seeking out neighborhoods with an existing 
black population. The result was that, even in 
some integrated areas of the city, black 
families had to fight house by house and 
spend years in courtrooms to gain access to 
homes right next door to other African 
Americans.16

The Shelleys’ efforts also dramatized the 
fact that breaching covenants rarely began as a 

political act. These were instead the efforts of 

individual families to claim some measure of 
security and comfort amidst trying conditions. 
Their struggles spoke to the desperation, 

desires, and dignity of African Americans 
who fought to own a decent home and in the 
process came to fight for their right to do so.17

Just hours after the Shelleys finished 
unloading their belongings into their new 
home, Ethel Lee Shelley received a summons 
for her eviction proceedings. The effort to 

drive the Shelleys out originated with the 

powerful Marcus Avenue Improvement As­

sociation, a local homeowners’ group dedi­
cated to enforcing restrictive covenants that 

boasted more than 2,000 members at its peak 
and some forty homeowners on the 4600- 
block of Labadie. The Improvement Associa­
tion chose longtime residents Fern and Louis 

Kraemer to serve as their plaintiffs in the 
proceedings. Mrs. Kraemer had inherited her 
residence at 4532 Labadie after the death of 
her father and together the Kraemers moved
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back to the largely blue collar neighborhood 
of her youth in the 1930s. Though the 
Improvement Association’s leadership spear­

headed the case against the Shelleys, the 
Kraemers were close acquaintances of the 

group’s chairman, a local baker named Emil 
Koob, and remained deeply invested through­
out the proceedings.18

Faced with the resistance of their neigh­
bors and the uncertain future that litigation 
promised, the Shelleys—like many other 
families across the country—summoned the 
courage and resolve to fight back. Their minds 

undoubtedly returned to the day their daughter 
arrived home in hysterics having narrowly 
escaped unspeakable tragedy. Whatever their 
reasons, the family clung to the hope that they 
could forge a new and better life in the years 

following World War II. For them, that dream 

began at home.

Still, resolve alone would only take them 
so far. As the case emerged in 1945, the 
Shelleys discovered an array of supporters 
who offered the resources to carry their cause 
into the courts. Assistance from civil rights 
organizations like the NAACP and interested 
parties in the real estate industry remained a 
vital part of covenant litigation in the 1940s 
and continued a longstanding but newly 

reenergized effort to undermine restrictive 

agreements at the local level. While urban 
whites organized to prevent black encroach­
ment and expel African-American property- 

owners, local civil rights attorneys fought 
back against covenants in the same way, block 
by block.

The B usiness of C ivil R ights: B lack R ealtors 

and the Shelley C ase

Ethel Shelley’s first reaction to the 

summons she received on the day that she 
moved into her new home was to reach out to 

her realtor Robert Bishop. “ I just didn’ t 
understand it ... I didn’ t know what it 

was,” she explained, “ I just wanted to know 
whether the property was our property ... I 

just wanted him [Bishop] to explain to me

what it was.” In fact, the only thing that was 

clear to the Shelleys initially was the attitude 
behind the eviction efforts. When asked if  she 
understood the lawsuit pending against her, 

Ethel Shelley replied, “ I just understand the 
white people don’ t want me back.” 19

Bishop and an informal coalition of black 
real estate brokers in the city eagerly sprang 

to the Shelleys’ defense. Genuine political 
concern played some role in the decision of 
these men to underwrite the cost for the 
family’s legal representation, but the potential 
for profits was a crucial part of the equation. 

Progress, after all, stood to be lucrative. These 
men brought their own agenda to the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley 

litigation and for them the case was just as 
much about commercial opportunity—the 

right to sell homes where they pleased—as 
it was about the Shelley’s right to purchase 

property wherever their means allowed. 
While the conflation of black business 

interests with the pursuit of civil rights was 
nothing new, this case would offer a stark 
reminder that, among the forces that drove the 
legal fight for racial justice, altruism and 

moral righteousness occasionally had less 
noble companions.20

For their part, Bishop, his employer E.M. 

Bowers, and another prominent realtor named 

James T. Bush entrusted the Shelleys’ case to 
local attorney George L. Vaughn. Vaughn had 
earned a reputation as one of the city’s most 

spellbinding orators and ardent civil rights 
advocates in his forty-year career as a lawyer 
and politician in St. Louis. The grandson of 
Louisiana slaves, Vaughn was sixty-five 
when the realtors approached him to chal­
lenge the Labadie Avenue covenant’s en­
forcement. An avid student of history, an 
ambitious leader, and a skillful writer with a 

flair for drama, Vaughn had carved out a place 
at the heart of the Gateway City’s black 
community.21

When Bishop, Bowers, and Bush ap­
proached Vaughn with the Shelleys’ case 
late in 1945, the veteran lawyer had 

been steadily building a record of fighting
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restrictive agreements. Vaughn’s advocacy on 

housing matters had begun when he helped 

lead the local charge against legislative 
residential segregation in 1916, but in the 
1930s he began attacking covenants in 
earnest. Vaughn had at least six different 
covenant cases under his purview in the 

months after World War IPs end and had won 
at least one other suit in previous years. 

Though it was unclear how many of these 
cases he took at the behest of the city’s black 
realtors, he and James Bush had likely crossed 

paths in Vaughn’s earliest anti-covenant 

work. The attorney had earned his stripes in 
the battle against racial restrictions by 
successfully defeating a covenant on Page 

Avenue. Bush himself moved there following 
Vaughn’s victory and he had been one of the 
most active brokers on the street. Regardless 
of the nature of their prior relationship, the 
two men became fast friends. Bush’s daughter 
described them as “soul brothers” after they 
joined forces behind the Shelleys’ effort.22

When George Vaughn entered the St. 
Louis City Circuit Court in October of 1945, 
he served at the behest of two clients. While 

J.D. and Ethel Lee Shelley’s interests were 
the focus of his efforts, Vaughn also under­
stood that the realtors paying for his services 

had certain expectations of their own. Ulti ­

mately both clients sought the same practical 
results—namely that the Shelleys be allowed 
to keep their new home. The realtors funding 
the case, however, had the additional demand 
that Vaughn defend their business practices 
should the need arise.23

The hearings began on October 18th in 
the courtroom of Judge William Kinney 

Koerner. Though Vaughn would advance an 
array of constitutional and statutory argu­

ments asserting the Shelleys’ contract and 
property rights, Judge Koerner found himself 

swayed most by a combination of other 
factors that the veteran attorney put at the 
center of his case. First, Vaughn highlighted 

the technical deficiencies of the original 
covenant. He insisted that the neighborhood’s

longstanding acceptance of other black prop­

erty-owners rendered the intentions of the 
agreement void. A restriction whose sole pur­

pose was the exclusion of African Americans 
from the area only served an unfairly punitive 
function if  enforced against individuals after 
the region was already integrated.24

Next, Vaughn’s witnesses, including 
James Bush, offered compelling evidence of 
the overcrowding and resulting struggles of 
St. Louis’s black communities. Vaughn 
pointed to the rapid growth of the Gateway 

City’s black population from approximately 

40,000 residents in 1910 to nearly triple that 
number by the end of World War II. At the 

same time, he insisted, “ the portions of this [c] 
ity . . . occupied by Negroes have been 
narrowed, surrounded and circumscribed 
almost completely” by the growth of cove­

nants and “by increasing business areas and 
the condemnation of lands ... for the purposes 
of widening streets and beautifying the city 

and building public institutions.” Vaughn 
assailed the dire circumstances that racial 

restrictions helped to create and the social 
consequences of these trends as evidence of 
covenants’ inhumanity and injustice. These 

moral appeals would play a critical role in 
Judge Koerner’s determinations.25

Finally, Ethel Lee Shelley’s appearance 
before the court seemed particularly moving 
for the judge. Over the course of her 

testimony, Koerner expressed measures of 
admiration and sympathy for the resolute and 
beleaguered woman. As Mrs. Shelley ex­

plained her family’s circumstances, their 
struggles with finding a home, and her 
interactions with her realtor, Koerner found 

himself vocalizing his empathy for her plight. 
When she expressed her bewilderment at the 
fact that she could be evicted from her home 

despite the fact that she lived on a block with 

several other black families, Koerner assured 
her that “You have the sympathy of the Court; 
I will tell you that.” Koerner’s interactions 
with Mrs. Shelley later earned a rebuke from 
the white homeowners’ attorney, who insisted
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Mr. Thurgood Marshall
Special Counsel for N.A.A.C.P.
20 ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAV I. 40th St.
Now York, IS, N. Y.

Dear Mr. Marshall:

On my return to the city after the holidays, I received your let­
ter of December 30, 1946, and X am herewith making acknowledge­
ment of the same, and thanking you for it.

I am enclosing herewith a copy of the Opinion of tho Court in the 
recently decided case of Kraemer et al versus Shelley ot al; also 
a copy of my Motion for a Rehearing and for Modification of the 0- 
pinlon and Decision, as well a3 of the Suggestions in Support 
thereof.

A3 to your reo.uest for a copy of my 3rief, I am sorry that I am 
unable to comply with it, for tho reason that X was cut short in 
the nvttbcr furnished he by the printers and the call for same has 
has boon heavy. I am now down to the minimum number of copies 
necessary for me to work with. However, 1 am sending you here­
with a copy of the points in the Statement, Brief and Argument of 
Respondents in which the various federal question3 were raised.
In addition to those federal questions, I have raisod still anoth­
er in my Motion for a Rehearing as you will  note by reference to 
paragraphs 1 and 7 of the Motion for Rehearing.

In Respondents Return and Answer to the Petition of the plaintiff, 
among other defenses, tho ruling in Gandolfo versus Hartman, 49 
fed. 181, that, "Any result inhibited by the Constitution can no 
more be accomplished by Con tract of individual citizens than by 
legislation, and the courts should no more inforco the one than 
the other,11 was pleaded and the application of that rule to the 
facts in this case invoked. It was further pleaded that restric­
tive agreements and restrictive covenants in deeds had been re­
sorted to since tho ruling in Buchanan versus warley, 245 U. S.
60, as a means of bringing about residential segregatioi and of 
creating ghettos in lifc30uri and the city of St. louts and else 
whore; that the Negro population in St. Bouts had increased from 
40,000 in 1910 to more than 117,000 in 1946, and that the area 
occupied by Negroes in said city had been restricted by moans of 
these agreements and covenants to practically the sane size as 
that occupied by them in 1910, resulting in gross over-crowding 
and increased ill  health, disease, crime, moral and juvenile 
delinquency and death ar.d the court was asked to exercise its

Paga one

A TTO R N EY A N O C O U N SELLO R . A T-U A W

G EO . U . VA U G H N

Mr. Thurgocd Marshall 1-13-47 Page two.

power and jurisdiction to eliminate said conditions and to afford 
relief from said dire results.

Those additional facts may help to tlirow further light on this 
case. Since the agreement was signed in 1911 numerous Negro fam­
ilies have moved into the city blocks lnquesticn, successively 
occupying varicu s parcels of property, with one Negro family 
succeeding another, all without complaint or action on tho part 
of the signers of said agreement or their assigns. Of course, 
these are state questions but they do throw additional light 
upon the situation.

I shall be happy to confer with you further about this case, as 
well as to have you enter it. The Supreme Court of Missouri has 
taken no action so far on my Motion for Modification and for 
Rehearing, but as soon as any thing Is done I shall Immediately 
notify you.

The decision wa3 rendered by tho court En Banc, so that it will  be 
unnecessary to file a Motion for Transference, since that is the 
highest court in this state having jurisdiction of tho question 
involved.

'..'1th best wishes, I beg to remain,

GLVtnss

ENCLOSURES: ®5»«ec Poor
(Opinion, 7 pages;
Motion Rehearing, 7 pages, 
Statement, 4pages.) 
Suggestions, 7 pages.

Respectfully yours,

This  January 13,1947  le tter from  the Shelley  fam ily ’s attorney G eorge L. Vaughn  to Thurgood M arshall reported the  

outcom e of the case before the M issouri Suprem e C ourt. In his argum ents, Vaughn had insisted that the  

neighborhood ’s longstanding acceptance of other black property-ow ners rendered the in tentions of the agreem ent 

void .
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that, “ the Court . . . was overly kindly, 
courteous and condescending” to her and 

other witnesses during the trial. Judge 

Koerner ultimately ruled in favor of the 
Shelleys in mid-November of 1945.26

Despite the thrill  of victory, the case had 
also laid bare some of the complications 
inherent in the ongoing partnership between 

civil rights lawyers like Vaughn, black 

homeowners’ like the Shelley family, and 
black realtors. Indeed, Mrs. Shelley’s pivotal 
testimony had come on the heels of perhaps 
the most awkward moment of the case, her 

realtor Robert Bishop’s turn as a witness. 

Judge Koerner—who was genuinely appalled 
by Bishop’s overzealous profit-taking—of­
fered at times a cross-examination more 

strident than that of Vaughn’s opposing 
counsel. Vaughn, in turn, scrambled to protect 
his benefactors and defended the realtor’s 

predatory behavior towards his clients. When 
a string of objections failed to blunt the harsh 
questioning that Bishop faced, Vaughn in­
sisted that the flagrant abuse of the Shelleys’ 

trust and vulnerability by their pastor and 
realtor was simply business as usual. “They 
do it all over town, your Honor,” Vaughn 
pleaded. Mrs. Shelley, who apparently only 

learned of Bishop’s misdeeds during the trial, 

must have felt the acute irony of depending 
upon the man who had exploited her family as 

the only hope of keeping her home. Bishop 
and Vaughn’s actions at trial revealed the 
tangle of motivations that would loom over 
the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley litigation.27

Like Vaughn, anti-covenant litigators 

and activists across the country faced the 
question of whether or not to embrace and 

defend the potentially unseemly practices of 
covenant-breaking realtors. This somewhat 
reluctant partnership extended beyond instan­

ces like that of the Shelleys, where real estate 

men directly funded the defenses of particular 
clients. In the summer of 1945, just months 

before the Shelleys purchased the home on 
Labadie Avenue, the legal leadership of the 
NAACP addressed this issue at a conference

of lawyers who were engaged in covenant 
cases. During the gathering, St. Louis 

NAACP Branch director David Grant asked 

the conferees what to do about “some intrepid, 
energetic real estate operator who to make 

money will  go out... and buy up in the names 
of straw parties 3 or 4 houses. Then he will  get 
a Negro buyer and move him in there and sit 
back and wait to see what happens ... To what 

extent should we go to the aid of these real 
estate brokers?” Charles Hamilton Houston, 
the man leading the campaign against 
residential restrictions in Washington, D.C. 
and perhaps the most venerated civil rights 

lawyer in the country, immediately ex­

claimed, “ [y]ou should go completely to their 
aid.” The prospect made Grant somewhat 
uneasy.28

As the lawyers discussed further the 
appropriate course of action in such a case, 

they largely dismissed popular concerns about 

realtors’ professional practices. Though Da­
vid Grant insisted that there was “a lot of 
community disapproval on profiteering,”  and 
suggested that an ardent defense of black real 

estate men might harm the popular appeal or 
fundraising ability of local litigation cam­
paigns, the other attorneys quickly dispensed 

with the issue. One participant stated flatly, “ I 
don’ t see how we can expect to break the 
agreements if we don’ t have these law 

breakers.” Thurgood Marshall even justified 

the excessive profit-taking that occurred by 

maintaining that, “ [tjhis is not an ordinary 
service. You can’ t expect to break into a 
neighborhood at the regular rates.” The 
lawyers, however, were not oblivious to the 

importance of perception in both the arena of 
public opinion and in the courtrooms them­
selves. As such, Houston advocated that the 

speculating realtor “should also try to cover 
his hand and divorce himself from the matter 
so that it will  look like a natural development 

of sales.”  The methods were dubious enough 

that this partnership was best if  kept out of the 
public eye. With only minor hesitations, the 

NAACP and legal activists across the country
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welcomed the mingling of financial and 
political interests in postwar covenant cases.29

Still, the whole practice often reeked of 

exploitation. These members of the city’s 
black professional elite—part of the upper 
crust of their community’s income earners— 

had built their business in part on the 
desperation of their peers and of blue collar 
families like the Shelleys. The realtors did not 
create the distressed conditions of these 

populations or the problems that black home- 
seekers faced; those were the fault of the 

crippling housing shortage in the 1940s and 

discriminatory practices by white homeown­
ers and real estate men. Still, individuals like 
Robert Bishop, E.M. Bowers, and James Bush 
made the decision to profit off of these 

circumstances. Though these men risked their 

careers to provide much-needed housing to 
members of their communities, the rewards 
they reaped came primarily at the expense of 
their African-American clientele. The service 
these men provided was a necessary one. The 
way in which they provided it, however, left a 

bitter taste in the mouths of many observers.

What made the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley case and St. Louis 
unique was how prominently the professional 
community of African-American realtors 

figured in the drive to move the cases forward. 

While black real estate men in cities across the 
country stood to benefit from—and therefore 
lent their support to—covenant-breaking 

litigation, Bush, Bishop, and other realtors 
in the Gateway City took this participation to 

new heights. As Shelley moved through the 

appeals process, Bush and Bishop began 
formalizing the unofficial network of busi­
nessmen that had coalesced around the case.30

The critical turning point came in 
December 1946 when the Missouri State 

Supreme Court overturned Vaughn’s triumph 
a little more than a year after the initial victory 
in Judge Koerner’s Gateway City courtroom. 
Up to that point, Bush, Bowers, and Bishop 
had provided the vast majority of financial 

support to sustain the case. News of the defeat 

left Bush deeply troubled. His daughter,

Margaret, described his reaction as “probably 
the only time I saw him look discouraged.”  At 

the urging of his wife, however, he quickly 
rallied. That night, he vowed to orchestrate an 
appeal to the U.S. Supreme Court. A 

combination of the substantial costs associat­
ed with further appeals and the potential 

sociopolitical significance of such an effort, 
however, dictated that Bush seek a wider 

network of supporters. By the end of the 
month, he had created the Real Estate Brokers 

Association of St. Louis (REBA). Comprised 
of most of the city’s black realtors and several 
salesmen, these men rejected Charles Ham­

ilton Houston’s admonition from the previous 
year and chose not to play silent partners to the 
civil rights lawyers in the city.31

The group quickly announced its forma­

tion on the front page of the St. L ou is A rgus 
and began publicly issuing appeals for 
donations. Though their first order of business 

was to generate financial support for the 
Shelley litigation, they articulated a broader 
social and political purpose. They hoped to 

lead the way “ in the protection of homes and 
investments in real estate,” for the Gateway 
City’s black community by lobbying for 
reforms in property assessments and taxation, 
ensuring appropriate municipal services and 

facilities for African-American districts, and 
pursuing neighborhood beautification cam­

paigns. One goal had particular resonance for 
the realtors as the men sought to “ improve and 
expand certain neighborhoods.” 32

In the effort to push the Shelley case 

forward, however, REBA’s founder James 
Bush also recognized the limitations that an 
advocacy group based solely upon realtors 

would face. Given the level of popular 
mistrust or distaste for some of their profes­
sional practices, soliciting contributions to 
meet their $5,000 fundraising goal could 
prove difficult. To combat this issue and to 
defray successfully the financial burdens and 
organizational responsibilities of the cam­

paign, Bush created an offshoot outfit in early 

1947 called the “Citizens’ Committee” that
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incorporated a range of community leaders 

and activists. While the real estate men 
retained enough of a presence to steer the 

new group, they populated the Committee’s 
large advisory board with an array of black 

middle-class St. Louisans. Apart from the 
realtors, the sixty-six board members included 

a dozen reverends, eight attorneys, seven 
doctors, a handful of newspapermen, and a 

healthy collection of small business owners. 
The group also featured ten prominent 
women, including the president of the St. 
Louis County Teachers Association, and 
members of the executive boards of the local 
NAACP and the Association of Colored 

Women’s Clubs. The Committee’s acting 
chairman was Herman Dreer, a well-respected 

author and faculty member at Sumner High 
School.33

Despite the legion of legal and political 

activists who lent their names to the Citizens 
Committee, the group functioned almost 
exclusively as the fundraising arm of 

REBA. The organization successfully tapped 
into the broader African-American business 
community of St. Louis and many of the city’s 
key religious, social, and political institutions 
to amass donations totaling more than $4,000 

during a period of economic retrenchment for 
many black St. Louisans. The members of 
REBA would add close to $3,000 more of 

their own contributions to the case by the end 

of 1947. The Gateway City’s black realtors 
had stirred a community desperate for change 

and yearning for progress in an uncertain 
postwar climate.34ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Shelley highlights some of the ways that 
class dynamics and tensions within local 
black communities affected the trajectory of 

legal activism. The collision of professional, 
political and class interests that restrictive 
covenants generated was in some respects 
uniquely situated in the continuum of civil  

rights causes. Litigators had worked shoulder- 
to-shoulder with black middle-class and 

professional groups like teachers and railway 

workers on other issues, but rarely had the

triangular relationships between clients, attor­

neys, and “constituents”—those benefactors 
to whom the attorneys owed some part of their 
allegiance—been so complex.35

In Shelley , black realtors were able to use 
covenant litigation to refocus popular distaste 

for their practices on an external target while 

simultaneously strengthening their busi­
nesses. This case and the actions that had 

precipitated it therefore represented a form of 
investment in the growth and success of local 
real estate companies, one where an assort­
ment of other middle- and working-class 
blacks—including a blue collar migrant 

family on the tenuous dividing-line of class 
status—bore the risks and costs of litigation 
most substantially. The realtors who pro­
moted Shelley and other covenant cases 

around the country had much more to gain 
and less to lose than individuals like the 

Shelleys who they sometimes callously 
shoved onto the frontlines of urban America’s 
battle over residential segregation.

At the same time, these realtors were also 

the men who enabled and sustained a 
campaign against restrictive covenants at 
times and in places when local political 
advocacy groups could not. In St. Louis 

they helped to generate the kind of capital and 

popular support that fueled the costly process 
of litigation. The larger fight against cove­
nants and individual cases like Shelley could 

not have endured without this. REBA’s 

efforts in Shelley galvanized broad swaths 
of the city’s black population and served as a 

reminder that litigation was rarely the prov­

ince of only one group or individual. Instead, 
legal activism on behalf of civil rights often 
became the product of various forms of broad- 
based community participation, with all of the 

benefits, pitfalls, tensions, and partnerships 
that entailed.

The local agenda of realtors like James 

Bush and his colleagues also generated 
significant conflicts at a national level. While 

the NAACP had endorsed the partnership 
between anti-covenant litigators and black
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real estate men in 1945, they had never 

intended to allow realtors to chart the course 
of the litigation campaign. In early 1947, as 

REBA began rallying support to push ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley 
forward as a Supreme Court test case, the 
attorneys at the NAACP’s legal offices in 
New York vigorously attempted to discourage 

the St. Louis contingent from moving for­
ward. The NAACP was undoubtedly com­
mitted to the battle against residential 
restrictions, but lacked the same personal 
investment that many local anti-covenant 

movements had. The organization advocated 

for a slower and more deliberate approach to 

the appeal, knowing that the cost of losing a 
petition for certiorari might erase years of 

careful planning. The Association had also 
invested considerable time and resources in 
building a test case in Chicago that they hoped 

to bring to the Court in the coming years. The 
realtors behind Shelley , however, relentlessly 
pushed forward.36

The rapidly escalating conflict between 
the NAACP and REBA stemmed from two 
main tensions. First, the national NAACP was 

for all intents and purposes completely 
unaffiliated with the Shelley case—meaning 
that the fate of what the organization called 

“ the core of the housing problem of Negroes”  
would rest in the hands of a group of 
businessmen with questionable scruples. 
This presented any number of problems for 

both the representational politics of the 
movement and the effectiveness of the case’s 
leadership. Secondly, the NAACP and RE­
BA ’s counsel George Vaughn strongly dis­

agreed over the appropriate legal tactics in the 

case. While the NAACP had begun to build its 
campaign around the argument that judicial 

enforcement of discriminatory agreements 
constituted state action prohibited by the 
Fourteenth Amendment, Vaughn pushed 
ahead with the claim that the limitations on 
African Americans’ rights and the conditions 
of urban segregation that resulted from 
covenants’ enforcement violated the Thir­
teenth Amendment’s prohibition against in­

voluntary servitude. As far as the NAACP and 
its advisors were concerned, Vaughn’s odds 

of prevailing in the Supreme Court were 
nonexistent.37

When it became clear that REBA 
intended to ignore the NAACP’s pleas for 
restraint, the national office began to apply 
whatever pressure it could to disrupt the suit. 

Gentle attempts to urge cooperation failed 

quickly and gave way to more aggressive 
tactics. For example, as the realtors sought to 
build a coalition of other advocacy groups to 
bolster their appeal, the NAACP’s lawyers 

began exercising their extensive connections 
to isolate REBA from potential allies. Marian 

Wynn Perry, who served as the point-woman 

for the NAACP’s housing litigation efforts, 
strongly discouraged the ACLU from sup­
porting the Shelley suit, calling it “a weak 
case” that would be “ futile and perhaps 

dangerous” to take to the Supreme Court. 
The ACLU quickly backed away from REBA. 

Yet the determination of the St. Louis realtors 
weathered these setbacks and forced the 
NAACP to abandon its favorite test case 

and frantically seek out cases from its local 

branches to put up alongside Shelley . The U.S. 
Supreme Court’s unexpected decision to grant 
certiorari in June of 1947 put even more 
tension on the already strained relationship 
between REBA and the NAACP.38

As the cases readied for oral arguments, 
the NAACP resorted to using its financial 
resources as a means to coerce the realtors to 
back down. Thurgood Marshall promised 
REBA a $ 1,000 donation in exchange for the 

group instructing George Vaughn to work 

“under the direction of Charles H. Houston.”  

The Association’s legal leadership hoped that 
Houston, who had been a key architect of the 

NAACP’ s anti-covenant strategy, could help 
rein in Vaughn’s rogue endeavor. Marshall 
initially believed that this offer had suc­
ceeded, but quickly realized that REBA and 
Vaughn had no intention of coordinating their 
efforts with the national office. Written and 

verbal confrontations between the two groups
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continued for months both before and after 
they made their separate oral arguments to the 
Supreme Court in January of 1948.39

Lead on to Victory: The G rassroots Legacy 

for Shelley v. Kraemer

The Court’s unanimous opinion in favor 
of the Shelley family and the NAACP’s 

petitioners from Detroit marked a victory that 

many activists at the time believed would help 
change the face of urban segregation forever. 

Chief Justice Fred Vinson’s ruling ultimately 
proved to be a vindication of the NAACP’s 
legal arguments and political connections, 
stemming primarily from the Association’s 
innovative Fourteenth Amendment conten­
tions as well as the enthusiastic and timely 
intervention of the Truman Administration’s 
Solicitor General and the Department of 

Justice in support of the NAACP’s case. 
Though the state action argument and the 

Cold War civil rights politics that drove the 
federal government’s intervention were most 
responsible for the victory, it was equally true 
that the insistent poking and prodding of the 

St. Louis realtors and George Vaughn had 
brought about this triumph years earlier than it 
would otherwise have come.40

Thurgood Marshall, in an unintentionally 
revealing letter to REBA leader James Bush 

after the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley decision, rebuked the 
realtors’ meddling while at the same time 

acknowledging their place at the vanguard of 
the anti-covenant fight. Marshall highlighted 
the cooperation that other attorneys across the 

country had provided to the NAACP and 
chastised Bush because, “ the Real Estate 

Brokers Association initiated its own case 
[and] employed its own lawyers on its own 
terms.”  Regardless of Marshall’s contempt for 
Vaughn and Bush’s conduct, this testy 

exchange recognized that the realtors’ actions 

in the Shelleys’ case had played a crucial role 
in forcing the issue of restrictive covenants to 
the fore. James Bush, George Vaughn, and the 

host of other African Americans in St. Louis 
who bankrolled and steered the efforts in

Shelley had truly fought the fight for greater 
access to housing “on their own terms”  and for 

their own reasons. The interactions between 
REBA and the NAACP serve as a reminder 
that, despite concerted efforts to make civil  
rights litigation a carefully organized process, 
the realities were often much more complex 

and deeply influenced by local communities 

and individual agendas. The various process­

es and motivations of legal reform come into 
much sharper relief when viewing courtroom 

campaigns for racial justice at the local 
level.41

For the Shelley family, their victory in 
May of 1948 proved a powerful moment. 

Ethel Lee Shelley, whose resolve and faith 
had sustained the family through the entire 

ordeal remarked to reporters, “My little soul is 
oveijoyed. Wait till  I get by myself. I ’ ll  tell the 
Lord of my thankfulness.” As parents, the 

victory meant much more than the security of 
a home. It was a promise that their children 
might live in a more just society—a down- 
payment on the freedom that should have 

been their birthright. As historians and legal 
scholars continue to debate the significance 

and impact of Shelley and the role of civil  
rights litigation in the daily lives of black 

Americans, perhaps an appropriate place to 
start would be with the Shelley family itself, 
the jubilation of that May night, and the 

happiness and security they enjoyed over the 
next ten years they spent at 4600 Labadie.42

Delving into the restrictive covenant 
cases from the groundup and understanding 

what drove families to fight, how litigators 
made decisions, and the people and ideas that 
helped to fuel this often desperate struggle for 

access to homes reveals that the discontent, 
resolve, and inspiration of individuals played 
a critical role in creating public policy 
reforms. Shelley offers a window into the 

intensely personal and human drama unfold­

ing on the frontlines of America’s segregated 
neighborhoods and suggests that the experi­

ences of people like Ethel Lee Shelley, James 

Bush, or George Vaughn must become a vital
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part of emerging scholarly conversations 

about race, law, and reform in the twentieth 

century. Telling the story of civil rights 

litigation campaigns in this fashion can 
provide not only a fuller sense of the role 

that law played in the everyday lives and 
circumstances of black communities—and 
thereby enrich the way we tell the legal 
histories of African-American populations— 

but can also encourage civil rights historians 
to reconsider the valuable contributions that 
legal history has to offer in the ongoing effort 
to recapture this incredible period of social 

and political transformation in American life. 

Understanding the Shelley family’s struggle 
and the process of litigating racial justice at 

the grassroots in St. Louis ultimately provides 
a unique perspective on the landmark ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley 
case and on the larger battle to end the age of 
“separate but equal.” Like the generation of 
activists and organizers who would follow in 
subsequent decades, the Shelleys and their 

advocates quite simply would not be moved.
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C ivil D isobedience, State A ction, and  
Law m aking O utside the C ourts: 
R obert B ell’s Encounter w ith  
A m erican Law KJIHGFEDCBA

K E N N E T H  W . M A C K zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

On Ju ne 17, 1960, a sixteen-year-old 
African-American high school student named 

Robert Mack Bell took a seat in Hooper’s 
restaurant in downtown Baltimore, and set off 
a controversy that would eventually draw in 

Supreme Court Justices, members of Con­
gress, and the Attorney General of the United 

States as they struggled to come to terms with 
the consequences of his action and those of 

others like him. Bell didn’ t envision any of 
this when he arrived at Hooper’s Restaurant 
seeking service. In fact, he was nervous. He 
thought about getting his mother’s permission 

before setting out, but chose not to.
Robert Bell had been drawn into the sit-in 

movement, which had broken out four months 

earlier when four black students at North 
Carolina A &  T State University sat down at a 
segregated Woolworth’s lunch counter and 

refused to leave. Bell was student-body 

president at Baltimore’s all-black Dunbar

High School, thus was naturally the person 
to ask when students at nearby Morgan State 

College were looking for volunteers to picket 

and perhaps sit in at downtown restaurants 
that did not serve African Americans. Bell 

dutifully complied, and soon found himself 
sitting quietly at Hooper’ s along with eleven 
other students, reading their school books 
while the manger and the owner swore out a 

warrant for their arrest. At their criminal trial 
that fall, Bell and his fellow students were 
convicted of trespass.1

Bell’s lawyers, assisted by the NAACP, 

promptly appealed his conviction, claiming 
that his actions were protected by the Equal 
Protection and Due Process Clauses of the 

Fourteenth Amendment. That argument 

seemed to place Bell on a collision course 
with the state action doctrine, which is 
generally taken to mean that “ the effort to 

define and apply constitutional rights need not
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e ve n be gin u nle s s the co m p laining p arty firs t 
de m o ns trate s that s o m e ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAgovernm en t e ntity 

was re s p o ns ible fo r the vio latio n o f he r 
r ights .” 2 Private business owners were the 

ones choosing to discriminate, the argument 
went, and the only thing that Maryland 
authorities had done was to create and 
maintain trespass laws that allowed for private 
race discrimination. The doctrine, it was 

believed, could be traced back to the Supreme 
Court’s 1883 decision in the C iv il R igh ts 

C ases, which is often regarded as a clear and 

unambiguous statement of the principle. 
When the sit-in cases began to reach the 
Supreme Court, the Justices worked hard to 

overturn the convictions while avoiding any 
major state action rulings. For instance, they 
often took note of the fact that the sit-ins took 

place primarily in states where law, public 
policy, or public officials were lending some 
support to segregated public accommoda­
tions. Thus, what seemed like mere private 

discrimination was in reality supported by 
discriminatory public law and within the 
scope of the Fourteenth Amendment. On that 

basis and others, the Justices began to 
invalidate the Southern sit-in protesters’ 
convictions.3

When B ell v . M ary land reached the 

Justices in 1963, however, it was immediately 
evident that this case was different from what 
had come before it. Bell’s case was different, 
because Maryland had repealed most of its 
segregation laws during the 1950s. In fact, 
while his case was on appeal, both the 
Baltimore City Council and the state legisla­
ture enacted civil rights laws prohibiting 

segregated public accommodations in most 
of the state. Even the owner of Hooper’s 

restaurant professed to be morally opposed to 
segregation.4 By that time, events such as the 

mass arrests of child demonstrators in 
Birmingham, Alabama and President Ken­
nedy’s civil rights bill, were making the 
legal status of segregated public accommo­

dations an issue about which many Ameri­
cans, and especially the Justices, could no

longer equivocate. The Supreme Court, 
however, ducked the issue, and a divided 
Court chose to send Robert Bell’s case back to 

the Maryland courts to decide whether the 
state civil rights law retroactively voided the 

trespass prosecution. Bell’s trespass convic­
tion was eventually overturned in the Mary­
land courts, and the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
finally settled many of the contentious issues 
that the sit-in protesters had raised—not the 
least of which was the intense pressure the 

movement placed on the state action 
doctrine.5

Robert Bell was not among those 
waiting for the resolution of his case. Instead, 

the teenager embarked on one of the more 
remarkable journeys in the history of 

American law. Bell returned to high school 
following his conviction, graduated from 
Morgan State College, and decided to go to 
Harvard Law School. After completing his 

studies, he returned to Baltimore, and at the 
age of thirty-one obtained an appointment as 
a judge in the Baltimore City District Court. 
As a young member of the judiciary, Bell 

would serve alongside many of those who 

had participated in his case. They included 
the prosecutor who had secured his criminal 
conviction, the lawyers from the state 

attorney general’s office who defended it, 

many of the Maryland judges who decided to 
uphold it, as well as one of his defense 
lawyers. All  were now his colleagues on the 
bench. Judge Bell went about his work and 

continued to rise in the state judiciary, 
culminating in his appointment, in 1996, as 
Chief Judge of the Maryland Court of 
Appeals. It was now Chief Judge Bell’s 

task to oversee an entire court system that 

three decades earlier had defined him as a 
criminal—or so it seemed.6

This essay asks a deceptively simple 
question: was young Robert Bell breaking the 
law? There are several conventional ways of 
reading a case like Bell’s: 1) as an episode of 
civil disobedience, 2) as a conflict between 

law and morality, or 3) as an instance of
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lawm aking o u ts ide the co u rts . Ho we ve r it is 
fram e d, s u ch fam iliar way s o f lo o king at the s e 

kinds o f co ntro ve rs ie s de p e nd o n the as s u m p­
tio n that Be ll was in vio latio n o f s o m e law.

Lawbre aking was ke y to the way that 
co nte m p o rarie s s aw his cas e as we ll. Fo rm e r 
Pre s ide nt Harry Tru m an, fo r ins tance , who  

re m aine d a he ro to m any civil r ights advo cate s 

fo r his fo rthright s tance agains t s e gre gatio n, 

charge d that the s it-ins we re a Co m m u nis t 
co ns p iracy and that the p ro te s te rs we re 
tram p ling o n the bu s ine s s o wne rs’ rights. 
The NAACP’s Thurgood Marshall also 
struggled to come to terms with civil rights 

activists who “violated the sacred property 
rights” of business owners, as one of his 
assistants later remembered, although Mar­
shall ultimately decided to support the young 
protesters. Lawbreaking was key for Supreme 

Court Justice Hugo L. Black as well. The 

former Alabama Senator balked at a ruling 

that the sit-ins were protected by the 
Fourteenth Amendment, largely because he 
believed that the protesters were not protected 
by state trespass law, and thus were forcibly 

violating the business owners’ property rights 
to make their case.7

For observers, then and now, the striking 
image of students willing  to go to jail for their 
beliefs caused many to downplay the simple 
question of whether the students were, in fact, 

violating the law. From the moment that the 

sit-ins broke out in February of 1960, the main 
questions asked of young people like Robert 
Bell was their attitude toward lawbreaking. 

That interpretation was buttressed by Martin 
Luther King’s famous 1963 “Letter from 
Birmingham Jail,” which seemed to pose 
neatly the choice between obedience to 
Christian morality or to segregationist South­
ern law. Just about every educated reader is 
familiar with classic examples of conflicts 

between law and morality, but perhaps in 
thinking through this familiar terrain we are 

sometimes too quick to conclude that the law 
itself creates a clear rule on the subject. This is 

very likely to be true of the moral conflicts that

often generate constitutional cases that make 

it to the Supreme Court.
There were two main sources of law that 

might define Bell and his fellow students’ 
actions as legal or illegal—federal constitu­
tional law, which might protect their actions 

from state prosecution, and state trespass law, 

which most people believed had been violated 
by their actions. With regard to constitutional 

law, the main question involved the state 
action doctrine—whether the state of Mary­
land, or the private business owner, was the 
real actor who was being accused of violating 

the Constitution. As was widely recognized at 
the time, the state action doctrine’s asserted 
distinction between public and private acts 
had been unraveling for decades, and courts 
seemed to invoke the doctrine primarily to 

carve out exceptions rather than to follow its 

commands. But most people assumed, as they 
do today, that if  one looked far enough in the 

past, one could find some origin point for the 
doctrine itself, and that the sit-in students’ 
actions did not accord with its original 
meaning.8

Indeed, in recent years, the Supreme 
Court has continued to invoke reflexively the 
conventional idea that state action emerges 
from a simple reading of the text of the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC iv il  

R igh ts C ases and several other 1870s and 
1880s decisions.9 What will  be argued here, 

however, is that, even at its origin point, there 
was no coherent state action doctrine—at least 
as articulated in the form that we know today. 

Rather, one finds an unresolved conflict 
between competing ideas of the scope of 
constitutional protections, neither of which 
neatly matches state action as most people 
articulated it at the time of the sit-ins, or even 
today.10

Much clearer, seemingly, was the ques­
tion of whether the sit-in students were in 
violation of state trespass law. Even today, 

law students routinely learn the accepted rule 
that, for the most part, private businesses that 
are open to the public have the right to exclude 

patrons, even for arbitrary reasons. There are
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we ll-kno wn e xce p tio ns to that ru le , m o s t 
p ro m ine ntly the civil r ights laws , bu t, at the  
tim e that Be ll s o u ght s e nde e at Ho o p e r’s, 
there was no state or federal civil rights law 

that applied to his actions. If the sit-in 

students’ actions raised murky constitutional 

issues, it seemed clear at least that they were 
trampling on the private property rights of the 
business owners, as defined by state law. 
However, as will  be shown below, even the 
content of state trespass law was far murkier 
than it appeared, and this was particularly so 
in Maryland. Ironically, the very case thought 
to present clearly the question of law versus 

morality as applied to the sit-ins, was the case 

in which the baseline state trespass law was 
least clear of all.

To say that even the formal law that 
applied to cases like Robert Bell’s was unclear 
is also to introduce a complication into the way 
that historians have understood social move­
ments such as the sit-ins. For decades, legal

historians have analyzed protest movements 
as sites of legal pluralism, where unofficial 

interpretations of law propounded by outsider 
groups like the sit-in students are understood 

as ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAlega l interpretations, rather than mere extra- 
legal protest actions. That is, rather than 

choosing morality over compliance with the 
law, groups like the sit-in protesters were 

engaged in a contest over just what the law was 
that applied to the sit-ins. Sometimes, this 
extra-legal lawmaking results in changes in 
the official interpretation of law.11 Bell’s 

story would seem to fit squarely within that 

framework, for as a Judge he quickly devel­
oped a reputation for going against the grain. 

Judge Bell was known for his Afro hairstyle, 
his Zodiac medallion that he wore to court in 
the 1970s, his famous dissents that held 

prosecutors to strict standards of procedural 
fairness, and his immaculately tailored clothes 
that he wears to this day. His elevation to the 
Chief Judgeship would seem to be the classic

B oth  as  a  judge and  as  a sixteen-year-o ld sit-in  student, the im m aculately ta ilored M aryland C hief Judge R obert B ell 

developed a reputation as a protester w ith in the legal system . The reality is different.
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s to ry o f o u ts ide -the -bo x le gal co ns cio u s ne s s 

e ve ntu ally be ing acce p te d as a co re p art o f the  
le gal s y s te m . Alo ng with the s u cce s s o f Be ll 

and his fe llo w s it-in s tu de nts in alte ring s e ttle d 
law—and eventually contributing to the 
enactment of the ’64 Act—Bell’s own career 

would seem to be clear evidence of the 
effectiveness of civil disobedience in chal­
lenging a legal system that clearly marked off 
the students’ actions as illegal.12

Yet, to view Bell’s actions at Hooper’s as 
the story of outsider views challenging official 

interpretations of law is to lose some of the 
context and complexity that surrounded his 
act and the legal career that followed it. The 
story that begins on that day at Hooper’s and 
reached its apogee with his elevation to the 
Chief Judgeship is far more complicated than 
this. Moreover, as indicated above, it is not 
even clear what was the formal law that 

applied to his case. In emphasizing the 

conflicts between outsiders like Bell and the 

legal system, scholars have sometimes lost 
sight of the contested-ness, the murkiness, of 
even widely accepted interpretations of offi ­
cial law such as the state action doctrine and 
ordinary trespass law. After decades of legal- 
historical and law-and-society scholarship in 

this vein, it is now relatively easy, and no 
longer controversial, to focus on outsider and 
subaltern views of law and their conflicts with 

more established sources of law-making and 

law interpretation. The ease with which one 

can now make such an interpretive move has 
sometimes led scholars to de-emphasize a 
point that needs re-emphasis: that “official 
law” is often shot through with contestation 

and conflict, even if lawyers and judges 
present it to the larger society as an island of 
certainty in an uncertain world.

Robert Bell’s case still has much to teach 
us, if  we will  discard some conventional ways 
of viewing his historic act and his subsequent 

conflict with law. The following essay might 
be viewed as an invitation to rethink some of 

those conventions—those surrounding the 
state action doctrine, the morality of civil

disobedience, and the history of law and its 
interaction with the social world.

D id  C onstitu tiona l  Law  A uthorize  R obert  

B ell ’s A ctions?

Were Robert Bell and his fellow sit-in 

students breaking the law? The obvious place 

to start is with the constitutional doctrine that 
may or may not have granted him a right to be 

free of race discrimination in Hooper’s 
restaurant. The restaurant’s refusal to serve 
him—which led to his prosecution—was 

because of his race. The question was, at 
least as most contemporaries interpreted it, 
whether it was some action by the state of 

Maryland that was really being challenged. 
There was wide agreement that the origin of 
the state action doctrine—what Charles Black 

poetically called its ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAfans et o r igo—was the 
1883 majority opinion in the C iv il R igh ts 

C ases, written by Justice Joseph P. Bradley; 
or that perhaps the doctrine originated in the 
Fourteenth Amendment itself, which reads: 

“No State shall make or enforce any law 

which shall abridge the privileges or immuni­
ties of citizens of the United States . . . nor 
deny to any person within its jurisdiction the 
equal protection of the laws.” 13 Even legal 

historians have endorsed the proposition that 
the state action doctrine emerges from a 
straightforward reading of these words.14

The standard narrative of state action is 

that the official doctrine, as it emerged in the 
text of the C iv il R igh ts C ases majority 
opinion, was relatively clear. The real action 

around state action would seem to come in the 
twentieth century, when social reform move­

ments, as well as institutional changes such as 
the advent of the New Deal, began to put 

pressure on the doctrine’s formal separation of 
public and private.15

To do this, however, is to get the story 

exactly backwards, and to read nineteenth- 
century texts through twentieth (and now 

twenty-first) century eyes. It is to assume that,
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if  we lo o k far e no u gh into the p as t, we can find 
ans we rs that avo id the co m p licate d inte rp re­
tive qu e s tio ns that are m o re fam iliar to u s  

to day . As will be s ho wn be lo w, ho we ve r, 

Bradle y’s 1883 opinion, and Justice Harlan’s 
dissent, emerged from twenty years of 

struggle and argument that preceded them— 
a context in which blacks seeking freedom, 
and whites sensing their world coming apart, 

argued intensely over what was, and should 
be, the substantive content of the law that 
applied to black freedom. Those arguments, 
and their resolution in the dueling opinions of 
Bradley and Harlan, had much to do with how 
far the Constitution extended to constrain the 

actions of individual citizens, but those 

arguments did not match the contours of 
modem state action.

A  judicial opinion written in 1883 would 
supposedly define whether Bell and his fellow 
students were violating the law nearly eighty 

years later. What will follow here is a 
historical reconstruction of Bradley’s opinion, 
relying on both original research and existing 
scholarship. It is a reconstruction that will  

begin with the actual text of the opinion, and 

the history that led Bradley to produce this 
somewhat odd document that does not quite 

read like an elaboration of modem state 
action. That oddness was no accident, for the 
legal categories that animated Bradley and his 
colleagues on the Supreme Court are not those 

that would animate the 1960s-era Supreme 

Court as it considered the sit-in cases, nor the 
ones that govern us today.

What Justice Bradley and his colleagues 
decided in the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC iv il  R igh ts C ases was that the 

Civil Rights Act of 1875, which required the 
operators of public accommodations to admit 
patrons without regard to race, was unconsti­
tutional. Specifically, he decided that neither 

the Thirteenth nor the Fourteenth Amendment 
gave Congress the power to enact a public 

accommodations law. His majority opinion 

does, of course, contain the words that are 

quoted in modem discussions of state action, 
for instance, “ [i]t  is State action of a particular

character that is prohibited”  by the Fourteenth 
Amendment. “ Individual invasion of individ­

ual rights is not the subject matter of the 
amendment.” There is also this: “until some 

State law has been passed, or some State 

action through its officers or agents has been 
taken,” there is no power for Congress to 
legislate under the Fourteenth Amendment.16 

Bradley also set out the words that modem 

observers believe to be exceptions to the 
official doctrine, for instance, that Congress 

could regulate “customs having the force of 
law” under the Fourteenth Amendment, or 
that the Thirteenth Amendment “clothes 
Congress with power to pass all laws 

necessary and proper for abolishing all badges 

and incidents of slavery.” Based on the 

conventional reading of Bradley’s opinion, 
it would seem to mean that Congress lacked 
the power to enact the 1875 Act because the 

statute applied to private business owners who 
chose to discriminate, rather than to public 
officials.17

This is a traditional way of reading a 
judicial opinion—as a relatively accessible 
text from which we can derive a discrete 
holding that applies to modem controversies. 

But what one discovers if  one applies even 

this type of reading to the entirety of the 
voluminous opinions in the case—without the 
assumption that one will find modem state 

action there—is how strange the opinions 
seem from a modem perspective. For in­

stance, the dispute between Justices Bradley 
and Harlan is decidedly not about their 

different interpretations of a wall that sepa­
rates public power from private life. Bradley’s 
majority opinion focused largely on the 

argument that if Congress could enact a 

public accommodations statute it would allow 
the body to create a “code of municipal law”  
regulating private rights—a phrase Bradley 

repeated twice—and “make Congress take the 
place of the State legislatures and to supersede 
them.” Justice Harlan’s dissenting opinion 

devoted most of its space to refuting that same 

proposition—arguing that the Amendments
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did co nfe r bro ad au tho rity o n Co ngre s s to 

p as s the Civil Rights Act, bu t that s u ch 

au tho rity wo u ld ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAno t e m p o we r the fe de ral 
go ve rnm e nt to cre ate a “municipal code for all 
the States, covering every matter affecting the 

life, liberty, and property of the citizens of the 
several States.” 18

The Justices differed quite forcefully and 
powerfully in their readings of constitutional 

law, but they argued about federalism, not 
about public versus private life. They argued 
about whether freedom from discrimination in 

public accommodations was part of the 
citizenship rights that had been brought under 

federal protection by the Thirteenth, Four­
teenth and Fifteenth Amendments, or whether 
it was left under control of the states. What 

was really at work in the sharply drawn 
argument between Harlan and Bradley was an 
attempt to close down a long-running debate 

that stretched back to the Civil  War about the 
scope of federal versus state authority. In that 

debate, Bradley himself had taken a some­
what different position from the one he 

asserted in his majority opinion. By 1883, 

however, many things had occurred to change 

his mind.
The path that would lead to that famous 

opinion began nearly twenty years earlier, in 
the midst of the Civil  War, as Republicans like 
Bradley tried to understand how slave 
emancipation might alter the constitutional 

beliefs under which they were prosecuting the 

war. A native of upstate New York, Bradley 
spent most of his life as a lawyer in Newark, 
New Jersey, where for three decades he 

represented railroads and other large corpo­
rations. During the war, he described himself 
over and over again at wartime political rallies 

as a “conservative” Republican who fully  

endorsed union policy based on the laws of 
war without altering the fact that “ [t]he 
Constitution gives us no power to meddle”  
in local Southern institutions. The fundamen­

tal objective of the Republican party, he told 

his listeners again and again, was to suppress 
the rebellion, and reassert the prewar federal

structure. For Bradley, questions of slavery 
and freedom for black Americans in the South 
remained firmly  within the province of local, 

or as he later phrased it, “municipal”  law. This 

was, of course, a standard lawyer’s move of 
asserting one’s allegiance to past traditions at 
times of great change—one that would 
reappear in a different guise a century later 
in the sit-in cases.19

Asserting his allegiance to preserving the 
sphere of municipal law—as he would again 

in the C iv il R igh ts C ases—was a useful 
device, because Bradley’s adopted hometown 
of Newark was an especially anti-black 
enclave. The ambitious, middle-aged lawyer 

ran for Congress in 1862, and much of what 
we know of his wartime beliefs comes from 
his Republican campaign rhetoric. The phrase 
“municipal law”  would have been familiar to 
almost any political figure who—like both 

Bradley and Harlan—had lived through the 
Civil War-era political debates. Republicans 

deployed it over and over again during the war 
to indicate that they could accomplish 
emancipation under the laws of war, without 

disturbing the constitutional status of slavery, 

which was still defined by “municipal”—i.e., 
local, law. Bradley’s fellow New Jerseyans 
had deployed municipal law—the law of 
slavery—to hold a small number of African- 
Americans in bondage within the state as late 

as the 1850s. They initially refused to ratify 
both the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amend­
ments. On the campaign trail, Bradley 
declined even to endorse the Emancipation 
Proclamation, simply explaining that, regard­

less of its wisdom, Lincoln’s actions were 
justified under the laws of war.20

Bradley’s assertions of conservative 
federalism were good strategy, for Democrats 

delighted in stirring up anti-black prejudice 
by arguing that emancipation would make 

black Americans into equal citizens with 
whites. As the Thirteenth Amendment was 
debated in Congress, Democrats reserved 
their strongest objection—other than appeals 
to race prejudice—for the claim that the
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am e ndm e nt was a radical re vis io n o f e xis ting 
ide as o f lim ite d natio nal p o we r that had be e n 
writte n into the natio n’s founding documents. 

They also argued that the amendment would 
confer both citizenship and a wide range of 

rights, including suffrage, on the freed slaves. 
This was, of course, strategic language 
designed to block the amendment, but even 

strategic language must ground itself in some 

plausible version of constitutional reality and 
this was an entirely plausible claim.21

Indeed, the political debates over the 
Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amend­
ments, and the Civil Rights Acts, were filled 

with assertions that the Amendments under­
mined the conservative federalism that Brad­
ley defended during the war. Once the 
Thirteenth Amendment had been ratified, 

white Southerners worried openly that the 

antislavery amendment might “give Congress 
the power of local legislation over negroes”  

extending to matters other than the bare 
prohibition of slavery. When Congress re­
sponded to the Black Codes and widespread 

anti-black violence with the Civil Rights Act 

of 1866, which guaranteed the nondiscrimi- 
natory right “ to make and enforce contracts, to 
sue, be parties, and give evidence, to inherit, 

purchase, lease, sell, hold, and convey real 
and personal property,”  it was a radical move, 
not least of which because the Act federalized 
matters that were conventionally thought to be 

matters of municipal law. Kentucky Senator 

Garrett Davis charged that the Civil Rights 
Act gave Congress “power to occupy the 
whole domain of local and State legislation”  

and would allow it “ to pass a civil and 
criminal code for every State in the Union”— 
almost exactly the idea that Bradley would 
later deploy in the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC iv il  R igh ts C ases.22

In 1870, Bradley’s initial political con­

nections earned him one of President Grant’s 
nominations to fill  vacancies on the Supreme 
Court. Upon joining the Court, Bradley was 

immediately assigned to the Fifth Judicial 
Circuit, which stretched from Florida to 

Texas. Each year, at the conclusion of the

Supreme Court’s term in May, he spent about 
six weeks hearing cases there as a Circuit 
Judge, where he delivered groundbreaking 

interpretations of the meaning of the Civil  
War Amendments. Each year, he travelled 
through the South, where he was called upon 
to do what he had resolutely avoided during 
the war: render opinions on the constitutional 

claims that were being advanced by African- 

Americans.
During and after the war, African- 

Americans insisted that emancipation and 

the ratification of the Thirteenth Amendment 
raised the very issue that Bradley had done his 
best to avoid—upending municipal law and 
granting blacks a broad range of rights. In 
New Orleans, free people of color had insisted 
that emancipation, which had begun with the 
arrival of Union troops in 1862, conferred a 

broad range of rights on people of African 

descent, including access to streetcars. In 
Philadelphia, the local chapter of the Equal 

Rights League and other African-American 
groups viewed the Thirteenth Amendment as 

justification for a renewal of their campaign 
for equal access to streetcars. The movement 

quickly secured a decision from a local court 
that excluding African-Americans from 

streetcars was an actionable offense. In 
reversing what was taken to be settled law 

in Pennsylvania, the local judge stated that 

war and emancipation had altered what was 
taken to be settled municipal law: “ the logic of 

the past four years has in many respects 
cleared our vision and corrected our judg­
ment.” 23 Boston lawyer John Rock became 

the first black man admitted to the Supreme 
Court bar on the day the Thirteenth Amend­

ment was reported out of Congress. Both 
Rock and his sponsor, the antislavery Senator 
Charles Sumner, believed that this simple act, 
coming on the heels of emancipation, was an 

acknowledgement by the Court that blacks 

possessed a broad range of rights. “Streetcars 
would be open afterwards,”  Sumner opined.24

On May 2, 1870, at the conclusion of his 
first term on the Supreme Court, Bradley set
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o u t with his wife o n the lo ng train r ide So u th 
fo r his firs t to u r o f the Fifth Ju dicial Circu it— 
and, indeed, his first extended exposure to 
Southern life. The trip would bring him 

face-to-face with the question of what the 
Civil War Amendments had done to basic 

citizenship rights, but not with the claims of 
black Americans. The former Newark lawyer 
traveled by train and steamboat, but probably 

saw little of the constant battles over railroad 

segregation that took place all over the South. 
He opened court in Galveston, Texas, where 
five years earlier freed slaves had initiated the 

Juneteenth celebrations marking emancipa­
tion, and just as the United States military was 
handing off  authority to local government. He 
spent most of his time interacting with local 
lawyers and judges. White Southern lawyers 

liked him, and commented favorably on 
his judicial demeanor. With his docket of 
commercial cases, he remained relatively

insulated from the citizenship claims of 

African-Americans. His principal exposure 
to those claims probably came from the man 
he would meet when Bradley convened court 

in New Orleans: Circuit Judge William 
Woods.25

Like Bradley, William Woods was a 

conservative Northern Republican who was 
trying to make sense of the constitutional 
revolution that had made slaves into full  

citizens. The two men would shape much of 
the road that would lead to the opinion in the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C iv il R igh ts C ases. Judge Woods, a trans­
planted Ohioan, had fought for the Union 
during the war, and stayed on in the South 
where he became a state official in Alabama. 

He was lucky enough to be appointed as 
a federal Circuit Judge when Congress ex­
panded the federal judiciary in 1869, just 
before violence, intimidation, and murder 

overwhelmed many of his fellow Republican
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Alabam a o ffice ho lde rs as the De m o cratic 
p arty be gan to re claim the s tate . Unlike 

Bradley, Woods had half a decade of direct 
experience with the fragile state of Southern 
municipal law when the two men teamed up in 
New Orleans to decide the case that would 
reach the Supreme Court as the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS laugh ter­

house C ases.26

In the S laugh terhouse C ases, Bradley 
would famously deliver his first ruling on 

what the Fourteenth Amendment had done to 
the conservative federalism he had defended 
during the war—in a case that seemed to have 

nothing to do with race. It involved an 
ostensible public health law that required 

New Orleans butchers to slaughter animals at 
the premises of the Crescent City Company, 
which lay downriver from the city’s water 
supply. A group of butchers challenged the 
slaughterhouse law, and hired former Su­

preme Court Justice John A. Campbell, who 
had resigned from the Court to fight for the 
confederacy, as a key part of their legal team. 

Campbell devised the argument that the 

Crescent City Company was a monopoly 
that prevented butchers from pursuing their 
trade, in violation of the Fourteenth Amend­
ment and the Civil Rights Act.27

But as always in New Orleans politics, 
much lay beneath the surface. Before the war, 
the Mississippi river city had been home to the 
largest slave market in the Americas, and was 

simultaneously the commercial center of the 
deep South and home to a population of 
mixed-race men of color, many of whom 

declared their allegiance to the confederacy 

before moving closer to the black side of the 

color line with the arrival Union troops in 
1862.28 The slaughterhouse law in question 

was enacted in 1869 by the state’s first 
legislature in which both blacks and whites 
served, elected only after violence and murder 
squelched the first attempt to enfranchise the 
state’s African-Americans. How much of this 

Bradley understood is impossible to say, given 
the paucity of the evidence he left for us. On 
his first trip to the city three years before, he

had adopted the viewpoint of the unrecon­
structed secessionists who had constituted his 

social circle there. He dismissed the freed 
slaves’ desire to leave their plantations and 
move about, with the quip: “off they go—to 
see the cities or other parishes—their vagrancy 
only limited by their means of locomotion.”29

Many scholars have speculated about 
why Bradley decided that a group of white 

butchers could challenge a slaughterhouse 
law, using a constitutional amendment that 
had been enacted to make African-Americans 

into full citizens. Perhaps, in constitutionaliz­
ing a right to follow what he called “ lawful 

industrial pursuits,” Bradley was moved by 
the circumstances of the industrial workers 

among whom he had campaigned in Newark. 
Perhaps he was moved by Campbell’s white 
supremacist-inflected arguments about the 
supposed corruption of the biracial legislature 

that passed the statute—an assertion that is 
often accepted uncritically by scholars.30 

Certainly, Bradley’s prior record left little 

indication that he was friendly to black 

citizenship claims. As a New Jersey lawyer, 
he had defended slave-owners against a legal 
challenge to slavery in that state. As the war 
loomed he had gone to Washington to 

promote a sectional compromise that would 
reassert the Missouri Compromise and allow 
slavery into the West. As late as 1862 he 
advocated colonization of freed slaves in 

another country. Whatever its reasons, there is 
hardly sufficient evidence to make a definitive 
judgment.31

What can be stated with more assurance 

is that Bradley (and Woods) ruled broadly, 
and both men soon had to face up to the 

implications of their position for black 

citizenship claims. Assessing the butchers’ 

challenge, Bradley reasoned that the Four­
teenth Amendment, in protecting the “priv­
ileges or immunities of citizens of the United 
States,” was intended to define and protect 

fundamental rights that must remain “abso­

lutely unabridged, unimpaired”  under munic­
ipal law. Which rights were they? Bradley
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de cline d to s ay , bu t he tho u ght it s e lf-e vide nt 
that am o ng the m are: 1) “ the privileges of 
every American citizen to adopt and follow 

such lawful industrial pursuit ... as he may 
see fit,”  2) the “privilege to be protected in the 

possession and enjoyment of his property,”  

and 3) the privilege “ to have . . . equal 
protection of the laws.” Having said all this, 

Bradley agreed with the butchers’ association. 

The statute gave the Crescent City Company 
an “odious monopoly]” on the slaughtering 
of animals, and prevented butchers from 
freely pursuing their trade. He issued an 

injunction directed to Crescent City to stop 
suing the recalcitrant butchers, and concluded 
that butchers could slaughter their animals 
anywhere they wished.32

The Supreme Court Justice boarded a 
train for the return trip to Newark just after 

announcing his final opinion in the case, but 

both Bradley and Woods quickly became 
enmeshed in a renewed wave of anti-black 
violence that was sweeping the South as the 
Democratic party sought to overthrow biracial 
Republican local governments. The result was 
a new set of legal enactments that, once again, 
would come before Bradley as a test of the 
scope of the Civil War Amendments. In fact, 

while Bradley was still hearing cases on 
Circuit, Congress had responded to the 

spiraling violence with the first of the 
Enforcement Acts, which established criminal 
penalties for individuals and state officials 

who interfered with voting and other citizen­
ship rights. (The statute was introduced in 
Congress just as Bradley was taking his seat 

on the Court in February.) In Woods’ adopted 
home state of Alabama, a violent election 

season was heating up, and would be the 
occasion for murder and assaults on black 
Alabamans and their white Republican allies. 

In New Orleans, no visitor could be unaware 
of the periodic street battles that had raged 

since the Massacre of 1866, where a white 
supremacist mob killed more than thirty-five 

members of a mostly black constitutional 
convention. The violent street battles would

persist there for another decade, as the fragile 

bi-racial coalition held its ground, backed by 
federal law and federal troops.33

Basic citizenship rights were under siege 

throughout the South as Bradley and Woods 
dealt with the aftermath of their ruling on the 

butchers’ claims, and Republicans responded 
with broad assertions of federal power under 

the new constitutional amendments. In up- 

country South Carolina that fall, black and 
white Republicans fell prey to overwhelming 
white supremacist violence and terrorism that 
made any question of prosecution under 
municipal law moot. In October, armed 
whites attacked a mostly black group of 

Republicans who had gathered at the county 
courthouse in Eutaw, Alabama, to organize 

for the fall elections. With the state’s 
Republican Governor looking on helplessly, 

the whites broke up the gathering, shot and 

killed several black participants, wounded 
over fifty, and forced the rest to run for the 

lives. Later that fall, prompted by continued 
assaults on what President Grant termed the 
basic rights to “ life, liberty, and property” of 

American citizens, Congress responded with 
the Ku Klux Kian Act, which was intended to 
criminalize conspiracies among individuals to 
deprive citizens of many basic rights.34

In December, Woods wrote Bradley from 
Alabama to ask for help in applying the 
constitutional interpretation they had pro­

pounded in New Orleans to the Eutaw 
murders, for which two individuals had 
been indicted under the Enforcement Act. 

Bradley wrote back twice in response to 
Woods, and framed the question as he would a 
decade later in the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC iv il R igh ts C ases—  
whether the new constitutional amendments 

reached matters that were traditionally gov­
erned by state law. In this case, could the 

defendants be federally indicted for an act that 
seemed like a “private municipal offense”— 

i.e., murder? First, Bradley wrote, the defend­
ants were accused of interfering with “ the 
right of suffrage,”  which was “secured by the 
15th Amendment,” and thus within the power
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o f Co ngre s s . Se co nd, he co nclu de d, the  
Fo u rte e nth Am e ndm e nt p ro hibite d s tate s 

fro m de ny ing “equal protection of the 
laws.’ ’ Bradley added that “denying the equal 
protection of the laws includes the omission to 
protect, as well as the omission to pass laws 
for protection.” Since Congress could not 

force the states to protect basic citizenship 
rights, “ the only appropriate legislation it can 
make is that which will  operate directly on 

offenders.” With Bradley’s letters in hand, 
Woods wrote a sweeping opinion, quoting 

verbatim from the letters, and ruled that the 
indictments were constitutional. Woods’ (and 
Bradley’s) opinion would provide the basis 

for aggressive federal prosecutions respond­
ing to white supremacist violence throughout 
the South.33

The prewar federalism that Bradley had 
so confidently asserted in the 1860s was 
coming apart, and even in Washington, where 

he now spent much of his time, he could not 
escape it. That became clear in Decem­
ber 1871, when ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB lyew v. U n ited Sta tes 

came before the Supreme Court. It was a 
horrific case. In 1868, two white men, after 
attending a Democratic party rally in Ken­

tucky, had gone into the home of a black 
family and hacked most of them to death. The 

two men were indicted for murder in federal 
court under the 1866 Civil  Rights Act. Murder 
was a state law crime, but the Act allowed the 
prosecution to be brought in federal courts in 
cases “affecting persons” who were being 

denied rights that were guaranteed by the Act. 
The Civil Rights Act guaranteed the right to 
testily, and Kentucky law still prohibited 

blacks from testifying in cases involving 

whites. So the local federal prosecutor took 
control of the case and brought it in the federal 
district court for Kentucky.36

For Bradley and his colleagues, the 
constitutional issue was not whether the Civil  
War Amendments applied to private or state 
action, but federalism.37 A majority of the 

court ruled that the federal courts had no 

jurisdiction over the crime, since the mur­

dered family members and the black wit­

nesses were not “affect[ed] persons” whose 
rights would be denied in state courts. Since 

state prosecution was impossible (blacks 
couldn’ t testify), the two men would go 
free. Justice William Strong, in writing for the 
majority, took the time to write that “we 

cannot be expected to be ignorant of the 
condition of things which existed when the 
statute was enacted”—black Americans were 
denied basic rights in the courts. Congress 

could federalize ordinary crimes, he con­

cluded, when state law denied basic rights, but 
the statute’s reach did not extend to this set of 

facts. Bradley disagreed strongly, and argued 

that Congress could provide “a remedy where 
the State refuses to give one.” “ [Wjhere the 
mischief consists in inaction or refusal to act,”  
the Thirteenth Amendment empowered Con­

gress to federalize what would normally be 
state level crimes. “Merely striking off the 
fetters of the slave, without removing the 

incidents and consequences of slavery, would 
hardly have been a boon to the colored race,”  

he stated. Here were the seeds of the much 
discussed “badges and incidents” language 
that he would deploy in the C iv il R igh ts 
C ases. The Thirteenth Amendment empow­

ered Congress to reach the actions of private 
individuals under its power to abolish slavery, 

he concluded, and to protect fundamental 
liberties when state law did not protect 
them.38

The conservative Republican Justice had 
traveled far from the positions he asserted 

during the war, and he was soon faced with 
what he believed to be his most important 
chance to set out the constitutional “ law”  that 

applied to black citizenship. It happened 
almost by accident, in response to the Colfax 

Massacre, which Eric Foner called “ the 
bloodiest single act of carnage in all of 
Reconstruction.” On Easter Sunday, 1873, a 

group of armed whites had murdered more 
than 100 black men at the local courthouse in 
Grant Parish, where Republican officials had 
gathered after hotly disputed state and local
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e le ctio ns . A de te rm ine d fe de ral p ro s e cu to r 

bro u ght a gro u p o f the p articip ants to tr ial 
twice , be fo re Ju dge Wo o ds in Ne w Orle ans , in 

e arly 1874. The men were indicted under the 

Enforcement Act for interfering with consti­
tutionally protected rights. The first trial 

ended inconclusively, but Woods brushed 
aside objections that the indictments were, in 
reality, for state-law crimes (like murder) and 
were thus outside of Congress’s power.39 The 

second trial began in May, just as Bradley’ s 
schedule brought him to the city, and the 
Justice would preside over the proceedings for 
a few days with Woods before leaving town to 
continue his Circuit duties.40

Once back in Washington, Bradley spent 

two weeks writing up an opinion that he 
understood—rightly—to be his most impor­

tant to date. Under pressure from the federal 
prosecutor, he once again made the long trip 
back to New Orleans to deliver it in person. As 

always, he believed that the question was one 
of national versus state power: “ the main

ground of the objection is that the act is 
municipal in character, operating directly on 

the conduct of individuals, and taking the 
place of ordinary state legislation.”  The basic 

problem was that murder was a state law 

crime, and the Civil  War Amendments did not 
empower Congress to “pass an entire body of 
municipal law for the protection of person and 
property within the states.” Enforcement of 

municipal law remained the job of state 
governments.41

However, he also sketched out an 
interpretation of the Civil War Amendments 
that was not limited by modem state action. 

The Thirteenth Amendment, for instance, 

gave Congress the power to protect certain 
fundamental rights—for instance the rights to 

contract, property, sue, and testify in the 
courts, and others set out in the Civil Rights 
Act of 1866—and to protect them from being 

deprived by individuals, not state actors. The 
Amendment not only eradicated slavery, but 

“ required the slave should be made a citizen

Joseph  P. B rad ley,  w ho  w ro te  to r  the  C ourt  in  the  1883  Civil Rights Cases op in ion ,  d id  not  inven t  m odern  sta te  action  

doctrine.  H e lived  in  a som ew hat  d ifferen t  constitu tiona l  w orld  from  the  one  that  governed  the  s it-in  cases  of  the  

1960s.
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and p lace d o n an e ntire e qu ality be fo re the law 
with the white citize n.” For example, if  an 

African-American desired to “ lease and 
cultivate a farm” in a “neighborhood or 

community composed principally of whites”  

and “a combination should be formed to expel 
him and prevent him from the accomplish­

ment of his purpose on account of his race,”  
the Amendment empowered Congress to 
prohibit that private, individual action. Under 
the Fifteenth Amendment, Congress could 

protect the right to vote from being denied 
because of race, “not only as against the 
unfriendly operation of state laws, but against 

outrage, violence, and combinations on the 
part of individuals, irrespective of state laws.”  
With respect to the Fourteenth Amendment, 

however, he backtracked from the position he 

had asserted in his letter to Woods concerning 
the Eutaw case. Now he concluded, not based 
on the text of the Amendment, but on a 
complicated argument about natural rights 
that states are obligated to guaranty under 
their municipal law, that Congress could only 
protect privileges or immunities against “ the 
acts of the state government themselves.”42

Like many other things Bradley had done 

in New Orleans, appearances were deceiving. 
The Justice had also helped pronounce the end 
of Reconstruction in Louisiana. Having 

seemingly affirmed broad federal power to 
criminalize the defendants’ actions, he ruled 

that the indictments should be dismissed. 
Some of the charges against the defendants 

were matters reserved for the states to address 
through municipal law. Others might be the 
proper federal charges but the original indict­
ments did not allege that the Colfax victims 

were deprived of rights because of “ race, color 
or previous condition of servitude.” Woods 

disagreed, holding to the original position that 
he (and Bradley) had asserted in the Eutaw 

case, but the Supreme Court would eventually 
rule that the indictments had been properly 

dismissed when ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ited Sta tes vs. C ru ikshank 
reached that body.

Before departing an hour later for 

Washington, Bradley also released the de­
fendants on bail and they exited the court to a 
raucous celebration. The trial had taken place 

in an atmosphere of murders and intimidation 
of the prosecution witnesses, and there was 

little chance for retrial. The Justice understood 

that he had done something momentous, and 
he printed and mailed copies of his opinion to 
his fellow Justices, the Attorney General, 
other public figures, newspapers and law 
journals. He had one more act to make in the 
debate over the fate of Reconstruction, casting 

the deciding vote on the commission that 
awarded the 1876 Presidential election to 
Rutherford B. Hayes.43

What, then, should one make of Justice 

Bradley’s subsequent opinion for the Court 

holding the Civil Rights Act of 1875 
unconstitutional—the opinion that, eighty 
years later, would supposedly make young 
Robert Bell’s actions illegal? The federal 
public accommodations law had been bottled 

up in Congress for years before it finally 
passed, and was an affirmation of a basic 
claim that African-Americans had made since 
the war: that emancipation, and the Thirteenth 

Amendment, federalized a broad range of 

rights, including access to public accommo­
dations. White Americans resisted this claim 

greatly, and cases that challenged the consti­
tutionality of the Act began to pile up in the 

Supreme Court for half a decade before 
Bradley finally announced his majority opin­
ion in 1883. By that time, William Woods had 

joined him on the Court, at Bradley’s urging, 
and had taken over his Fifth Circuit duties. In 
several well-known opinions, one even 
written by Woods, the Supreme Court had 

signaled its retreat from Reconstruction. 

Through particularly stingy readings of the 
Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments, the 

Court ruled that they did not empower 
Congress to criminalize the actions of 

individuals who committed ordinary state- 
law crimes.44
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In the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC iv il  R igh ts C ases, Bradle y wro te 

an e xte ns ive o p inio n, fo llo we d by an e qu ally 
e xte ns ive dis s e nt by Harlan, s u m m ing u p 

what bo th m e n tho u ght was no w s e ttle d law. 

Years earlier, Bradley had pronounced him­
self undecided on the difficult  question of the 
1875 Act’s constitutionality in a letter to 

Woods. But now he had modified his original 
views on what he called “ the power of 

Congress to pass laws for enforcing social 

equality between the races.”  “Social equality”  
was the contemporary watchword that whites 

used to justify their acquiescence to segrega­
tion while still professing themselves to be 
committed to equality. The question, as 

always for both Bradley and his fellow 

Justices, was federalism: whether the Thir­
teenth Amendment federalized a right to 
access public accommodations, which was 
traditionally defined by municipal law. Ac­
cess to public accommodations, he concluded 

with some colorful language, was not one of 

those fundamental rights that had been 
federalized by the amendment.45

He framed the question much like he did 
in his Colfax opinion. “Under the Thirteenth 
Amendment, the legislation ... to eradicate all 

forms and incidents of slavery and involun­
tary servitude, may be direct and primary, 
operating upon the acts of individuals, 
whether sanctioned by State legislation or 
not.” That is, Congress could displace 

municipal law and directly protect fundamen­
tal liberties whose denial was an incident of 
slavery. What were the “necessary incidents”  

of slavery? Once again, he listed many of the 
rights defined in the Civil  Rights Act of 1866: 
the right to be free of “ [cjompulsory service”  
and “ restraint of... movement,”  as well as the 

right “ to hold property,” “ to make contacts,”  
and to sue and testify in court, and others, but 
no t access to public accommodations. What 
exactly were those basic rights that he 
believed were protected by the Thirteenth 
Amendment against deprivation by private 

actors? Based on existing historical evidence, 
it is impossible to tell much from his general

observations. But his words would generate 
much work for twentieth, and now twenty- 

first, century lawyers, judges and constitu­
tional theorists.46

Bradley’s Fourteenth Amendment ruling 
was much easier, given what he had conclud­
ed in the Colfax case, but he also used some 
expansive language that later observers, 

looking for state action, read into his views 

of the Thirteenth and Fifteenth Amendments, 
such as this: “civil rights, such as are 
guaranteed by the Constitution against State 
aggression, cannot be impaired by the 

wrongful actions of individuals.” He said 
nothing about the Fifteenth Amendment, 

since the main provisions of the Civil Rights 
Act governed public accommodations, not 
voting. But the Justices had already made it 
clear that the Fifteenth Amendment applied to 

private individual actors so long as the 

interference with voting rights was because 
of race.47

The Civil Rights Act of 1875 was 
unconstitutional, Bradley wrote, because the 

rights it protected were municipal rights, and 
had not been federalized by the Civil War 

Amendments. The idea of the state action 
doctrine—a clear constitutional division be­
tween private right and state actors—is a later 
development. The story of that development 

is the tale of an invented history—a comfort­
ing history in which the questions presented in 
the state action controversies of the twentieth 
century—those over racially restrictive cov­
enants, company towns, white primaries, and 

of course sit-ins—had already been decided. 

That story has yet to be completely told.
By the time Robert Bell walked into 

Hooper’s restaurant, it was widely understood 
that state action—the constitutional doctrine 
that might or might not define him as a 
lawbreaker—was in trouble. But it was also 
assumed that, if  one went far enough back 
in history—to the text of the C iv il R igh ts 
C ases—one could find an answer to the 
pressing constitutional questions presented by 

the sit-in movement. But that text—the long,
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vo lu m ino u s e xp lo ratio ns o f the m e aning o f 
the Civil War Am e ndm e nts by Bradle y and 
Harlan—seems to provide no definitive 
answer to the question of whether the 

Constitution binds private actors. This is not 

the place to identify a “holding” of the case 

and to argue about whether that holding 
resolved Bell’s case. Rather, it is only to say 
that the Court’s decision provides support for 

multiple views of what it decided. For those 
who are looking for evidence that the text that 

supposedly defines state action in fact simply 

does not define it, the evidence is there. 
Bradley made it clear that the Thirteenth and 
Fifteenth Amendments protected a broad 

range of rights from private action, and 
nothing in the full Supreme Court’s contem­

porary rulings showed that to be untrue. At the 
same time, it is also true that the Justices 
struggled with the question of how far the 

Amendments reached to constrain the actions 
of those they would have called “ individuals”  
or “citizens.” The point is that the text that 

supposedly resolved Bell’s case eight decades 
later did no such thing. That is because the 

people who wrote it, and endorsed it, lived in a 
different constitutional world from the one 

that governed the sit-in cases of the 1960s.

W ere  B ell ’s A ctions in Vio lation of 

State Law ?

If  neither the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC iv il  R igh ts C ases' holding 
nor the textual command of the Constitution 

resolves the question of whether Bell and his 
fellow protesters were acting illegally, then 
surely they were in violation of state law. At 

least, that is the conclusion that many 
observers reached at the time, and that is the 
way their case has been remembered by 
historians. The claim that the students were 
acting contrary to state law seems fairly 

straightforward. Maryland had a criminal 

statute, defining and prohibiting trespass, 

and it seemed to contain no exception for 
the students’ activities. During their sit-in,

Carroll Hooper, the restaurant owner, had the 

statute read to the protesters to make it clear to 
them that they were acting contrary to 
established law. (He had clashed with sit-in 
students before, and apparently had a copy of 

the trespass law on hand for just that purpose.) 

Some of the students chose to leave at that 
point, although Bell was among those who 
chose to stay. Hooper told the students that 
they had his sympathy, and that racial 
exclusion from restaurants was “an insult to 

human dignity.”  He sincerely hoped it would 

end in the near future, he said. At their 
criminal trial, Hooper accused the students of 
“ trying to legislate by terror ... to force me to 
either serve or close.”  He claimed to be merely 
exercising his prerogatives as a property 
owner, as defined in the statute.48

Hooper was not the only person to frame 

the sit-in question as legality versus illegality. 
Contemporary observers, ranging from for­
mer President Truman to Thurgood Marshall 

to Justice Hugo Black, struggled with the 
morality of the sit-ins because of the 
assumption that the students were deliberately 
violating state-law property rights. Propo­
nents of segregation also did. In Atlanta, 
Lester Maddox, the owner of a popular 

restaurant called Pickrick, chased protesters 

away with a gun and became a folk hero 
among integration’s opponents. Framed as a 

supposed defense of his property rights rather 
than of segregation, his act would allow him 

to ride a wave of white populist sentiment all 
the way to the state governorship.49

Scholars, too, have tended to view the sit- 
in protesters as acting illegally. Over the past 

several decades, legal historians have framed 
claims like those of the sit-in protesters as an 
alternative source of lawmaking, engaged in 

by many minority groups whose claims were 
not recognized in positive law. Viewed this 
way, historians have sought to give minority 
groups “agency,” to rewrite their stories as 

those of \aw -m akers who were excluded from 

the traditional lawmaking process. The most 

prominent published version of Bell’s story
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has to ld the s to ry o f his cas e in this m anne r. 
His s to ry , we are to ld, is analo go u s to that o f a 

Vietnam War draft resister who was convicted 
for his beliefs, went to jail, then went to law 

school, and afterward was vindicated in the 
courts.50

The sentencing judge at Bell’s criminal 
trial, however, told a slightly different story. 
After a vigorous argument by Robert Watts, a 
well-known local African-American lawyer 

who was defending the students, the judge 

told him: “ I appreciate that comment, Mr. 
Watts. I agree with you [that] these people are 
not law-breaking people.” He told Watts that 
he would find the students guilty, but would 
only assess a token fine of ten dollars. He then 

suspended the fine. “ [T]hey did not intend to 

deliberately violate the law but were seeking 
to establish a principle,” he concluded. The 
judge’s ambivalence about the students’ 
actions was shared by the Hooper’s employee 
who greeted them when they had asked for 

service. When they tried to enter front door, 
she stopped them and said, apologetically: 
“ I ’m sorry but we haven’ t integrated as yet.”  
What both she and the trial judge were hinting 

at was the fact that, at the time of the protests, 
Marylanders were in the midst of an intense 

debate among themselves over the question of 
how public accommodations should be 
treated under state law.51

On its surface, the state law applicable to 
the students was clear, but lurking in the 

background was a beguiling murkiness. As 
everyone knew, Hooper’ s extended an open 
invitation to just about anyone who was 
orderly and sought to eat there during regular 

hours—except black Americans. Certain 
businesses that served the public were under 

a duty to serve almost anyone who was well- 

behaved and presented themselves during 
regular business hours. The sentencing judge 
summarized the law applicable to such 

businesses as follows: “ the duty imposed by 
the early common law to serve the public 

without discrimination was later confirmed to 
exceptional callings where an urgent public

need required its continuance, such as inn­
keepers and common carriers.”  Railroads, for 

instance, were common carriers who had a 
duty to admit to rail transit anyone who 

presented themselves at their places of 

business—subject to reasonable rules govern­
ing tickets, schedules, proper conduct during 
transit, and the like. Innkeepers—proprietors 
of inns, hotels, motels, and similar establish­
ments—were supposed to have a similar 

common law duty. Those duties were implicit 
exceptions to the trespass statute. That is, for 
businesses with a duty to serve the public, the 
trespass statute simply did not apply to people 

who were orderly and presented themselves 
during business hours. This rule was often 

cited in the sit-in court cases, much in the way 
that Bell’s sentencing judge did: there was an 
original common law rule that required certain 
types of businesses open to the public to admit 
most patrons, and that rule was later narrowed 

to focus on certain exceptions such as 
innkeepers and common carriers.52

The creation of the distinction between 
innkeepers/common carriers and other busi­

nesses open to the public, as one might expect, 
had its roots in race discrimination cases from 
the Civil War era.53 In the antebellum era, 

there was widespread discrimination against 
free blacks who tried to attend theaters, eat at 
restaurants, and patronize streetcars and rail 
transit. The first reported case that decided 
whether such discrimination and exclusion 
was permissible was an 1858 Massachusetts 
case, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM cC rea v . M arsh , involving a black 

patron who had purchased a ticket for a lecture 
at the Boston Athenaeum. The Massachusetts 

Supreme Judicial Court ruled that the ticket 

was simply a revocable license, relying on the 
famous English case of W ood v . L eadb itte r , 
where the court ruled that a racetrack had no 

duty to admit someone who had previously 
purchased a ticket for admission. Although 
English courts later rejected the W ood deci­
sion, the W ood opinion would become a 
regular citation in later American cases 
involving businesses open to the public.54
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The le ading cas e s in this are a, like ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ood , we re 
o fte n dis p u te s invo lving race tracks that 
wante d to e xclu de u ns avo ry characte rs , bu t 
no t cas e s invo lving racial dis crim inatio n.

The M cC rea ru ling was im m e diate ly 
fo llo we d by the war, the Civil War Am e nd­

m e nts , and the Civil Rights Act o f 1866, 
which raised the question of whether segre­

gation and exclusion were still permissible in 
public accommodations and railroad travel. 

That question was hotly contested during 
Reconstruction, with the Civil Rights Act of 

1875 as one chapter in that ongoing debate. 
After the Court invalidated the 1875 Act, 
many Northern states enacted their own laws 
requiring nondiscrimination in many places of 
public accommodation, although enforce­
ment was uneven and the battle to integrate 
Northern accommodations would run straight 
through the 1950s and 1960s. In states 
without their own accommodations statutes, 

the law was taken to be more or less how the 
court would state it in Bell’s case: the duty to 

serve the public had once been broad, but had 
been narrowed to essential businesses like 
innkeepers and common carriers. Actual 
reported cases dealing with the question of 

race and access, however, were sparse outside 
the context of railroad transit.55

This is how things stood when Sara 
Slack, a black reporter for the New York 

A m sterdam N ew s, stopped at a White Tower 

restaurant along Route 40 in Baltimore in July 
of 1957, ordered two hamburgers, apple pie, 

and coffee, and asked to sit down. Her 
subsequent federal lawsuit, challenging the 

restaurant’s refusal to let her eat inside the 
building, would wind its way through the 

federal courts over the next several years 
where it would intersect with the sit-in cases. 
The district court handed down its opinion 
rejecting her challenge only two weeks after 
the sit-in movement began in February 1960. 

By that time, everyone understood that the 
case had wider implications.56

Federal District Judge Roszel Thomsen 
looked for applicable Maryland cases involv­

ing race discrimination in businesses open to 
the public, other than railroads, and found 
little to guide him in his decision. He did find 
a 1948 case where the Maryland Court of 

Appeals had cited the W ood decision, but 
that, as one might expect, was yet another 

racetrack case that had nothing ostensibly to 
do with race. With the outbreak of the sit-in 
movement in 1960, Sara Slack’s lawsuit was 

joined by many other cases in the state and 

federal courts in Maryland. They were, 

arguably, cases of first impression. However, 
they were not treated that way. Judges tended 
to assume that state law was settled on the 
issue, even though there was little Maryland 

precedent on the books to back up that 
assumption. Thomsen and his colleagues 
were also influenced by the fact that Mary­
land law on the subject was being hotly 
debated outside the courts, where it seemed 
on the verge of being resolved in favor of 
nondiscrimination.57

By the early 1960s, just what was the 

Maryland law on the subject of segregation 
was increasingly open to question. The state 

legislature had repealed its laws requiring 
segregated rail, ship, and streetcar travel 
during the 1950s. By 1957, a public accom­

modations civil  rights law was being debated 
in the Maryland legisture, and the state’s 
popular governor, Theodore McKeldin, had 
become a “ frequent and outspoken critic of 

the discrimination policy followed by Balti­

more hotels,”  according to the local press. By 

1960, Maryland’s race relations commission 
could report that in Baltimore the following 
changes had taken place:

Opening of all first-run movie thea­
ters to Negroes; adoption of nondis- 
criminatory food service and room 
policies in all major hotels, with one 

exception; end of white-only service 
in nearly all department store activi­

ties, at many downtown drugstore 
lunch counters and at a slowly 
increasing number of restaurants.
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That p ro ce s s was he lp e d alo ng by a s e rie s 

o f co ntro ve rs ie s invo lving dip lo m ats fro m 
ne wly inde p e nde nt African co u ntr ie s who 

we re be ing re fu s e d s e rvice at re s tau rants 
alo ng Ro u te 40 while driving between 

Washington and the United Nations’ head­
quarters in New York. In June 1962, the 
Baltimore City Council enacted a city ordi­
nance prohibiting race discrimination in 

public accommodations. That was followed 
the next year by a state public accommoda­
tions law, although the new statute exempted 
ten counties from its application, presumably 

because segregationist sentiment there was 
high.58

It was perhaps in everyone’s interest to 
present the question of whether Bell and his 
fellow students were trespassing as an easy 
one. State common law seemed fixed and 

knowable precisely because so much of 

the law applicable to Bell’s case was un­
knowable. Both the legislature and the city 

council had been locked in a debate since 
the late 1950s over whether race discrimina­

tion in public accommodations was, or 

should be, legally permissible. The lawyers 
in the cases that challenged discrimination 
reached instinctively for the Fourteenth 

Amendment because that legal theory could 
supply a comprehensive answer to the 
question of whether the sit-ins were legal 

throughout the South. Judges, too, had an 
interest in viewing the trespass issue as 
capable of being easily resolved. They knew 
that the vexing questions presented in the 

sit-in cases would soon be resolved by 
someone else—the city council, the state 

legislature, or the United States Supreme 
Court. In fact, Judge Thomsen would cite 

the vigorous debate taking place in the 
legislature and the city council as reasons 
for not taking action in response to Sara 
Slack’s petition to open up Baltimore restau­
rants to black patrons.59

The irony is that the messiness and 
flexibility  of Maryland law made the Supreme 
Court’s job ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAm ore difficult when Bell’s case

reached that body. The Justices had decided 

the early sit-in cases by presuming that the 

trespass conviction was simply a subterfuge 

for white Southerners who were now on 
notice that their segregation statutes were 

unconstitutional. That seemed like a safe 
enough assumption where segregation clearly 
remained state policy. But Maryland was not 
Mississippi or, more accurately, the portions 

of Maryland that showed themselves to the 
outside world in the sit-in cases were not 
Mississippi. The state government was clearly 
acting to undo portions of its policy of 
segregation, and the Justices could hardly 
pretend that state authorities were acting to 

maintain it. Bell and his fellow students’ sit- 
ins would finally push Justice Black to draw 
the line with regard to the Fourteenth 
Amendment because of his concern that the 

protests were infringing on property rights. At 
the same time, however, it was also true that 
Bell’s case was the one case where it was least 
likely that the sit-in protesters were interfering 
with those settled expectations that we call by 

the name of property.
Were Bell and his fellow protesters 

violating state law? It is not my purpose to 
write a brief for the proposition that they were 

not, or to say that the judges were wrong 
to rule as they did. It is only to say that the 

moral clarity with which many people saw the 
case—from Justice Black to Thurgood Mar­
shall to scholars today writing about protest 
movements—might be based on an assump­
tion that is open to question. It is to say 

something that both well-trained lawyers and 

well-trained historians should know quite 
well—that the legal materials are often 

unlikely to give definitive answers to hotly 
contested issues like segregation in 1960s-era 
Maryland. It is to say that law itself is yet 

another, often unexamined, point of conten­
tion in cases of civil disobedience and other 
familiar instances when law is supposed to 
be in conflict with morality. This is just one 
of the many lessons that a sixteen-year-old 
youth and his fellow students had to teach
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whe n the y s at do wn and waite d fo r s e rvice at 
Ho o p e r’s.

W as  B ell  Even  Try ing  to  C hange  the  Law ?

If  the origins of the state action doctrine, 

or the protesters’ status under state law, are 
difficult to resolve, then what might at least 
seem clearer is Judge Bell’s story itself. Bell, 

as I noted earlier, made a truly remarkable 
journey: from the nervous youth whose 
criminal conviction was affirmed all the 

way up to the state Court of Appeals, to the 
Chief Judge of that body, where he oversaw 
the entire court system he had once faced as a 
litigant. He taught the larger society a bit 
about law and the legal process along the way. 

As a student at Harvard Law School, he led a 
session of his constitutional law seminar 
taught by the associate dean, Albert Sachs, 
after Sachs discovered that he was ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAthe Robert 

Bell of B ell v. M ary land . As a young 
Baltimore lawyer, he passed up the obvious 

routes to partnership at the prestigious firm of 
Piper Marbury and instead chose to work in a 
branch office delivering legal services to the 
community with which he was most familiar. 

As a young judge, he sported a medallion over 
his robes and was known for what one news 
account called “a series of controversial 

rulings.” Judge Bell put prosecutors to the 
test for procedural fairness in a way that many 
in the system found controversial. As an 

appellate judge, he was known for his many, 
notable dissents from what a majority of his 

fellow judges had to say. When it came time 
for the Governor to choose the next chief 
judge, it was widely reported that another 
candidate was the “safe”  choice and Bell was 
somewhat more controversial.60

The idea of Judge Bell’s story as the story 
of a rebel fits neatly with how legal historians 

have read the claims of people like himself. 
For the past quarter century, much historical 
writing has focused on the constitutional 

views of outsider groups, dissenters, sub­

alterns, and how those dissenting views of law 
are sometimes, over time, recognized (or 
rejected) by the formal legal system.61 Bell’s 

story might fit  here as well. After all, we might 
begin this history with the claims of African- 
Americans in the latter part of the Civil War. 
Predecessors of Judge Bell, like Boston 

lawyer John Rock, as well as millions of 

newly emancipated slaves, claimed rights as 
equal citizens, including the right to enter 
places that were open to nearly all of their 
fellow citizens but closed to them solely 

because of their race. Americans intensely 
debated those claims across the color line, 

eventually reaching a tentative resolution in 
the C iv il R igh ts C ases and many other 
decisions that narrowly circumscribed black 
citizenship. In the 1950s and ’60s those claims 
were renewed by a new generation of African- 

Americans, including a young Robert Bell. 
Rejected initially, in the person of Bell they 
made their way inside the legal profession and 

to the pinnacle of the court system that once 
defined him as an outsider.

This is an easy, and at this scholarly 
moment a somewhat tempting, reading of 
Robert Bell’s story. Perhaps for that reason 
alone it should be resisted. Moreover, 
something about this way of reading Bell’s 
story does not fit. For one thing, the case is 

called B ell v . M ary land only because, among 

those twelve young people who were arrested 
in June of 1960, Bell’s name came first 

alphabetically. Bell was certainly a leader 
among the young Baltimore African-Ameri­

cans who had been fired up by the burgeoning 
sit-in movement, but if there had been an 

“Anderson” or an “Alexander” among the 

students, we might not think of this as Bell’s 
case at all.

Judge Bell himself has often minimized 
the idea that the sit-in case should be identified 
with him. In multiple interviews, he has 
emphasized that others really played a leading 
role in the sit-ins. After his first and only sit-in, 

he resolved to never do it again because he 

decided that he could not be non-violent. He
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ke p t his dis tance fro m the le gal p ro ce e dings . 
He did no t te s tify and did no t fo llo w his cas e 

clo s e ly as it trave le d thro u gh the ap p e llate 
co u rts . He s e e m s to have hande d it o ff to his  

lawy e rs and s im p ly go tte n o n with his life . He 

be cam e a lawy e r o f co u rs e , bu t he has s tate d 
qu ite cle arly that his de cis io n to be co m e an 
atto rne y was no t p ro m p te d by the cas e . Rathe r 
it s te m m e d fro m watching the o ld te le vis io n 

s ho w, “Perry Mason.”  Finally, there is his role 

as chief judge of the Maryland Court of 
Appeals. Judging from the tributes in a recent 

issue of the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM ary land L aw R ev iew , what is 
perhaps his most famous legacy as chief judge 
are reforms covering such topics as access to 

justice, alternative dispute resolution, and 
family court reform—topics that have a 

somewhat tenuous relationship to the issues 
presented in B ell v . M ary land .62

Perhaps Bell’s story has a more difficult  
set of lessons to teach us about how we tell 
stories, how we construct legal precedents, 
and how we remember the past. History, of 
course, is a story that w e create to organize the 

chaos of social reality—an artificial construct 
imposed on the past. The same is true for legal 
precedents. Our professional commitments 

require us to dig deep for the “ reality”  of law, 

or history, but that does not make it easy or 
simple. The easiest story to tell about Bell’s 
case, the story of protest and the claims of 
outsiders, remains a useful one. It is a story 
that allows us to see certain things we might 

not have seen before, but it is also a story that 
excludes. Bell was certainly a leader among 
the young people in Baltimore who wanted to 
do something about segregation, and he came 

to Hooper’s to change its policies and those of 
other establishments. But to view him as 

someone trying to change the law, as someone 

making claims on the legal system, or as 
someone articulating a dissenting view of law, 
is not quite right. Perhaps what Bell’s story 
reminds us is that what is often excluded from 

our stories of protest are the accidents, the 
happenstance events that sometimes make 

history, and sometimes jolt us into action.

Perhaps what are often excluded are the 

stories of people who chose not to be rights- 

bearers, yet somehow, found themselves in 
the midst of great social change.

A u tho r 's N ote : I would like to thank Dirk 

Hartog, Amy Dru Stanley, and Christopher 
Schmidt for their tough questions-not all of 
which I have answered-and Kathleen Bor- 

schow for expert research assistance.

EN D N O TES

1 Robert Mack Bell, B ap tism by F ire , 141, 142 45. in 

Pe t e r Ir o n s, Th e Co u r a g e o f  t h e ir  Co n v ic t io n s (New 

York: Free Press, 1988); Robert M. Bell, Jou rney to 

Justice : F iftie th A nn iversa ry o f B row n v. B oard o f 

Education, 34 U. Ba l t . L. Re v . 1 (2004); Trial Record, 

Bell v. Maryland, at 22 -35, 42-48.

2 Louis M ic h a e l Se id ma n &  Ma r k V. Tu s h n e t, Re mn a n t s 

o f  Be l ie f : Co n t e mpo r a r y Co n s t it u t io n a l Is s u e s 51 (New 

York: Oxford University Press, 1996) (emphasis added). 

The Thirteenth Amendment, which prohibited slavery 

and involuntary servitude, is conventionally seen as one 

(very limited) exception, mainly applicable to circum­

stances that resemble slavery.

3 Christopher W. Schmidt, T he S it-Ins and the Sta te 

A ction D octr ine , 18 Wm . &  Ma r y Bil l  o f  Rig h t s J. 767, 

791-95 (2010); McKenzie Webster, N ote : T he W arren 

C ourt’s Strugg le w ith the S it-In C ases and the C onstitu­

tiona lity o f Segrega tion in P laces o f P ub lic A ccom m o­

da tions, 17 J. La w & Po l it ic s 373 (2001).

4 In another Maryland case involving a well-known 

1960 dispute at the Glen Echo Amusement Park, Chief 

Justice Warren relied on the fact that a park employee, 

who had been deputized as a county sheriff, arrested 

the black patrons. G riffin v . M ary land , 378 U.S. 130 

(1964).

5 B ell v. M ary land , 378 U.S. 226 (1964); Schmidt, T he 

S it-Ins and the Sta te A ction D octr ine , at 801-820. 

Standard histories of Bell’s case are: Ir o n s, Co u r a g e o f  

Th e ir c o n v ic t io n s, at 129—40; William L. Reynolds, 

F orew ord : T he L ega l H isto ry o f the G rea t S it-In C ase o f 

Bell v. Maryland, 61 Mo. L. Re v . 761 (2002).

6 Ba l t . Ma g a z in e, Mar. 1997, at 46; Balt. Su n , Oct. 27, 

1996.

7 Ne w Yo r k  Time s, Apr. 9, 1960, at 21; Derrick Bell, A n 

E p isto la ry E xp lo ra tion fo r  a T hu rgood M a rsha ll Biogra­

phy, 6 Ha r v . Bl a c k l e t t e r L.J. 99 (1989); Schmidt, T he 

S it-Insand the Sta te A ction D octr ine , at 797-98; Webster, 

N ote , T he W arren C ourt's Strugg le , at 394-95. There 

were other possible objections to the sit-in protesters’ 

actions. Marshall later complained that the young 

protesters were saddling the NAACP with legal costs,



368JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

s ince the o rganizatio n fe lt an o bligatio n to re p re s e nt the m 

in the co u rts . Othe rs m ight object that regardless of the 

state of the law, it was more appropriate to go through the 

orderly process of legislation and litigation to change the 

law. Finally, many might say that if  lawyers and judges 

generally believed that the sit-in students’ actions were 

not protected by state or federal law, then of course those 

beliefs/expectations constituted "the law,” and the 

students were acting illegally regardless of what centu­

ry-old precedent said. 1 have grappled with all these 

questions, but am merely trying to state the legal dilemma 

as contemporaries stated it.

8 The 1960s-era views of the origin, and unraveling, of 

state action are summarized in: Charles L. Black, Jr., ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
F orew ord : "S tu te A ction , ” E qua l P ro tec tion , and 

C a lifo rn ia 's P roposition 14 ,? ,} Ha r v . L. Re v . 69. 84- 

95 (1967).

"U n ited Sta tes v. M orr ison , 529 U.S. 598, 621-22 

(2000). Michael Les Benedict pointed out long ago that 

the well-known decisions in U n ited Sta tes v. C ru ikshank 

(1876), and U n ited Sta tes v. H arr is (1883). which are 

sometimes cited as sources of the state action doctrine, 

stated quite clearly the Fifteenth Amendment applied to 

private individuals, and only required that the interference 

with voting rights was because of race. Michael Les 

Benedict, P reserv ing F edera lism : R econstruc tion and the 

W aite C ourt, 1978 Su p. Ct . Re v . 39, 72-75 (1979).

10 Federalism concerns lay behind many of the cases that 

are now cited as sources of state action, as will  be argued 

below. But those concerns contained a markedly different 

set of assumptions than those which have undergirded the 

modern Supreme Court's invocation of federalism as a 

limit  on national power, as recent scholarship has shown. 

We cannot live in the world of law that the nineteenth 

century Americans imagined, just as their own ideas 

translate only unevenly into ours. See Maeve Glass, 

B ring ing B ack the Sta tes: A N ew A pproach to C iv il W ar 

C onstitu tiona l H isto ry , forthcoming La w & Soc. In q . 

(2014); Alison L. LaCroix. The Interbellum Constitution: 

Federalism in the Long Founding Moment, forthcoming 

67 STAN. L. REV. (2015).

11 The breakthrough collection of essays setting out this 

point of view is: Th e Co n s t it u t io n a n d Ame r ic a n L if e  

(David Thelen, ed.; Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 

1988).

12 Ba l t . Ma g a z in e, Mar. 1997, at 46; Balt. Su n , Jan. 3, 

1980, at A10; id ., June 3, 1980; id ., Oct. 24, 1996; id ., Oct. 

27, 1996.

| J Black, F orew ord , at 84; U.S. Co n s t , amend. XIV,  

§ 1.
14 Schmidt, T he S it-Ins and the Sta te A ction D octr ine , at 

779.

18 Se id ma n & Tu s iin e t , Re mn a n t s o f  Be l ie f , at 52.

16 109 U.S. 3, 1 1. 13 (1883).

17 109 U.S. at 16, 20.

18 109 U.S. 11, 13, 55.

19 M is c e l l a n e o u s Wr it in g s o f  t h e La t e Ho n . Jo s e ph P. 

Br a d l e y 128-37, 144, 147 48 (Charles Bradley, ed.; 

Newark, N.J.; L.J. Hardham, 1902). The best biographical 

accounts of Bradley remain: Charles Fairman, M r. Justice 

B rad ley’s A ppo in tm en t to the Suprem e C ourt and the 

L ega l T ender C ases, part 1,54 Ha r v . L. Re v . 977 (1941); 

id ., part 2, at 1128; Charles Fairman. T he E duca tion o f a 

Justice : Justice B rad ley and Som e o f H is C o lleagues, 1 

St a n. L. Re v . 217 (1949); Charles Fairman, W hat M akes 

a G rea t Justice? M i:  Justice B rad ley and the Suprem e 

C ourt, 1870 -1892 , 30 B.U. L. Re v . 46 (1950); Leon 

Friedman. Joseph P . Bradley, in Th e Ju s t ic e s o f t h e 

Un it e d St a t e s Su pr e me Co u r t : Th e ir  L iv e s a n d Ma jo r  

Opin io n s, Vo l . 2, at 579 (Leon Friedman & Fred Israel, 

eds.: New York, Chelsea House, 1995); Ruth A. 

Whiteside, Justice Joseph Bradley and the Reconstruction 

Amendments (Pli.D. diss. Rice University, 1981). In 

addition to Whiteside, other scholars have illuminated 

parts of Bradley’s evolving constitutional vision, 

although their concerns differ markedly from the ones 

pursued here. See Christopher Waldrep, Joseph B rad ley 's 

Jou rney : T he M ean ing o f P riv ileges and Im m un ities, 34 J. 

Su p. Ct . His t . 149 (2009); John A. Scott, Justice 

B rad ley 's E vo lv ing C oncep t o f the F ou rteen th A m end­

m en t from the S laugh ter-H ouse C ases to the C iv il  R igh ts 

C ases, 25 Ru t g e r s L. Re v . 553 (1971).

2(1 Ja me s Oa k e s, Fr e e d o m Na t io n a l : Th e De s t r u c t io n o f  

Sl a v e r y in  t h e Un it e d St a t e s, 1861-1865, at 14, 22-25 

(New York; W.W. Norton, 2013), 35; Gr a h a m Ru s s e l l 

Ho d g e s, Ro o t  a n d Br a n c h: A f r ic a n Ame r ic a n s in  Ne w  

Yo r k a n d Ea s t Je r s e y 1613-1863. at 228-29 (Chapel 

Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1999); Ke v in 

Mu mf o r d, Ne w a r k: A His t o r y o f Ra c e, Rig h t s a n d 

Rio t s in Ame r ic a 18 (New York: New York 

University Press, 2007); MISCELLANEOUS Wr it in g s, 

132, 135.

21 Michael Vorenberg, C itizensh ip and the T h ir teen th 

A m endm en t: U nderstand ing the D ea fen ing S ilence, in 

Th e Pr o m is e s o f L ib e r t y : Th e His t o r y a n d Co n t e mpo­

r a r y Re l e v a n c e o f t h e Th ir t e e n t h Ame n d me n t 60 

(Alexander Tsesis, ed.; New York: Columbia University 

Press, 2010).

“  Vorenberg, C itizensh ip and the T h ir teen th A m end­

m en t, 60; Oakes, Fr e e d o m Na t io n a l , 490; Wil l ia m  

Ne l s o n, Th e Fo u r t e e n t h Ame n d me n t: Fr o m Po l it ic a l  

Pr in c ipl e t o  Ju d ic ia l  Do c t r in e 104 (Cambridge: Harvard 

University Press, 1988).

“J Philip S. Foner, T he B a ttle to E nd D iscr im ina tion 

aga inst N egroes on P h ilade lph ia Stree tca rs: (P a rt I I)  T he 

V ic to ry :, 40 PA. HIST. 354, 360 (1973). Two years later, 

in a better-known decision, another local court would 

reject the claim that the Thirteenth Amendment required 

desegregation of streetcars—in a famous decision that 

would eventually find its way into the text of the opinion



BELL v. MARYLANDJIHGFEDCBA (1964)KJIHGFEDCBA 369zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP lessy v. F erguson W est C hester &  P h ila . P R v. M iles, 

55 Pa. 209 (1867).

24 Re b e c c a Sc o t t  &  Je a n M. Hc b r a r d, Fr e e d o m Pa pe r s: 

An  A t l a n t ic Od y s s e y in  t h e Ao f . o f  Ema n c ipa t io n 116 

(Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2012);

25 1 8 70 Diary, May 2 to May 27, box 1, folder 7, Joseph 

P. Bradley papers, New Jersey Historical Society, 

Newark, NJ; Wil l ia m L. Ric h t e r , Ov e r r e a c h e d o n A l l  

Sid e s: Th e Fr e f .d me n’ s Bu r e a u Ad min is t r a t o r s in  Te x a s, 

1865-1868, at 284, 287 (College Station, TX: Texas A &  

M University Press, 1991); Ra n d o l ph B. Ca mpb e l l, 

Gr a s s-Ro o t s Re c o n s t r u c t io n in Te x a s, 1865-1880, at 

20 (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 

1997).

26 Thomas E. Baynes, Jr., Y ankee from G eorg ia : A  Search 

fo r  Justice W oods, 1978 Su p. Ct . His t . So c ’ y  Ye a r b o o k 

31 (1978).

27 He r b e r t Ho v e n k a mp, En t e r pr is e a n d Ame r ic a n La w  

1836-1937 at 116-24 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard 

University Press, 1991); Ro n a l d M. La b bE &  Jo n a t h a n 

Lu r ie, Th e Sl a u g h t e r h o u s e Ca s e s: Re g u l a t io n, Re c o n­

s t r u c t io n, a n d t h e Fo u r t e e n t h Ame n d me n t 103^)8 

(Lawrence, KS: University Press of Kansas, 2003); 

Ch a r l e s Fa ir ma n, Re c o n s t r u c t io n a n d Re u n io n 1864- 

88, Pa r t 1, at 1321-A2 (New York: Macmillan Co., 

1971).

28 Wa l t e r Jo h n s o n, So u l b y So u l : L if e In s id e t h e 

An t e b e l l u m Sl a v e Ma r k e t 2 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard 

University Press, 1999); Sh ir l e y El iz a b e t h Th o mps o n, 

Ex il e s a t  Ho me: Th e St r u g g l e t o Be c o me Ame r ic a n in  

Cr e o l e Ne w Or l e a n s 210-43 (Cambridge: Harvard 

University Press, 2009).

29 Joseph P. Bradley to My Dear Daughter, April 30, 

1867, box 3, folder 4, Bradley papers.

30 See Fa ir ma n, Re c o n s t r u c t io n a n d Re u n io n, 1322-24; 

Pe t e r H. Ir o n s, A Pe o pl e’ s His t o r y o f t h e Su pr e me 

Co u r t : Th e Me n a n d Wo me n Wh o s e Ca s e s a n d De c is io n s 

Ha v e Sh a pe d o u r  Co n s t it u t io n 198 (New York: Penguin 

Books, 2006).

31 B ergen C oun ty F reeho lders v. P oor S laves, box 10, 

folder 1, Bradley papers; Whiteside diss., 91; M is c e l l a­

n e o u s Wr it in g s, at 146. In later correspondence, he 

mentioned Justice Washington’s much-debated definition 

of Article IV “privileges and immunities” in the 1823 

Circuit opinion in C orfie ld v. C orye ll. Joseph P. Bradley 

to W. B. Woods, Mar. 12, 1871, box 18, folder 2, Bradley 

papers; Joseph P. Bradley to Freylinghuysen, July 19, 

1874, id .

32 L ive-S tock D ea lers ’ and B u tchers' A ss 'n v . C rescen t 

C ity L ive-S tock L and ing &  S laugh ter-H ouse C o., 15 F. 

Cas. 649, 652, 655 (C.C.O. La. 1870); Ch ic a g o Le g a l 

Ne w s, Oct. 15, 1870, at 17-19.

33 1 870 Diary, June 11, box 1, folder 7, Bradley papers; 

Ja me s K. Ho g u e, Un c iv il  Wa r : Fiv e  Ne w  Or l e a n s St r e e t 

Ba t t l e s a n d t h e Ris e a n d Fa l l  o f  Ra d ic a l Re c o n s t r u c­

t io n (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 

2006).

34 Melinda Meek Hennessey, P o litica l T erro r ism in the 

B lack B elt: T he E u taw R io t, 33 A l a b a ma Re v ie w 35-48 

(Jan. 1980); Lou Fa l k n e r Wil l ia ms , Th e Gr e a t So u t h 

Ca r o l in a Ku K l u x K l a n Tr ia l s, 1871-1872, at 42 

(Athens: University of Georgia Press, 1996); William 

Warren Rogers, Bl a c k Be l t  Sc a l a w a g: Ch a r l e s Ha y s 

a n d t h e So u t h e r n Re pu b l ic a n s in t h e Er a o f Re c o n­

s t r u c t io n 76 (Athens: University of Georgia Press, 

1993).

35 Joseph B. Bradley to W. B. Woods, Jan. 3, 1871, box 3, 

folder 7, Bradley papers; Joseph P. Bradley to W. B. 

Woods, Mar. 12, 1871, box 18, folder 2, id .', U n ited Sta tes 

V . H a ll, 26 F. Cas. 79 C.C.S.D. Ala. (1871); Ch a r l e s 

La n e, Th e Da y Fr e e d o m Die d : Th e Co l f a x Ma s s a c r e, 

t h e Su pr e me Co u r t , a n d t h e Be t r a y a l o f  Re c o n s t r u c­

t io n 115 (New York: Henry Holt, 2008); James Gray 

Pope, Snubbed L andm ark : W hy United States v. 

Cruikshank (1876 ) B elongs a t the H eart o f the A m erican 

C onstitu tiona l C anon , 49 Ha r v . C.R.-C.L. L. Re v . 385, 

403-05 (2014). The Bradley-Woods correspondence has 

been invoked sporadically over the years, mainly by 

reading it as shedding light on the jurisprudential debates 

of the 1960s—something that I decline to do here. See 

B ell v. M ary land , 378 U.S. 226, 309-11 (Goldberg, J. 

concurring); John P. Roche, C iv il L iber ty in the A ge o f 

E n terp r ise , 31 U. Ce il  L. Re v . 103, 108-10 (1963); C. 

Pe t e r Ma g r a t h, Mo r r is o n R. Wa it e: Th e Tr iu mph o f  

Ch a r a c t e r 121 (New York: MacMillan, 1963).

36 B lyew v. U n ited Sta tes, 80 U.S. 581 (1871). The fullest 

account of the case is: Robert D. Goldstein, Blyew: 

V ar ia tions on a Ju r isd ic tiona l T hem e, 41 St a n. L. Re v . 

469 (1989).

37 Although the formal issue before the Court was 

statutory interpretation, Bradley and Strong made it clear 

that larger constitutional concerns lay behind the ruling. 

Bradley responded to the majority’s invocation of its 

knowledge that blacks had been discriminated against in 

local court, with an assertion of the constitutional limits of 

his position: “ I do not mean to be understood as saying 

that every cause in which a colored person may be called 

as a witness,” belongs in federal court. 80 U.S. at 601.

38 B lyew , 80 U.S. at 593, 601.

39 Er ic Fo n e r , Re c o n s t r u c t io n: Ame r ic a’ s Un f in is h e d 

Re v o l u t io n, 1863-1877, a t  530 (New York: Harper &  

Row, 1988). 2 F. Cas. 79, 81. The relevant section of the 

Enforcement Act that applied to most of the charges made 

it a federal crime to ’ ’band or conspire together ... to 

injure, oppress, threaten, or intimidate any citizen with 

intent to prevent or hinder his free exercise and enjoyment 

of any right or privilege granted or secured to him by the 

Constitution or laws of the United States.” The indict­

ments charged, among other things, that the defendants 

had been deprived of the right to peacefully assemble, to



370JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

be ar am is , to no t be de p rive d o f life , libe rty and p ro p e rty 

with du e p ro ce s s o f law, as we ll as the r ights s e cu re d by 

the 1866 Civil Rights Act. The defendants were also 

charged with interfering with the right to vote, in violation 

of the Enforcement Act.

40 1874 Diary, May 14 to 23. box 1, folder 8, Bradley 

papers; 25 F. Cas. 710.

41 1874 Diary, June 12, box 1, folder 8, Bradley papers.

42 25 F. Cas. 710. The Supreme Court had significantly 

narrow'ed the scope of the Fourteenth Amendment in its ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S laugh terhouse C ases opinion. Whether this influenced 

Bradley to change his mind is, like many things, 

impossible to tell from the evidence.

4 1874 Diary, July 3. box 1, folder 8, Bradley papers. The 

political scientist Pamela Brandwein has recently made a 

well-documented argument that, during the 1870s and 

1880s, Supreme Court pursued a consistent jurisprudence 

that protected black rights under an approach that was 

centered on the power of Congress to protect against 

“state neglect.” Pa me l a Br a n d w e in, Re t h in k in g t h e 

Ju d ic ia l Se t t l e me n t o f Re c o n s t r u c t io n (New York; 

Cambridge University Press, 2011). 1 am sympathetic to 

her approach, but I differ somewhat from her in 

emphasizing federalism, and in my own belief that 

Bradley and his colleagues were in fact largely abandon­

ing black rights in the South, and probably understood 

themselves to be doing exactly that. For documentation of 

the effect of his C ru ikshank ruling on the spiraling white 

supremacist violence, see Pope, Snubbed L andm ark , at 

412-15.

44 The cases are sometimes cited as elaborations of the 

state action doctrine, but the cases are almost all about 

federalism. In the Colfax Massacre opinion, Chief Justice 

Waite ruled that the defendants had been indicted for what 

were, essentially, state law' crimes and that the indictments 

were not worded carefully enough. In U n ited S la tes v. 

H arr is , Woods invalidated part of the Ku Klux Kian Act 

of 1871, ruling that it covered state law crimes. In several 

other decisions, the Justices endorsed, in passing, 

Bradley’s change of heart about the scope of the 

Fourteenth Amendment in his Colfax opinion. The 

opinions made it clear that the Justices believed that the 

Fifteenth Amendment reached the actions of private 

individuals, so long as those individuals interfered with 

voting rights because of race. They said little about the 

Thirteenth Amendment, save Woods’ brief speculation 

that the Amendment might govern the actions of 

private individuals in H arr is . U n ited Sta tes v. C ru ik­

shank, 92 U.S. 542 (1876); V irg in ia v. R ives, 100 U.S. 

313.318 (1880); E x P arte V irg in ia , 100 U.S. 339, 346—47 

(1880); U n ited Sta tes v. H arr is , 106 U.S. 629,641 (1883).

45 [untitled notes], box 18. folder 2, Bradley papers; Kate 

Masur, C iv il, P o litica l, and Soc ia l E qua lity a fte r L inco ln : 

A P arad igm and a P rob lem a tic , 93 Ma r q l a;rt e L. Re v . 

1399 (2010).

46 1 09 U.S. at 22, 23. There is other language that would 

later be quoted by readers who wanted to find modem 

state action there, for instance, when discussing the 

Fourteenth Amendment: “ [a]n individual cannot deprive 

a man of his right to vote, to hold property, to buy and to 

sell, to sue in the courts, or to be a witness or a juror.”  But 

he added later that: “Of course, these remarks do not apply 

to those cases in which Congress is clothed with direct and 

plenary powers of legislation,” such as the Thirteenth 

Amendment.

47 109 U.S. at 17; Whiteside, Justice Joseph Bradley, at 

259-61.

48 Trial Record, B ell v. M ary land , 29, 33, 37.

49 Ke v in M. Kr u s e, Wh it e Fl ig h t : A t l a n t a a n d t h e 

Ma k in g o f Mo d e r n Co n s e r v a t is m 220-27 (Princeton: 

Princeton University Press, 2005).

50 Ir o n s, Co u r a g e o f  Th e ir  Co n v ic t io n s, at x. For my 

own thoughts on this trend, see Kenneth W. Mack, L aw 

and L oca l K now ledge in the H isto ry o f the C iv il R igh ts 

M ovem en t, 125 Ha r v . L. Re v . 1018, 1034—36 (2012).

51 Trial Record, B el! v . M ary land , at 9, 10, 23.

52 Trial Record, B ell v. M ary land , at 9.

44 The following two paragraphs rely on: Joseph William 

Singer, N o R igh t to  E xc lude: P ub lic A ccom m oda tions and 

P riva te P roperty , 90 Nw. L. r e v . 1283 (1996).

™  M cC rea v . M arsh , 78 Mass. (12 Gray) 211 (1858); 

W ood v. L eadb itte r , 153 Eng. Rep. 351 (Ex. 1845); H urst 

v. P ic tu re T hea ters L td ., 1 K.B. 1 (1914).

55 There were cases involving common carriers such as 

railroads, where the Maryland courts stated that segregation 

(but not exclusion) was permissible. But these were 

common carrier cases, which is why Judge Thompsen 

struggled with the question of the general rule for businesses 

open to the public. See H art v. Sta te , 60 A. 457 (Md. 1905).

56 S lacks: A tlan tic W hite T ow er System , 181 F. Supp. 124 

(D. Md. 1960).

57 S lack , 181 F. Supp. at 125-28; G riffin  v. C o llins, 187 F. 

Supp. 149 (D. Md. 1960); D rew s v. M ary land , 167 A.2d 

341 (Md. 1961). The Maryland courts even invalidated 

Baltimore’s first civil rights ordinance, on the basis that it 

conflicted with the state trespass law. Responding to the 

decision, the state legislature passed the state civil rights 

law and granted Baltimore authority to re-enact its own 

civil rights ordinance. Md . Da il y  Re c o r d, Feb. 4, 1963; 

David S. Bogen, “Race and the Law in Maryland”  217 n. 

30 (unpublished manuscript).

48 Ba l t . Su n , Feb. 5, 1957; Slack, 181 F. Supp. at 126 n. 

11; Ma r y L. Du d z ia k, Co l d  Wa r  Civ il  Rig h t s: Ra c e a n d 

t h e Ima g e o f  Ame r ic a n De mo c r a c y 152-53 (Princeton: 

Princeton University Press, 2000); Bogen, Race and the 

Law in Maryland, at 217. This is not to downplay the 

continuing battle for meaningful desegregation, as well as 

the segregationist sentiment in Baltimore and many parts 

of the state, particularly the rural Eastern Shore, which has 

been well documented. See Le e Sa r t a in, Bo r d e r s o f



BELL v. MARYLANDJIHGFEDCBA (1964)KJIHGFEDCBA 371zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Eq u a l it y : Th e NAACP a n d t h e Ba l t imo r e Civ il  Rig h t s 

St r u g g l e, 1914-1970 (Jackson: University Press of 

Mississippi, 2013); C. Fr a s e r Smit h , He r e L ie s Jim 

Cr o w : Civ il  Rig h t s in Ma r y l a n d (Baltimore: Johns 

Hopkins University Press, 2008). It is only to say that the 

formal legal rules being argued about in the sit-in cases 

were changing.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
59 S lack , 181 F. Supp. at 126-27.

60 Ba l t . Ma g a z in e, Mar. 1997, at 46; Balt. Su n , Jan. 3, 

1980,atA10;/rf.,June3, 1980; id .,Oct. 24, 1996; id ., Oct. 

27, 1996.

61 See, e.g ., Th e Co n s t it u t io n a n d Ame r ic a n L if e ; Mack, 

L aw and L oca l K now ledge, at 1034.

62 Ba l t . A f r o -Ame r ic a n, Ma y 11,1991; Ba l t . Su n , No v . 

13,1994; T r ibu tes to C h ie f Judge R obert M . B ell, 72 Md . 

L. Re v . 1077-1144 (2013).



M ary B eth and John Tinker and  
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One o f the m o s t fam o u s p hras e s fro m 
a U.S. Supreme Court decision comes from ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
T inker v . D es M oines Independen t C om m un ity 

Schoo l D istr ic t. In its majority opinion, written 
by Justice Abe Fortas, the Court said:

It can hardly be argued, that either 

students or teachers shed their 

constitutional rights to freedom of 
speech or expression at the school- 
house gate.

T inker is not only one of my favorite 
cases, but a case I use every week in my work 
defending religious liberty in America. Some 

people might ask, “How does a group that 

does religious liberty rely so heavily on a free 
speech case?” The answer is that it’s very 
difficult to exercise your religious freedom if  
you can’ t speak. So as you might imagine, 

free speech is very important to me. And in the 
schools when you’re fighting a religious

freedoms’ case, T inker is the main case to 
cite because of that precious right to free 
speech.

But how did the Tinkers get to the 
chamber of the U.S. Supreme Court? That is 

crucial to understand.

In 1965, despite “Bonanza” and “Gomer 

Pyle” being the number one shows on 
television, it was a very tumultuous time. 
Martin Luther King and 2,600 others were 

arrested in Selma, Alabama. Malcolm X was 
shot and killed. There were riots in Watts, 
where thirty-four people were killed, 1,000 
people were injured, unrest lasted over six 
days, and 4,000 people were arrested. It ’s also 

the time when the Vietnam War started. By 
the end of 1965, almost 190,000 American 
troops were in Vietnam. So in November of 

that year, it probably wouldn’ t surprise you to 
find out that a large number of people were
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gathering for a demonstration, a march to the 
White House, to get our troops home, to get 
out of the war.

And as his mother announced that she 

was going to the march, fifteen-year-old John 
Tinker said, “ I really want to go too.” And 

that’s really where this whole case started.
Who was this family, the Tinkers?
They had a long history of involvement 

with civil rights and demonstrations. If  you 
look at that history, for instance, you find that 

Leonard Tinker, their father, grew up in a 
conservative community in Hudson, New 

York, and was a devoutly religious man. In 
fact, he met his wife Lorena at seminary. And 
this devout religious background led him to 
some conclusions in his life: a very strong 
Quaker-like anti-war pacifism and a commit­

ment to racial equality. And as a Methodist 

minister, that caused some problems.
When he was in Atlantic, Iowa as a 

pastor, he stood with the only black family in 

town and their right to go to the community 
swimming pool. That ended up costing him 

his pastorate, and he was moved to Des 

Moines.
In Des Moines, when he and his wife 

would invite black couples to their church, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
tha t caused trouble as well. Eventually John 
Tinker took a leave of absence from the 
Methodist church and accepted a position that 
he really loved, the Secretary of Peace and 
Education of the American Friends Service 

Committee. This is a Quaker group that’s 

committed to peace and anti-war activities. 

That led him to speak at churches all around. 
And when he traveled, he would take his 

children, and they would see what he was 
talking about. So, in fact, the Tinkers had been 
standing up for racial equality and what they 
believed for many years—with their children.

Don’ t miss that. When Dr. Martin Luther 
King Jr. came through town, he actually 
talked to Lorena and he said, “Aren’ t you 
concerned about the danger to your children 

when you take them to these things?” Dr. 

King was concerned about his own children

and their safety. And Lorena answered him, 
“Well, number one, we’ re trying to pass along 

our values to our children. Number two, if  the 
issue is serious enough, I just don’t see any 
way to avoid this.” And Martin Luther King 

agreed. He said, “Sadly,”  but he agreed.
You might think that, because of the 

trouble Leonard experienced for his beliefs 
and his positions, he was the outspoken one 

between he and his wife, but you’d be wrong! 

Lorena was quite a woman. A member of 
numerous liberal and civil rights groups, she 

also had her master’s degree in psychology, 
and, by the time the T inker decision was 
handed down, she had her doctorate. She 

taught at universities which, for a woman, 
many people thought was a little out of place, 

so she tended to be a little outspoken, ran into 
the politics of the day, and generated a lot of 

controversy. So, when she announced that she 
was going to this demonstration in Wash­
ington, D.C., at the very place where two 

years earlier, Martin Luther King Jr. had given 

his “ I Have a Dream Speech,” her son John 
Tinker said, “ I want to go with you.”  And so, 

about fifty  from the peace community in Iowa 
boarded buses and came to that demonstration 
in Washington, D.C.

Their time there was electric. One of the 
participants said, “ I usually feel like I am in 
the minority, but there with 25,000 people, I 

felt like I was in the majority.”  So, it was really 
an uplifting time. Another family that was 

there included is a woman by the name of 
Margaret Eckhardt. Margaret was head of the 

local peace group in Des Moines, Iowa, and 
she took her son, Christopher. Christopher 
was fifteen, the same age as John. Christopher 

and John would end up being two of the three 
plaintiffs in the Tinker case with Mary Beth 
being the third. And this was the initiation.

On the way back, in the bus the boys 
discussed how they could keep the move­
ment’s momentum going—how they could 

bring this message back home. And what they 
landed on, eventually, was the idea of wearing 

a black armband to express their thoughts on
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the war. So they decided to have a meeting 
when they got back.

The meeting was held December 11th on 

a Saturday, and about twenty-five to thirty 
people gathered and included a large number 

of people in this group whose official label 
was “The Liberal Religious Youth Group.”  

This was a group connected with the Unitarian 
church. They made the decision to wear black 
armbands at school and they wanted two 

messages to come out of that:

First, they wanted to mourn people who 
had lost their lives in the war from both sides, 

all the casualties.

Second, they wanted to support a 
Christmas truce that had been proposed by 
Senator Robert F. Kennedy. And so that’s the 
decision they made. They would do this on 

December 16. They contacted students at high 
schools and colleges, encouraging them to 
wear the armbands and to get that message out 

that day. One of the students who was there 
was Ross Peterson. And Ross actually 

submitted items to the Roosevelt Newspaper,

which is one of the five high schools that was a 
part of the school district there. Ross was so 
excited that on Monday, when he got to 
school, he had an article written that let 
everybody know that on December 16 they 
were encouraged to wear armbands.

Things then got interesting.
As soon as the journalism teacher saw 

this, alarms went off  in his head, and he went 

to the principal, and the principal went to the 
superintendent. The next thing you knew, 

there was an emergency meeting called, with ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
a ll  five p r inc ipa ls of the local high schools 
attending, as well as the head of secondary 
education. And, at this meeting, they made 

the decision that they were banning, in all 
secondary schools, anyone from wearing an 
aimband. That was the decision of the school.

When the newspaper caught wind of this 

and asked the Director of Secondary Educa­

tion why they did this, he said, “Schools are 

no place for demonstrations.”
That statement was a fairly interesting 

one, because just a year earlier the school had
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advocated that students wear black armbands 
in order to express the loss of school spirit at 

the school! But, evidently, wearing a black 

armband ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAabou t the V ie tnam W ar was a bridge 
too far. So on December 15, the day before the 
big day that they were supposed to wear their 
armbands, an announcement came over the 
loudspeakers that the school had banned the 

wearing of armbands at the school.
When Mary Beth Tinker was in the 

eighth grade, she was thirteen years old. And 
that day, her math teacher spent half of his 
class talking about the evils of student protest, 

which doesn’ t seem like it has much to do 

with math. He ended by saying that any 

student who wore an armband in his class 
would be thrown out of the room. That night,

the students had to meet and decide what they 

were going to do. It was really a decision that 

each person had to make on their own.
As to what happened the next day, 

there is dispute about how many people 

wore armbands. The school says that there 
were five who were suspended. They say that 

there were seven total. The students say there 
were actually a lot more who wore armbands, 
but all we need to know is that there were 
three students who wore armbands who 
ended up being a part of a lawsuit in this 

landmark decision. Those students were Mary 
Beth Tinker, John Tinker, and Christopher 

Eckhardt.
Prior to 1965, John Tinker had never ever 

been in trouble at school. Certainly, he’d
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never been suspended. The best description I 
saw was by his lawyer: John was “shy and 

Quaker-like.”  And in fact, John had said that 

if a student actually hit him, he wouldn’ t 
fight back—he really felt that maybe, if  he 
wouldn’t fight back, just maybe they would be 

his friend. And so this was the approach of 
John Tinker.

So, when he heard that the school 
principals had set out this new policy against 
wearing the armband, he felt like it wasn’ t 

really fair for him to wear his armband until 
the school board had a chance to do something 
about this. Like that bully on the playground, 

maybe the school board would reverse its 

policy. Maybe there would be an explanation. 
He wanted to be fair. So he decided he 

wouldn’ t wear his armband the next day, on 
the 16th.

Christopher Eckhardt was a different 
story. Christopher was in a different high 
school. He was at Roosevelt High School, 

whereas John was at North High School. 
Christopher was a Boy Scout, he was very 
popular, and was actually voted most likely to 
succeed. And Christopher went to school with 
his armband on.

He showed up with an overcoat; it was 

December in Iowa. But as soon as he got 

into the school and he took it off, he had 
already decided that he was going to 

immediately go to the principal’s office 
because he knew he was violating a school 
rule. As he began to walk to the principal’s 
office, the captain of the football team saw 
him, grabbed and tried to rip his armband off, 
and had some unpleasant things to say to him. 
And he responded in kind on his way to the 

principal’s office.

When he finally made it to the principal’s 

office, he met the vice principal, Principal 
Blackman, and the girl’ s advisor, Thelma 
Cross, and they proceeded to tell him that if  
he were to do this it would ruin his college 
admissions chances. ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT ha t no co llege w ou ld 

accep t a p ro tester . That in fact Roosevelt 
High School would not even allow him back

in if  he insisted upon wearing his armband. 

And then Vice Principal Blackman said he 
would get, “a busted nose.” At that point, 

Christopher felt intimidated and he began to 
cry, but he wouldn’t take his armband off.

Picture the scene: he’s crying, he’ s 
intimidated, he’s scared. But he won’ t budge.

So then they picked up the phone to call 
his mother. The school officials asked her to 
tell Christopher to take his armband off. Well, 
they obviously didn’ t know his mother—the 

head of the Peace Organization in Des 

Moines. She said, “Not only am I not going 
to tell him that, but he has a constitutional 
right to wear his armband.” Evidently, she 

was somewhat prescient about what was 
going to happen in the future.

Nevertheless, he w as punished, and told, 
“You’ re suspended until you come back 
without it on.”

Mary Beth Tinker, the eventual third 
student in the case, was thirteen years old, in 
the eighth grade. She was a top student, well 

liked, and decided on her own that she wanted 
to wear her armband that morning. Her father 
was somewhat hesitant at first and really 
didn’ t favor this display with either of his 

children. He didn’ t want to defy authority, but 
Mary Beth expressed her heart to mourn the

M ary B eth T inker, w ho  w as 13  w hen  she  w ore the black  

arm band to school, w as photographed w ith her m other, 

Lorena, w ho w as a leader in the Peace O rganization in  

D es M oines.
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casualties and told him she really wanted to 
advocate for a truce in the war, just as Senator 
Kennedy had proposed. So he relented and 

agreed that she needed to speak her con­
science in a respectful way.

She went to school and her initial 

experience was very different from Christo­
pher Eckhardt’s. Really no one had much to 
say during most of the day. A few people 
asked her why she was wearing the armband, 
and she got to explain the reason why she was 

wearing it. And one or two people said, “Hey, 
you’re going to get in trouble.” But there was 
no trouble—until after lunch when she went to 

math class.
The same teacher who had given the 

lecture against armbands for thirty minutes 
the day before immediately sent her to the 

principal’s office. And she talked to the vice 
principal, who said, “ If  you’ ll  just take your 
armband off  you can go back to class.”  So she 
took her armband off and she went back to 

class.
It wasn’ t that she was caving on her 

principles or making some big decision, she 
was thirteen and he said, “Hey if  you want to 
go back to class, take your armband off,”  and 

that’s what she did. However, five minutes 
after she got back to class, the girls’ advisor, 

Ms. Tarman, showed up and said, “You need 
to come back to the office.” And when she 
brought her back to the office, she expressed 
her sympathy. She said, “ I understand. My 

family has a Quaker background, so I totally 
understand what you’ re doing. But we have a 

rule here, you did wear the armband, and so 
you’ re suspended.”

That night a number of students got 

together because this had been going on 
around the school district. They tried to 

contact the president of the school board, 

Ora Niffenegger, and an attorney. They 
actually succeeded after three or four different 

calls, and said to him, “We need to hold an 
emergency meeting.” And his comment was 
that it was not “ important enough”  to hold any 

special meeting.

John Tinker, if  you remember, was trying 
to be fair, was waiting for them to have their 

chance. When he heard that the school board 
considered this trivial and something they 
wouldn’ t even hold an emergency meeting to 

address, he made his decision right then to 

wear his armband the next day. So the next 
day in North High School, John wore the 

black armband. The problem is John was 
wearing a dark suit and his armband wasn’ t 

noticed by anyone at the beginning.

So, after gym class he put on a white shirt 
and immediately he got some, as he called, 
“not friendly” comments. And at lunch he 
endured some comments as well. But a 

football player came to his defense, telling 
other students, “Leave him alone. He has a 

right to his own opinions.”
At that point, John went to the principal’s 

office, and was told by the principal, “John 
you need to take your armband off.” And he 
said, “ I ’m not going to do that.”

They called his father to come and get 
him, and he was told that he couldn’ t come 
back to school until his armband was off. 
Those are the basic facts that you’ ll  see behind 

the Tinker case.
Now, as an aside, the Tinkers also had 

two other children. They had Hope who was 
eleven years old, and they had Paul who was 
eight years old. One of these mornings, 
bounding down to breakfast with an armband 
on her arm, was eleven-year old Hope Tinker. 

And Leonard said, “Oh no, not you too, 
Hope.”  And she said, “Well Dad, I ’m grieving 

the children who died in Vietnam. Shouldn’ t I 
grieve for children who were in Vietnam?”  
Well, Leonard knew at that point that he was 

had.

And so off to school that day went 

eleven-year-old Hope and eight-year-old 
Paul with their armbands on. Now, one of 
the fascinating things about this case is 
that the school had hastily passed the 
new armband policy and it only applied 

to secondary schools. They never even 
thought of the idea of trying to apply this to
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elementary schools. So the younger Tinkers 

had violated no rule. One of the fascinating— 
and instructive—lessons of this case is how 

the controversy was handled by the teachers 
and the people at that elementary school.

Unlike the high school, they considered 
this a wonderful learning experience. And 
they actually taught the kids. What a concept. 
In Hope’s class, somebody said, “ Is she being 

unpatriotic?” And they said, “Oh, no. Let’s 
talk about people having different beliefs.”  

And then in Paul’ s class, they spent a long 
time, thirty minutes, talking about the First 
Amendment and what the right to free 

expression means—and why it ’s important 
in our country.

I believe if  we would just do things like 
they did in the elementary school, our country 

would be a lot better, and I think this is one of 
the lessons of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT inker.

But the authorities didn’ t follow that 
course, and that had immense consequences.

The school board meeting was set for 
December 21. And this was not a normal 
school board meeting. Instead of twenty 

people, there were over 200 people, and 
there were a lot of opinions flying through the 
air.

One of the opinions was by a lawyer, an 
associate professor at Drake University Law 

School, who was representing the students at 
this point, by the name of Craig Sawyer. 
During his discussion, one of the school board 

members asked, “So, are you saying it would 
be okay if the kids wanted to wear Nazi 

swastikas on their arm if they came to 
school?”  His answer was, “Yes, and a Jewish 

Star of David and the Cross of the Catholic 
Church and an armband saying ‘Down with 
the School Board.’” Evidently, Mr. Sawyer 
wasn’ t looking to make friends on the school 
board!

The school board voted to postpone the 
vote and get legal advice. And about two 

weeks later, they voted five-two to uphold the 
ban, and to not move off that position. The

controversy had started December 16. By 
January 22, just a month later, there had been 

twenty-two articles in the Des Moines 
newspaper and their afternoon newspaper. 

T he N ew Y ork T im es had carried a very full  
story on this case, and it was on CBS Evening 

News.
They had gone national.
One of the fascinating things to me is this: 

if  you research back and look at the letters to 

the editor and simply count who they are for 
and against, actually two-thirds of the letters 

to the editor supported the students in their 
right to wear the armband, despite people’s 
view on the war.

That said, one of the unpleasant truths 

about many landmark cases, which unfortu­

nately is true in this case as well, is the people 
who stand up typically have to pay a price for 
what they’re doing, and that was the case with 
the Tinkers. They had red paint thrown at their 

house. They received hate mail. They endured 
nasty phone calls. There was a local radio talk 

show host who said that if  anyone would go 
and physically attack their father, who was a 
devoted pacifist, he would defend them.

The persecution didn’ t stop there. John, 
despite being an excellent musician, was 

given a D in band. He wasn’ t allowed to 
march in the Memorial Day Parade, which is 
something that really hurt him. Mary Beth— 
and remember, Mary Beth is thirteen years 

old—received a call from a woman who said, 

“ Is this Mary Beth?” And she said, “Yes.”  
And she said, in these exact words, “ I ’m going 
to kill  you.”  This should never happen to any 

thirteen year old anywhere. But it is the type 
of sacrifice that people tend to pay when they 
stand up in landmark First Amendment cases.

Despite the opposition, the families 

persisted, and one of the first decisions that 
they had to decide was: who would their 
lawyer be?

The decision was made by both the Iowa 

Civil Liberties Union (ICLU), who was 
helping them in the case, and the families. 
They felt that Professor Sawyer was a little bit
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volatile and abrasive. So they turned to a 
young attorney by the name of Dan Johnston. 
They thought he had better organizational 

skills and negotiating skills, and, at twenty 
eight years old and fresh out of law school, he 

didn’ t charge very much. In fact, the ICLU 
was actually helping, mainly through one 

donor, to fund the case.

And so, young Dan Johnston became the 

lead attorney on what was to become one of 
the most consequential cases in Supreme 
Court history.

On the other side, the schools’ attorney 

was a polar opposite and, if it had been a 
television show, the casting couldn’ t have 
been any better. His name was Allan Herrick. 
He worked for one of the biggest law firms in 

town, was almost seventy years old, and was a 
World War II veteran, who woke up and 

actually arrived at work every day at 6:00 am. 

To top it off, Allan Herrick was known, even 
at age seventy, to play a pretty mean game of 

racquetball. He was in very good shape, was 
very agile, and was very emotional about 

these issues. These lawyers were quite a 

contrast.
Dan Johnston filed his eight-page com­

plaint in federal court and, in this complaint, 
he asked for an injunction on the grounds 
that the students had a right to free speech and 

that the injunction be in place to stop the 

restriction on their speech. He also asked for 
nominal damages of one dollar, because some 

of these people might graduate, and the case 
would go away if  they did not ask for damages 

of a dollar. The answer filed by the school was 
three pages long. And thus started the case. 
In fact, from the filing of the compliant to 
the final decision of the Supreme Court, the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
T inker case took three years, quite a bit 

quicker than typical cases these days.
The major argument made by the 

plaintiffs was that this was censorship under 

the First Amendment, and that the speech here 
was peaceful, it caused no disturbances and it 
was protected under the First Amendment. 

The main argument by the school was that

schools have a duty to maintain order and 
discipline and that the discretion should be left 
with them and not the courts. The trial, which 

commenced on July 25, 1966, lasted two 
days. The main people who testified were the 

three plaintiffs, Christopher Eckhardt, John 
Tinker, Mary Beth Tinker, and a few of the 

school officials. There were no additional 

facts from what I have recounted except one 
main fact that was unearthed: the school’s 
admission that it allowed political buttons on 

campus, allowed religious symbols to be worn 
at school, and even allowed students to wear 

Iron Crosses that were associated with Hitler’s 
Third Reich.

So, in the closing arguments, Dan 
Johnston stood and said, in effect, it was 
hypocritical to allow political buttons and 

even Iron Crosses, but to ban armbands, and 

that here there was no evidence given to show 
any disruption at the school from what these 

children had done. The school said that 
schools have a right to set rules for order, 
and schools are no place for demonstrations.

Then something occurred that was, in my 

view, one of those amazing turns of events 
that typically happen in every case that is 
remembered as “ landmark.”  You have to have 
either a little luck or divine providence go 

your way.
The occurrence? At the same time the 

T inker trial was happening, unbeknownst to 
anybody in the case, another case was being 
decided out of the Fifth Circuit Court of 
Appeals called B urnside v. B ya rs. In this case, 

out of Mississippi, more than thirty students 
had worn freedom buttons as part of the Civil  
Rights Movement. The principal told them 
that freedom buttons were banned from now 
on because, “ It might cause commotion or 

disruption.” The Court of Appeals issued a 
ruling. It said that students had a right to free 

speech in the schools and that, for the school 
to interfere with that right, there had to be 
evidence of a material and substantial inter­
ference with the order and discipline of the 

school. Otherwise, free speech should win.
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Remember that ruling, because it was on 
a collision course with ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT inker.

The judge in the T inker case was a man 

by the name of Judge Roy Stephenson. He had 

been a high-ranking officer in World War II. 
He received the Silver Star and the Bronze 
Star. He was probably not who Dan Johnston 
was hoping for to decide the case with his 
clients, who were speaking out against the 
war. And so, five weeks after the trial, Judge 

Stephenson issued his ruling for the school. 
But in this ruling, he now had to deal with the 
B urnside decision. So, in his decision, he said 
that a disciplined atmosphere of the classroom 

wins out over any sort of student rights, that 

schools shouldn’ t be limited to restricting 
speech when it might cause a material and 

substantial disruption, and that schools should 
have a wide discretion. And, as if  to leave no 
doubt, he went on to say that B urnside , “ is not 
binding on this Court.”

Dan Johnston lost the case, but he really 
was pretty cheery. He felt like the case was 

set up well for appeal and he filed it. And 
on appeal, he argued that armbands were 

banned, that political buttons and Iron Crosses 
weren’ t, and that there was no disruption from 

anything that happened. The school filed its 
response and said that the school should have 
discretion, and that it was reasonable to 
assume armbands might lead to disturbances 

of some sort. The oral argument was set for 

April 1967, in the Court of Appeals in Saint 
Louis.

Unlike today, there were no transcripts of 
the oral argument, and no media covered the 

case. So nobody is sure what happened in that 
argument. The only thing anybody remem­

bers is that one of the judges asked a funny 

question of Dan Johnston. He said, “ If  you 
win, are you really going to insist upon getting 

your dollar?” That’ s all anybody remembers. 
But at least, after all these hundreds of hours 
of work and briefs and depositions and trial, 
they were going to get an answer.

Or so they thought. The argument was 
before a three-judge panel of the Court of

Appeals, and the Court issued no decision 
and said instead they were resetting it for en 

banc, because they believed it was too 

important for only a limited panel of the 

Court to decide.
Thus it went to all eight of the Court of 

Appeals judges, and reargument was set five 
months later. Again, there was no transcript, 
so we have no record, but the newspaper 

covered at least one question in this oral 
argument. And it was a question asked by one 
of the judges parroting an argument of the 
school, which is, “Even if  they can’ t wear the 

armbands, we do discuss the war and they’ ll  
have their opportunity to express themselves 

at certain times.” And he was asked, “Well 
why isn’ t that sufficient under the First 

Amendment?” Dan Johnston’ s response 
was, “What if  President Johnson only allowed 
criticism of his policies on Fridays?” I think 

he made his point pretty well.
The decision came down a month later by 

the eight judges. And, again, you would think, 
after all this time and all this effort, we’ re at 
least about to get some analysis. Instead, let 

me read you the decision: “The judgment is 
affirmed by an equally divided Court.”  That’s 
it. No analysis, no discussion, four-four, 

Johnston tied and, like the phrase kissing your 
sister, it was worse because that meant he still 
lost. The decision from the lower Court, a 
loss, still stood.

Now, what that really meant was that the 
decision below, which said B urnside is not 
binding on us, had set up a beautiful circuit 
split. And, for those of you who are not 

attorneys, the most likely way the Supreme 
Court takes your case is when one Federal 

Court of Appeals says one thing and when 

another Federal Court of Appeals says 
another, since we don’ t want, in this country, 
the Constitution to mean two different things 
in two different jurisdictions.

Well, as this case went up to the Supreme 

Court, Dan Johnston had some help. The 
national ACLU had attorneys in New York 
City who offered to help write much of his
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briefing, and they did—two men: David 
Elenhom and Melvin Wolfe. And, actually, 

Dan Johnston was glad to have this help, 
because he was, at the time, running for 

attorney general of his state. And they actually 
did a couple of very bright things. First, they 

brought out the students’ background as 

Quakers and Unitarians, pulling in a religious 

background that would make them more 
mainstream and not appear as outliers or 
protesters. They also pointed out very clearly 
the circuit courts split, which presented itself. 
And so, on March 1968, the Court granted ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
certio ra r i. The case was going to the Supreme 
Court.

* * *

The Court’s vote to accept the case was a 
five-four split. We know this because of the 

much later released papers of retired Justices, 

and in fact, in that five-four vote, two of those

Justices would change their opinion by the 

time they got to the final opinion in the case. 
The plaintiffs argued similarly as they had 
before, but with a little more refinement, that 

the student expression here was dignified, it 

was orderly, it was peaceful and there were no 
disruptions. And so, under the First Amend­
ment, they said, they should win.

The school said that chaos was bursting 

out all over the country, and, in fact, that was 
true. This was the height of the Vietnam War 
protest era, and chaos was occurring across 
the country. Based on that, the school district 

asserted, their prompt action might have 
avoided chaotic problems at the school.

One other event that was fairly interesting 
was that one group filed an am icus brief. And 
this group is called the National Student 

Association. This is a group that Dan Johnston 
has connection with. It was, in my opinion, a

M ary  B eth and  John  Tinker attended K elly  Shackelford ’s lecture at the Suprem e C ourt, along  w ith m any  other friends 

and fam ily .
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mistake and shows a little bit of Johnston’s 
newness to Supreme Court strategy. Probably 

the last thing you want to do if  your clients 
were peaceful, orderly and even silently 

expressing their beliefs via an armband, is 
to connect yourself with college protests and 
pictures of TV mayhem with water hoses 

and bullhorns and arrests. But Johnston was 

thrilled that the National Student Association 
filed their briefs saying that this case would 
affect protests and demonstrations in college 

campuses all over country.
The all-important oral argument itself 

was on November 12, one week after the new 
president, Richard Nixon, was elected. And 
that week, every leading story in every 
newspaper was Vietnam. So it was front 

and center. The Tinkers were all there for the 

oral argument except for John, who unfortu­

nately missed his flight because of weather, 
and didn’ t get there in time to see the 
argument. But one of the decisions the Tinker 
team had to make was who was going do the 

argument.
The attorneys from New York with the 

ACLU had much more experience, but the 

Tinkers and the Eckhardts felt that Dan 
Johnston had been with them for three years, 

he had done his work, he wanted to argue it, 

and they felt he had earned that right. And so 

Dan Johnston stepped into the batter’ s box for 
the argument.

He was immediately peppered with 
nineteen questions in three minutes from 

Justice Byron White. By the end of that 
grilling, he was essentially admitting that it ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
w as a disruption to other students’ mental 

state when they saw an armband in the 
classroom. This was dangerous water indeed.

Seeing that he was a little bit in trouble, 

the Chief Justice, Justice Earl Warren, and 

Justice Thurgood Marshall, came to his 

rescue. Justice Marshall’s “question” wasn’ t 
even as much a question as it was a statement. 

The armband policy—the ban—wasn’ t limit ­
ed to the classroom, was it? He was right, and 
Johnson got the point: the policy says you

can’ t wear an armband anyw here . Not in the 
classroom, not on the school grounds, not 

on the playgrounds, not anywhere. It helped 

Johnston get his footing, as he did an excellent 

job in the balance of the argument.

Now it was Allan Herrick’s turn.
Herrick got up on behalf of the school and 

Justice Marshall was fairly aggressive, which 
is probably not too surprising. This was 

Thurgood Marshall, the man who argued 
B row n v . B oard o f E duca tion , famous as a 
civil rights attorney before he came onto the 
Court, and, if anything was important in 
the Civil  Rights Movement, it was the right to 
peaceful protest and demonstration. So it ’ s not 

surprising that he asked a very pertinent 

question. When the school’s attorney was 

trying to argue that this could be a disruption, 
Justice Marshall said, “Exactly how many 
people wore these armbands?” The answer: 
five were suspended, but there were rumors 
that it could be as much as seven. Marshall’s 

statement was, “So the school board was 
afraid that seven studen ts wearing armbands 
would disrupt 18,000 people?”

That was the favorite moment of the day 
for a Tinker family. The rebuttal next was 

fairly rough, and one of the surprises to 

Johnston was that Justice Hugo L. Black, 

normally seen as a liberal who could be 
counted upon within the give and take in the 

Court, was very hostile to their side.

On Friday of that week, three weeks after 
the argument, the Court met in secret and 
voted.

We know what happened today because, 
again, we have the Justices’ notes that have 
been released since that time, and, in this vote, 
the Court voted seven- two in favor of the 

Tinkers. Two votes had switched from the 
earlier decision to take the case.

When the discussion started, Chief 
Justice Warren said, “ I think we should 

decide this based upon the equal protection 
grounds that they allow political buttons, 
but they wouldn’ t allow armbands.” Justice 

Douglas said, “No. I think it should be much
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broader protection than that.” Justice Black, 

from Justice Marshall’s notes, said: “Children 
are being allowed to run riot.” Justice 

White then suggested a narrower ruling for 
the case—that they say that schools had the 
right to control, discipline and order in the 
school, but in this case there was no real proof 
of any disruption and therefore the school lost 

the case.

That argument won the day.

The writing of the decision was given to 
Justice Abe Fortas. And this is fairly interest­

ing because Justice Fortas had actually 
recently written a very significant decision 
on the rights of minors that I think had a large 
impact on the decision that was written here. 

He wrote the decision of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAIn re G au lt. At 
fifteen years old, when his parents were at 
work, this boy was pulled out of his home and 

taken into custody for allegedly making an 
obscene phone call that he said he didn’ t 

make. He was given no right to an attorney. 

He and his family were given no identification 
of the charges against them, and there was 
no right to a transcript or an appeal, and 
he was given no right to confront his accuser. 
In fact, his accuser was told, “ T here 's no 

reason fo r  you to com e dow n to the hea r ing .”  

Well, when this made it to the Supreme 
Court, the Supreme Court ruled almost 
unanimously that this was unconstitutional 
and Justice Fortas wrote the opinion. He 

wrote, “Under our Constitution, the condition 

of being a boy, does not justify a kangaroo 
court.” And so, in this decision, Justice 

Fortas gave minors their first rights of 
protection under the Fourteenth Amendment 
and due process. And now he was about to 

give a decision giving them their first 
protections in the schools. So he was well 
prepared.

The famous quote that most any law 
student knows from T inker is this part of his 
opinion, “ It can hardly be argued, that either 

students or teachers shed their constitutional 
rights to freedom of speech or expression at 

the schoolhouse gate.” He went on to say:

In our system, state operated schools 
may not be enclaves of totalitarian­

ism. School officials do not possess 
absolute authority over their 
students.

Ensuring that restrictions on speech would be 
narrow, Fortas wrote, “ In our system, undif­

ferentiated fear or apprehension of a distur­
bance is not enough to overcome the student’s 

rights to free expression. Fear that something 
might happen, is not a basis for quelling all 

student speech.”
John Tinker heard about the decision 

when a reporter at school contacted him, and 

he was thrilled. Mary Beth Tinker heard about 
it when she was a high school student in Saint 

Louis. And she was actually fairly embar­
rassed because she became a celebrity at her 
new school, which was a little discomforting 
to her. Leonard Tinker was, at the time, in a 
peace conference in Paris, France. So, two 

weeks later, when the Tinkers were first all 
together, they celebrated by eating ice cream 
and drinking ginger ale.

The opinions on the T inker opinion were 
strong and diverse. I ’ ll give you one example 
of each. Professor Theodore Deno wrote, “A 
society which is too proud to listen to its 

children, too afraid they might disturb it, is 
probably a society too afraid to look itself 

in the eye. During the course of events in 
history, there was probably precious little 

difference between Mary Beth Tinker’s 

message on the black armband, and the 
twelve-year-old boy who spoke to the elders 
in the temple.” He’s referring, of course, to 
Jesus. “This time, the men in black robes got 
wise.” Not so complimentary were some of 

the letters that came to the Court. One of my 

favorites, and I think emblematic of what was 
sent, was this one: “ If  my kids ever try to take 
advantage of your decisions when they’ re in 
high school or college, they’ ll  find out who the 

real Supreme Court is.”  I think the implication 
was that the real Supreme Court would be 

Dad.
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Over the years, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT inker has gone through 
many attacks. In fact, there are attempts to 

reduce the strength of T inker in circuits all 

over the country. But it ’s still the law to this 
day. After the decision, Mary Beth Tinker 

continued to be active in many peace and anti­
war and civil rights efforts, and, because of 

her parents’ experience as professionals and 
educated people, they were harassed a lot 
because of their positions and what they did. 

She decided, at least in the beginning, to stay 
away from higher education, and she actually 
liked and became a piano technician, which 
has a lot less politics than these other 
positions. But, after a number of years, she 

decided to go back and she got her nursing 
degree. And she just recently retired from 
hospital nursing. But, she is still very, very 

involved in many activities. In preparing this 
article and the lecture upon which it was 
based, 1 asked her to send me an email, and the 

list is so long, my first thought was, “She 
reminds me of her mom.”

Her brother John continued his anti-war 
activities in college, and he actually referred 
to himself as majoring in protest when he was 

in college. Afterwards, he held numerous 
varied and most fascinating jobs. John is 

married now and has two children of his 
own, thirteen and nine. And there are 

situations that occur where a child is all by 
himself or herself facing a school district, and 

they’ ll get a call out of nowhere. From John 

Tinker. Just calling to support them. So he’s 
still standing up, alongside students, around 
the country.

E d ito r ’s N ote : A t th is po in t in the 

au tho r 's lec tu re , M aty B eth and John T inker 
w ere asked to stand and rece ived a stand ing 
ova tion in the C ourtroom .

So what are my takeaways from this 

account?
My first takeaway concerns children and 

their families.
One of the arguments often made against 

the T inker decision is that kids should be

seen and not heard. And that’s really a 
misnomer and misapplication in such First 
Amendment cases involving students. These 
cases don’ t involve kids by themselves; they 

are families. A child can’ t bring a lawsuit. 
They have to have a next friend, and it ’s their 

parents.
Freedom cases are frequently about 

families who have a different belief system 

from the majority who are not being 
allowed to express their beliefs—and indeed 
pun ished for holding or living out those 

beliefs. And this is very important to our 

future. Why?
Because our children are not children 

of the state, they’ re children of their parents. 
American society is comprised of millions 
of little governments called families, and 

they’ re each producing unique products, 
young adults, with their own philosophical, 

moral, religious and political belief 
systems. And then they compete in the 

marketplace of ideas, and we think that 
that’s the best way to arrive at truth and 
what is best.

Second, there’s a great story about 
something that happened after the T inker 
decision that I believe says so much about our 
country. And that is that Dan Johnston, two 

years after the decision, not very long, was 

invited by Roosevelt High School—the same 
Roosevelt High School against which he led 

the lawsuit—to be its commencement 

speaker!
I believe that says a lot about maturity, 

about unity and about coming together, and 

it shows a grown up America that sometimes 
we don’ t always see but that we all desire to 

be.
Last, as Thomas Jefferson and John 

Dickinson wrote in 1775, we must be, 

“With one mind, resolved to die free men, 

rather than to live as slaves.”
John and Mary Beth and 1 probably share 

very few political beliefs. But we believe in 
freedom. And we lock arms in that. And isn’ t 

that what this country is all about?
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The  C lerks  of the  Four H orsem en (Part I)KJIHGFEDCBA

B A R R Y  C U SH M A N zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Re ce nt y e ars have witne s s e d a flo we ring 

o f s cho lars hip co nce rning the Su p re m e Co u rt 

cle rks hip . Yet most of this literature focuses on 
the more modem Justices. And for the Justices 
who served in the years between Justice 
Horace Gray’ s appointment in 1882, when the 
Supreme Court clerkship was created, and 

Franklin D. Roosevelt’s appointment of Hugo 
Black in 1937, the literature leans heavily 
toward those generally thought to be “ liberal” : 
Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., Louis D. Bran- 

deis, Harlan Fiske Stone, and Benjamin N. 

Cardozo.
This tendency is not surprising for several 

reasons. First, Holmes, Brandeis, Stone, and 
Cardozo are of particular interest, as they are 
typically regarded as among the greatest 

Justices of the twentieth century. Second, 
the extensive biographical literature on each of 

them, as well as the large collection of private 
papers left by all but Cardozo, gives the 
researcher ample material with which to work. 
And third, there is a substantial remembrance 

literature generated by their former clerks.

Law clerks to the early twentieth century 
Justices known collectively as the “Four 
Horsemen”—Willis Van Devanter, James

Clark McReynolds, George Sutherland, and 

Pierce Butler—thus have received little 
attention. With the exception of Sutherland, 
these more “conservative” contemporaries of 

Holmes and Brandeis are typically rated as 
judicial “ failures.” 1 The biographical litera­
ture on each of them is not nearly as thick,2 

and the remaining private papers are neither as 
extensive nor as revealing.3 And only two of 

the thirty-five young men who clerked for 
these Justices ever published a recollection of 

his time served in chambers.
The more notable of these remembrances 

was that of John Knox, who clerked for Justice 
McReynolds during the 1936 Term 4 Knox was 

bom in Des Moines, Iowa in 1907, and raised in 

the Chicago suburb of Oak Park, Illinois. He 
received his undergraduate degree from the 

University of Chicago in 1930, his L.L.B. 
from Northwestern University in 1934, and an 
L.L.M. from Harvard in 1936. He had begun to 
write letters to Justice Holmes during his lonely 
and miserable adolescence, and started to favor 

other Justices with his correspondence during 
his years as a law student. Among these was 
Justice Van Devanter, and when McReynolds 

informed his colleague in late 1935 of his need
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fo r a cle rk fo r the co m ing te rm , Van Devanter 
arranged an interview for his persistent young 

pen pal. Knox kept a diary of his experiences 
during his clerkship year, and between 1952 

and 1963 converted the diary into a 978-page 
typewritten memoir. He tried without success 
to have the memoir published, and in 1978 
deposited the manuscript with several libraries. 

There it languished in obscurity until 2002, 
when Professors Dennis Hutchinson and David 

Garrow brought out a splendid edition pub­
lished by the University of Chicago Press.5

Knox’s memoir is largely an expose of 
McReynolds’ tempestuous and cruel mistreat­
ment of his messenger, Harry Parker; of his 
maid and cook, Mary Diggs; and, of course, of 

Knox himself. Knox reported that all of the 
employees of the “sadistically inclined”  
McReynolds “ lived in a reign of terror and 

were crushed under foot without any hesita­
tion on his part.” 6 By the end of his clerkship, 

Knox had concluded that McReynolds 
was “ the most contemptible and mediocre 

man I ever came into contact with,” “unbe­

lievably stingy,” and “gravely unbalanced.”  
His “selfishness and vindictiveness” were 
“unbelievable.” 7

There is good reason to believe that 

Knox’s unpleasant tour of duty clerking for 
McReynolds was representative of the Jus­
tice’s treatment of his other clerks.8 On the 

other hand, we can be reasonably confident 
that Knox’s experience was not representative 

of the experiences of those who clerked for 
Van Devanter, Sutherland, and Butler. For 

example, when Arthur Mattson, who clerked 
for Van Devanter for five years, was preparing 

to leave his post to pursue a legal career in 

New York, he wrote to his boss:

You have been so good to me during 

the nearly five years I have been in 
your employment, and my associa­

tion with you has been such a fine 
thing in my life, that I would be 
ungrateful not to tell you of my deep 
appreciation. Your uniform kind­

ness, consideration, and patience is 

something I shall never forget. You 
have been at once a kind and just 
employer and a good father to me. 
Perhaps I can best show my appre­

ciation by striving always in the 

years to come to reflect your kind 
manner and sweet disposition, your 
noble character and your profound 
knowledge of law and men. They 

will  be treasured memories of mine 
always.9

Three of Van Devanter’s other clerks 
remained with him for stretches of three, nine, 

and eleven years, which suggests that they, 
too, found the association agreeable.10 Like 
Van Devanter,11 Sutherland was uniformly 
regarded as a nice fellow,12 and the fact that 

each of his four clerks remained with him for 

multiple terms similarly suggests that they 

also found the experience personally reward­
ing.13 Butler, who employed two law clerks 

in his chambers at all times, retained one of 

them during his entire tenure at the Court, 
and another for nine terms.14 Here again, the 

likelihood of job satisfaction seems high.

Knox’s duties while working for McRey­
nolds also were not typical of the duties of all 
of the Four Horsemen’s clerks. The tasks that 
McReynolds expected Knox to perform were 

more secretarial than legal. They included 
typing, taking dictation, responding to social 

invitations, and answering the telephone. The 
only lawyerly duties that Knox undertook 
throughout the year were the preparation 
of summaries of petitions for ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcertio ra r i and 

some occasional legal research. McReynolds 

never asked Knox to produce “ lengthy 

typewritten opinions regarding various points 
of law.” 15 Only once, early in the term, did 

McReynolds ask Knox to write a draft of a 
majority opinion. Knox worked at the task 

feverishly while McReynolds was away from 
Washington for a few days, and upon 
McReynolds’ return, proudly presented his 
work product to his boss. McReynolds
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John  K nox (right), began  w riting  to  O liver W endell H olm es, Jr., (left) during  his  lonely  adolescence and  visited  him  at 

his  sum m er hom e in B everly Farm s in 1930. In law  school, K nox began corresponding w ith other Justices, including  
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re s p o nde d by o s te ntatio u s ly to s s ing the 
o p inio n into the was te bas ke t.16

By contrast, Butler’s long-term clerk 

John F. Cotter “wrote first drafts of many 
opinions, expressing the justice’s views so 
accurately that the drafts often required few 
changes.” 17 Butler’s clerks also summarized 

petitions for ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcertio ra r i, and the Justice

encouraged his clerks to offer criticism and 

suggestions as they assisted him in the 
research and writing of opinions.18 William 

D. Donnelly, who served as a Butler clerk for 

nine years, described his duties as also 
including “ the preparation of notes ... on 

some of the argued cases prior to the 
conferences of the Court,” and assistance
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“ in the writing of opinions in assigned cases,”  
including “ [preparation of detailed state­

ments of fact from the records,” “analysis of 
briefs,”  and “ research on points not briefed by 
the parties.” 19 Not much is known about the 

duties of clerks for Justices Van Devanter and 
Sutherland,20 but it does appear that the clerks 

of at least one of the Four Horsemen were 
not simply legally trained stenographers, but 

instead shouldered substantial lawyerly 
responsibility.

There is an additional respect in which 
the Knox story was not representative, and it 

is to the illumination of that dimension that the 
balance of this article is devoted. One reason 
for the greater interest in the men who clerked 

for Holmes, Brandeis, Stone, and Cardozo 
concerns the highly successful careers they 
pursued following their clerkships. Many of 

these alumni clerks rose to positions of great 
distinction in law practice, business, law 
teaching, or government service.21 Consider 

just a sample from the list of Holmes’s 

alumni: Francis Biddle, Attorney General of 
the United States;22 Tommy Corcoran, drafter 

of key New Deal legislation and Franklin 
Roosevelt’s right-hand man;23 James H. 

Rowe, assistant attorney general and Franklin 
Roosevelt’s administrative assistant;24 H. 

Chapman Rose, undersecretary of the treasury 
and partner with Jones Day in Washington;25 

Harvey Hollister Bundy, assistant secretary of 
state and chairman of the Carnegie Endow­
ment for International Peace;26 Irving Olds, 

chairman of the board of directors of United 
States Steel;27 George L. Harrison, president 

of New York Life Insurance Company28 and 

the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and 
chairman of the board of RCA;29 Augustin 
Derby, Harvard law professor;30 W. Barton 
Leach, Harvard law professor;31 Arthur 
Sutherland, Harvard law professor;32 Mark 
DeWolfe Howe, Harvard law professor;33 

Stanley Morrison, Stanford law professor;34 

Chauncey Belknap, founding partner of 

Patterson, Belknap and president of the 
New York State Bar Association;35 John

Lockwood, a partner at Milbank, Tweed and 
chief legal advisor to the Rockefeller fami­
ly;36 Donald Hiss of Covington &  Burling;37 

Lloyd Landau of Root, Clark, Bruckner &  
Ballantine in New York;38 Erland F. Fish, 

president of the Massachusetts State Senate;39 

Laurence Curtis, “an influential member of 
the Massachusetts Senate” and Republican 
Congressman from Massachusetts;40 and 

Justice Day Kimball of the Supreme Court 
of Bermuda.41

The Brandeis alumni include Dean 
Acheson, Secretary of State;42 Judge Henry 

Friendly of the United States Court of Appeals 
for the Second Circuit;43 Calvert Magruder, 

Harvard law professor and later Chief Judge 
of the United States Court of Appeals for the 
First Circuit;44 James M. Landis, dean of the 

Harvard Law School and chairman of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission;45 Har­
ry Shulman, dean of Yale Law School;46 

Henry Hart, Harvard law professor;47 Paul 
Freund, Harvard law professor;48 Willard 

Hurst, Wisconsin law professor and the 
dean of American legal history;49 Nathaniel 
Nathanson, Northwestern law professor;50 

David Reisman, Harvard sociologist;51 
Thomas Austem, of Covington & Burling;52 

Adrian Fisher, general counsel to the Atomic 
Energy Commission;53 and W. Graham 

Claytor, president of Amtrak.54

Stone’s clerks include Judge Harold 
Leventhal of the United States Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia Cir­
cuit;55 Judge Eugene Nickerson of the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of 
New York;56 Herbert Wechsler, Columbia 
law professor;57 Walter Gellhom, Columbia 

law professor;58 Louis Lusky, Columbia law 

professor; Milton Handler, Columbia law 
professor;59 Warner W. Gardner, founding 

partner of Shea & Gardner;60 Alfred Mc­

Cormack, a partner at Cravath and Director of 
Intelligence in the Military Intelligence 
Service during World War II; 61 Alexis 
Coudert, of Coudert Brothers;62 Wilbur 

Friedman, chair of the tax department at
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Pro s kau e r Rose;63 Howard C. Westwood, a 
partner at Covington & Burling;64 Adrian 
Leiby, a partner at LeBoeuf, Lamb;65 and 

Thomas Harris, chairman of the Federal 
Election Commission.66 Cardozo’s Supreme 

Court career was much briefer, but he 

nevertheless could claim as alumni Joseph 
Rauh, Jr., a leading civil  rights lawyer and for 
years the national chairman of Americans for 
Democratic Action,67 and Alan Stroock of 
Stroock, Stroock &  Lavan.68

Consider, by contrast, the post-clerkship 
career of John Knox. After leaving McRey­
nolds, he failed the bar examination three 
times before finally passing the Illinois exam 

in March of 1939. Following his second 

failure, he was fired from Mayer, Meyer, 
Austrian, & Platt after less than a year of 
employment. He then parlayed a family 
friendship into a job with the Chicago firm 

of Loesch, Scofield, Loesch, &  Burke. When 
the firm began to crumble in 1942, Knox

began a two-year stint at the War Production 

Board before being canned in late 1944. By 

early 1945 he was in New York working in the 
war-depleted ranks of Cravath, Swaine, &  

Moore, but was let go in less than two years. 
For most of 1947 he negotiated and drafted 
theatrical contracts for the Marquis Georges 

de Cuevas, the grandson-in-law of John D. 
Rockefeller, Sr. When that work dried up in 

November, Knox returned to Chicago and 

spent the next nine years trying unsuccessful­
ly to save his family’s mail-order business 
selling self-help books to salesmen. In 1956 
he took a job as a claims adjuster for the 

Allstate Insurance Company, and remained in 
their employ until his retirement in 1973. For 

the remainder of his life he lived in poor health 
and straitened financial circumstances. He 
died in 1997 at the age of eighty-nine, a lonely 
and childless bachelor.69 In 1962, at the age of 

fifty-five,  Knox wrote in his diary, “ [ijn  many 
ways I am a pathetic failure.”70 The following

W illis  Van D evanter em ployed seven clerks during his tw enty-six years on the C ourt, tw o of w hom  cam e from  his  

native  W yom ing. Four ended  up  m aking  careers in  the  W ashington  civil service, one  enjoyed  a  successfu l practice on  

W all Street, and one lived an eventfu l life on the W yom ing frontier.
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y e ar he co m p laine d that he had “no money, 
am thousands of dollars in debt and just 
hanging on to the status quo by a thread.” 71 As 

Professors Hutchinson and Garrow put it, 
Knox “had become a pudgy, sour, and 

chronically ill middle-aged man with no 
career accomplishments and bitter recrimina­
tions, mostly directed at himself.” 72

How representative was Knox’s post­
clerkship career? Until recently, it was not 
easy to know. But the proliferation of online 
sources now has made it possible to recon­

struct at least the outlines of the lives of the 

men who clerked for the Four Horsemen. 

From these and other biographical data one 
can discern that most of their clerks went on to 
enjoy successful careers, apparently happy 

family and social lives, and active participa­
tion in the affairs of their communities. To be 
sure, none of them became Attorney General 

of the United States or Secretary of State. But 
one is nevertheless impressed by how entirely 
uncharacteristic was the life of John Knox.

The Van D evanter C lerks

Justice Van Devanter was appointed to 

the Court in 1910 and did not retire until 1937, 
but during his tenure he employed only seven 

clerks. Not all of his clerks went to law school, 
and, with one exception, those who did 
attended local Washington schools. Four 
ended up making careers in the Washington 
civil service, one enjoyed a successful 

practice on Wall Street, and one lived an 
eventful life on the Wyoming frontier. In the 
text, I focus only on four of these clerks; 

summaries of the careers of the others may be 
found in the endnotes.

Richard H. Repath clerked for Van 
Devanter during the 1910 term.73 He was 

bom in May of 1861 in Plymouth, England.74 

As a young man Repath served as secretary to 
Wyoming’s Territorial Governor Francis E. 
Warren, and then to Republican Secretary of 

State and Acting Governor Amos Barber after

Wyoming had been admitted as a state and 

Governor Warren had been elected to the 
United States Senate.75 An incident late in 

Barber’s tenure as Governor made Repath 
into something of a hero in Wyoming 

Republican circles. The disputed gubernato­
rial election of 1892 pitted Barber against 
Democrat Thomas Osborne. Before the con­

tested vote had been fully canvassed, the 

Republican ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW yom ing T r ibune later recalled, 
Osborne “ forcibly entered the capitol and 
landed in the outer room of the executive 
chambers where he was met by R.H. Repath, 
the private secretary of Governor Barber, who 

barred his further progress. Osborne tried to 

get into the next room but the secretary stood 
in his way and the two men encountered each 

other in a rough and tumble manner. Repath 
proved to be the ablest athlete and threw his 
adversary to the floor and held him in that 
position by sitting on his head for two hours 

and a half. The newly elected governor while 
in this undignified and uncomfortable posi­
tion swore, pleaded, and begged by turns, but 
the loyalty of the secretary to the state induced 
him to hold the intruder a prisoner until 

someone should come to take charge of 
him.” 76

Repath was also the clerk of the Supreme 
Court of Wyoming from its organization in 
1890 until August of 1897.77 In addition, he 

gave private instruction in Pitman’s Phonetic 
Shorthand on the side.78 After concluding his 

tenure at the Wyoming Supreme Court, 
Repath worked for a year as a special agent 
in the General Land Office protecting public 

lands and timber before going to Washington 

to serve as the stenographer for Van Devanter, 

who was serving as an assistant attorney 
general in the Department of the Interior.79 

When Van Devanter was appointed to the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth 
Circuit in 1903, Repath became Judge Van 
Devanter’s secretary.80 He continued in this 

position until 1910, when Van Devanter was 
appointed to the Supreme Court of the United 
States.81
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Afte r co m p le ting the 1910 Term of Court 
with Van Devanter in Washington, Repath 

returned to Cheyenne to serve as secretary to 
United States District Court Judge John A. 
Riner.82 Repath found the hot, humid weather 

of Eastern summers uncomfortable,83 and 

cited concern for his health and a desire to 
enjoy the company of his many friends in 

Wyoming as reasons for leaving his presti­
gious post with Van Devanter.84 Repath 

remained with Judge Riner until that jurist 
resigned after thirty-one years of service in 
1921, whereupon Repath took a secretarial 

post with Riner’s successor, Judge Thomas 
Blake Kennedy.85 Kennedy would serve until 

1957, and Repath remained with the judge for 
the remainder of his own career.86

Repath died of a heart ailment at the age 
of seventy-nine in 1943. He never married,87 

but he had an active social life as a leader and 

participant in the affairs of the Knights 
Templar,88 the Masons,89 and other organiza­

tions.90 He also served on the executive 

committee of St. Mark’s Episcopal Church in 
Cheyenne.91 In the 1890s he was a member of 

the Cheyenne Club, a vigilante group orga­
nized by a collection of gentlemen ranchers 
devoted to the suppression of cattle rustling in 
Wyoming. In the summer of 1892, Repath 
successfully persuaded Owen Wister not to go 

hunting in western Wyoming for fear that 
marauding rustlers would delight in putting 
a bullet or two in the young author.92 But 

for Repath, we might never have had ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT he 
V irg in ian93

George Howland Chase III clerked for 
Van Devanter during the 1923 Term.94 Chase 

was bom in Germantown, Pennsylvania in 

1898, and raised in Washington, D.C. He was 
graduated from St. Paul’ s School in Concord, 
Massachusetts in 1916, from Princeton Uni­
versity in 1920, and from Harvard Law 
School in 192 3.95 During World War I he 

served as a second lieutenant in the field 
artillery of the U.S. Army, stationed at Camp 
Zachary Taylor in Louisville.96 Following his 

clerkship with Van Devanter, Chase spent a

year with the Washington firm of McKenney 

and Flannery. In 1925 he began a stint of more 

than six years as an associate with the 
Washington office of Cravath, de Gersdorff, 
Swaine & Wood,97 and was admitted to the 
Supreme Court bar in 192 8.98 The following 

year he was married to Bryn Mawr graduate 

Mary Chandler Hale, the niece of Maine’s 
U.S. Senator Frederick Hale and the grand­
daughter of the late Senator Eugene Hale.99 

After leaving Cravath, he became assistant 

general counsel to the Federal Reserve Board, 
which he served for three decades preceding 
his retirement in 1962. He served as president 

of the D.C. Family and Child Services, as a 

member of the D.C. Charitable Solicitation 
Advisory Council, and as a member of the 
board of the Washington Institute of Foreign 
Affairs. He held club memberships at Chevy 
Chase and Burning Tree. He was at his 
summer home in Prospect, Maine, when he 

became ill  in 1981, and he died in October of 
that year at the age of eighty-three. He was 
survived by his wife, Mary.100 Sadly, he was 

preceded in death by his only child, Eugenia 
Chase Guild, who died in 1954.101 He was 

remembered as a “greatly beloved” man of 
“unusual charm, affectionate and humorous in 

his only special and delightfully characteristic 
way.” He was also “an accomplished golfer”  
who had played with members of the Supreme 
Court and with former Secretary of State 

Robert Lincoln, the son of President Abraham 
Lincoln.102

In the early 1970s, Mr. and Mrs. Chase 
offered their mansion on Embassy Row in 
Washington to the federal government for use 

as the official residence of the Chief Justice of 

the United States Supreme Court. The property 
was valued at $340,000, and the Chases 

offered an additional $500,000 for its mainte­
nance. The Senate Judiciary Committee was 

slow to respond, and the couple withdrew 
the offer in 1973, saying in a letter to the 
Committee that they had “waited long 

enough.”  The Chases instead gave the mansion 
as a joint gift to their respective alma maters,
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Prince to n and Bry n Mawr. The s cho o ls 
acce p te d the gift and late r s o ld the p ro p e rty .103

James W. Yokum shared clerking duties 
with Chase during the 1923 Term, and 
continued with Van Devanter for the 1924 
Term.104 Yokum was bom in Montgomery, 

Alabama, apparently sometime between 1895 
and 1898—he supplied four different years of 
birth on various employment documents. He 
attended high school at the Emerson Institute 

in Washington, D.C., and was a private first 
class in the United States Army Signal Corps 
during World War I. He studied law in the 
evening for one year at National University 

and for two years at Georgetown while 
working as a clerk in the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs and in the General Accounting Office, 

where he was regarded by his superiors as 
“ [c]apable but impulsive, restless, and some­
what lacking in thoroughness.” He left the

GAO and Georgetown in 1923 to accept the 

position with Van Devanter, and, though he 
never completed his law degree, he was 
admitted to the Florida Bar. After his service 

with Van Devanter, Yokum spent three years 
in the private practice of law in Miami, a year 
as an assistant trust officer with Bank of 

America in New York, and three years as a 
corporate attorney for AT&T, also in New 
York.

At this point, regrettably, Yokum’s career 

began a downward spiral that came near to 

rivaling the misfortunes of John Knox. In the 
spring of 1932, Yokum was appointed a field 

examiner into War Risk Insurance claims for 
the Veteran’s Administration, and stationed in 
Indianapolis. In November of that year the 
VA launched an investigation into his 

conduct, which it was alleged may have 
involved “criminal features ... in connection
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with the m is u s e o f tax e xe m p tio n ce rtificate s .”  

Yokum offered to resign in order to keep his 

record clear, but it was decided instead that he 
would be suspended without pay pending 
resolution of the investigation. In January of 
1933 the charges against Yokum were 

sustained, and he was discharged with 
prejudice. (Yokum later attributed his dis­
missal to “absence without leave” ). Thereafter 
Yokum scuffled from one temporary gig to 

another: six weeks as an attorney with the 

Reconstruction Finance Corporation in Au­
gust and September of 1933, four months as 

an auditor in the Agriculture Department from 
October of 1933 to January of 1934, and two 

months as an assistant clerk in the Procure­
ment Division of the Treasury Department. 
Meanwhile, in September of 1933 he was 

notified that “after careful consideration . . . 
your previous record will  not be regarded as 
constituting a bar to your reinstatement, if  
officially requested, subject to such further 

tests as the Comm, may consider necessary,”  

and by the end of the following March he had 
been reinstated by the Civil Service as a 
permanent clerk in the Bureau of Internal 
Revenue. His principal duty there was the 
examination of estate tax returns. Yokum 

remained with the Bureau until the fall of 

1941, when he resigned “ for personal 
reasons.”

A year later Yokum received a war 
service appointment as an attorney for the 
Yards and Docks Bureau of the Department of 

the Navy. There he was “assigned primarily to 

administrative work” because of his “special 
talents”  for that sort of duty, and because “ [i]n  
strictly legal matters... his work was hardly 
above ‘Unsatisfactory.’” While receiving 

high ratings for administrative capability 
and an overall assessment of “Good,” he 

was given low marks for “Accuracy of final 
results,” “Amount of Acceptable Work 
Produced,” and “Dependability.” In October 

of 1944 he was transferred to serve as a trial 
examiner for the Safety Section of the Civil  

Aeronautics Board, from which he resigned

“because of illness” in February of 1945. In 

August he returned to the workforce as an 

attorney for the Disabled American Veterans, 
whom he represented before the Veterans 

Administration and the Departments of the 
Army and Navy in cases involving claims for 

federal benefits. By June of 1946 he had again 
resigned due to illness, but in March of 1948 
he submitted a successful application for a 

position as a trademark renewal examiner in 
the Patent Office. Here he performed “ the 

least difficult assignments in examination of 
applications for renewal of registrations and 

republications of trade-marks” until his 
performance began to unravel about three 

weeks into his tenure.
In April of 1948, Yokum’s wife of 

fourteen years passed away. Thereafter he 
became highly erratic in his attendance at 
work, and was absent without notice or 
explanation to his superiors for weeks at a 

time. In late June, his supervisor wrote that 

“Mr. Yokum has proved to be of no value as 
an examiner. His failure to be present on the 
job has made it impossible for him to be 
productive at all.” The letter added that “any 

hopes for reliable service from Mr. Yokum are 
wholly without foundation,” and requested 

that he be terminated. Yokum then was sent a 
letter demanding that, on pain of termination, 

he return to work by July 2 and show 
sufficient cause for his unauthorized absence. 
In late July a letter was sent to the room that 

Yokum had occupied at the VA Hospital in 

Perry Point, Maryland since July 7. The letter 
informed Yokum that he had failed to satisfy 
the demand set out in the previous communi­

cation, and that he was thereby separated from 
service. Yokum appealed his termination in a 
letter detailing his distressing personal and 

financial circumstances, but his appeal was 

denied in a letter dated September 20.
After his dismissal from the Patent 

Office, Yokum appears to have gone for 
more than a decade without gainful employ­

ment. In May of 1960 he secured a job as a file 

clerk with the Veterans Administration, and
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the fo llo wing Fe bru ary he trans fe rre d to the 
VA ’s Engineering Division as an engineering 

aide. His employment application made no 
mention of his brief tenure at the Patent 

Office. At the end of October, the VA  
terminated him for being absent without 

leave. He does not appear to have worked 
thereafter. Yokum was an active member of 

the American Legion in Washington, D.C. He 

died in 1963 and is buried in Arlington 
National Cemetery.105

John T. McHale was Van Devanter’s last 
clerk, serving the Justice from the 1926 term 
through Van Devanter’s retirement at the end 
of the 1936 Term.106 McHale was bom in 

1888 and married Ellen Berger at the age of 
twenty-six.107 In his youth he was an 

outstanding tournament pool player known 
as the “Roxbury Kid.” 108 From 1907 to 1912 

he worked as a messenger and clerk in the 

Ordnance Department of the Washington 
Navy Yard. By 1912 his superiors had 

become very dissatisfied with his perfor­
mance owing to his frequent absences from 
work, which they noted often occurred on the 
day after payday, and they recommended that 
he be discharged. At McHale’s request he was 
permitted to resign, so that his separation from 

service would not damage his future pros­
pects. McHale regrouped, attended (but did 
not graduate from) Georgetown Law School, 
and was admitted to the bar in Virginia and the 

District of Columbia, where he engaged in a 
probate practice.109 From 1917 to 1919 he 

worked as a clerk at the War Trade Board, 
after which he became a claims examiner for 
the Bureau of War Risk Insurance in the 
Treasury Department. By 1924 he had risen to 

the rank of Chief of the Converted Insurance 
Section of the Veteran’s Bureau. He resigned 

that position in May of 1925 to resume law 
practice, this time in Palatka, Florida.110 The 

following year McHale returned to Wash­
ington to work for Van Devanter as a 

stenographic assistant for three years before 

his promotion to the position of law clerk in 
1929.111 After Van Devanter’s retirement

McHale clerked for McReynolds for the 1937 
term112 before joining the Motor Carrier 

Division of the Interstate Commerce Com­
mission.113 He remained at the I.C.C. for the 

remainder of his career.114 He died in 1947, 

leaving a widow and four children.115 

McHale’s final year at the Court was not his 

most cherished. In January of 1938 McRey­

nolds’ messenger Harry Parker wrote to John 
Knox that the Justice had gotten “worse.”  
“Mr. McHale is having a hard time. I am sure 

he would not stay if  he could get anything else 
to do.... You are lucky you got out and don’ t 
have to go through what we have to it is next 
to hell.” 116

The M cR eynolds C lerks

Of all of the Four Horsemen, Justice 
McReynolds was the most prolific employer 
of clerks. During his tenure, which stretched 

from 1914 to 1941, the difficult Justice 
retained the services of no fewer than eighteen 
young legal assistants. This was apparently 
not by design. Chester Newland, who inter­
viewed seven of McReynolds’ former clerks, 
reports that the Justice “was plagued with 
troubles in locating and retaining clerks. . . . 

Because of his strong language and asperity 
toward his subordinates, the atmosphere was 
too demeaning for some of his assistants.” 117 

McReynolds’ notoriously offensive personal­

ity probably compromised his ability to 
recruit the most outstanding law graduates. 

Most of his clerks attended local Washington 
schools, and many went on to comparatively 
quiet careers in the Washington civil service. 

But that was certainly not the trajectory of all 
of the McReynolds alumni.118

The Early C lerks119

Newman Blaine Malian clerked for 
McReynolds during the 1916 Term.120 A 

native of the District of Columbia,121 Blaine
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was the s o n o f Dr. Tho m as F. Malian and 
Ade le Blaine Malian, and the grandne p he w o f 

Jam e s G. Blaine , the Plu m e d Knight o f Maine 
who ne arly wo n the p re s ide ncy in 18 84.122 He 

attended Western High School, of which he 

would later become alumni association presi­
dent;123 Cornell University, where he studied 
engineering for one year;124 and the Univer­

sity of Virginia School of Law, from which he 
received his law degree in 1914.125 After 

completing his studies at Mr. Jefferson’s 
University, Malian returned to the District of 
Columbia, where he was admitted to practice 
in early 1915.'26 His social affiliations 

included memberships in the West End 
Citizen’s Association,127 the Farmington 

Country Club in Charlottesville, Virginia, 
and the Chevy Chase Club.128 He was a 

member of the Delta Tau Delta fraternity, and 
an enthusiastic participant in their alumni

affairs.129 Malian also was active in the affairs 

of the Washington, D.C. chapter of the 
University of Virginia alumni association,130 

and in April of 1916 he headed up the 
committee on arrangements for an alumni 

banquet in Washington that Justice McRey­
nolds appears to have attended.131 It may be 

that this occasion led to Malian’s commence­
ment of service with the Justice that fall.

After leaving McReynolds, Malian 

served in France as a lieutenant, junior grade 
in the Navy during World War I.132 He 

engaged in a small private practice,133 was 
admitted to the Supreme Court bar,134 and by 

1925 he was general counsel of the Seven 
Oaks Golf and Country Club.135 He became 

engaged to Frederica McKenney, the daugh­
ter of a prominent Washington lawyer, in the 
fall of 1924,136 and they were married the 

following May.137 In January of 1927, Malian
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was ap p o inte d by Pre s ide nt Calvin Co o lidge 
to s e rve as p e o p le’s counsel of the Public 
Utilities Commission. The appointment re­

quired Senate confirmation, however, and 
there was an immediate backlash from local 

civic groups whose members had not been 
consulted, and who had favored another 
candidate.138 Members of the House and 

Senate District Committees were likewise 

disgruntled that they had been left out of the 

loop. Representative Thomas L. Blanton of 
Texas led the charge against Malian at the 
Capitol, urging his House colleagues to 
encourage their counterparts in the Senate to 
withhold confirmation. Blanton maintained 

that Malian had been appointed “ in behalf of 
the utility interests,” and was an “ inexperi­
enced lawyer.” 139 The office had been created 

so that the residents of the District would have

‘“an outstanding lawyer’”  ‘“ looking after the 

people’s interests,” ’ someone who would be 
“capable of combating the high class lawyers 

of the public utilities.”  Blanton had expected 

the President to appoint a “ ‘capable, able and 
willing man,” ’ but in Malian he had chosen 
“ ‘a young fellow, personally all right, but who 

as a lawyer is unknown to the legal fraternity, 
so I am informed.’” 140

It turned out, however, that Malian was 

not altogether “personally all right.” In 
October of 1923, at the age of thirty, he had 
narrowly escaped death by leaping from his 
car before it plunged over a fifty-foot  
embankment at Connecticut Avenue and 

Albemarle Street Northwest. Police had 

arrived at the scene and arrested Malian for 
operating an automobile while drunk.141 Mr. 

Malian had failed to appear in court on the 
designated date, and a bench warrant had 
issued for his arrest. Mr. Malian and his 
friends insisted that he was innocent of the 

charge, but the opposition energetically 
publicized that incident, and Coolidge was 
forced to withdraw the nomination.142

From this point forward, Malian kept a 
low profile. We know that he was divorced by 
1935, but only because of the activities of his 
former wife.143 He continued to engage in a 

small law practice,144 and in 1932 was sued 

for $ 10,425 by a real estate agent for allegedly 
backing out of an agreement to sign a ten-year 
lease at the Army and Navy Hotel.145 He died 

of a heart attack at the age of sixty-three in 
1955, and left neither a widow nor children. 
His obituary made no mention of his service 
with Justice McReynolds.146

T. Ellis Allison was bom in Washington, 

D.C. in 1894, and graduated from the City’s 
Business High School in 1910. Before 
coming to McReynolds he had been a 
secretary and clerk to the District of Columbia 
referee of bankruptcy, librarian of the D.C. 
Bar Association, and secretary to the chief 
judge of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 
District of Columbia Circuit. During this 
period he attended evening classes at
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Ge o rge to wn, re ce iving his law de gre e and 
adm is s io n to the bar in 1918.147 Allison’ s 

tenure with McReynolds was rather curious. 

He began clerking for the Justice in the midst 
of the 1916 Term, on March 1, 1917. His 

employment with McReynolds was terminat­
ed in late August of that year, at which point 
he began a ten-day stint as a stenographer with 
the Justice Department. On September 11 of 
that year he resumed his duties with McRey­

nolds, and stayed with the Justice throughout 
the 1917 Term and for most of the 1918 Term. 

He resigned his post on April  20, 1919 to take 
a job as an attorney in the Bureau of Internal 

Revenue, though his employment record 

reveals that he had initiated the application 
process several months earlier.148 That Octo­

ber he was married to Minnie Esther Gorman 

of Washington, D.C. The couple had no 
children. Allison stayed with the Bureau until 
1925,149 at which time he entered private 

practice. One of his principal clients was the 
Laundrymen’ s Association of Washington, 
and his practice focused principally on trade 

association and federal taxation issues. 

McReynolds undoubtedly beamed with pride 
when Allison returned to government service 
in 1934 as an assistant examiner and later a 

unit chief for the National Recovery Admin­

istration. Though his employment with the 
N.R.A. lasted only six months, he then 
returned to the Treasury Department, where 

he helped to draft other welfare legislation, 
including the Social Security Act, which 
Justice McReynolds maintained was unconsti­
tutional. Allison would remain at Treasury for 

the remainder of his highly successful career, 
which earned him the Department’s Albert 

Gallatin Award for distinguished service. He 
retired in 1959, and died in Washington in 
1974 at the age of eighty-one.150

Harold Lee George clerked for McRey­
nolds from April 23 to August 13, 1919, and 
again from April 12 to June 27, 1920.151 Bom 

in Somerville, Massachusetts in 1893, George 
received his LL.B. from the National Univer­
sity in 1917.152 The United States entered the

War shortly after his graduation, however, 

and George attended Officer’s Candidate 

Camp at Fort Myer, Virginia and was 
commissioned a second lieutenant in the 

Cavalry later that year. Because the Aviation 

Section of the Signal Reserve Corps needed 
pilots, George retrained as an airman and saw 
action in France as a bombardier.153 Some­

where along the line he also managed to 

win a national competition in typing and 
shorthand,154 which must have appealed to 

McReynolds, who insisted that all of his 
clerks be equipped with these skills.155

Here, however, there is an interesting 

lacuna in George’s resume. His entry in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ho 

W as W ho in  A m erica makes no mention of his 
clerkship with McReynolds.156 Neither did a 

1942 W ash ing ton P ost profile of George, 
which instead skipped ahead from the end of 
the War to 1920, when George “ threw his law 
books in an attic trunk and entered the Regular 
Army from the Reserve.” 157 Perhaps it was 

his experience with the Justice that led him to 
this decision. George went on to enjoy a 
distinguished career as an officer.158 He was 

promoted to major in 1936, and as a lieutenant 
colonel in August of 1941 he and three other 

officers devised plans for American air power 
during World War II.159 By 1942, George had 

risen to the rank of brigadier general in charge 
of the Air  Transport Command.160 The P ost 

profile romantically described him as having 

“ the combined characteristics of a big airline 
executive and a stunt flyer,” and as 
“ [djramatic, with courageous vision and the 
hard-headed ability to implement his 
dreams.” 161 He attained the rank of lieutenant 

general in 1944, and by the conclusion of his 

military career in 1946 he had been awarded 

the Air  Medal, the Distinguished Service Medal, 
the Distinguished Flying Cross, and the Legion 
of Merit.162 He then moved to southern 

California, where he became an executive 

with a series of companies in the airline and 
aerospace industries, including Hughes Air ­
craft.163 He was elected to the Beverly Hills 

City Council and served two terms as the
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City’s mayor. He died in 1986 at the age of 

ninety-three, survived by his wife and four 
children.164

General George’s otherwise sparkling 
resume contained at least two unfortunate 
incidents. In September of 1926 then-Lieu- 

tenant George broke several ribs crashing his 
plane near Aberdeen, Maryland.165 Two years 

later his wife sued him for divorce after he told 
her that “he loved another woman toward 

whom he felt duty bound to provide a home, 
while she, his wife, would have to live 
elsewhere.” She alleged that Lieutenant 

George had begun to treat her cruelly shortly 

after their marriage in 1917, and that the 

couple had become estranged after he in­
formed his wife of the other woman. She had 
later returned to live with her husband, but 
“again left him after his declaration of love for 
the other woman.” 166 This was undoubtedly 

an unpleasant episode that George wished to 
forget; but if  his entry in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ho W as W ho is any 
indication, his clerkship with McReynolds 
also was not an experience that he recalled 
fondly.

Norman Burke Frost clerked for McRey­
nolds for three days during April of the 1919 
Term; for the f ill 11920 Term, during which he 

was treated for chronic indigestion; and for six 
weeks in the midst of the 1921 Term.167 Frost 

was bom in Montgomery County, Maryland, 
in 1897, and attended the Washington 

Preparatory School. In 1918 he married 
Maty Demova King, with whom he had three 
children. Frost served in the American 
Expeditionary Forces in 1918 and 1919, and 

was attached to the staff of the Ambassador 

Henry White at the Paris Peace Commission. 
He took his L.L.B. from Georgetown in 1921, 
and was admitted to the D.C. Bar in 1922. He 

was associate counsel to the London Landreau 
Arbitration between the United States and 
Peru in 1922.168 Later that year he formed the 

Washington firm of Frost and Towers with 
Frederic Towers.169 The firm, which expand­

ed to a five-lawyer practice in 1955, counted 
among its clients President Abraham’s Lin­

coln’s son Robert Todd Lincoln, the former 
Secretary of War who had helped Frost to get 
started in practice and with whom Frost 

shared a close social friendship; the estate of 

Robert Todd Lincoln’s widow and the 

daughter of Senator James Harlan, Mary 
Harlan Lincoln; and Sperry Rand, Textron, 
and other Fortune 500 companies.170 His 
practice ranged from tax matters171 to 
government contracts,172 patents,173 torts,174 

workers’ compensation,175 and a variety of 
contract, corporate, and trust matters.176 Frost 

continued to enjoy a successful Washington 
law practice with Frost, Towers, Hayes &  
Beck until his death at the age of seventy-five 

in 1973, the year that the firm merged with 
Baker &  Hostetler.177

One of Frost’s more interesting negotia­
tions occurred early in his practice. In October

N orm an B . Frost w as  M cR eynolds ’ clerk  tor O ctober Term  

1920, but he also  filled in on  tw o  other occasions w hen  

the Justice needed him — A pril 9  to A pril 11,1920, and  

January 19 to M arch 1, 1922. H e w ent on to enjoy a 

successfu l career w ith the W ashington firm of Frost, 

Tow ers, H ayes &  B eck.
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o f 1927, a little over a year after Robert Todd 
Lincoln’s death, Mary Harlan Lincoln was 

contacted by Myra Pritchard and her attorney. 

Ms. Pritchard was the granddaughter of Myra 

Bradwell, the famous editor of the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC h icago 

L ega l N ew s who had been denied admission 
to the Illinois bar because of her sex, and her 
husband, Judge James Bradwell. Ms. Pritch­
ard had in her possession several letters that 
Mary Todd Lincoln had written to the 

Bradwells in the 1870s, before, during, and 
after Mrs. Lincoln’s commitment to an insane 
asylum by her son, Robert. Relying upon 

these missives, Ms. Pritchard had produced 
for intended serial publication a 111 -page 

manuscript entitled “The Dark Days of 
Abraham Lincoln’s Widow, as Revealed by 

Her Own Letters.”  Mrs. Lincoln’s letters from 
this period did not reveal the former first lady 
at her best, and they contained some rather 
unfavorable recriminations against Robert. 

Mary Harlan Lincoln, who objected to the 
publication of the content of some of the more 
inflammatory letters, engaged the assistance 
of Frost and Towers. The young attorneys 

were aware that their friend and former client 
Robert Todd Lincoln had attempted to collect 
and destroy all of the letters that his mother 

had written relating to her mental illness. 
After meeting with Ms. Pritchard and review­

ing the materials, Frost and Towers success­

fully  negotiated the purchase of the letters and 
the manuscript, along with a non-publication 
agreement, for $22,500.178 Mary Harlan 
Lincoln apparently destroyed the originals,179 

but Towers retained copies, which were 
discovered in a steamer trunk nearly eighty 
years later.180

In 1943 and 1944, Frost was the chairman 
of the United States Air  Force Price Adjust­
ment Board, and in 1944 he was honored with 
the Exceptional Civilian Service award. He 

served as an officer or director of several 

corporations, and was a trustee of two 

charitable foundations. Frost was an Episco­
palian, a Mason, and a member of several 
professional organizations. He was also a

member of several clubs, including Burning 
Tree and Chevy Chase,181 and was an avid 
golfer.182 Indeed, in 1945 he secured a patent 

for his own design of a golf glove for players 
using the Varden grip.183 And this was neither 

his only nor his most sophisticated invention. 

Five years earlier, he and Harry F. Vickers of 
Detroit had secured a patent for an Apparatus 
for Controlling the Movement of Heavy 

Masses, such as machine tool tables, guns, 
gun turrets, and torpedo tubes.184 In 1951, 

Frost’s daughter Norma married Wilson 
Patrick Hurley, the son of President Hoover’s 
Secretary of War Patrick J. Hurley.185 His 

daughter Betty married Webb Cook Hayes III,  

the great-grandson of President Rutherford B. 
Hayes.186 Both Frost’s W ash ing ton P ost 

obituary and his entry in W ho W as W ho 
mention his service as a law clerk at the U.S. 
Supreme Court, but neither makes any 
mention of Justice McReynolds.187

The 1921 Term was a banner year for 
McReynolds: including Frost, he appears to 
have gone through four clerks during the 
course of that term. Carlyle Baer attended 
James Milliken University in Decatur, Illi ­
nois, and worked as the assistant to the district 
superintendent of the Public Service Corpo­

ration of Northern Illinois from 1910 to 1915. 

That year he resigned to attend law school at 
Cumberland University, from which he 
received his law degree in 1916.188 During 

World War I he served as an ensign in the 
Navy.189 In 1917 he was made an honorary 

consul of Haiti, in which post he served from 
Chicago.190 During this same period he also 

worked briefly as a legal research assistant to 
Glenn Plumb, counsel to the Brotherhood of 
Railway Engineers,191 and as Chicago’s 

Commissioner of Deeds.192 In 1919 Baer 

began working as an adviser to the Bulgarian 
envoy to the United States in Washington.193 

He left that post to join McReynolds, whom 

he served for just over two months, beginning 

November 15, 1921 and resigning effective 

January 18, 1922. He then returned to service 
with the Bulgarian envoy.194 By 1925 he had
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be co m e the law librarian o f the Sy dne y Fu lle r 

Sm ith Library o f the Sigm a Nu Phi le gal 
frate rnity in Was hingto n.195 He held the post 
at least until 1936.196 In 1933 he was named 

honorary consul of Bulgaria,197 and in 1937 

he was elevated to honorary consul general. 
He served in that capacity until 1941, when 
the circumstances of the Second World War 
required his resignation.198 For this service he 

was decorated by Bulgaria’s King Boris 
III. 199 During World War II, Baer went to 

work for the Justice Department as a special 
inspector in the Immigration and Naturaliza­
tion Service. He later worked as a research 
analyst and legal assistant in the Department’s 
Lands Division,200 and remained with the 
Justice Department until his retirement.201 He 

was secretary-treasurer of the American 
Society of Bookplate Collectors and Design­
ers, and published several books on the 
subject.202 He died in Washington at the 
age of seventy-nine in 1969.203

Andrew P. Federline, who worked as a 
stenographic clerk for McReynolds from 
March 1 to June 30, 1922,204 was a member 

of the District of Columbia Bar and of the Bar 
of the Supreme Court of the United States.205 

Early in his career he served as secretary to 
Robert Todd Lincoln.206 For a number of 

years he was legislative and legal counsel to 
the American Automobile Association, and in 
the 1920s then-Secretary of Commerce 

Herbert Hoover tapped Federline to serve as 
the secretary of the committee charged with 
drafting the Uniform Vehicle Code.207 In the 

1940s and 1950s, he worked as Washington 

counsel to organizations representing sales­
men and saleswomen.208 By 1956 Federline 

was working as a highway safety consul­
tant,209 and he published a fascinating article 

on the need for standardization in truck and 

truck body lighting in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP ow er W agon : T he 
M oto r T ruck Jou rna l2 '^ He died in Bethesda, 
Maryland, in May of 1977.211

Tench Tilghman Marye, also a member 
of the storied McReynolds Class of 1921,212 

was a descendant of Lieutenant Colonel

Tench Tilghman, who served as an aide to 

General George Washington during the 
Revolutionary War. He was bom in Wash­
ington in 1889,213 graduated from its Western 

High School in 1905, took his A.B. from 
George Washington University in 1909,214 

and received his L.L.B. from Georgetown in
1911.215 From 1909 to 1912 he worked as a 

stenographer for a Washington law firm 

before leaving to practice law from 1912 to
1917.216 He also served as an instructor in 

law at Georgetown from 1915 until 1917, 
when he enlisted as a private in the Marine 
Corps Reserve and was later commissioned as 
a second lieutenant in the Navy’s Office of the 
Judge Advocate General.217 After his honor­

able discharge in 1919, he worked for a year 
as a legal assistant to the general counsel of 
the War Finance Corporation218 before mov­

ing to San Francisco to work for less than a 

year in the editorial department of the 
Bancroft-Whitney legal publishing compa­
ny.219 His tenure with McReynolds lasted 

only three months, from March 1, 1922 to 
May 31 of that year.220 It appears that he was 

hired only to complete the 1921 Term, and 

either was not asked or did not agree to remain 
longer. After leaving McReynolds, Marye 
was admitted to the Supreme Court bar221 and 

returned to a small but active private practice 
representing clients in probate, property, 
employment, contract, and personal injury 
matters.222 In 1933, he married the former 

Delores Powell of Florence, South Carolina. 
Ms. Powell had been married twice before, 

and had two sons from those marriages. In 
early 1934, with sponsorship from Senator 

Harry Byrd and Representative Howard W. 

Smith, Marye joined fellow McReynolds 
alumnus T. Ellis Allison as an examiner in 
the Review Division of the National Recovery 

Administration, where he provided analyses 
of codes of fair competition and executive 
orders. Within months he would be promoted 
to unit chief of the division. In early 1936, 
Marye moved from the defunct N.R.A. to the 

Social Security Board and then to the Federal
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Se cu rity Age ncy , whe re he re m aine d u ntil the 
s u m m e r o f 1943. He then was called back to 

active duty with the Army, which he served in 
London and later in occupied Berlin as an 
attorney under Charles Fahy in the Legal 

Division of the War Department’s Office of 

Military Government (OMGUS). After his 
discharge at the rank of lieutenant colonel in 
the summer of 1947, he remained in Germany 
as a civilian judge trying civil and criminal 

cases in a special tribunal of OMGUS, and 
later for the State Department’s High Com­

mission of Germany (HICOG). Somewhere 
along the line he had his left thumb amputat­
ed.223 The widely traveled Marye spoke and 

read five languages—French, Spanish, Ger­

man, Italian, and Russian—and he was very 
keen to remain in Europe after his term of 
service with HICOG concluded in 1952. 
Unfortunately, that could not be arranged, 
so the Maryes returned to the United States 
and settled in Glen Ellyn, Illinois, where 

Tench worked as a hearing examiner for the 
Social Security Administration until his 
retirement in March of 195 9.224 They then 

returned to Washington, where Tench worked 

for the Legal Aid Society, mostly as a 
volunteer.225 The Maryes retired to Mel­

bourne, Florida in April of 1971, and were 
killed in a single-car accident in Rowland, 
North Carolina that December.226

The Later  C lerks

John T. Fowler, Jr., clerked for McRey­

nolds from the 1922 Term through the 1926 
Term.227 Fowler was a native Washingto­
nian228 who attended Strayer’s Business 

College and married Cora Wood in 1912 at 
the age of twenty-two.229 He worked for the 

Southern Railway Company in various ca­
pacities from 1908 to 1921, excepting the 

years 1918 to 1920, when the Railway was 
under the control of the U.S. Railroad 
Administration and Fowler worked as the 
Administration’s assistant chief in the Pas-

A  native  W ash ing ton ian ,  John  T. Fow ler,  Jr.,  c lerked  fo r  

M cR eyno lds  from  the  1922  Term  th rough  the  1926  Term .  

In 1934 Fow ler  (p ic tu red)  becam e  an atto rney  in  the  

office  of the ass is tan t  so lic ito r  genera l,  and  jo ined  

Stanley F. R eed and Paul Freund in co-authoring the  

petition for a w rit of certiorari in one of the Gold Clause 

Cases.

senger Rate Department.230 He took his law 

degree from Georgetown in 1921.231 Later 

that year he entered practice with Howard 
Boyd and Charles Galloway,232 where he 

represented a twenty-five-year-old bricklayer 

named Albert E. Pickles, who had “soured on 
his name”  and wished to change his surname 

to “Sickles.”  Mr. Pickles’s petition stated that 
“his real name is a great source of annoyance 
not to mention material for byplay.” 233 

Fowler was admitted to the Supreme Court 
Bar in 1925,234 and after his clerkship with 

McReynolds he took a job in the Admiralty 
Division of the Department of Justice.235 In 

1932 he was appointed special assistant to the 
Attorney General.236 In 1934 he became an 

attorney in the office of the assistant solicitor 
general,237 and joined Stanley Reed and Paul 

Freund in co-authoring the petition for a writ
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o f ce rtio rari in o ne o f the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG o ld C lause 
C ases,238 the u ltim ate go ve rnm e nt victo ry 

in which cau s e d McRe y no lds to e xclaim fro m 
the be nch, “This is Nero at his worst. The 
Constitution is gone.”239 During his career 

with the Justice Department, Fowler served as 

acting assistant solicitor general on several 
occasions.240 He retired from the Department 

due to illness after more than three decades of 
service in 1952, by which time he had become 
the Department’s chief opinion attorney and 
editor of the Official Opinions of the Attorney 
General of the United States.241 He was an 

active Mason,242 and volunteered with the 
Red Cross.243 Fowler retired to Denver, where 

he died at the age of sixty-three in 1953. He 
left a widow and two children.244

Chester Gray, another McReynolds 
short-timer, clerked for the Justice for just 

one month during the 1925 Term. Gray was 

bom in 1898 in Pittsburgh, where he attended 
public schools and Martin’s Business Col­

lege. He began his work life as an office boy 
for the Carnegie Steel Company, becoming 
proficient in shorthand by the age of sixteen. 

Following his service as a clerk in the Office 
of Naval Intelligence during World War I, 

ironically enough, he served for nearly 
two years as confidential secretary to then- 
assistant secretary of the Navy and future 
McReynolds nemesis Franklin D. Roosevelt. 

He then worked as a secretary for the Treasury 
Department for almost two years and for the 

Department of Justice for one year. Gray 
attended the Emerson Institute in Washington 
and received his law degree in 1925 from the 

National University Law School, where the 

editors of the yearbook predicted that he 
would become “Dean of Northwestern Uni­
versity.” He was admitted to the District of 

Columbia bar later that year. Gray’s tenure 
with McReynolds lasted only from February 
25, 1926 to March 23, 1926. His departure 

before the conclusion of the 1925 Term 
suggests that the position with the Justice may 
not have been a good fit. After leaving 
McReynolds, Gray married the former Ruth

Hungerford of Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania, 
and worked briefly in private practice before 

joining the Washington, D.C. Corporation 
Counsel’s office in 1928. He worked contin­

uously in that office for the remainder of his 
career. By 1938 he had risen to the position of 
chief trial counsel, and in 1956 he became 

the District of Columbia’s chief legal officer. 
He died of a coronary thrombosis at the 
age of sixty-seven in 1965. He was a Fellow 

of the American College of Trial Lawyers 
and a member of many professional associ­
ations. A Methodist and a Mason, Gray was 

survived by his wife, a daughter, and two 
grandchildren.245

At Gray’s death District Commissioner 

Walter N. Tobriner remarked, “ ‘The District 
of Columbia will feel a deep loss in 
the passing of Chester Gray. . . . For the 

greater portion of his life he served the city 
with an unflagging zeal and tremendous 
learning in the law. . . . The Commissioners 

have lost a most valuable servant and the 
community a protector of the rights of all.’” 246 

The W ash ing ton P ost praised Gray’s “ex­
traordinary tact and patience” as “ indispens­
able assets,”  and opined that “Chester Gray’s 
long and dedicated service to the District of 

Columbia richly deserved”  Tobriner’s “warm 
tribute.”247 Gray consistently received strong 

performance evaluations, which characterized 
him as “a prodigious worker”  of “exceptional 
competence” and “devotion to duty” who 
handled even the most difficult cases with 
“outstanding” “diligence, tact, and profes­

sional skill.” He also was credited with 
inculcating “high standards of practice of 

the law and public service” among his 
subordinates while engendering “extremely 

high” morale among his staff. A memoran­
dum in his employment file observed that he 

had “guided the District of Columbia through 

many stormy incidents, untied numerous legal 
knots, drafted much important legislation, 
handled major litigation of the community, 
and ably and brilliantly defended in court the 

District, its officers and employees.” The
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M aurice  J. M ahoney  c lerked  fo r  M cR eyno lds  fo r  seven  

Term s  (1927-1933), m aking  h im  h is  longest-serv ing  

c lerk .  B orn  in the sm all  tow n  of B ly the,  G eorg ia ,  

M ahoney's Southern upbringing m ay have helped him  

to get along  w ith the K entucky-born Justice.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

m e m o randu m p rais e d Gray fo r driving 
lo an s harks o u t o f the Dis tr ict, and fo r 

co ntr ibu ting “substantially to the legal posi­
tion taken in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB erm an v . P arker ,'’ ’ the Supreme 

Court’s landmark 1954 eminent domain 
decision.248

Not everyone took such a favorable view 

of Gray. Earlier in 1965, the local ACLU had 

called for Gray’s removal over dissatisfaction 
with his enforcement of the District’s fair 
housing law,249 which Gray had drafted.250 

Critics also charged that the District’s fair 
employment law, drafted in part by Gray, was 

insufficiently tough, and denounced his 
failure to pursue injunctive relief rather than 
exclusively criminal penalties against viola­
tors.251 George Washington University Pro­

fessor Monroe Freedman mounted a bumper- 
sticker campaign calling for Gray’s ouster.252 

When Tobriner was named president of the 

District’s Board of Commissioners in 1961, 
“ the Democratic Central Committee asked 

him to fire . . . Gray, considered by some

Democrats to be too reactionary for the 
1960s.”253 At the same time, the House of 

Representatives District Committee, headed 

by Democrat John L. McMillan of South 
Carolina, launched an investigation into 

whether the District Commissioners had 
exceeded their authority by banning racial 

discrimination in housing, employment, and 
at barbershops.254 Each of these prohibitions 

had been enacted based on Gray’s legal 

opinions that the Commissioners in fact 
possessed such authority.255

Gray’s obituary in the W ash ing ton P ost 
opined that it was “ ironic” that “most of the 
criticism directed against Mr. Gray’s office in 

recent months has been mounted by civil  
rights groups charging that the office drags its 

feet on regulatory interpretations in the civil  
rights field,” because Gray’s associates 
thought that he would “be longest remem­
bered ... for his work with the so-called ‘ lost’ 

segregation laws before the United States 
Supreme Court.”256

The litigation referred to, D istr ic t o f 
C o lum b ia v. John R . T hom pson C o., involved 
the questions of a) whether the Legislative 

Assembly of the District of Columbia had 
been authorized by the Organic Act of 1871 to 
enact an 1873 law prohibiting certain busi­
nesses from refusing to serve persons on the 
basis of race, and b) whether that law had 

survived subsequent enactments, including 

congressional statutes reorganizing the Dis­

trict’s government. The case was a prosecu­
tion by information against the Thompson 
restaurant chain, which refused to serve 

African-Americans. The Municipal Court 
had quashed the information on the ground 

that the Act had been repealed by subsequent 
legislation, but the Municipal Court of 
Appeals had reversed on that count. On 
cross-appeal the Circuit Court of Appeals for 
the District of Columbia held that the Act had 

been repealed and that the information should 

be dismissed. Chester Gray argued the case 
for the District before the Supreme Court on 

certio ra r i, and a unanimous Bench, Justice
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Jacks o n no t p articip ating, he ld that the law 
was valid and s till in e ffe ct.257

The ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP ost obituary remarked that “Mr. 

Gray argued the validity of the Tost’ laws 
and was vindicated in the landmark opinion 

that reversed the United States Court of 
Appeals,”258 and a memorandum in Gray’s 

employment file credited Gray with taking up 

“ the cudgels against discrimination.”  

“He researched the law, concluded that the 
enactments of 1872 and 1873 prohibiting 
discrimination in restaurants were still valid, 
though they had lain dormant for seventy-five 

years, and fought through all the courts. . . . 

Thus, Mr. Gray, through persistent effort, 
made the first great contribution to 
the striking down of race barriers in the 
Nation’s Capital.”259 When Gray died, the 

W ash ing ton P ost editorialized that “ [w]hat 

the city needs ... is precisely the kind of legal 
pioneering Chester Gray displayed more 
than a decade ago when he discovered and 
disinterred and breathed life into those Tost’ 
segregation laws in the Thompson Restaurant 
case.”260

Philip Elman, who argued the case for the 

United States as am icus cu r iae , offered a 
different assessment. In an interview pub­

lished in 1987, Elman recalled that “Vernon 
West, corporation counsel of the District of 
Columbia, and his deputy, Chester Gray, were 

old-line southerners who didn’t believe in the 

case and had brought it only in response to a 
lot of pressure. They were perfectly willing  to 
drop the case after losing it in the court of 
appeals.” Elman reported that “Somebody, 

probably [Attorney General Herbert] Brow­
nell, called the corporation counsel of the 

District of Columbia and said, ‘We want you 
to file a petition for certio ra r i. ’ This was a new 
administration; the Eisenhower group had just 

come in. The D.C. officials weren’ t sure what 
was going to happen to them, so they were 

quick to do what they were told to do by the 
new Attorney General.” Elman’s argument 
before the Court “went very well,” Elman 
reported, and his boss was “pleased with the

way I handled it.” But “Chester Gray, who 

argued for the District of Columbia,” Elman 

concluded, “didn’ t make a very strong 
argument.” 261

Maurice J. Mahoney holds the McRey­
nolds clerkship endurance record. Mahoney’s 
tour of duty began with the 1927 term and, 
with the exception of a brief stint at the 

Department of Justice in the summer of 1929, 
ran through the 1933 term.262 Mahoney’s 

southern roots may have helped in his 
relations with the Justice. He was bom in 
1899 and raised in Blythe, Georgia, where he 

was educated in the public schools. Following 

his graduation from high school in 1915, 

Mahoney remained in his hometown to work 
as a clerk, telegraph operator, and station 

agent for the Georgia & Florida Railroad. In 
1917 he moved to Macon to attend Mercer 
University and to enroll in shorthand and 
bookkeeping courses at Georgia-Alabama 
Business College. He then relocated to 

Savannah to work as a clerk, stenographer, 
and secretary in the office of the president of 

the Central of Georgia Railway. In 1921 

Mahoney departed for Washington, D.C., 
where for the next five years he worked as an 
accountant and assistant to the Auditor of the 
District’s Supreme Court, which in 1936 was 
renamed the District Court for the District of 

Columbia. During this time he took evening 
law classes at Georgetown, from which he 

received his law degree in 1925. He then 
practiced law in Washington for two years 
before joining McReynolds for the 1927 

Term. After two terms with McReynolds, 
Mahoney left to join the staff of the Admiralty 
Division at the Department of Justice, but 

within a month he resigned and “ returned to 
Justice McReynolds at his urgent request.” 263 

Following his clerkship, Mahoney worked 

for several years as a highly regarded attorney 

in the Tax Division of the Department 
of Justice.264 In 1943, he formed the firm of 

Mahoney & Mahoney with his brother 
Lawrence, who headed the firm ’s Atlanta 
office while Maurice took charge of the
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Was hingto n branch.265 One of Mahoney’s 

largest clients was the Copperweld Steel 
Company,266 which he served as assistant 

treasurer,267 and in 1949 he became the 
company’s Executive Secretary.268 He held 
this position until his retirement in 1964,269 

though he continued to practice law until 
at least 1976.270 Mahoney died in 1978, 

leaving a widow, two children, and nine 
grandchildren.271

J. Allan Sherier clerked for McReynolds 
during the 1935 Term,272 immediately after 

taking his L.L.B. from George Washington

A  native  of  U tah  and  the  son  of  an  outspoken  advocate  of  

po lygam y,  M ilton  S. M usser  c lerked  fo r  M cR eyno lds  

during  the  1938-39  Term s.  H e jo ined  the  A rm y C orps of 

Engineers in 1941, supervising in ternal security at 

construction sites in the W estern H em isphere. In 1943  

he w as m oved to the office of the Inspector G eneral, 

w here he conducted special investigations involving, 

am ong others, alleged fraud in the construction of the  

Pan A m erican highw ay. A fter he had established a law  

practice in Los A ngeles, the A rm y recalled M usser from  

the R eserves in 1951 to active duty as an investigator 

w ith the Inspector G eneral. H eadquartered in Panam a, 

he conducted investigations throughout C entral and  

South A m erica.

University Law School. Sherier was a fourth- 
generation Washington native.273 His father, 

Joseph T. Sherier, practiced law in Wash­
ington for fifty-five  years before passing away 

in 1960 at the age of seventy-nine. The senior 
Sherier had attended Columbian University 

Law School at night while working a day job 
as secretary to American Federation of Labor 
president Samuel Gompers.274 Allan learned 

secretarial skills at Stayer’s Business Col­
lege, and worked as his father’s secretary and 

law clerk while attending law school. After his 
clerkship with McReynolds, Allan went into a 
general law practice with his father at the 
small Washington firm of Leckie & Sherier, 

where periodic Martindale-Hubbell listings 
indicate that Allan retained his affiliation from 
at least 1938 through 1955.275 He enlisted in 

the Naval Reserve as a chief yeoman in the 

Office of Naval Intelligence in January of 
1941, but received an inaptitude discharge 
within five months because he was “unable to 

adapt himself to naval discipline” and was 
“ temperamentally unsuited for military ser­
vice.” He re-entered private practice until 
1943, when he took a war service appointment 
as an attorney for the War Department’s 

Office of the Chief of Engineers. In 1944 he 
became dissatisfied with his position and 
resigned, explaining that “ I feel that my 

experience and educational background justi­
fy my seeking more important and suitable 

employment.” He obtained a transfer to the 

Legal Division of the Reconstruction Finance 

Corporation’s (RFC) Defense Plants Section, 
and remained as an attorney with the RFC 
until 1952. After a brief stint with the Small 
Defense Plants Administration, Sherier joined 

the legal office of the Small Business 
Administration (SBA) in 1953. Save for a 
hiatus to serve as general counsel to the House 

Small Business Committee in 1961 and 1962, 
he remained with the SBA until 1965. That 

October, Sherier resigned “ [t]o pursue the 

private practice of law or to become affiliated 

again with the legislative branch of the 
Federal Government.” Before the year was
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o u t the fifty -two -y e ar-o ld wo u ld m e e t an 

u ntim e ly e nd whe n he cho ke d to de ath while 
having a Friday dinne r at an Arlingto n 

re s tau rant. Twice divo rce d, he was s u rvive d 
by his third wife and two dau ghte rs .276

Milton Shipp Musser clerked for McRey­
nolds during the 1938 and 1939 Terms.277 

Musser came from an extraordinary family of 

polygamous members of the Church of Jesus 

Christ of Latter-day Saints. His grandfather, 
Amos Milton Musser, was bom in Lancaster 

County, Pennsylvania in 1830. Amos’s father 
died when Amos was two, leaving a widow 

and four young children. Amos’s mother, Ann 
Barr Musser, remarried and the family moved 

to Quincy, Illinois. It was there that Ann was 
converted to the Mormon faith, and after her 
second husband died, she took the family to 

the Mormon settlement of Nauvoo, Illinois in 
1846. By that time many of the Latter-day 

Saints had begun their westward journey, and 
Amos and his family, along with the other 
remaining Mormons, were driven across the 
Mississippi by an Illinois mob shortly after 
their arrival in Nauvoo. Amos worked as a 

clerk in an Eddysville, Iowa store for five 
years before being baptized and beginning his 
own trek to the Great Salt Basin in 1851.278

Amos arrived in Salt Lake City later that 
year at the age of twenty-one. He worked 
briefly as a clerk in the Church’s General 

Tithing Office before embarking in 1852 on a 
five-year mission to India, during which he 

traveled widely. Upon his return to Utah he 
became intensely involved in the spiritual and 
temporal affairs of his people, serving in a 

variety of leadership positions throughout the 
late nineteenth century. He was a prolific 
writer and publisher, and a staunch defender 

in speech, writing, and deed of the principle 

of plural marriage. He married four wives, 
with whom he had twenty-six children, and 

served a six-month sentence for unlawful 

cohabitation in 1885. When he died in 1909 
he left two widows, sixteen surviving chil­
dren, twenty-two grandchildren, and four 
great-grandchildren.279

Milton’s father was Joseph White 

Musser. Joseph, who pursued a struggling 

business attempting to develop oil and gas 
properties, was a prominent polygamist long 

after the Church had formally renounced the 
practice in the 1890 Woodruff Manifesto. 

This husband to four wives claimed that high 
officials of the Church had encouraged him 
to practice polygamy in order to keep it alive 

in the years following the issuance of the 
Manifesto. He openly advocated plural mar­
riage in the fundamentalist magazine, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT ru th , 
of which he was the publisher. His arrest by 

federal officers in 1944 led to a term in prison. 
Joseph remained convinced throughout his 

life that his advocacy and practice of plural 
marriage would be justified, in heaven if  
not on earth. His personal papers are said to 

depict “a religious zealot, a loving father who 

regretted his absence from home, a tender and 
apologetic husband, a hard-working business­
man, and a dreamer.”  He died in 1954.280

Milton ’s mother was Ellis Shipp Musser, 
whose own mother was the well-known 

Dr. Ellis Reynolds Shipp, the first female 

physician in Utah. Early in the early twentieth 
century the younger Ellis moved to Heber 
City, Utah, where she taught school. She 
met Joseph there, and their courtship began. 
They engaged in a substantial correspondence 

before Ellis reached a firm decision to enter 
into a polygamous marriage with Joseph. 
Their correspondence, which began shortly 

after their meeting and continued until 
Joseph’s death, was often addressed with 

code names such as Ruth and Samuel or Child 
and Guide. Later in life Ellis expressed regrets 
about her polygamous union. It had deprived 

her of the steady companionship of a husband, 
she said, and her children of the presence 

of their father. As the nominal head of four 

households, Joseph was constantly shuttling 
from one home to another. His leadership of a 
fundamentalist religious sect called for him to 
preach and publish tracts. These tasks also 
took time away from his family, as did his 

prison term. And his unsuccessful efforts to
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p lace his fam ily o n s e cu re financial fo o ting 
als o ne ce s s itate d a gre at de al o f trave l. The 

fam ily’s financial situation required other 
sources of income, and, with five children 

to raise, Ellis rose to the challenge. At a time 
when comparatively few women entered 
business, she earned extra income as an 
insurance agent. Her success enabled her to 
support two of her sons on Church missions 
and to help her children through school.281

In 1944, the year of Joseph’s arrest, 

Ellis was excommunicated by the Mormon 
Church. Though she never lost her faith, this 
shocking experience embittered her toward 

plural marriage, and toward what she felt was 

hypocrisy on the part of some Church officials 
who had, she claimed, accepted her tithes and 
the missionary labors of her sons while fully  
aware that she was a plural wife, yet never 
rallied to her support when the family was in 
need.282

Ellis was an avid proponent of higher 
education. She received a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from the University of Utah in 1907. In 
her later life she took courses at the University 

of California at Berkeley, and at the age of 

seventy she was the oldest student at the 
University of Utah. She took great pride and 

pleasure in the accomplishments of her 
children.283

Her son Milton was bom in Salt Lake 
City in 1911, and graduated from Latter-day 
Saints High School. Milton also attended LDS 
Junior College and LDS Business College, 
where he learned shorthand284—a necessity 

for a McReynolds clerk285—and business 

fundamentals. In 1930, he began a two-year 

Church mission in the British Isles, working 
in his second year in the European Mission 

Office in Liverpool. Upon his return to the 
United States, Musser matriculated at George 
Washington University, where he received 

first his bachelor’s degree, and then his law 
degree in 1938. He served on the staff of the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
G eorge W ash ing ton L aw R ev iew and was a 

member of Sigma Chi, from which he 

received the Balfour Province Award as

“ the most representative undergraduate” in 

the Fraternity’s Eastern Province, “ In token of 
his excellence in scholarship, personality, 
Fraternity service and student activity.” In 

1932, Musser was employed as a secretary 
and clerk to the Reconstruction Finance 
Corporation, and in 1933 and 1934 he worked 
as a legislative researcher on the staff of Utah 
Senator William H. King, who had defeated 

George Sutherland for the seat in 1916. From 
1934 to 1938, Musser served as a law clerk to 
District of Columbia municipal court judge 
Nathan Cayton.286

It was at this point that Musser went to 
work for McReynolds for two terms.287 One 

might think that a promotion from clerk to a 

municipal court judge to clerk for a Supreme 
Court Justice would merit notice. But young 

Musser found the experience so distasteful 
that it is not even mentioned in the Biographi­
cal Note to the Musser Family Papers Finding 
Aid at the Utah Historical Society.288 On 

April 18, 1940, fellow McReynolds clerk 
John Knox wrote in his diary that he had 
received “a long and confidential letter”  from 
Gertrude Jenkins, Justice Harlan Fiske 

Stone’s secretary. “Concerning my old boss, 
Justice McReynolds, Gertrude wrote: ‘He 

certainly is a mess.... Musser hates him and is 
leaving the end of this year.’” 289

After a year of practice with the 
Washington firm of Roberts & McInnis, 

Musser enlisted in the Army. He served on 
active duty from April of 1941 to November 
of 1945, rising to the rank of lieutenant 

colonel. He began with the Army Corps of 
Engineers, supervising internal security at 

construction sites in the western hemisphere. 

In 1943 he was moved to the office of the 
Inspector General, where he conducted 

special investigations involving, among 
others, alleged fraud in the construction of 
the Pan American highway.290 After his 

release from active duty, Musser settled in 
southern California. He worked for a year as 

assistant trust counsel at the head office of 
Security-First National Bank, and then joined
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with Wo o dro w S. Wils o n to fo rm Mu s s e r &  
Wils o n, a p rivate law firm s p e cializing in 

tax, co rp o rate , p ro bate , and tru s t m atte rs . In 
1948 and 1949 he taught Securities and 
Conflict of Laws at Southwestern University 
Law School.291

The Army recalled Musser from the 

Reserves to active duty as an investigator 
with the Inspector General in 1951. Though 

his first assignments took him to various parts 
of the United States and Europe, he was later 
headquartered in Panama. From this office 
he conducted investigations throughout 
Central and South America, where he fre­
quently met with heads of government, their 
military chiefs, and the United States’ 
ambassadors and other consular officials. He 

received strong performance reviews and 

several commendations and awards, and 

was disappointed when his application for 
integration in the regular Army as a Colonel in 
the Judge Advocate General Corps was 

declined in 1958. Musser concluded his 
military career in 1959 with an assignment 

in Washington, D.C., whereupon he returned 
to private practice with Musser &  Wilson.292 

The firm ’s clients included Lawrence Welk, 
Liberace, and Betty White.293 Musser contin­
ued to practice until 1968.294 After Milton’s 
death in 198 6,295 his law partner Wilson 

married Milton ’s widow, Laveda, with whom 
Musser fathered three children.296

Musser’s successor, and McReynolds’ 
last clerk, was Raymond Wallace Radcliffe, 
who served for the portion of the 1940 Term 

preceding McReynolds’ retirement in Febru­
ary of 1941.297 Radcliffe was bom in 1914 in 

Washington, the son of Dr. and Mrs. Lewis 
Radcliffe. Dr. Radcliffe was a naturalist and 
conservationist who was serving as the 

director of the Oyster Institute of America 
at his death in 1950 at the age of seventy. His 
previous positions included deputy commis­

sioner of the Bureau of Fisheries and 
executive secretary of the Sponge Institute. 
His son Raymond graduated from the old 

Central High School, took a degree from

Strayer’s Business College in 1936, and 
earned his L.L.B. and L.L.M. from National 
University in 1941 and 1943, respectively. In 
1942 Raymond married Mary Denison Hope 

of Chattanooga, Tennessee. Before joining 

McReynolds, Raymond worked as a secretary 
for a variety of commercial concerns, a law 

clerk and stenographer for a Washington 
lawyer and the Public Roads Administration, 
an adjudicator for the Social Security Board, 
and an assistant clerk in the War Department. 
After McReynolds’ retirement Raymond 

returned to his position in the War Depart­
ment, resigning in November of 1941 to take a 
job as a personnel investigator for the Civil  

Service Commission. In 1946 he left to 
embark on a career as a real estate broker 
in Prince George’s County. In 1966 he 

established his own real estate firm, which 

he continued to operate until his death of 
a heart ailment at the age of sixty-seven in 
1982. Radcliffe was a member of the Izaak 

Walton League “Hall of Fame,” an honor 
bestowed upon him for his work in conserva­
tion. A widower, he left one daughter.298ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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E d ito r ’s N ote :zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA The his to ry o f G riggs v . D uke P ow er C o. (1971) and of the theory of 
disparate impact was told by the late Robert Belton in his book, T he C rusade fo r  E qua lity  
in  the W orkp lace: T he Griggs v. Duke Power Story , which Professor Stephen L. Wasby 
prepared for publication after Professor Belton’ s death in 2012. Material drawn from that book, 
published in 2014, is presented in this article, with a brief introduction and conclusion by 
Professor Wasby. Material reprinted with permission from the University Press of Kansas.

In troduction, by Stephen L. W asby

In 1971, the Supreme Court decided the 
first major case on the substance of Title VII  of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, G riggs v . D uke 
P ow er C o) As President Nixon’s appointee 

Warren Burger had replaced Earl Warren as 
Chief Justice and Burger’s friend Harry 
Blackmun had also joined the Court, observers 

had expected a withdrawal from the rulings 
supportive of civil rights complainants. They 

had not expected a ruling strongly supporting 
African-Americans’ claims of employment 
discrimination. Indeed, there was still a 

question as to what “discrimination” was 
precluded by the Civil Rights Act. Many 
thought that only direct, intentional discrimi­

nation—what has come to be called d ispa ra te 

trea tm en t—was all that was barred. However, 
with the passage of Title VII, employers 
ceased blatant discrimination of the “no Irish

need apply”  or “no Negroes except in the labor 

pool” variety. Instead they adopted employ­
ment tests and requirements that were racially 
(or gender) neutral on their face but which had 
a disproportionately negative impact on racial 

minorities and women: that is, these actions 
had a d ispa ra te im pact on racial minorities. 
G riggs is so significant because the Supreme 
Court went beyond disparate treatment to rule 
that, under Title VII, employers could not 

engage in actions that had a disparate impact 
on racial minorities. The theory of disparate 

impact adopted in G riggs has now had a 
history of more than forty years, with some 
Supreme Court rulings eroding the theory and 

with Congress enacting the Civil  Rights Act of 
1991 to restore the theory’s strength. Yet 

before that history took place, there had to be 
G riggs. The case was no accident. It was part 
of a planned litigation campaign against
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employment discrimination undertaken by the 

NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund 
(LDF). The story of how ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs came to be is 

worth telling, and Robert Belton, who played a 
major role in the litigation of the case, tells it 

here.

Griggs: The Factual Setting , by

R obert B elton

G riggs v. D uke P ow er C o. arose against 
the background of decades of widespread 
overt racial discrimination against African- 

Americans in the South in all facets of public 
and private activities: employment, educa­

tion, places of public accommodation, trans­
portation, and voting. G riggs involved the 
legality of racially neutral educational and 
testing practices. In 1990, it was reported that, 

for more than 100 years, employers had been 
requiring more and more education of 
applicants for an increasing number of 
jobs.2 And a 1963 study, published the year 

before the enactment of Title VII, reported 

that although the evidence was fragmentary, it 

was fairly clear that a large number of 
industrial firms in the United States used 
standardized tests in selecting, promoting, and 
transferring personnel.3

The G riggs case arose in context of the 

reality of the difficulty of effective enforce­
ment of Title VII  based solely on the disparate 
treatment theory, which requires proof of 
intent to discriminate The NAACP Legal 
Defense Fund’s litigation team which focused 

on employment discrimination cases was also 

concerned about trying disparate treatment 
cases before all-white juries. That team, along 
with the Equal Employment Opportunities 

Commission (EEOC) and law professors, 
struggled to articulate a theory of discrimina­
tion that was not based solely on discrimina­

tory intent and to find a remedy that would 
substantially expand the employment oppor­
tunities of African Americans.

The employer in G riggs, Duke Power 

Company, was a public utility corporation

that was engaged in the generation, transmis­
sion, distribution, and sale of electric power to 

the general public in North Carolina and 
South Carolina.4 Duke Power also supplied 

electric power to federal government agencies 

and, for that reason, was subject to an 
Executive Order that prohibited discrimina­
tion in employment. The plaintiffs were 
Willie  Griggs, James Tucker, Herman Martin, 
William Purcell, Clarence Jackson, Robert 

Jumper, Lewis Hairston, Jr., Willie Boyd, 

Junior Blackstock, John Hatchett, Clarence 
Purcell, Eddie Galloway, and Eddie Broad­
nax. All were employed and classified as 

laborers or semi-skilled laborers at Duke’s 
Dan River Steam Station, a steam generating 
facility in Eden, Rockingham County, North 

Carolina, that went into operation in late 1969 
and converted the energy in coal into 
electrical energy that Duke Power sold to its 
customers. Some of the plaintiffs, for exam­

ple, Willie  Boyd, who played the leading role 
in initiating action to challenge the company’s 

discriminatory practices and was the principal 
spokesperson for the plaintiffs, and William 
Purcell, had earlier worked as laborers in the 
construction of the Dan River facility; they 

became full-time employees after the facility 
became operational.5 Employees were not 

represented by a union.
At the time the LDF began to represent 

the plaintiffs, Duke Power owned and 
operated approximately 120 offices, branches, 
district offices, and power-generating plants 

throughout the two states and employed more 

than 5,600 persons in all of its facilities. The 
overwhelming majority of its African Ameri­

can employees were employed throughout all 
of its operations in semiskilled, unskilled, or 

service worker jobs, with African Americans 

filling  562 out of 600 such jobs. Duke Power 
employed ninety-five employees at the Dan 
River Station; of these ninety-five, fourteen 
were African American and eighty-one were 

white.
The Dan River station was divided for 

operational purposes into five departments:
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(1) Operations; (2) Maintenance; (3) Labora­
tory and Testing; (4) Coal Handling; and (5) 
Labor. The jobs of watchman, clerk, and 

storekeeper were in a miscellaneous category. 
There were approximately thirty-six job titles 
used at Dan River, but Duke Power had never 
prepared written job descriptions for any of 
them. Employees in all of the departments, 

except coal handling and labor, worked inside 

the plant, or in the “ inside”  departments. The 
employees who worked coal handling and 
labor generally worked outside, or in the 
“outside”  departments. The “ inside”  positions 
were reserved for white employees while both 

African-Americans and whites held “outside”  
positions.

The plaintiffs, held the least desirable and 
lowest-paid laborer positions, which in­
volved, among other things, janitorial duties 

throughout the Dan River facility and other 
menial and manual tasks, such as driving 

trucks or cleaning equipment and machines. 
The maximum wage earned by any of the 
plaintiffs, including some who had almost 

twenty years of service, was $1,645 per 
hour, whether or not they had a high school 
education. This maximum was lower than the 

minimum wage of $1,875 per hour Duke 
Power paid to any white employee, many of 
whom also did not have a high school 

education. Of the eighty-one white employ­
ees, only thirty-three, or forty-nine percent,

had finished high school. Of the fourteen 
African American employees, three, or twen­
ty-one percent, had finished high school.6 The 

wages earned by the plaintiffs were drastically 

lower than the wages paid to white employees 
with comparable seniority in the “ inside”  
departments, where the top pay was $3.18 per 
hour or more. After the effective date of Title 
VII, Duke Power also created a new job 

classification: auxiliary service man. This new 

job was established primarily for African 
American employees in the labor department 
who “exhibited . . . extraordinary skills,”  but 
no one held that position at the time the case 
went to trial in 1968.

Not only were jobs rigidly segregated by 
race but Duke Power also maintained racially 
segregated facilities such as locker rooms, 
showers, toilet facilities, and drinking foun­

tains at the Dan River station. The EEOC 

concluded in its investigation that the segre­
gated facilities for African American employ­
ees were located in a crowded filthy brick 

building by the railroad tracks at the base 
of the soft coal stock-pile. Locker rooms, 
drinking fountains, and showers for white 

employees, including those working in the 
coal-handling department, were located inside 
the main building. Duke Power made no effort 
to eliminate its racially segregated facilities 

until after the plaintiffs had filed their charge 
of unlawful employment discrimination with
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the EEOC, which they did on March 15,1966. 

The EEOC’s investigation team visited the 
Dan River facility on April  21,1966, to begin 

its investigations. Several days after the visit 
by the investigation team, Duke Power 
advised the EEOC that on April 28, 1966, 

all employees were assigned to the same 

locker room.
About ten years before the effective 

date of Title VII, or around 1955, Duke 
Power had instituted an employment policy of 

requiring all new applicants for jobs histori­
cally reserved for the white “ inside” depart­
ments have a high school education. On July 

2, 1965, the same date that Title VII  became 

effective, Duke Power added a new require­
ment that all applicants for jobs in the inside 
departments had to satisfy, in addition to the 
high school education requirement; it was that 
the applicants must successfully pass a written 
test battery. Duke Power stated that it added 
the test battery to the high school education 
requirement because its experience was that 
some of its employees who did not have a high 
school education had insufficient ability to be 

promoted to top-level jobs as the complexity 
of its operations grew. Another reason Duke 

Power added the test battery was that other 

public utilities companies had done so.
Even though Duke Power had at least a 

year to take appropriate measures to bring its 
employment into compliance with the man­
date of Title VII,  it did substantially nothing 

until it actually became subject to the mandate 
of the Act on July 2, 1965. It seemed ironic to 
the litigation team that Duke Power instituted 
its test battery on the same date Title VII  
became effective. The tests Duke Power 

selected, after consultations with its expert, 
Dr. Dannie Moffie, were the Wonderlic 

Personality Test-Form 1, a general intelli­
gence test including verbal, mathematical, 

analytical, and pictorial items; the Revised 
Beta Examination, also a general intelligence 

test designed to measure the general intellec­

tual ability of persons relatively illiterate or 
non-English speaking; and the Bennett Me­

chanical Comprehension, Forms AA  and BB, 

which examines an individual’s level of 
mechanical information, spatial visualization, 

and mechanical reasoning. It is doubtful that 
even one of the questions on the Wonderlic 

test was relevant to some of the white jobs the 
plaintiffs sought. Duke Power knew, or 

should have known, that the passing scores 
on the tests were stringent standards because 
they would eliminate about half of all high 
school graduates in the United States. Dr. 

Moffie put Duke Power on notice of this fact 
in a July 7, 1965, letter.7

Several months after the effective date of 
Title VII,  on September 10,1965 Duke Power 

adopted yet another policy, which applied 
only to employees who did not have a high 

school education. This policy was adopted in 
response to complaints from white employees 
in the coal-handling department who wanted 
to be promoted to inside jobs but did not have 
a high school education. The policy provided 
that employees without high school diplomas 
who worked in coal handling, as watchmen, 
or as laborers and who were hired prior to 

September 1, 1965, could become eligible 
for promotion to inside jobs if  they took both 

the Wonderlic and the Bennett Mechanical 

test and scored thirty-nine on the Bennett 

Mechanical and twenty on the Wonderlic. If  
they made these scores, then they would be 
deemed to have the equivalent of a high 
school education. No one had been promoted 

under this policy at the time of trial in 1968. 
The high school diploma and tests were 
not required for maintaining an employee’ s 
present position or for securing promotion 
to jobs paying $3.18 per hour or more. As an 

example, Clarence M. Jackson, a black 

employee with a seventh-grade education, 
was hired in 1951 as a laborer, remained a 
laborer in 1967 (with a salary of $1,645 per 

hour), and was unable to transfer to a better 
job, while three white employees—with fifth-  
grade, seventh-grade, and eighth-grade edu­

cations, provide a contrast: they had been 
promoted and one, as labor foreman of the



GRIGGS v. DUKE POWER CO.JIHGFEDCBA (1971)KJIHGFEDCBA 429zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

plaintiffs in 1966, supervised three of the 

plaintiffs who had a high school education.

The circumstances that eventually led the 
plaintiffs to file a charge of racial discrimina­
tion with the EEOC against Duke Power were 
powerfully captured in a 1991 ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL os A nge les 

T im es article based on an interview with 
Willie Boyd:

[The Dan River Station’s] 81 white 
employees were supervisors, ma­

chine operators and technicians. 
They monitored shiny dials and 

gauges that operated the massive 
boilers. Each job could lead to one 
better. [African American employ­

ees] on the other hand were all 
janitors, and that is what they could 
expect to do for the rest of their life.

Trains would haul in huge loads of

Appalachian coal, rolling along 

tracks besides the slow, brown-green 
waters of the Dan [River]. White 

workers would mechanically trans­
fer the freight, adding it to the plant’s 
coal pile that rose higher than any 

building in this part of the Carolina 
upland.

Sometimes dust and grime would 
clog the iron claws as they scooped 

up the lumpy fuel. The janitors were 

then summoned to help with the 

filthy work of unclogging the ma­
chinery. Only whites, however, were 
allowed the job title of “coal han­
dler,”  and only they earned the extra 
pay.

Willie  Boyd was one of the [African
American employees]. Son of a 
sharecropper, he had dropped out 

of high school in 1938 after his 

father took ill. Someone had to help 
the family meet the landowner’s 

quota of tobacco production.

Like millions of other Southern 
black men, Boyd escaped the farm 
in the post-war boom. Factories were 

springing up all around the Piedmont 
[area in North Carolina], And with 
them came a demand for power— 
and more generating stations.

Boyd’s job at Duke Power was hard, 

though no harder than chopping 

tobacco. It was a big step up for 
him. And it paid actual cash. Pretty 
soon he had enough money to meet 
his bills and even to buy a few items 
on installment.

As the years wore on, however, 

something always rankled him. 
White men—many with no more 
education than he had—rose up 

through the ranks to become man­

agers or supervisors, taking spots in 
comfortable offices with bathrooms 
down the hall.

Blacks cleaned those toilets—ones 
they themselves were forbidden to 
use. For them, the company built a 
“colored” bathroom outside across 
the railroad tracks, behind the coal 

pile.

Why can’ t black folks get some of 

the better jobs? Boyd asked his 

bosses. And they “would tell us we 
had no chance,” he recalled.8

The question Boyd raised—“why can’ t 
black folks get some of these better jobs?”— 
was a question that the members of the LDF 
litigation team heard many times from 

plaintiffs and class members they represented. 
In 1966, Boyd began to take action on behalf 

of his co-workers to find an answer to his 
question.9 The president of the Reidsville, 

North Carolina, NAACP chapter was J.A. 

(Jay) Griggs, related to but not the lead named
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plaintiff in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs, who was named Willie  
Griggs. Boyd was active in the Reidsville 
Chapter, and he and Jay Griggs were 

neighbors. On many occasions, Boyd com­
plained to Jay Griggs about the racially 

discriminatory practices at Dan River and 

about the fact that African American employ­
ees at the Reidsville facility of the American 
Tobacco Company were beginning to take 
steps to seek relief from racial discrimination 
at that plant.10 Jay Griggs had assisted a 

number of African Americans in preparing 

charges to file with the EEOC, so he finally 
told Boyd to fill  out a charge to be filed with 
the EEOC or stop complaining.11 Jay Griggs 

knew and had worked with Julius Chambers, a 

very active LDF cooperating attorney with an 
office in Charlotte, North Carolina, on other 
important civil rights cases, and he was to 
become one of the lead attorneys in G riggs. 
Jay told Boyd about Chambers. So Boyd, with 

the assistance of Jay Griggs, composed a 
petition to give to J.D. Knight, the superin­
tendent at the Dan River Station. The petition 
stated that the signees had given Duke Power 
satisfactory service for a number of years and, 

therefore, were justified in requesting the 
opportunity for promotion to jobs in coal 

handling, maintenance, and other “ inside”  
departments.12 All fourteen of the African 

American employees signed the petition. The 
petition was dated March 1, 1966, and the 

plaintiffs left it on Knight’s desk the same day.

When Knight arrived at work on the 
morning of March 3, he scheduled a meeting 

around 10:00 a.m. with the plaintiffs to find 
out what the petition was all about. The 

plaintiffs had selected Lewis Hairston to be 
their spokesperson at the meeting because “he 

was the kind of guy who was afraid of 
nothing, no how,”  and he had “more nerves”  
than some of the others had. Hairston boldly 

told Knight that the plaintiffs “wanted a crack 
at some of the better jobs” because the most 

the plaintiffs could earn was $1.65 per hour 

and the white employees started at $1.81 per 
hour. Knight’s response was that no one

without a high school diploma would be 
promoted to an inside job because Duke 

Power was moving into the atomic age. He 
also said the plaintiffs could be considered 
for promotion to inside jobs under the same 

policy Duke Power had adopted in September 
1965 for white employees in coal handling; 

that is, if  the plaintiffs who did not have a high 
school diploma successfully passed the test 

battery they could be promoted to inside jobs 
as if  they had a high school education. The 
plaintiffs also complained to Knight about the 
segregated facilities, such as showers, drink­
ing fountains, and locker rooms.

After the meeting with Knight, the 

plaintiffs concluded that Duke Power did 
not consider their petition meritorious. A few 
days later, the plaintiffs went to Chambers’ 

office in Charlotte and, with his assistance, 
prepared a charge of racial discrimination to 

be filed with the EEOC. The plaintiffs met at a 
funeral home in Reidsville on March 14, 
1966, to sign fourteen separate but identical 
EEOC charges to be filed with the EEOC.

The EEOC received the charges on 
March 15, 1966. A day later, a Duke Power 

official, A.C. Thies, met with some of the 
plaintiffs at the Dan River station. This 

meeting took place before the EEOC had 

served a copy of charges on Duke Power in 
April, so the company did not know that 

the plaintiffs had, in fact, filed their EEOC 

charges. The plaintiffs again raised the issue 
of the unfairness of subjecting them to the 
test battery as condition for consideration for 

inside jobs. This raised the possibility that 
Duke Power would provide tuition refunds for 
those who opted to obtain a high school 
diploma or its equivalent instead of passing 
the test battery. But when pressed about which 

courses Duke Power would approve for 
tuition refund, Thies told them that they 

would have to talk with the superintendent of 

the Dan River facility and that courses would 
be reviewed on an individual basis. Prior to 

this meeting, however, Thies had discussed 
with the superintendent what courses might be
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available locally to allow the plaintiffs to 
obtain a high school diploma.13 Duke Power 

made no mention whatsoever of the tuition 
refund in its September 22, 1965, memo to 

supervisors notifying them that it had adopted 
a policy on September 10, 1965, to provide 

employees in jobs in coal handling, watch­
man, and labor who did not have a high school 
education the option of passing the test battery 
for promotion to inside jobs.14 Eventually, 

only one person, Willie Boyd, opted to take 

advantage of the tuition refund program. Only 

five employees, two blacks and three whites 
who did not have a high school education, 
took the test battery; none passed.

The EEOC initiated its investigation of 

the plaintiffs’ charge on April  21, 1966, when 
several of its investigators visited the Dan 
River Steam Station. In its final report, the 
EEOC stated that Duke Power officials were 
reluctant initially to cooperate and gave 

misleading answers to their questions. The 
next day, the investigators toured the steam 
station, during which they saw for themselves 

the racially segregated locker rooms, drinking 
fountains, showers, and toilet facilities. 
The investigators returned to the Dan River 
facility on April 26, 1966, to do a thorough 

investigation of the plaintiffs’ EEOC charges 
that they were unable to do on their earlier 
visit. Two days later, on April  28, 1966, Thies 
sent a memo to all of the superintendents at 
Duke Power’s stations advising them to 

immediately take steps to move all of their 
employees into one locker room. The reason 

for this decision, as stated in the memo, was 
that even though Duke Power had “no specific 

segregation of our negro employees into one 
Locker Room since last July 1965, we are now 
informed that we are in violation of Title VII,  

of the Civil  Rights Act of 1964, by permitting 
our negro employees to occupy separate 
facilities.” 15 Immediately after these facilities 

were desegregated, plaintiff Lewis Hairston, 
whose duties as a laborer included, among 
others, cleaning the white locker room and 
toilet facilities, used the shower in the

formerly all-white locker room. After this 

episode, white employees refused to use the 
shower for a period of time.16

On May 4, 1966, just over a week after 
the last visit by the EEOC investigators, Duke 
Power wrote a letter to the EEOC denying the 
allegations that its practices with respect to the 
plaintiffs were in violation of their rights 
under Title VII. Based on the investigators’  

final report, the EEOC issued an administra­
tive decision on September 21,1966, in which 

it found reasonable cause to believe that the 
allegations the plaintiffs made in their charges 

constituted a violation of their rights under 
Title VII. On the same date, the EEOC 
notified the plaintiffs of their right to bring a 
civil action and notified Duke Power that it 
would undertake an effort to conciliate the 

plaintiffs’ charge. On October 5, 1966, an 
EEOC conciliator, Jules Gordon, met with 
officials of Duke Power to discuss the 
possibilities of resolving the case without 
the need for the plaintiffs to sue in federal 

court. Duke Power and Gordon met for 

several hours but were unable to resolve the 
plaintiffs’ charges because Duke Power dis­
agreed with EEOC’s finding of cause. Duke 

Power’s position then, and throughout the 
litigation, was that its employment practices, 
including its use of the test battery, complied 
with its obligations under Title VII.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

G riggs was not the first Title VII  
complaint filed on behalf of private plaintiffs. 

The complaint in G riggs was filed by the 

Legal Defense Fund’s litigation team in the U. 
S. District Court for the Middle District of 
North Carolina on October 20, 1966, about 
three months after the EEOC issued its first 

testing guidelines and a year after the first 
Title VII complaint on behalf of private 

plaintiffs, in B rink ley v. G rea t A tlan tic &  
P ac ific T ea C o., on October 18, 1965.17

LD F ’s Enforcem ent Strategy

Those are the basic facts of the situation 
at Duke Power leading to the initiation of the 

G riggs case. But what was the organizational
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context leading to the filing of the complaint 
in the case? How did ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs fit  into the LDF’s 
work? There were very few opportunities for 
public interest legal organizations like the 

LDF to undertake a major law development 
program on employment discrimination 
prior to Title VII  to show, for example, that 

employment practices like neutral-seeming 
tests and seniority systems were highly 

discriminatory. No right of private enforce­
ment existed under the federal fair employ­

ment practice orders and regulations beyond 
the opportunity to file a complaint. If the 
complaint was dismissed, or if  the complaint 

was valid but efforts to conciliate failed, no 
further private recourse was available against 
private employers, unions, or employment 
agencies. Some state laws provided aggrieved 
individuals the opportunity to seek judicial 

review of adverse commission actions, but the 
chances of obtaining a favorable judicial 
ruling were slim because federal and state 

courts normally give considerable weight to 
administrative determinations. Some private 
litigation to remedy employment discrimina­

tion in federal, state, and local governments 
was conducted under the Fifth and Fourteenth 
Amendments, but the constitutional equal 
protection ban on discrimination is not 

applicable to private parties absent a showing 

of state action.
Although claims of discrimination under 

Title VII  can be, and often are, brought by 
individuals without the assistance of a private 
civil rights organization like the LDF, 
litigation, including civil rights litigation, is 

costly. Even though some courts have deemed 
employment discrimination litigation to be 
tort-type cases, and this became particularly 
true after Congress made compensatory and 
punitive damages available in the Civil  Rights 

Act of 1991, immediately after Title VII  ’s 
enactment only a few attorneys in private 
practice were willing  to accept these kinds of 

cases on a contingency-fee basis as they 

regularly did in the more traditional tort cases. 
Costs, litigation expenses, and attorney’s fees

were, and continue to be, major factors 
imposing a general limitation on private 
enforcement to remedy employment discrim­
ination through individual cases precisely 
because victims of such discrimination rarely 

have the resources to finance the costs of 

litigation. The plaintiffs’ costs, expenses, and 
attorney’s fees in G riggs were over $65,00018 

and the plaintiffs, who were employees paid 

low hourly wages, simply were not financially 
able to shoulder these costs of the litigation.

Another factor limiting private enforce­

ment of laws prohibiting discrimination in 
employment is that civil  rights cases, particu­
larly ones involving claims of race discrimi­

nation, generally top the list of unpopular 
cases among attorneys. Thus, even assuming 

that costs were not a barrier, the probability of 
finding a private attorney willing  to represent 
African American victims of employment 
discrimination was severely limited in the 
early stages of the enforcement of Title VII.  

Cognizant of these economic disparities 

between the plaintiffs and defendants, the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth 
Circuit characterized employment discrimi­
nation cases as David and Goliath 
confrontations.19

The LD F C am paign

Other civil rights organizations, for 
example, the NAACP; the Lawyers Commit­

tee for Civil Rights Under Law (LCCRUL); 

the Women’s Legal Defense Fund; the 
ACLU-sponsored Lawyers Constitutional 

Defense Committee (LCDC); the National 
Employment Law Project; and the Employ­

ment Rights Project of Columbia Law School, 
also played important roles in the develop­
ment of the law during Title VII ’s first decade. 
However, for years after Title VII became 
law, no other organization, including the 

Department of Justice, had a docket of 
employment discrimination cases approach­
ing the number of active cases the LDF had.20 

The LDF’s objective was to establish a body 
of Title VII  law that would provide the most
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effective relief possible to African Americans. 
The LDF could not easily have undertaken its 
program earlier, but some important changes 
took place between the LDF’s more well- 
known campaign in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n v . B oard o f 

E duca tion and the beginning of its employ­
ment discrimination litigation campaign in 
1965, including an increase in the size of its 
staff, which was necessary to handle the 

“massive workload of employment discrimi­
nation grievances required a substantial 

number of attorneys, and, concomitantly, 

the additional resources to handle trials 
involving questions of fact.” 21

In June 1965, the LDF launched the 
employment discrimination enforcement cam­
paign out of which G riggs arose. Although 

Congress emphasized cooperation and volun­
tary compliance as the preferred means of 
eliminating unlawful employment discrimina­
tion, it was highly unlikely that this “preferred 
means”  would have any teeth until there was a 

body of substantive and procedural law that

established the legal rights of members of the 

protected classes and the scope of the 

obligations imposed on employers and unions. 
Because Congress gave the federal courts 
the final responsibility for the enforcement 

of Title VII  and authorized private enforce­
ment, the employment discrimination liti ­

gation campaign became a major part of the 
LDF’s work.

The Educational and O utreach Phase

The initial phase of the litigation cam­
paign was a massive education and outreach 

program launched in late June 1965, even 
before the EEOC first officially opened its 

doors for business. The purposes of the 
LDF’s education and outreach phase were 
to inform African American applicants and 
employees of their newly created rights under 
Title VII;  to assist them in filing charges of 
unlawful employment discrimination with the 

EEOC; and to encourage individuals and 
organizations in the African American

Julius C ham bers (above) and R obert B elton w ere the lead attorneys in Griggs v. Duke Power Co. (1971). In 1964, 

C ham bers had graduated from  C olum bia U niversity Law  School and served as the first in tern at the N A A C P Legal 

D efense Fund (LD F). H e then set up  a law  practice in C harlotte , w hich eventually becam e  the  first in tegrated  firm  in  

N orth C arolina history. C ham bers w ould la ter becom e D irector-C ounsel of the LD F.
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communities in southern states to become 
activists in the enforcement of Title VII.

Since the South has historically been one 

of the testing grounds for the development of 
civil rights law, ten southern states were 
targeted. Private employers’ racially discrim­
inatory practices were easier to document in 
southern states because the discrimination 

was rather blatant, as seen through official acts 
and long-standing customs and practices. The 
LDF hired eight African-American law 

students as field workers for the summer of 
1965 to work in eight of the ten states under 
the supervision of Ruth Abram, a seventeen- 

year-old Sarah Lawrence College student who 

worked out of the LDF’s headquarters in New 
York and whom Jack Greenberg, the LDF’s 
Director-Counsel, had hired to coordinate the 

education and charge-gathering phase.
Before leaving for their assignments, the 

students were briefed on Title VII  by the LDF 
attorneys and given written guidelines on 

assisting individuals in filing discrimination 
charges with the EEOC. The students then 

went to their assigned states, where they met 

with local leaders; made presentations to 
African American churches and business 
groups; worked with civil rights and social 
groups to establish community-based fair 
employment committees; set up speaking 

engagements; contacted newspapers to do 
articles on their activities;22 held press confer­

ences; conducted workshops on Title VII;  
identified industries that warranted study by 
the EEOC; contacted and worked with other 

civil rights groups such as the NAACP, 
Congress of Racial Equality (CORE), and 

Southern Christian Leadership Conference 

(SCLC); reviewed help wanted ads in news­
papers for race-designated employment op­

portunities; used African American and white 
testers to audit employers’ compliance with 

Title VII;  made use of television and radio to 
explain the LDF’s program; undertook pub­

licity campaigns to spread the word about 
Title VII;  and distributed fliers about Title VII  
in African American communities. The

students also took steps to stimulate and train 

local leaders to continue the educational work 
and the preparation of charges after they 
returned to their colleges and universities at 
the end of the summer. Notably, one of the 
major problems students encountered was the 

reluctance of some African Americans to fill  
out charges of discrimination for fear of losing 
their job if  their names were disclosed.

The students sent all employment dis­

crimination charges to Abram, who then 
bundled the charges to be filed with the 

EEOC. Working with Herbert Hill,  National 
Labor Secretary for the NAACP, the LDF and 

the NAACP submitted 475 charges of racial 
discrimination to the EEOC shortly after the 
EEOC officially  opened for business. Another 

374 racial discrimination charges arising out 
of the summer project were filed with the 
EEOC soon thereafter.23 The initial phase of 

the litigation campaign was very successful 
because the LDF and the NAACP assisted 

African Americans in filing 1800 charges with 

the EEOC during the agency’s first eighteen 
months of existence.24 The EEOC expected 

no more than 2,000 charges during its first 
year of operation, and its initial budget of 
$3.25 million and staffing requirements had 

been geared to that expectation. The agency, 

however, received 8,854 charges during its 
first fiscal year, most of which were claims of 
race discrimination and a substantial number 

of which were filed as a result of joint effort 
between the LDF and the NAACP. Eleven 

southern states accounted for almost half of 

the charges filed with the EEOC during its first 
fiscal year, with the most coming from North 
Carolina, Alabama, and Tennessee, which 

were three of the states to which the LDF 
summer interns had been assigned.25

In the fall of 1965, Greenberg created the 

LDF Division of Legal Information and 
Community and hired Jean Fairfax as its 
director of community services. She and her 

field workers were instrumental in identifying 
major industries, such as steel, railroads, 

tobacco, trucking, pulp and paper,
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shipbuilding, and southern textile, that gener­

ated a substantial number of charges of racial 
discrimination filed with the EEOC.26 Many 

of the charges involving these industries 
ultimately became cases in the litigation 
campaign out of which some of the most 

important LDF landmark employment dis­
crimination decisions arose.

The Litigation Team

Michael Meltsner, later dean at North­

eastern University School of Law, and Leroy 
Clark, later EEOC general counsel and a law 

professor, were the two LDF attorneys who 
had the initial responsibility in the very early 

stages of the campaign. When I joined the 
LDF in December 1965,1 joined Clark, who 
had assumed most of the responsibility for the 

campaign, and A1 Feinberg, but he soon left. 
Around March 1966, Clark recommended to 

Greenberg that I should be assigned the lead 
role in the litigation campaign.

As an African American, I personally had 
experienced racial discrimination in all of its 

manifestations. I was bom and raised in High 
Point, North Carolina, the fourth oldest of 
eighteen children of Daniel and Mary Lendon 
Belton. I grew up in the segregated South. 

Racial segregation was the order of the day in 
all aspects of my life growing up in High 

Point, not only in public education but also in 

access to restaurants, hotels, theaters, employ­
ment, parks, cemeteries, buses, trains, drink­

ing fountains, hospitals, lunch counters, 
retails stores, recreational and sporting events, 
barber shops, churches, rest rooms, housing, 
and transportation. I graduated from the state 
law-mandated racially segregated William 
Penn High School in 1953, a year before 
the Supreme Court’s May 1954 decision in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
B row n v . B oard o f E duca tion . Many of my 

high school teachers, all of whom were 

African Americans, had Ph.D.s and some 
were unable to pursue their career aspirations 

to teach on a college level because racially 
discriminatory hiring practices prevented 
them from even entering the applicant pool

of those seeking appointments at historically 
white colleges and universities and because 
there were a limited number of jobs as 

professors at historically African American 
colleges and universities.

I still have vivid recollections of African 
American men and women, including my 
father, who, if  hired at all, were employed 

only in low-paying, physically demanding, 
dirty, and dead-end jobs in many of the 
furniture manufacturing businesses in High 
Point, a city that is known as the “Furniture 
Capital of the World.” I also recall the help- 
wanted ads in the local newspapers under the 

heading of “Help Wanted—Colored,” “Help 
Wanted—White,”  or “ jobs for colored man,”  
“colored boy,” or “colored woman.”27 Many 

of these African American workers rode to 
work in the back of segregated buses, as I did, 
operated by Duke Power Company, the same 

Duke Power Company that was the defendant 

in G riggs. I witnessed firsthand the discrimi­
nation my father endured on his job because 
of his race, and on two occasions my oldest 
brother, Dan, and I were with him when his 
life was threatened by mobs of angry white 

men. My firsthand, day-to-day experience 
with racial segregation and particularly the 

two episodes with my father were major 
factors that ultimately informed my decision 

to be a civil  rights lawyer. Another factor that 

shaped my decision was the opportunity to 
study the contributions that African Ameri­

cans such as Charles Hamilton Houston and 
Thurgood Marshall had made in the field of 
civil  rights and the history of the long struggle 
to gain equality for African Americans.

My civil rights activism began when I 
was in undergraduate school at the University 
of Connecticut (UConn) where, among other 
things, I was a founding member of the 

campus chapter of the NAACP. There were 

only a few African American students at 
UConn at that time in the mid- and late- 

1950 s. On one occasion while attending 
UConn, I made a trip by car from Connecticut 

to North Carolina with a white female
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professor to visit with my family. Because of 
racial segregation, I sat in the back seat of the 

car from Washington, D.C., to North Carolina 

to avoid the risk of harm to either of us at the 
hands of whites because I was driving with a 
sole white female through the South. That leg 

of the trip was a harrowing experience, and I 
decided to return to UConn by a different 
mode of transportation. Later, after graduating 
from Boston University Law School in 1965,1 

began working at the LDF in December 1965 

and in 1970 joined the racially integrated law 
firm Chambers, Stein, Ferguson and Lanning 
in Charlotte, North Carolina. Pursuant to an 
arrangement with Greenberg I remained on 

the payroll of the LDF in order to litigate a 
number of employment discrimination cases 

in which I served as counsel for plaintiffs 
while engaged in the process for admission to 
the North Carolina bar. I left private practice 
in 1975 to join the faculty at Vanderbilt 

University Law School.
The two other persons who formed the 

core of the LDF’s employment discrimination 
litigation team were Gabrielle Kirk McDo­

nald, who joined the LDF in June 1966 and 
later became a U.S. district judge and, still 

later, a judge of the International Criminal 

Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY), 

and Albert J. Rosenthal, a member of the 
Columbia Law faculty who served as a 
consultant to the employment discrimination 
litigation campaign for about ten years. In 

addition to serving as counsel in a number of 
landmark employment discrimination cases 

on the LDF’s docket, including ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs, A1 
brought together a consultative group of 
distinguished labor law practitioners and 

scholars as well as labor economists to meet 

periodically with members of the employment 
discrimination litigation team to discuss 
critically some of the thorny substantive and 

procedural issues that had to be litigated. A1 
also recruited an amazing and energetic group 

of bright young lawyers, many of whom were 
employed at major New York City law firms, 
to assist pro bono in legal research, drafting

pleadings and discovery documents and 
writing briefs and other legal memoranda on 

new or novel issues.

Some of the law professors Rosenthal 
recruited also wrote briefs, particularly appel­
late briefs, involving novel substantive and 
procedural issues arising under Title VII.  
Professor George Cooper of Columbia Law 

School, for example, drafted the court of 
appeals brief in G riggs and also wrote the 
petition for certiorari and the plaintiffs’ briefs 
the LDF filed in the Supreme Court in the 

case. Another professor, Sandy J. Rosen, then 
at the University of Maryland Law School, 

took a lead role with the LDF’s consultative 

group of lawyers and professors to develop 
litigation strategies in the Fund’s seniority 
discrimination cases. Other law professors 
served as “sounding boards” on procedural 
and substantive issues that we expected to be 
raised or supervised law students who 
researched novel issues or drafted legal 
memoranda or discovery demands. The 

LDF’s use of academics in its employment 
discrimination litigation campaign was simi­

lar to the assistance it received from academ­
ics in some of its other major litigation 

campaigns including B row n v. B oard o f 
E duca tion and the death penalty project.

Gaby, Al, and I worked closely together 
developing and implementing the various 
litigation strategies for the campaign. We 
compiled an extensive bank of complaints, 
legal memoranda, discovery documents such 
as interrogatories, and briefs on many issues 

that provided a ready resource for other LDF 
attorneys who handled a few employment 

discrimination cases, cooperating attorneys, 
and other attorneys in private practice who 
represented plaintiffs in employment discrim­
ination cases. These litigation documents 

served as a model for many years not only 
for the LDF and its cooperating attorneys but 

for other lawyers as well. We also had the first 
line of responsibility for evaluating cases to be 
litigated, and we requested Greenberg’s input 
about any cases in which there was any doubt
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as to whether we should proceed. I cannot 

recall any instance in which he rejected our 
litigation recommendations, but it was rare 
indeed for us not to recommend assistance for 

cooperating attorneys, particularly with re­
spect to charges that had been filed with the 
EEOC with some assistance from the LDF.

The R ole of the C ooperating A ttorneys

Although the core LDF litigation team 

consisted of Gaby, Al, and me, it is important 
to note that the litigation team of necessity in 
particular cases included cooperating attor­
neys. Cooperating attorneys, as used in public 
interest litigation, generally are lawyers in 
private practice who represent plaintiffs on 
either a pro bono basis or for a significantly 
lower attorney’s fee. The success the LDF had 

in its employment discrimination litigation 

campaign could not have been achieved 

without their participation; the staff worked 
with about 200 of them.28 Most of the LDF’s 

cooperating attorneys in the early years of the 
employment discrimination litigation cam­
paign were African Americans, many of 

whom practiced law in southern states and 
had graduated from historically black law 
schools, such as Howard University, Northern 
Carolina Central, Southern University, Flor­

ida A&M,  and Texas Southern. Many of the 
cooperating attorneys assisted African Amer­

icans with the filing of charges with the 
EEOC, with charges often becoming the basis 

of lawsuits on the LDF docket. The LDF 
established a Civil Rights Institute to provide 
a form of continuing legal education on civil  

rights developments and to provide the 
opportunity for the cooperating attorneys 
and staff attorneys to have a bit of respite 
from the trench warfare of civil rights 
litigation. As Meltsner described it:

The Fund had an enormous interest 
in keeping the Southern black law­

yers who were a source of its cases, 
and ultimately its power, well in­
formed of the dizzying develop­

ments in civil rights, a legal 
specialty with its own technicalities, 

as complex as tax or copyrights 
law. One means of doing this was 

periodic Civil Rights Institutes, held 
at Howard Law School in Wash­
ington. The front-line troops, most of 
them Howard graduates, were invit­

ed from the battle zone to hear three 

days of lectures and not incidentally, 
to bivouac in the District’s watering 

places. By 1963 these conferences 
had acquired a prestige as the 
birthplace of many a civil rights 
strategy, but the assorted pleasures 
of liberty were a constant distraction, 

and so they were moved first to New 
Orleans, then to Atlanta, and finally 
to Airlie House, a pleasant and 

relatively isolated conference center 
in the Virginia hunt Country.29

The LDF Airlie House Civil Rights 
Institute and its previous iterations had become 
an integral part of the culture of civil  rights and 
related educational mission of the LDF when 
I joined in 1965. After the employment 
discrimination litigation campaign was initiat­
ed, developments in employment discrimina­

tion law, legal theory, trial strategy, and 
remedies became an important part of the 
curricula. Representatives from other civil  

rights groups and the EEOC often attended 

the Airlie  House conferences as either speakers 
or participants, and the litigation team main­

tained regular communication with other 
organizations, such as the NAACP, that 
were engaged in the Title VII enforcement 
process in order to coordinate the various 
strategies of enforcement when advisable.

The employment litigation campaign 

also benefited from other LDF initiatives. 
Beginning in 1962, the Field Foundation 
provided funding for what later became the 
Earl Warren Legal Training Program to 

alleviate the shortage of African American 

lawyers in southern states, under which some
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recent African American law school graduates 

participated in a post-graduate fellowship 
program that included a year of internship 
with the LDF at its headquarters in New 

York or in the office of one of the LDF’s 
cooperating attorneys. After the year, the 

fellows began to practice law in a mutually 
agreed upon location, primarily in the South, 

where few or no black lawyers were available 
to serve black citizens. They were paid a 
diminishing subsidy for three years, and one 
of the most important benefits of this subsidy 

served to help these new lawyers establish a 
law library for their newly opened offices.30 

Some white law graduates were also benefi­
ciaries of the Legal Training Program, and the 
inclusion of white law graduates led to some 

of the first integrated law firms in the South. 

A number of the cooperating lawyers who 
were the beneficiaries of the training program 
carried a substantial load of employment 
discrimination cases; one of the program’s 

first beneficiaries, Julius Chambers, returned 
to his native state of North Carolina and 
opened one of the first integrated law firms in 
Charlotte.31 Chambers and I were the lead 

attorneys in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs.

A Litigation Strategy Em erges: R epresenting 

Private A ttorneys G eneral

In order for the courts to decide the many 

issues related to Title VII that had to be 
decided, they had to be raised by one of the 
two instrumentalities Congress had autho­
rized to seek judicial enforcement: the 
Department of Justice, under its authority to 
litigate “pattern and practice” cases, or 
individually aggrieved “private attorneys 

general,” through private litigation. The 
private plaintiffs the LDF represented in its 

litigation campaign were “private attorneys 
general.”  The private attorney general philos­

ophy is based on the view that private 
individuals have important roles to play in 

vindicating the public policy of civil rights 
legislation because the goals of civil rights 
legislation cannot be achieved solely by

enforcement initiatives undertaken by the 

Attorney General and the Department of 
Justice. In N ew m an v. P igg ie P ark E n ter­

p r ises, Inc ., an early 1968 LDF case that 
arose under the public accommodations 
provision of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

(Title II) and in which LDF had advanced 
the private attorney general theory in its brief, 

the Supreme Court endorsed the view that 
Congress, by allowing private suits under 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, had empo­
wered private individuals to become private 

attorneys general to vindicate the civil rights 
policy objectives of the statute.32

As the first steps in devising its litigation 

strategy in the fall and winter of 1965, the 
LDF litigation team analyzed and tabulated 
the large number of charges it and the NAACP 

had helped African Americans file with 

the EEOC. The analysis also showed that 
seniority systems and pen-and-paper tests that 
seemed neutral on their face were among the 

most discriminatory practices engaged in by 
employers and labor unions. These findings 
from the analysis about the discriminatory 
effects of seemingly neutral practices were 
shared with a number of historians, sociolo­
gists, and labor law and civil  rights professors, 

who generally confirmed the LDF’s prelimi­

nary analyses. The analysis of the charges also 

identified several industries that should be 
examined closely as targets of litigation. 
The litigation team targeted industries where 
African American unemployment and eco­
nomic growth were high and focused on semi­
skilled and skilled blue-collar jobs, which 

paid well but did not require much formal 
education.3 These industries included rail­
roads,34 pulp and paper,35 steel,36 tobacco,37 

textile,38 trucking,39 and public utilities.40 

Many of the employers in these industries 

used tests in making employment decisions, 
and practically all of them were unionized and 

had a history of using facially neutral seniority 

practices to make employment decisions that 
adversely affected the employment opportu­
nities of African Americans because of race.
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The railroad industry, for example, had a long 
history of excluding blacks from jobs that paid 

well or blatantly segregating them into all­
black seniority units. This blatant segregation 
by employers and unions in highly visible and 

closely related jobs, such as porters and 
conductors, made the railroad industry such a 
symbol of discrimination that its inclusion 

as a target was required despite its general 
economic decline. A positive aspect of 

focusing on the railroad industry was that 
there were a large number of black employees 

who were willing  to assert their rights and had 
done so historically while the segregated 

black unions gave them an organizational 
base for support.

The paper industry, meanwhile, was a 

high-paying growth industry with plants 
located throughout the southeastern part of 
the United States, where a large number of 
blacks were available for work and the plants 
were often a primary employer in the 

community. Blacks in the paper industry 

were relegated to menial, lower-paying jobs 
and pen-and-paper tests were used to screen 

applicants for jobs traditionally reserved for 
whites. More often than not, many of the big 

unions were named as defendants because the 
seniority agreements in the LDF’s seniority 
discrimination cases were the product of 
collective bargaining between unions and 
employers. As with the railroad industry, 
international unions had sanctioned and 

charted separate racially segregated unions.
The EEOC conducted its first-ever hear­

ings on January 12 and 13, 1967, in Charlotte, 

North Carolina, and focused on racial dis­
crimination in employment in the textile 
industry.41 The textile industry in the South 

then became another potential target of 
opportunity in the campaign.

One of the major problems in deciding 
upon a litigation strategy was that employ­
ment discrimination litigation did not fit  

neatly into the traditional civil rights law 
reform model that the LDF had honed to a 

fine art in the campaign leading to ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n v .

B oard o f E duca tion . Under the B row n model, 

organizational control over the sequence and 
pace of the litigation was the cornerstone of 

the successful implementation of the LDF’s 
goals.42 Leroy Clark, a participant in the early 

phase of the employment discrimination 
litigation strategies, described the differences 
in the two classes of cases:

The attorney must have sufficient 
facts about the internal operation of 
the plant in order to judge whether a 

violation of [Title VII]  has occurred.
Such information is difficult to 
ascertain; whereas in school deseg­

regation suits the discriminatory 
pattern in one school district resem­
bled the pattern in another, employ­
ment discrimination patterns differ 
from industry to industry. Also, the 
typical voting rights suit involved a 

Southern state agency with mediocre 
attorneys; the defendants in employ­
ment cases were the largest compa­
nies in the country, retaining highly 

paid, competent counsel who offered 
vigorous opposition and were ex­

tremely adept at delay. With the 
added ingredient of a hostile federal 
Southern judiciary, a single suit 

could last two years or more. In the 
interim, the plaintiffs may have lost 
faith in the efficacy of litigation, 
moved to other jobs, or accepted 

inadequate settlements. It is in this 
kind of trench warfare, with limited 

staff, limited financial resources, and 
the inherent capacity in the law 
for delay, that civil rights attorneys 

will face serious difficulties in 
having a major impact on employ­
ment discrimination.43

Another problem in thinking about a 

litigation strategy was that employment 
discrimination litigation prior to Title VII  
presented easy and obvious targets, such as 

explicit policies or union contracts excluding
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African Americans from desirable jobs, 
segregated departments and facilities, or 

discriminatory pay scales. Much of the 
more blatant and overt racial discrimination 

was eliminated by the federal Plans for 
Progress and state FEPC activities. After 
July 1, 1965, overt discrimination on the basis 

of race became unlawful and employers and 
unions began to abandon obvious and blatant 

racially discriminatory policies and practices. 
However, the effects of those earlier obvious 
and blatant racially discriminatory polices and 
practices were carried forward into the post- 
July 2, 1965, period. Discriminatory employ­

ment practices became more subtle, although, 
unlike with racial discrimination, many overt 
manifestations of sex discrimination contin­
ued after 1965 because employers believed 
that the “bona fide occupational qualification”  

exception exempted some sex-based employ­

ment practices from the prohibitions of 
Title VII.  Major employers and unions began 

to adopt testing and educational devices 
and seniority systems that appeared facially 
neutral or colorblind but that operated to 

perpetuate the effects of past and societal 
discrimination.

With many of the overt incidents of racial 
discrimination abandoned or about to be 

abandoned by employers and unions, what 

was left was systemic and institutional 
discrimination imbedded in basic personnel 

policies or organizational structures of com­
panies and unions. This more subtle brand 
of racial discrimination did not constitute 

the easiest target for an effective litigation 

campaign to eradicate job discrimination. 
Consequently, it soon became obvious that 
Title VII  litigation would require substantial 
manpower in pre-trial preparation, including 

an analysis of voluminous records and 
extremely technical factual and legal ques­

tions. Proving the existence of discrimination 
in hiring, testing, seniority, and promotion 

practices would be demanding. One can see 
this from the fact that over 1,000 lawyer hours 

were devoted to litigating ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs through the

Supreme Court, and G riggs was a relatively 
easy case to prepare for trial compared to most 

cases tried during the early stages of Title VII  
enforcement. The great effort required to 

litigate a class action Title VII  case would 

severely strain the limited resources of the 
private plaintiffs’ bar, while defendants would 
be able to bear the demands and costs of 
litigation with less difficulty.

While some federal and state case law on 

employment discrimination existed at the 
time of Title VII ’s enactment, a coherent 
body of law on the subject did not exist. The 
existing case law did not become useful until 

efforts were devoted to the development of 
legal concepts of discrimination that could be 
applied to private employers. There were, 

however, three overarching, simply-stated 
but difficult, issues that informed the LDF’s 
litigation campaign. The first and most 

critically important issue was defining a 
theory or theories of discrimination. The 

second was deciding what kind of evidence 
would be relevant to proving a claim of 
unlawful discrimination in light of the fact 
that no defendant was likely to readily admit 
that it practiced racial discrimination. The 
third issue was determining the specific kinds 
of relief that would be appropriate to remedy 

proven claims of unlawful employment 
discrimination.

For several reasons, a litigation strategy 

patterned primarily on the B row n campaign to 
develop a body of employment discrimination 
law on these simply stated but difficult issues 
would not have been feasible. First, the LDF 
could not ethically put some cases on the back 

burner while more forcefully pressing other 
and perhaps more favorable cases. Second, 
unlike in the B row n campaign, where there 
was some possibility of controlling the 

manner in which issues should be raised 

and the kinds of cases that would be most 
helpful in raising them, it was literally 

impossible to exercise control over issues 
and cases in the employment discrimination 

litigation campaign because other entities
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such as the Department of Justice and other 

law reform organizations also had an interest 

in developing the law under Title VII.  Third, 
the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n paradigm was ill-suited for the 
more subtle discriminatory tactics that had 

replaced the earlier more blatant forms of 
discrimination. In most of the pre- and early 
post-/?row?z cases, the real issue was not so 
much whether a school board had, in fact, 

engaged in racial discrimination but rather 
what the remedy should be. Overt racial 
discrimination in employment was less prev­
alent in 1965 than in earlier years, but the 

effects of the pre-1965 overt discrimination 

continued pervasively. Fourth, the require­
ment of exhaustion of administrative reme­

dies before the EEOC made it a possibility 
that ideal “ test cases” would be settled or 
conciliated in an unsatisfactory way, and 
conciliation is not a process for establishing 
judicial precedents. Finally, Title VII pre­
sented procedural technicalities to private 
enforcement that required judicial clarifica­
tion before substantive interpretations could 

be reached.

Lawyering skills and law development 
techniques could have been devoted to trying 
to make the EEOC administrative process a 

more responsive conflict resolution device for 
employment discrimination claims, but the 
experience under older administrative en­

forcement procedures and the uncertain start 
of the EEOC suggested that the limited private 
resources could better be used in the judicial 
enforcement process. A major factor that 

ultimately determined the LDF’s strategy in 

the litigation phase was the reality of the 
difficulty in identifying the constellation of 

facts that would best raise the issues consid­
ered critical to programmatic law develop­
ment. Because of the difficulty of making an 

informed decision about which issues should 
be raised first and in what kinds of factual 
paradigms, the LDF finally settled upon an 
initial litigation strategy that involved filing  
suit in any and all cases in which cooperating 
attorneys had been retained and the attorneys

had requested the assistance of the LDF and 

dealing with substantive and procedural 

issues as they arose. Specific industries were 
targeted later, but two of the most important 

categories of cases that bubbled to the surface 
early were seniority discrimination and testing 

cases. And, as it happened, those were the 
issues that predominated in G riggs, because 

of Duke Power’s use of a battery of tests and 
those and other obstacles to racial minorities’ 
achieving their seniority rights.

O utcom e of the Griggs C ase, by

Stephen L. W ashy

What, then, happened with the G riggs 
case itself? In the district court, Judge Eugene 
Gordon ruled against the plaintiffs, saying 

they had failed to prove intentional violation 
of Title VII,  that the high school educational 
requirement did not discriminate on the basis 
of race, and that Duke Power’s test battery 
was professionally developed. The judge also 
rejected the “present effects of past discrimi­

nation” theory, the idea that there could be 
a remedy for continuing effects of pre-Act 
discrimination.44 On appeal to the Fourth 

Circuit, a majority of the three-judge panel 

hearing the case, with Judge Herbert Boreman 
writing for himself and Judge Albert Bryan, 

reversed Judge Gordon on the “present effects 
of past discrimination”  theory but rejected all 
the LDF’s arguments about the legality of the 
education and testing requirements.45 How­

ever, Judge Simon Sobeloff wrote a strong 
partial dissent that was to influence the 

outcome in the Supreme Court. He found 
no need to prove intentional discrimination in 

a challenge to facially neutral employment 
discrimination policies and practices and, 
more important, he argued for the disparate 

impact theory of discrimination.
Then came the Supreme Court’s unani­

mous (eight-zero) ruling reversing the Fourth 
Circuit. Through Chief Justice Burger, in a 
short opinion the Court upheld the disparate 

impact theory; ruled that proof of intentional
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discrimination was unnecessary and Congress 

had meant to deal with consequences of 
employment practices; and said that tests must 
be job-related, with the defendant having the 
burden of proving business necessity for and 
job-relatedness of tests used. Asked about the 
cases from that Term of the Court, the Chief 
Justice took notice of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs 's importance, 

even if  he did so somewhat back-handedly: “ I 
wouldn’ t want to say that was one of the 
terribly important cases but experts in that 

field of law considered it so, but it is not the 

kind of case that received any public atten­
tion.”46 In hindsight, we can say that was 

“clear understatement.”
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The abs e nce o f a natio nal judiciary, 
declared Justice Story in his C om m en tar ies 
on the C onstitu tion of the U n ited Sta tes, 
“was one of the vital defects of the confeder­

ation. And every government must, in 
essence, be unsafe and unfit for a free people, 
where such a department does not exist.”  

Without courts, he continued, “ the govern­
ment must either perish by its own imbecility, 
or the other departments of government must 

usurp powers, for the purpose of commanding 
disobedience, to the destruction of liberty. 
The will  of those who govern, will  become, 
under such circumstances, absolute and 

despotic; and it is immaterial, whether power 
is vested in a single tyrant, or in an assembly 

of tyrants. In every well organized govern­
ment, therefore, with reference to the security 
both of public rights and private right, it is 

indispensable that there should be a judicial 
department to ascertain, and to decide rights, 

to punish crimes, to administer justice, and to 
protect the innocent from injury and usurpa­
tion.” 1 Thus, the provision within the Consti­

tution for a system of national courts was 
intended, Story maintained, to serve two 

objectives “of paramount importance” and

“ fundamental to a free government.”  The first 

is “a due execution of the powers of the 
government; and the second is a uniformity in 
the interpretation and operation of those 

powers, and of the laws enacted in pursuance 
of them.” 2 In service of those objectives, the 

“universal sense of America has decided that, 
in the last resort, the judiciary must decide 

upon the constitutionality of the acts and laws 
of the general and state governments, so far as 
they are capable of being made the subject of 
judicial controversy.” 3

Story’ s suggestion that inclusion of a 
national judiciary was practically a foregone 
outcome at the Philadelphia Convention 

anticipated Justice Robert H. Jackson’ s 
much later but similar claim about the 

commerce power denied Congress under the 
Articles of Confederation but then given to 

Congress at the federal Convention in 1787: 
“The desire of the Forefathers to federalize 
regulation of foreign and interstate commerce 

stands in sharp contrast to their jealous 
preservation of the State’s power over its 
internal affairs. No other federal power was so 
universally assumed to be necessary. No other 
state power was so readily relinquished.”4
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Sto ry’s view was similarly echoed in thoughts 
that Justice Stephen J. Field expressed in 
1897, toward the end of his then record­
setting High Court tenure of nearly thirty-five 
years.5 For him, in the judiciary’s power to 

declare the law “ is found the safeguard which 

keeps the whole mighty fabric of government 
from rushing to destruction. This negative 

power, the power of resistance, is the only 
safety of a popular government.” 6

Yet determination to institutionalize a 
system of national courts also required a 
decision on how judges would be selected. 

The method chosen—nomination by the 
President coupled with confirmation by the 
Senate—yielded blended responsibility and 
was the outgrowth of the competing proposals 

at Philadelphia. There the Virginia Plan called 
for selection of judges by the lower house of a 

bicameral legislature, and the New Jersey 
Plan called for a unicameral legislature (as did 

the Articles of Confederation) and assigned 
judicial selection to the executive.7 As one 

study has argued, many of the “ framers did 

not want the power of appointment to be 
vested solely in the hands of the president. 
Their colonial experience cautioned them 
against such an institutional arrangement 

because royal governors had abused their 

appointment power by giving offices to 
personal supporters, and because judges so 
appointed had felt no connection with the 

people whose law they were entrusted with 
administering.” Similarly, experience after 
1776 had taught them that placing selection 

solely in legislative hands “was equally 

troublesome, as battles ensued over patronage 
and no clear lines of responsibility were 
drawn.” 8 Or, as Delaware delegate John 

Dickinson advised at Philadelphia, “Experi­

ence must be our only guide. Reason may 
mislead us.” 9 Still, the widely held expecta­

tion that George Washington would be the 

new nation’s first chief executive surely eased 
formation of the eventual consensus toward 
placing such significant appointing authority 

in the hands of a single person. “ I do not

believe,”  one delegate wrote, “ the [executive 
powers] would be so great had not many of the 
members cast their eyes toward General 
Washington as President and shaped their 
Ideas of the Powers to be given a President by 
their opinions of his Virtues.” 10 As Gouver- 

neur Morris insisted to the future President, 

“No constitution is the same on paper as in 
life. The exercise of authority depends on 

personal character. Your cool, steady temper 
is ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAind ispensab ly necessa ry to give firm and 
manly tone to the new government.” 11

The true significance of any President’s 
exercise of the appointing power lies of course 
in what those appointees do, as suggested by 
the title of a seminal book on judicial decision 
making: T he C hoices Justices M ake.12 
Recent books about the Supreme Court 
continue to highlight the importance of both 

selection opportunities and the business 
conducted within the Marble Palace.

Choices made or the positions members 

of the Court take in deciding cases are today 
routinely expressed and reported through 
voting alignments that their published opin­
ions reveal. When decisions come down from 
a full Bench, for example, they are said to be 
unanimous (nine-zero), or split in one way or 

another (eight-one, seven-two, six-three, or 
five-four.) News accounts about the Court’s 
work, however, whether appearing in print, on 
television, or on the internet, tend more 
frequently to emphasize those where dis­

agreement is present. This is perhaps under­

standable. As has been observed about news 

coverage of the electoral and law-making 
arenas generally, while politicians typically 
define success in terms of conflict manage­
ment and reconciling differences among 

individuals and groups, journalists tend to 
prefer stories that highlight conflict and 
differences among people.13

Occasions when the Justices agree, rather 

than disagree, however, are the focus of T he 
P uzzle of U nan im ity  by Pamela C. Corley, 

Amy Steigerwalt, and Artemus Ward, who 

teach political science at Southern Methodist
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University, Georgia State University, and 
Northern Illinois University, respectively.14 

Acknowledging that the Court is sometimes 
sharply divided, they begin their important 
and statistically sophisticated study15 by 

demonstrating that the Justices frequently 
reach consensus.16 Indeed, over the years 

1953-2004, on which their research was 
focused, the proportion of unanimously 
decided cases routinely fell between thirty 
and fifty  percent. The authors also report data 

on what they call “opinion consensus,”  where 

there is only one opinion issued from the 
Bench, with no dissents or concurrences. Here 
the consensus rating drops during the desig­
nated time span to one in four cases, but in 
several terms, the number was one in three. 

Either count, the authors believe, runs counter 

to widely held perceptions among the public 
and in press reports.17

Yet, to write about the presence or 
absence of judicial consensus on the modem 
Court is an indirect reminder that much of 
current practice stands in contrast to earlier 

periods. Indeed, as those well-grounded in 
Supreme Court history know, John Marshall 
is deservedly remembered for achieving a 

high degree of institutional unanimity after 

becoming Chief Justice in 1801. The norms 

that he successfully urged upon his colleagues 
included the minimization of open dissent and 
internal disputation and maximization of a 

willingness to compromise. These in turn 
promoted internal harmony, cooperation, and 

teamwork. Political necessity and prudence, 
especially in Marshall’s first decade, may 
have dictated adherence to such norms, but for 
whatever reasons, the Marshall pattern re­

mains remarkable. For example, William 

Johnson, President Thomas Jefferson’s first 

appointee to the Court soon learned the power 
of the collegial norms that Marshall fostered. 

“ [I]  was not a little surprised to find our Chief 
Justice in the Supreme Court delivering all the 
opinions in cases in which he sat, even in 
some instances when contrary to his own 

judgment and vote. But I remonstrated in

vain; the answer was he was willing  to take the 
trouble and it is a mark of respect to him.”  As 

Johnson explained to Jefferson in 1822, 
“some case soon occurred in which I differed 

from my brethren, and I thought it a thing of 
course to deliver my opinion. But, during the 

rest of the session I heard nothing but lectures 
on the indecency of judges cutting at each 
other. ... At length I found that I must either 

submit to circumstances or become such a 
cypher in our consultations as to effect no 
good at all.” 18

Moreover, it may well be that Marshall 

helped to establish institutional expectations 
that endured well after other jurists had taken 

his place, so that a norm of consensus exerted 
influence on the Court not only for much of 
the rest of the nineteenth century but into part 

of the twentieth century as well. If  so, that 

influence would help to account for what one 
finds for example during the Chief Justiceship 
of Morrison R. Waite (1874-1888). Here, the 
actual number of dissenting votes initially  cast 

by the Justices was considerably greater than 
the published record reveals. That is, many 

seemingly unanimous decisions were in fact 
initially decided with one or more dissenting 
votes; likewise, decisions reporting only one 

or two dissents may have been initially  

reached with three or four dissenting votes. 

This is known not merely anecdotally but 
because of very precise records that Chief 

Justice Waite maintained in his docket books 
that indicate the vote among the Justices at the 
conference where the case was decided. 

Waite’s data can then be compared to data 
drawn from the official United States ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR e­

po rts.x< ) The most thorough study of this 

phenomenon finds that dissenting votes at 

conference were recorded in forty percent of 
the cases,20 or about four times the percentage 

indicated by the R eports.

Some scholars have argued that the sharp 
increase in dissents in the modem era is a 
function of the Court’s increasing control over 
its docket. That is, in contrast to the situation 
in Waite’s time when the Court was obliged to
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de cide p ractically e ve ry cas e that qu alifie d 
jurisdictionally, the Court, in a small step after 
1891, and in a giant step after 1925, found 

itself able to select cases for decision, and to 
turn away the rest. The abundance of routine 
and “easy” cases therefore disappeared from 

the docket, and “hard” cases, with a greater 
tendency to provoke disagreement perhaps, 
took their place.

While the increase in the Court’s discre­

tion may explain some of the contrast between 
the fourth quarter of the nineteenth century 
and more recent decades, it does not account 

for the many instances in which Waite Court 
Justices dissented at conference, only later to 
join with the majority. If the bulk of 
nineteenth-century cases were easy, involving 

only perfunctory appellate review of correctly 
decided cases from courts below, that fact 
presumably would have been apparent at 

conference. So, what else could account for 
the divergence between the private-public 

dissent rate among the Waite Court Justices? 
One answer is the norm of consensus, dating 
from the Marshall Court that discouraged the 

public display of a divided bench. According­
ly, a Justice who indicated disagreement at 
conference would later feel a need to 

acquiesce in what the majority decided unless 
there were countervailing concerns present. It 

is that norm that later collapsed.
Still an additional factor should be 

considered as well for the Waite era: 
workload. The number of cases on the Court’ s 
docket mushroomed during Waite’s tenure, 

due both to congressional expansion of 

federal jurisdiction and to economic and 
social changes underway. By the time of 

Waite’ s death in 1888, the Court had fallen 
more than four years behind in its work. This 

was also at a time when the Justices had 

practically no support staff. The Justices truly 
did their own work.21 Even manual type­

writers were not widely marketed until after 
Waite’s tenure began. So, while a growing 

backlog itself might not discourage dissent, 
the number of opinions of the Court that the

Justices had to write might do so. A Justice 
might well conclude that practicality coun­

seled writing a dissent only in exceptional 
circumstances.22

Whatever conditions fostered the norm of 
consensus of the nineteenth and early twenti­
eth centuries, Corley Steigerwalt and Ward 
conclude that its breakdown into an era of 
“dissensus” 23 began “during Stone’s tenure 

[as Chief Justice] and was firmly entrenched 
by the time Earl Warren became chief.” 24 

While Harlan Stone’ s “ leadership style almost 
certainly exacerbated discord, it was a series 
of institutional changes, both internal and 
external to the Court that ultimately helped 
usher in this new era.” In the latter category 

were legal realism and Franklin Roosevelt’ s 
appointment of new Justices who were critical 
of traditional jurisprudence. In combination 

both developments encouraged individual 
expression. Within the former category were 

changes in traditional practices, “ including 
the erosion of acquiescence and delays in 
opinion circulation.”  Certainly noteworthy for 
anyone interested in the Court during the 

middle and late 1940s and very early 1950s is 
the authors’ insistence that the dissensus that 

emerged during this time “could not be erased 
simply by installing a chief with a style vastly 
different from Stone’s; rather the internal and 
external institutional changes instituted dur­

ing the Roosevelt Court [defined as the period 

between 1937 and 1947 during which the 
appointees of Franklin D. Roosevelt dominat­
ed the Court] so fundamentally altered it that a 

return to the norm of consensus was virtually 
impossible.” 25

Whether a pattern of consensus or 

dissensus prevails is important, the authors 
believe, in terms of the Court’s position and 
influence in the political system. They note 
that some extremely important decisions have 
been rendered by a unanimous Bench, as seen, 

for example, in cases such as ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n v. B oard 
o f E duca tion?6 G ideon v . W ainw r igh t,2 ' 

U n ited Sta tes v. N ixon?* and C lin ton v . 
Jones?9 although the G ideon and Jones cases,
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de cide d nine -ze ro in e ach ins tance , did no t 
achie ve o p inio n u nanim ity . (Of course one 
also thinks of the far more numerous non- 
unanimous cases decided in the same period 
that also merit “ landmark” or near-landmark 

status.) Moreover, the added authority and 

perhaps clarity projected when opinion una­
nimity exists are said to make it more difficult  
for a later Court to overrule the earlier 
holding, just as it tends to promote more 

faithful adherence in the lower courts and 
implementation by state or federal adminis­
trative personnel. For example, the authors 
note a memorandum that accompanied Chief 

Justice Warren Burger’s first draft of the 
Court’s opinion in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASw ann v . C har lo tte - 
M eck lenbu rg B oard o f E duca tion2’ 0 that was 

among the most significant of the post-Brown 
school integration decisions: “ I am sure it is 
not necessary to emphasize the importance of 
our attempting to reach an accommodation 

and a common position. . . . Separate 
opinions, expressing divergent views or

conclusions will, I hope, be deferred until 

we’ve exhausted all other efforts to reach a 
common view.” 31 In this instance, the Chiefs 

pleadings carried the day. Burger’s published 

opinion on April 20, 1971, was for a 
unanimous Bench.

In addition to highlighting a degree of 
consensus that has been common in the period 
under study, the book’s second objective is to 
explain why this is the case. “We do this,”  
they write, “by constructing a model reflecting 

the variety of forces that concurrently influ­
ence the Court’s decisions.” 32 And it is at this 

point that the title of the book assumes special 
meaning in terms of solving or dissembling 

the “puzzle.”  The question about the presence 
or absence of unanimity is significant in light 

of the persuasive findings of modem social 
science research that one’s “attitudes” or 
values and ideology play a heavy role in the 
mental calculus that eventually yields a 
Justice’s vote in a case. In other words, social 
scientists have been very effective in
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de m o ns trating what m o s t Am e rican Pre s i­
de nts s e e m to have kno wn whe n s e le cting 

no m ine e s fo r the Bench: that a nominee’s 

values matter. Yet attitudes do not amount to 
the only force at work. A second factor, 

emphasized by the legal model, stresses the 
influence of the statutory and constitutional 
text as illuminated by precedent and profes­
sionally acquired legal norms. Still another 

model emphasizes strategic considerations, 
where Justices take into account the “effects 
of their choices on collective results.” 33

Thus the overarching question or “puz­

zle”  becomes one of explaining how Justices 
in the post-consensus norm era ever manage 

to do what they in fact frequently do: achieve 

either unanimity or at least an outcome that 
falls just short of a unanimous Bench. 
Phrased differently, how do Justices who 
are often characterized as highly polarized 
manage to reach the same legal conclusions 

so often?
The authors find that, during the 1953- 

2004 period under study, agreement most 

commonly occurred (1) “ in cases with a high 
degree of legal certainty as to the strongest 

legal answer,” (2) in cases “ that involve 

nonsalient economic or governmental power 
issues,” and (3) cases “ in which the Court 
ultimately reaches a liberal decision.”34 (In 

the authors’ research design, “nonsalient”  
cases include those that, when decided, are not 

likely to be the subject of front-page coverage 
in a major American newspaper such as ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT he 
N ew Y ork T im es. Still one wonders whether 
this element skews the results in that decisions 
handed down by a sharply divided Court may 

be deemed more newsworthy not because of 

the division itself but because of the issue that 
caused the Justices to divide.) Altogether, the 

authors report five categories of forces or 
influences that, when present, combine to 
enhance consensus: attitudinal, legal, strate­
gic, institutional, and case specific.35 Their 

findings are strikingly similar to those of 
Jeffrey Hockett in Storm  over T h is C ourt, 36 
a multi-Justice study of decision-making in a

single case—B row n v . B oard o f  E duca tion—  
where unanimity was famously achieved.

Finally, T he P uzzle of  U nan im ity ,  while 

showing that consensus is a product not of any 
single factor but rather “a function of multiple, 

simultaneously acting forces” reinforces the 
importance of law as both a direct and indirect 
decisional force where law is “measured as the 
degree of legal certainty present in each 
case.” 37 Here, the authors insist, is another 

contribution of their research in that the 

proposition that the Justices “ reach agreement 
when the legal answer is more obvious and 

clear” had “never been empirically or sys­
tematically tested”  even though intuitively the 
claim would seem to be correct.38 In such 

situations, “ the influence of attitudes on 
opinion consensus is mitigated.” This 
point in mm leads the authors to suggest 
that, if  neither law nor attitudes are disposi­

tive, then what is needed is a “ theory that 
takes into account not just how one or the 
other influences decision making,” but an 
approach that shows “how law and attitudes 
interact.” 39

Among relatively recent significant de­

cisions where unanimity was not achieved is 
L aw rence v . T exas,40 in which the Court, 

voting six-three, struck down the Lone Star 
State’s same-sex sodomy statute,41 first 

enacted in 1973 and one of only a handful 
of such laws still remaining in the nation. The 

case and its outcome, which seem to have 
energized contemporary culture storms, is 
now the focus of F lagran t C onduct,42 by 

Dale Carpenter who teaches law at the 

University of Minnesota and who co-authored 
one of the many amici briefs filed in 
L aw rence.43 His labors have given birth to a 

richly detailed, extensively documented, and 
highly engaging volume that in a few places 
reminds one of a John Grisham novel, 

although the reader should not be surprised 
to find that, from Carpenter’s perspective, the 
case involved some people whom he consid­
ers heroes and others whom he considers 
something much less.
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Su p re m e Co u rt ru lings o nly rare ly ap p e ar 

fo u ndatio nle s s , and ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL aw rence was no e xce p­
tio n. It had dire ct ante ce de nts . Be fo re 1965, 

the Justices’ institutional contact with sexual­
ity was passing at most, limited largely to 
eugenics cases such as B uck v. B ell and 
Skinner v. O klahom a .44 But the Warren 

Court’s decision in G risw o ld v . C onnecticu t45 

made a paradigmatic shift in constitutional 

law, as a majority struck down a state law 
dating from 1879 that criminalized the use of 
birth control devices and drugs, as well as the 
counseling on their use. Although Connect­

icut’s statute violated no express provision in 
the Constitution, the ban foundered on a right 
of privacy implicit in the Constitution. Justice 
William O. Douglas announced that no fewer 
than eight amendments (he named the First, 
Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, Ninth, and 

Fourteenth) “have penumbras, formed by 
emanations from those guarantees that give 
them life and substance.” In other words, the 
specific guarantees in the Constitution im­

plied others, equally important though un­
enumerated. By impinging on “an intimate 

relation of husband and wife” the state had 
violated a right “older than the Bill of 
Rights.” 46

Griswold in turn formed the basis of 
E isenstad t v . B a ird47 a successful 1972 

challenge to a Massachusetts statute that 
confined distribution of contraceptive devices 

to married people. “ If  under Griswold,”  Justice 
Brennan reasoned, “ the distribution of contra­
ceptives to married persons cannot be prohib­

ited, a ban on distribution to unmarried 

persons would be equally impermissible. . . . 
If  the right of privacy means anything, it is 
the right of the individual, married or single, 

to be free from unwarranted governmental 
intrusion into matters so fundamentally affect­
ing a person as the decision whether to bear 
or beget a child.” 48 Yet abortion laws also 

affected the decision to bear a child. If a 
state could not proscribe birth control 

devices, could it nonetheless ban most 
abortions? The Court issued its answer in

the negative less than a year later in R oe v . 
W ade.49

The string of privacy rulings made many 

wonder just how much this penumbral right 
might encompass. Ironically, barely four years 
before G risw o ld , in a case,50 which proved to 

be an unsuccessful attack on Connecticut’ s 
birth control ban, Justice John Marshall Harlan 

had attempted to place sandbags against what 

might prove to be a jurisprudentially slippery 

slope even as he voted to accept the 
Connecticut case and to strike down the ban 

on due process grounds: “The right of privacy 
most manifestly is not an absolute. Thus, 
I would not suggest that adultery, homo­

sexuality, fornication and incest are immune 
from criminal enquiry, however privately 
practiced. . . . [Sjociety is not limited in its 

objects only to the physical well-being of the 
community, but has traditionally concerned 

itself with the moral soundness of its people as 
well. Indeed to attempt a line between public 

behavior and that which is purely consensual 
or solitary would be to withdraw from 
community concern a range of subjects with 
which every society in civilized times has 

found it necessary to deal. The laws regarding 
marriage which provide both when the sexual 

powers may be used and the legal and societal 
context in which children are bom and brought 
up, as well as laws forbidding adultery, 

fornication and homosexual practices which 
express the negative of the proposition, 
confining sexuality to lawful marriage, form 
a pattern so deeply pressed into the substance 

of our social life that any Constitutional 
doctrine in this area must build upon that 
basis.” 51

The Court then encountered the details of 
sexual intimacy squarely in 1986 in B ow ers v . 
H ardw ick ,52 where five Justices upheld the 

constitutionality of Georgia’s sodomy statute. 

In contrast to the Texas law later reviewed in 

L aw rence, however, Georgia’s law applied to 
heterosexual as well as homosexual behavior, 

although Justice Byron White’s opinion for 
the Court seemed to consider the law as if  it
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m ade o nly the latte r crim inal.53 Indeed, many 

observers were surprised at the ruling, given 
the Court’s post-GrawoW expansion of the 

scope of protected privacy. Close reading of 
Justice White’s opinion and the principal 

dissent by Justice Blackmun perhaps provides 

insight. To discover what rights, though not 

expressly mentioned, are constitutionally 
protected, White looked to two sources: those 
“ implicit in the concept of ordered liberty”  and 

those “deeply rooted in the nation’s history 
and tradition.” Framing the investigation in 
this way, White concluded “ that neither of 
these formulations would extend a fundamen­
tal right to homosexuals to engage in acts of 
consensual sodomy.” 54 For Blackmun, the 

majority asked the wrong question. The case 

was not “about ‘a fundamental right to engage 

in homosexual sodomy.’... Rather, this case is 
about ‘ the most comprehensive of rights . . . 

the right to be let alone.’ [W]hat the Court 
really has refused to recognize is the funda­
mental interest all individuals have in control­
ling the nature of their intimate associations 
with others.” 55 White scanned a category of 

rights. Blackmun focused on a constitutionally 
protected realm of intimate association.5 (As 

students of the Court learned later, Justice 

Powell was initially  inclined to strike down the 

Georgia law, but changed his vote before the 
case actually came down.57 “ I think I probably 

made a mistake in that one,” 58 he acknowl­

edged specifically of the Georgia anti-sodomy 
law case. Even more oddly, there might never 

have even been a ruling on the merits in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
H ardw ick ,in that Carpenter reports Linda 
Greenhouse’s finding from her book on Justice 
Blackmun60 that the Court initially voted not 

to hear the case but “Justice Byron White, who 

wanted to uphold sodomy laws, persuaded 
Chief Justice Burge and Justice William 

Rehnquist and Thurgood Marshall to vote 
for cert.” 61 Without four votes, the resulting 

denial of certiorari would have left in place the 
ruling by the Eleventh Circuit Court of 
Appeals that Georgia’s statute violated the 

Constitution.)

Of the nine Justices who decided L aw­

rence, only three—Chief Justice Rehnquist, 
Justice John Stevens, and Justice Sandra 

O’Connor—had been on the Bench when 
H ardw ick came down, and Rehnquist was 

then an Associate Justice. The Bench in 
L aw rence was thus a remarkable cohort that 

had been together for a decade without a 
change in personnel. Thus, with six new faces 
added since H ardw ick , the Court of 2003 was 

essentially a new Court.
On the day L aw rence was decided, 

Justice Anthony Kennedy began his opinion 
for the majority with a brief summary of the 

facts from September 17, 1998, paradoxically 

Constitution Day. “ In Houston, Texas, offi ­
cers of the Harris County Police Department 

were dispatched to a private residence in 
response to a reported weapons disturbance. 
They entered an apartment where one of the 
petitioners, John Geddes Lawrence, resided. 

The right of the police to enter does not seem 
to have been questioned. The officers ob­
served Lawrence and another man, Tyron 
Gamer, engaging in a sexual act. The two 

petitioners were arrested, held in custody over 
night, and charged and convicted before a 
Justice of the Peace.” 62

However, this “bare-bones version” of 
the facts, Carpenter insists, “ is in almost every 
important respect incomplete and question­

able. It flattens a complex web of emotions, 

motivations, and deceptions. It omits the 
accidents and serendipity without which the 
case would have been lost to history.” In 
short, the “pancaked conventional tale re­

mains—years after the landmark . . . decision 
—a stubborn myth.” 63 His research, “ includ­

ing interviews with most of the important 
participants in the events and their immediate 
aftermath”  led the author to a “surprising, but 

only probabilistic conclusion: It is unlikely 

that sheriffs deputies actually witnessed 
Lawrence and Gamer having sex. ... If  the 

police did not observe any sex, the whole case 
is built on law enforcement misconduct that 
makes it an even more egregious abuse of
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libe rty than the Su p re m e Co u rt kne w.”64 In 

that conclusion lies the full meaning of the 
book’s title. And as F lagran t C onduct 
unfolds, the reader discovers the twin layers 

of irony that the book attempts to bring to 

light. “Since sodomy laws, like the one in 
Texas, were never really about stopping 
sodomy, it is fitting that they got their 
comeuppance in a case in which there was 

probably no sodomy. A law rarely enforced 
was upended in a case of phantom 
enforcement.” 65

Carpenter has organized his book chro­
nologically in three parts. Part one serves two 
purposes. It places the Lawrence case in 

context by providing historical and cultural 

background on the Texas law’s origins and 
enforcement history and discusses the lives of 
each of the several individuals involved in the 
case. Part two reviews the night of the arrests, 

examining the different versions of the facts as 
presented by the police and the defendants. It 
is here that Carpenter introduces the possibil­
ity that the arrest was arranged as a way to 
create a test challenge of the Texas statute, 

although he then concludes that possibility is 

far-fetched. Part three logically follows the 
case and the participants after the arrests “as 

the case went from a simple charge of petty 
crime to the highest court in the land.”66 

Especially helpful for non-Texans is the detail 

and attention given in this part to the operation 
of the state’s judicial system.

Aside from the information the reader 
gleans about the very human dimension and 
the various participants in the case, the 

material value of the book for students of 
the Supreme Court is the emphasis Carpenter 

provides in chapters fourteen and fifteen 
(entitled “The Constitutional Mainstream”  

and “Mismatch at the Supreme Court”  
respectively) on the legal arguments devel­
oped by the different teams of counsel, 

especially in writing briefs (including those 
submitted by amici on both sides) and in 
preparing for and delivering the oral argu­
ment. First, with respect to the petitioners’

merits brief, there was such a strong “ reti­
cence” 67 about ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR oe v. W ade that the decision 

was effectively closeted—being mentioned 
only five times in the merits brief and never in 

a substantive way—because it remained part 

of “a very controversial strain of constitu­
tional law.”68 Instead the Lawrence team 

opted “ to emphasize past decisions involving 
contraception.” Even the reference to 
P lanned P aren thood v . C asey,69 the critically 

important abortion decision from 1992, 

where Justice Kennedy had played a key 
role, was described “only as protecting 

individual autonomy against state interfer­
ence, without mentioning a woman’s right to 
choose to terminate her pregnancy.” 70 For 

Carpenter, this legal tactic was nearly histor­
ic. “Now in the most important gay-rights 
case yet to reach the Supreme Court, the lead 
attorneys were rhetorically downplaying ties 
with both sex discrimination as theory and 
with reproductive choice as practice.” 71 

Similarly, the factual circumstances from 
the record were played down. Instead, words 

such as “ intimate” and “ intimacy,” and 
“ relationship” (used sixty and thirty-five 
times, respectively) or “privacy” or “ family 

or “ families”  (used seventy and fifteen times, 

respectively) were chosen in place of refer­
ences to particular sex acts.72 Such emphasis 

on word choice seems to have resonated with 
a majority of the Court, the author believes, in 

that the word “ relationship” or “ relation­
ships” appears eleven times in Justice 
Kennedy’s opinion.73

Second, with respect to oral argument, 

Carpenter explains the concern among those 
closest to the legal battle that mistakes of the 

past not be repeated. The conviction remained 

strong that H ardw ick had been an example of 
the adage that oral argument at the Supreme 
Court may not win a case but that it may well 
lose a case. Memories remained fresh from 
1986 of the widely shared feeing at the end of 

oral argument in H ardw ick that the case had 
been won, only to have those expectations 
crushed three months later. Lead role in oral
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argu m e nt no w lay in the hands o f fo rm e r 
Po we ll cle rk Pau l Sm ith, no t Lau re nce Tribe , 

who had argu e d ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ardw ick and who , acco rd­
ing to Carp e nte r, s o u ght that p o s itio n again.74 

Although Tribe already had a sterling reputa­

tion as a seasoned Supreme Court advocate 

and was thoroughly familiar with the issues 
L aw rence presented, “ reviews of his perfor­

mance in the earlier case were mixed.”  Justice 
Powell “panned Tribe’s ‘usual overblown 

rhetoric’ but did concede that he had focused 
narrowly on the precise issue of state power 
before the Court. A former clerk for Justice 
White .. . was even more critical. ‘Tribe blew 
the oral argument. He was failing from the 
beginning.’” 75 Also absent from the presen­

tation in 1986 was clear articulation of a 

“ limiting principle that would allow states to 
criminalize incest, bigamy, and bestiality— 

the very ‘slippery slope’ fears the L aw rence 

team would be so well prepared to swat 
away.” 76 The consensus in 2003 was that 

careful emphasis on such a principle in 1986 
would have solidified Justice Powell’s posi­
tion in favor of the respondent.

Carpenter properly highlights one partic­
ularly distinctive element of the Court’ s 
decision in L aw rence when he observes that 

it “ is rare enough for the court to overrule 
itself. It is rarer still for the Court to confess 
that it had been wrong from the beginning.” 77 

This much is clear enough from the words in 

Justice Kennedy’s opinion: “ B ow ers was 
not correct when it was handed down and 
it is not correct today.”78 The statement was 

reminiscent of Justice Hugo Black’s charac­
terization of B etts v . B rady79 when the Court 

overruled that case twenty-one years later in 
G ideon v. W ainw r igh t'30 Betts was “an 

anachronism when handed down.” 81 As 

Carpenter notes, even in B row n v . B oard o f 
E duca tion , when the Warren Court unani­
mously interred P lessy v . F erguson32 and its 

separate-but-equal doctrine, the Bench “did 
not quite confess that it had been wrong from 
day one.” 83 With B ow ers v . H ardw ick , 

however, a majority did.

Nonetheless, the reader might wish that 
Carpenter had explored one other distinctive 

aspect about Justice Kennedy’s opinion. In 

the process of making explicit the majority’s 
conclusion that H ardw ick had been wrongly 

decided, the opinion seemed to go out of its 
way not merely to disagree with Justice Byron 

White’s opinion for the Court in the 1986 

decision but also fundamentally to impugn its 
intellectual integrity. It would have been 

instructive if  Carpenter’s research had shed 
light on that prominent element, particularly 
since Justice White, having died barely 

fourteen months before L aw rence was decid­
ed, could not come to his own defense. Aside 
from a statement that “nothing about the 
Court’s internal deliberations of L aw rence 
has been made public so far” 84 there is not 

even speculation provided in F lagran t  C on­

duct concerning how the Court’s opinion 

might actually have taken shape, even though 

other research and even numerous Justices 
themselves have made clear over the years 
that majority opinions typically proceed 

though many drafts before they are actually 
announced in open court. In any event, short 
of an impromptu disclosure, full understand­
ing of the making of Justice Kennedy’s 
opinion of the case will  presumably have to 

await access to pertinent judicial papers some 
years hence.

L aw rence, however, is only one of the 

more recent products of a mature judicial 
system that has been developing and changing 
for over two centuries. While one suspects 

that someone like Oliver Ellsworth, who 
helped to draft the Judiciary Act of 1789 in the 
First Congress, would be amazed at the 
contents of the Supreme Court’s docket today, 
he would most certainly be nearly equally 
amazed at the Court itself and the vastness and 

complexity of the federal courts overall. 
While Congress was created practically full  
blown by Article I of the Constitution and 

even glimpses of a strong and energetic 
executive were present in Article II, nothing 

similar can accurately be said about the
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fe de ral judiciary and Article III. Of the three 
great structural components of the Constitu­
tion, Article III  is not only the briefest, but the 

least illuminating when one compares what 

the constitutional language has enabled with 
the constitutional text itself: “The judicial 

Power of the United States, shall be vested in 
one supreme Court, and in such inferior 
Courts as the Congress may from time to time 
ordain and establish.” 85

One is almost astounded contemplating 

the scope of change that has come to pass. In 
the beginning, in addition to sitting collec­

tively as the Supreme Court, Justices sat as 
judges of the circuit courts, one of the two 
types of lower federal courts established by 

the Judiciary Act of 1789. Though the act 
provided for three types of courts (district 

courts, circuit courts, and the Supreme Court), 
it authorized the appointment of judges only 
for the district courts and the Supreme Court. 
Except for a brief period in 1801-1802, no 
separate circuit judgeships existed until 1855 
(for California) and then in 1869 for the rest of 
the nation. Each circuit court was at first 

staffed by two Justices (a number soon 
reduced to one) and one district judge. As a 
result, the early Justices spent far more time 

holding circuit court than they did sitting on 

the Supreme Court.
Despite Chief Justice John Marshall’s 

deserved reputation in constitutional law, the 
bulk of the Court’s work in his time and for 
years afterward was non-constitutional in 
nature. Private law cases vastly outnumbered 
public law cases, with the large majority 
involving admiralty and maritime issues 
(these cases were numerous given the fact 

that most of the nation’s commerce before the 

Civil War was waterborne), common-law 
matters, and diversity disputes. The Court of 
the nineteenth century was still mainly a 

tribunal for the final settlement of disputes 
between individual parties. Its role as policy­
maker remained decidedly secondary. 
Though secondary, however, policymaking 
was hardly unimportant. Congress recognized

as much in a series of statutes that altered the 

number of Justices. Between 1789 and 1869, 
Congress changed the number of Justices 
from six to five, five to six, six to seven, seven 

to nine, nine to ten, ten to seven, and seven to 

nine (the number authorized today)—each 

time partly with an eye toward influencing the 
Court’s decisions.

Moreover, beginning in the late nine­

teenth century, the federal judiciary under­
went important structural changes. For 
example, in 1891 Congress authorized inter­
mediate appellate courts called circuit courts 
of appeals. For the first time on a regular basis, 

the federal judiciary had appellate tribunals 
below the Supreme Court. For most cases, the 

old circuit courts had not been appellate 

tribunals; a case began in either the district or 
circuit court depending on the subject matter. 
The old circuit courts were soon merged into 
the district courts. Circuit riding by the 

Justices, already reduced substantially, came 
to an end (ironically just as interstate rail 
transportation had become faster, more reli­
able, and more comfortable). Then, the 1891 

statute also introduced some certiorari, or 
discretionary, jurisdiction. This meant that 

there were fewer categories of cases the 

Justices were legally obliged to hear and that 
the new courts of appeals became the courts of 
last resort for many cases. These adjustments 
set the stage for what was to come. Thanks in 
part to the influence of Chief Justice and 

former President William Howard Taft, the 
Judges Bill  of 1925 became law that allowed 

the Court for the first time almost complete 
control of its docket. Rounding out the 
changes during the previous 136 years were 

several significant alignments and realign­

ments of the circuits that affected not only 
access to the courts but even the politics of 
judicial selection and ideological character of 

the Supreme Court.
A comprehensive account of this institu­

tional ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAbecom ing or emergence is the focus of 

B u ild ing  the Jud ic ia ry  by Justin Crowe, who 
teaches political science at Williams
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Co lle ge .86 The result ofhis work is a carefully 

researched, extensively documented, though 
unduly wordy study87 that attempts to place 

this remarkable story of institutional growth 
within a context of a political and develop­
mental theory.88 Moreover, while the cover of 

a book is almost never discussed in its review, 
the one chosen for Crowe’s merits special 

mention in that it visually captures part of one 
theme of the book in a way only rarely 

achieved. Shown in horizontal position is a 
perhaps seven-foot segment of a marble 

column that is being carved for the west 
portico of the Supreme Court Building, then 
under construction. As the cover photo 
caption reads, “Photo of an unidentified 
Vermont Marble Company craftsman as he 
measures the width of a groove on the lowest 
drum of a Corinthian column for the Supreme 
Court Building at the company’s factory in 
Proctor, Vermont, c. 1933.” 89

A good research project begins with a 

question, and Crowe has his—one that he 

frames in various ways. Viewing the changes 
over time in the Supreme Court’s place in the 
political system, he asks how “did such a 
dramatic evolution occur? How did the 
federal judiciary in general and the Supreme 
Court in particular, transcend its early 

limitations and become a powerful institution 
of American government? How, in other 
words, did it move from a Court of political 
irrelevance to one of political centrality?”90

According to Crowe, the usual answer 
given to such questions begins with ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM arbu ry 
v . M ad ison91 in 1803 and the Court’s well- 

known role in constitutional interpretation. 
Indeed, given the obvious expansion of 
judicial power since the Court’s inauspicious 

beginnings in 1790, it is difficult to avoid 
overstating and over-inflating the importance 

of John Marshall and others in this process. As 
one who has been burping undergraduates for 
over four decades in an introductory course on 

American government and politics, the author 

of this review essay understands this common 
tendency all too well. It is so very easy to

conclude that judicial power comes to life in 

1803 as if  the incubation process has passed 
and the egg has hatched. Thus, in “ this 

understanding, judicial power expands when 
judges issue opinions that directly expand it... 
with little or no interference from other 
political actors.” In this “ internal view” the 

Court occupies the central position with “all 
the other actors and forces relegated decidedly 
to the background.” 92

Crowe credits this emphasis on judicial 
prerogative to a “problematic” attitude of 

“ judicial exceptionalism”  that he finds perva­
sive in much writing about the Court. This 
perspective tends both to overstate the 
judiciary’s power position stemming from 
its decisions and to obscure the variety of 

ways in which judges gain and exercise 

power. Instead, “ judicial power grows from 
more than merely constitutional decisions and 
the exercise of judicial review; indeed it more 

commonly and more foundationally derives 
from interaction with political elites, from 
empowering legislation, and from public, 
media, and interest group support.” 93 The 

result, he believes, is that in “seeking to 
understand how judges rule, we have largely 
neglected the conditions that have made it 
possible fo r judges to rule.” Similarly, “ in 
emphasizing how the judiciary acts upon 
politics, we have minimized the ways in 
which it is equally acted upon by politics.” 94

The label that the author places on his 

endeavor is “what might be called ‘architec­

tonic politics’ : the politics of actors seeking 
to shape the structures of government in order 
to further their own interests.” 95 He explains 

that this approach has already been produc­
tively applied to Congress, the presidency, 

and the federal bureaucracy. His goal is 

examination of “ the puzzle of ‘judicial 
institution building’—the puzzle of under­
standing how the process of ‘building’ the 
judiciary unfolded over the course of Ameri­
can political development.”96 Because “an 

active and interventionist third branch of 
government was far from a foregone
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co nclu s io n . . . , it had to be co m e s o large ly 
thro u gh a co ntinu o u s p ro ce s s that was bo th 

p o litically de te rm ine d and p o litically co ns e­
qu e ntial.” It was a judiciary “outlined in 
pencil rather than pen... built piece by piece.”  
In short, his emphasis is less on what is 

internal and more on what is external to the 
judiciary.97

From 1789 through the end of the 

twentieth century, Crowe seeks answers to 
three questions: ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw hy was judicial institution 
building pursued, how was judicial institution 

building accomplished, and w ha t did judicial 
institution building achieve? Answers to these 
questions are then forthcoming through a 

series of seven chapters that move chronolog­
ically after a comprehensively theoretical 

introductory chapter. Accordingly, the second 
chapter examines the establishment of the 

federal judiciary from the Washington ad­
ministration through the end of President 
Thomas Jefferson’s first term in 1805. 
Chapter three progresses from the beginning 

of Jefferson’s second term until the eve of the 
Compromise of 1850. Chapter four covers the 
changes in the judiciary from the Compromise 
of 1850 to the Compromise of 1877, with 
chapter five moving from the inauguration of 

President Rutherford Hayes in 1877 to the 
inauguration of President Woodrow Wilson in 
1913. It is at least by this point that one fully  

begins to appreciate the wisdom in the 
observation by Felix Frankfurter and James 
M. Landis that “ [fjramers of judiciary acts are 

not required to be seers; and great judiciary 
acts, unlike great poems, are not written for all 
time.”98 The sixth chapter examines what 

Crowe calls the “bureaucratization of the 
judiciary” 99 between the dawn of World War I 

in 1914 and the edge ofWorldWarll in 1939. 

Chapter seven probes the judiciary’s “spe­
cialization” 100 from 1939 until the presiden­

tial election of 2000. The concluding eighth 
chapter appropriately incorporates both an 
assessment of what had transpired and a look 

into the future, with the latter including some 

thoughts on the necessary interplay between

judicial power and [small d] democratic 
politics. The reader then grasps Crowe’s 
important point that the shape of the Third 

Branch that Americans have today was 

“hardly preordained”  and that a very different 

judiciary was “ readily possible.” What is in 
place today is the result of a continuous 
process of “policy, politics, and performance; 
of constraints and catalysts; of elections and 
entrepreneurship. ” 101

If  the lack of a national judiciary was one 
of the principal defects of the Articles of 
Confederation, as Justice Story observed, 
the absence of a taxing power was another. 
“ [Wjeakness ... at home,” insisted John Jay 

in Federalist No. 5, “would invite dangers 

from abroad.” Therefore, it is not surprising 
that, although members of the Philadelphia 

Convention were sharply divided on many 
issues in 1787, they were almost unanimous in 
their insistence that Congress should have 
broad power to tax and spend. Heading the list 

of enumerated powers in Article I, Section 8, 
stands the provision that Congress shall have 
power “ to lay and collect taxes, duties, 
imposts and excises, to pay the debts and 
provide for the common defense and general 
welfare of the United States.” It would be 

difficult to fashion more sweeping language. 

In the exercise of its taxing and spending 
power, the national government acts directly 
on individual citizens and their property as 
though there were no states. Nor are there any 

limits (apart from those imposed on Congress 

at the ballot box) on the amount Congress may 
attempt to collect through taxation. The only 
limitations on the taxing power are those that 
the Supreme Court has established and those 
that the Constitution specifically provides in 
Article I.

This important Article I power, and its 

judicial interpretation are the subject of T he 
Suprem e C ourt,  F edera l T axation , and the 
C onstitu tion by Jasper L. Cummings, Jr., 
who is counsel in the Federal Tax Group of 

Alston &  Bird in Raleigh, North Carolina and 
Washington, D.C.102 As the title of this
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The Supreme Court, Federal Taxation, and the Constitution by  Jasper L. C um m ings, Jr., is  a very readable account of 

the history of the national taxing pow er. This cartoon satirizes opposition to C ongress’s proposal of the Sixteenth 

A m endm ent in 1909, w hich allow ed for a national incom e tax.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

inclu s ive vo lu m e o f nine chap te rs s u gge s ts , 
Cu m m ings’s center of attention is on the 
national taxing power, not the concurrent 

taxing power of the states, an arena that 
presents its own set of federal constitutional 
questions that have long been a mainstay of 
the Supreme Court’s docket. Particularly, 
given the technical nature of the subject 

matter, the result is a surprisingly readable 
treatment, one that is serviceable not 
only by the specialist but by the novice as 
well.103

The Constitution, Cummings writes, 

“best exemplifies the adjective, protean. It is 
versatile, capable of being nearly all things to

all people.” Accordingly, “ the constitutional 

tax history of the United States is largely a 
history of (certain types of) taxpayers’ search 
for constitutional reasons not to pay taxes. In 

turn that history is an important window on 
the United States itself, given the seminal 

roles of issues related to property—first and 
foremost slavery, state versus federal sover­
eignties, and laissez faire economics, to name 

just three general historical subjects—that 
strongly shaped both the nation and federal 
taxation.” Whether in the distant past or 
current times, it “only takes one disgruntled 

taxpayer who can afford to wonder why a 

certain tax can be applied in a certain way to



458JIHGFEDCBA JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ge ne rate a ne w co ns titu tio nal challe nge .” 104 

Moreover, past controversies in turn seem 
routinely to resurface in new forms. Thus the 
tax-related arguments made in 2012 against 
the Patient Protection and Affordable Care 

Act “are direct descendants of arguments 
made in constitutional tax cases dating back to 
the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL icense T ax C ases of 1867, P o llock [v. 

F arm ers’ L oan &  T rust C o.] in 1895, the 
C h ild  L abo r T ax C ase in 1922, but last seen in 

the Supreme Court in attacks on New Deal 
legislation.” 105 Happily for the reader, Cum­

mings includes an article-length explica­
tion106 in chapter three of the taxing power 
dimension in the landmark decision107 on the 

health care law.
The author’s reflection that tax cases open 

a useful window into the nation’s history is 

especially well demonstrated by P o llock , the 
Income Tax Case of 1895, the oral argument in 
which was the subject of the cover illustration 
of a recent issue of this Jou rna l.'08 This 

litigation and its aftermath show that what is 
now the mainstay of revenue for the federal 

government became established only after a 
defeat at the High Court and ratification of the 
Sixteenth Amendment to the Constitution 
eighteen years later.

As part of the Wilson-Gorman Tariff Act 

of 1894, Congress imposed a tax of two 
percent on income, derived from a variety of 
sources, above $4,000. This was not the 

nation’s first experiment with such a tax. 
Congress had imposed an income tax during 
the Civil War (but failed to renew it in 1872), 

and the Supreme Court had upheld this type of 

taxation in 1881 as applied to a lawyer’s 
professional earnings.109 Nor was the tax 

levied in 1894 a burdensome one. Whereas the 
tax in 1865 incorporated both progressivity 
and a rate as high as ten percent, was paid by 

1.3 percent of the population, and constituted 
nineteen-percent of federal revenues, the tax of 

1894 was flat, was paid by barely 0.1 percent 

of the population (almost all of whom lived in 
the Northeast), and contributed less than four 
percent of revenues.110 The law was thus

neither redistributory nor lucrative but largely 

symbolic. It essentially preserved the status 
quo against attacks from those on the 
economic and political right and left. The 
great bulk of federal expenditures continued to 
be paid from revenues generated by tariffs. 

Nonetheless, advocates of redistribution and 
greatly enlarged federal appropriations could 
look at the 1894 law as a “ foot in the door,”  all 

the while those who saw the tax as class 
legislation and a harbinger of socialism could 

for that reason oppose the tax.
In April 1895, with Justice Howell Jackson 

absent because of terminal illness, the Court 
invalidated parts of the new tax law. As applied 
to income from bonds issued by states and 
municipalities, all eight Justices declared the 
tax to be unconstitutional since it amounted to a 
tax on state and local governments themselves 

and hence violated the principle of state 
sovereignty. As applied to income from real 
property, six Justices (Edward Douglass White 

and John Marshall Harlan dissenting) thought 
that the tax was no different from a tax on land 

itself. As such, it was a “direct tax,” which 
according to Article I, section 9, in the 
Constitution, had to be apportioned among 
the states on Basis of population. As for the 
validity of the tax on other income such as 

wages and income derived from corporate 
bonds and stocks (the latter being that part of 
national income most affected by the tax), the 
Court was evenly divided. The most probable 

alignment placed Chief Justice Melville Fuller 
and Justices David Brewer, Stephen Field, and 

Horace Gray on one side against the tax, and 

Justices White, Harlan, George Shiras, and 
Henry Brown on the other.

With Jackson making a special trip to 
Washington from his sick bed for a hearing on 
this issue on May 6-8, 1895, the Justices 
announced a five-four vote against the validity 

of the rest of the tax statute on May 20. When 
Jackson, the supposed tie-breaker, joined only 

White, Harlan, and Brown, it became imme­
diately apparent that one Justice, previously 
voting to uphold this part of the law, had
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change d his m ind. Co u rt lo re as s igns that 
dis tinctio n to Ju s tice Shiras .111

A tax on personal property was a direct 
tax, reasoned Chief Justice Fuller for the 

majority, and so must be subjected to the rule 
of apportionment, thereby making the tax 
unworkable.112 As for wages in various 

occupations, most Justices agreed that Con­
gress could tax them as an excise, although the 
Court avoided saying that a tax on earned 

income was either direct or indirect. However, 
since all other provisions of the tax law had 
been found constitutionally deficient, this part 
fell too because Congress probably would not 

“pass the residue independently.”  If  the tax on 
earned income was left standing, Fuller 

argued, “what was intended as a tax on 
capital would remain in substance a tax on 
occupations and labor.” 113 Thus the Court put 

beyond the reach of Congress the proceeds of 
invested wealth.

Cummings correctly emphasizes the 

extraordinary political context of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP o llock , 
both in the reasons for enactment of the tax 
and the Court’s fatal objections to it that 
“produced the opposite constitutional conclu­

sion from that of earlier cases,” reversing 
“ them as to their tenor if  not their narrow 

holdings. . . . The political foundations of 
P o llock are further evidenced by the fact that it 
is generally viewed as part of a trilogy of 

reactionary opinions, the other two being 
[U n ited Sta tes v.] E . C . K n igh t (holding that 

manufacturing was local and so not a part of 
commerce and not subject to the monopoly 
laws, and In re D ebs (upholding labor 
injunctions in the Pullman strike of 1894).” 114

“Democratic institutions are never done,”  

reflected Professor Woodrow Wilson not long 
after writing his classic book about Con­
gress. 115”  [Tjhey are like living tissue—always 

a-making. It is a strenuous thing, this living 
the life of a free people.” 116 As the books 

appraised here have shown, that observation 
by a future President encompasses the judiciary 

as well as other institutions of American 
government.
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